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PART I 
 
 
 
ITEM 1.       BUSINESS 
 
This Annual Report on Form 10-K (the "Report") cont ains statements which 
constitute "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of the Private 
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These sta tements appear in a number of 
places in this Report (see, for example, Item 1. "B usiness - Business 
Operations," " - Competition," " - Environmental Ma tters," and " - Factors 
Affecting Future Performance," Item 3. "Legal Proce edings," and Item 7. 
"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations"). Such statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking 
terminology such as "believes," "expects," "may," " estimates," "will," "should," 
"plans" or "anticipates" or the negative thereof or  other variations thereon or 
comparable terminology, or by discussions of strate gy. Readers are cautioned 
that any such forward-looking statements are not gu arantees of future 
performance and involve significant risks and uncer tainties, and that actual 
results may vary materially from those in the forwa rd-looking statements as a 
result of various factors. These factors include th e effectiveness of 
management's strategies and decisions, general econ omic and business conditions, 
developments in technology, new or modified statuto ry or regulatory 
requirements, and changing prices and market condit ions. Certain sections of 
this Report identify other factors that could cause  differences between such 
forward-looking statements and actual results. No a ssurance can be given that 
these are all of the factors that could cause actua l results to vary materially 
from the forward-looking statements. 
 
GENERAL 
 
Kaiser Aluminum Corporation (the "Company"), a Dela ware corporation organized in 
1987, is a subsidiary of MAXXAM Inc. ("MAXXAM"). MA XXAM and one of its 
wholly-owned subsidiaries together own approximatel y 63% of the Company's Common 
Stock, with the remaining approximately 37% publicl y held. The Company, through 
its wholly- owned subsidiary, Kaiser Aluminum & Che mical Corporation ("KACC"), 
operates in all principal aspects of the aluminum i ndustry - the mining of 
bauxite, the refining of bauxite into alumina, the production of primary 
aluminum from alumina, and the manufacture of fabri cated (including 
semi-fabricated) aluminum products. See Note 14 of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements for segment and geographical f inancial information. In 
addition to the production utilized by KACC in its operations, KACC sells 
significant amounts of alumina and primary aluminum  in domestic and 
international markets. The Company's operations are  conducted through KACC's 
business units. The following table sets forth prod uction and third party 
purchases of bauxite, alumina and primary aluminum and third party shipments and 
intersegment transfers of bauxite, alumina, primary  aluminum and fabricated 
products for the years ended December 31, 2000, 199 9 and 1998: 
 
 
 
                                                                Sources(2)                             Uses(2)
                                                     ---------------------------------   ----------------------------------
                                                                          Third Party       Third Part y      Intersegment
                                                       Production          Purchases         Shipments          Transfers



                                                     ----------------    -------------   -----------------
                                                                            (in thousands of tons*)
Bauxite - 
       2000                                                   4,305.0             -                 2,007.0          2,342.0
       1999                                                   5,261.0             -                 1,497.0          3,515.0
       1998                                                   6,656.0             -                 1,659.0          4,639.0
Alumina - 
       2000                                                   2,042.9         322.0                1,9 27.1            751.9
       1999                                                   2,524.0         395.0                2,0 93.9            757.3
       1998                                                   2,964.0             -                 2,250.0            750.7
Primary Aluminum - 
       2000                                                     411.4         206.5                  6 72.4(1)         
       1999                                                     426.4         260.1                  6 84.6(1)         
       1998                                                     387.0         251.3                  6 68.2(1)         
 
 
(1)  Includes both primary aluminum shipments and p ounds of aluminum contained 
     in fabricated aluminum product shipments. See "Management's Discussion and 
     Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of  Operations--Selected 
     Operational and Financial Information" for an allocation of shipments 
     between primary aluminum and pounds of aluminu m in fabricated aluminum 
     products. 
(2)  Sources and uses will not equal due to the imp act of inventory changes and 
     alumina and metal swaps. 
--------------------------- 
 
* All references to tons in this Report refer to me tric tons of 2,204.6 pounds. 
 
 
SIGNIFICANT CURRENT ITEMS 
 
This section briefly summarizes the major issues th e Company dealt with during 
2000 and/or is dealing with currently and provides a cross-reference to the 
applicable section for a more complete discussion o f the issue. 
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources - KACC's $300.0 mil lion credit agreement, as 
amended (the "Credit Agreement") expires in August 2001. It is the Company's and 
KACC's intention to extend or replace the Credit Ag reement prior to its 
expiration. However, in order for the Credit Agreem ent to be extended, on a 
short-term basis, beyond August 2001, KACC will hav e to have a plan to mitigate 
the $225.0 million of 97/8% Senior Notes, due Febru ary 2002 (the "97/8% Senior 
Notes"). For the Credit Agreement to be extended pa st February 2003, both the 
97/8% Senior Notes and the $400.0 million of 12 3/4 % Senior Subordinated Notes, 
due February 2003 (the "Senior Subordinated Notes") , will have to be retired 
and/or refinanced. As of February 28, 2001, KACC ha d received approval from the 
Credit Agreement lenders to purchase up to $50.0 mi llion of the 97/8% Senior 
Notes. As of February 28, 2001, KACC has purchased approximately $1.0 million of 
97/8% Senior Notes. As of February 28, 2001, there were $94.0 million of 
borrowings outstanding under the Credit Agreement a nd remaining availability of 
approximately $120.0 million. However, proceeds of approximately $130.0 million 
related to 2001 power sales are expected to be rece ived at or near March 30, 
2001, and an additional $130.0 million of power pro ceeds will be received 
periodically through October 2001 with respect to o ther power sales made during 
the first quarter of 2001. 
 
Consistent with its previously disclosed strategy, KACC is considering the 
possible sale of part or all of its interests in ce rtain operating assets. The 
contemplated transactions are in various stages of development. KACC expects 
that at least one operating asset will be sold. KAC C has multiple transactions 
under way. It is unlikely, however, that KACC would  consummate all of the 
transactions under consideration. Further, there ca n be no assurance as to the 
likelihood, timing, or terms of such sales. The Com pany would expect to use the 
proceeds from any such sales for debt reduction, ca pital spending or some 
combination thereof. See "Management's Discussion a nd Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations--Overview, Stra tegic Initiatives" for 
additional discussion. 



 
Incident at Gramercy Facility - In July 1999, KACC' s Gramercy, Louisiana alumina 
refinery was extensively damaged by an explosion. A  number of employees were 
injured in the incident, several of them severely. As a result of the incident, 
alumina production at the facility was completely c urtailed until the middle of 
December 2000 when partial production commenced. Th e plant is expected to 
increase production progressively to approximately 75% of its newly rated 
estimated annual capacity of 1,250,000 tons by the end of March 2001. At 
February 28, 2001, the plant was operating at 70% o f capacity. Based on current 
estimates, construction at the facility is expected  to be completed during the 
third quarter of 2001. Through February 28, 2001, K ACC had recorded $289.3 
million of estimated insurance recoveries related t o the Gramercy incident and 
had collected $262.6 million of such amounts. An ad ditional $7.0 million is 
expected in March 2001. The remaining balance of ap proximately $20.0 million and 
any additional amounts possibly due to KACC will li kely not be recovered until 
KACC and the insurers resolve certain outstanding i ssues. The insurers have 
asserted that no additional business interruption a mounts are due after November 
30, 2000. KACC and the insurers are currently negot iating an arbitration 
agreement as a means of resolving their differences . The Company anticipates 
that the remaining issues will not be resolved unti l late 2001 or early 2002. 
KACC and the Company continue to believe that a min imum of at least $290.0 
million of insurance recoveries are probable, that additional amounts are owed 
to KACC by the insurers, and that the likelihood of  any refund by KACC of 
amounts previously received from the insurers is re mote. See Note 2 of Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements for more detailed  information regarding the 
impact of the Gramercy incident. 
 
Labor Matters - Prior to September 2000, when the l abor dispute was settled, 
KACC was operating five of its U.S. facilities with  salaried employees and other 
employees as a result of the September 1998 strike by the United Steelworkers of 
America ("USWA") and the subsequent "lock-out" by K ACC in January 1999. Under 
the terms of the settlement, USWA members generally  returned to the affected 
plants during October 2000. The new labor contract,  which expires in September 
2005, provides for a 2.6% average annual increase i n the overall wage and 
benefit package and results in the reduction of at least 540 hourly jobs at the 
five facilities (from approximately 2,800 in Septem ber 1998). See Note 5 of 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a di scussion of the labor dispute 
and settlement. Although the USWA dispute has been settled and the workers have 
returned to the facilities, two allegations of unfa ir labor practices ("ULPs") 
remain in connection with the USWA strike and subse quent lock-out by KACC. The 
Company believes that the remaining charges made ag ainst KACC by the USWA are 
without merit. See Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated  Financial Statements, "- 
Labor Matters" for a discussion of the ULP charges.  
 
Asbestos-Related Liability and Expected Recoveries - KACC is a defendant in a 
number of lawsuits that generally relate to product s KACC has not sold for more 
than 20 years. The Company believes that KACC has i nsurance coverage available 
to recover a substantial portion of its asbestos-re lated costs. For the year 
ended December 31, 2000, a total of approximately $ 99.5 million of 
asbestos-related settlements and defense costs were  paid and partial insurance 
reimbursements for asbestos-related matters totalin g approximately $62.8 million 
were received. See Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated  Financial Statements for 
additional information. 
 
Pacific Northwest Power Sales and Operating Level -  In response to the 
unprecedented high market prices for power in the P acific Northwest, KACC 
temporarily curtailed primary aluminum production a t the Tacoma and Mead, 
Washington, smelters during the second half of 2000  and sold a portion of the 
power that it had under contract through September 30, 2001. As a result of the 
curtailments, KACC avoided the need to purchase pow er on a variable market price 
basis and will receive cash proceeds sufficient to more than offset the cash 
impact of the potline curtailments over the period for which the power was sold. 
KACC has made additional power sales in 2001. Also,  during October 2000, KACC 
signed a new power contract with the Bonneville Pow er Administration ("BPA") 
under which the BPA will provide KACC's operations in the State of Washington 
with sufficient power to operate KACC's Trentwood f acility as well as 



approximately 40% of the combined capacity of KACC' s Mead and Tacoma aluminum 
smelting operations during the period from October 2001 through September 2006. 
Power costs under the new contract are expected to exceed the cost of power 
under KACC's current BPA contract by between 20% to  60% and, perhaps, by as much 
as 100% in certain periods, and other contract term s are less favorable than 
KACC's current BPA contract. KACC does not have any  remarketing rights under the 
new BPA contract. See Note 7 of Notes to Consolidat ed Financial Statements for 
additional information on these matters. 
 
BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 
KACC conducts its business through its five main bu siness units (Bauxite and 
alumina, Primary aluminum, Commodities marketing, F lat-rolled products and 
Engineered products), each of which is discussed be low. 
 
-  Bauxite and Alumina Business Unit 
The following table lists KACC's bauxite mining and  alumina refining facilities 
as of December 31, 2000: 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                                Annual
                                                                             Production          Total
                                                                               Capacity         Annual
                                                               Company     Available to     Production
Activity                       Facility        Loca tion      Ownership      the Company       Capacity
--------------             -------------   -------- -----    -----------   -------------    -----------
                                                                                 (tons)         (tons)
 
Bauxite Mining             KJBC             Jamaica               49.0%        4,500,000      4,500,000
                           Alpart(1)        Jamaica               65.0%        2,275,000      3,500,000
                                                                             ----------     ----------
                                                                              6,775,000      8,000,000
                                                                             ==========     ==========
Alumina Refining           Gramercy(2)      Louisia na           100.0%        1,250,000      1,250,000
                           Alpart           Jamaica               65.0%          942,500      1,450,000
                           QAL              Austral ia            28.3%        1,032,950      3,650,000
                                                                             ----------     ----------
                                                                              3,225,450      6,350,000
                                                                             ==========     ==========
 
------------ 
(1) Alumina Partners of Jamaica ("Alpart") bauxite is refined into alumina at 
    the Alpart refinery. 
 
(2) Production was completely curtailed from July 1 999 until the middle of 
    December 2000. See discussion below. 
 
KACC is a major producer of alumina and sells signi ficant amounts of its alumina 
production in domestic and international markets. K ACC's strategy is to sell a 
substantial portion of the alumina available to it in excess of its internal 
smelting requirements under multi-year sales contra cts with prices linked to the 
price of primary aluminum. See "- Competition" and "- Commodity Marketing" in 
this Report. During 2000, KACC sold alumina to appr oximately 14 customers, the 
largest and top five of which accounted for approxi mately 27% and 80%, 
respectively, of the business unit's third-party ne t sales. All of KACC's 
third-party sales of bauxite in 2000 were made to t wo customers, which sales 
represent approximately 9% of the business unit's t hird-party net sales. KACC's 
principal customers for bauxite and alumina consist  of other aluminum producers, 
trading intermediaries who resell raw materials to end-users, and users of 
chemical grade alumina. 
 
KJBC. The Government of Jamaica has granted KACC a mining lease for the mining 
of bauxite which will, at a minimum, satisfy the ba uxite requirements of KACC's 
Gramercy, Louisiana, alumina refinery so that it wi ll be able to produce at its 



current rated capacity until 2020. Kaiser Jamaica B auxite Company ("KJBC") mines 
bauxite from the land which is subject to the minin g lease as an agent for KACC. 
Although KACC owns 49% of KJBC, it is entitled to, and generally takes, all of 
its bauxite output. A substantial majority of the b auxite mined by KJBC is 
refined into alumina at the Gramercy facility and t he remainder is sold to two 
third-party customers. KJBC's operations have been impacted by the Gramercy 
incident. The Government of Jamaica has agreed to g rant KACC an additional 
bauxite mining lease. The new mining lease will be effective upon the expiration 
of the current lease in 2020 and will enable the Gr amercy facility to produce at 
its rated capacity for an additional ten year perio d. See Note 2 of Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements for a detailed di scussion of the Gramercy 
incident. 
 
Gramercy. Alumina produced by the Gramercy refinery  is primarily sold to third 
parties. The Gramercy refinery produces two product s: smelter grade alumina and 
chemical grade alumina (e.g. hydrate). Smelter grad e alumina is sold under 
long-term contracts typically linked to London Meta l Exchange prices ("LME 
prices"). Chemical grade alumina is sold at a premi um price over smelter grade 
alumina. Production at the Gramercy refinery was co mpletely curtailed in July 
1999 when it was extensively damaged by an explosio n in the digestion area of 
the plant. Production at the plant remained curtail ed until the middle of 
December 2000 at which time partial production comm enced. The plant is expected 
to increase production progressively to approximate ly 75% of its newly rated 
estimated annual capacity of 1,250,000 tons by the end of March 2001. At 
February 28, 2001, the plant was operating at 70% o f capacity. Based on current 
estimates, construction at the facility is expected  to be completed during the 
third quarter of 2001. While production was curtail ed, KACC purchased alumina 
from third parties, in excess of the amounts of alu mina available from other 
KACC-owned facilities, to supply major customers' n eeds as well as to meet 
intersegment requirements. See Note 2 of Notes to C onsolidated Financial 
Statements for additional information regarding the  impact of the Gramercy 
incident. 
 
Alpart. Alpart holds bauxite reserves and owns a 1, 450,000 ton per year alumina 
plant located in Jamaica. KACC owns a 65% interest in Alpart, and Hydro 
Aluminium a.s ("Hydro") owns the remaining 35% inte rest. KACC has management 
responsibility for the facility on a fee basis. KAC C and Hydro have agreed to be 
responsible for their proportionate shares of Alpar t's costs and expenses. The 
Government of Jamaica has granted Alpart a mining l ease and has entered into 
other agreements with Alpart designed to assure tha t sufficient reserves of 
bauxite will be available to Alpart to operate its refinery, as it may be 
expanded up to a capacity of 2,000,000 tons per yea r, through the year 2024. 
Beginning in the first half of 2000, Alpart and JAM ALCO, a joint venture between 
affiliates of Alcoa Inc. and the Government of Jama ica, began operating a 
bauxite mining operation joint venture that consoli dates their bauxite mining 
operations in Jamaica, the objective of which is to  optimize mining operating 
and capital costs. The joint venture agreement also  grants Alpart certain rights 
to acquire bauxite mined from JAMALCO's reserves. 
 
QAL. KACC owns a 28.3% interest in Queensland Alumi na Limited ("QAL"), which 
owns one of the largest and most competitive alumin a refineries in the world, 
located in Queensland, Australia. QAL refines bauxi te into alumina, essentially 
on a cost basis, for the account of its shareholder s under long-term tolling 
contracts. The shareholders, including KACC, purcha se bauxite from another QAL 
shareholder under long-term supply contracts. KACC has contracted with QAL to 
take approximately 868,000 tons per year of alumina  or pay standby charges. KACC 
is unconditionally obligated to pay amounts calcula ted to service its share 
($101.5 million at December 31, 2000) of certain de bt of QAL, as well as other 
QAL costs and expenses, including bauxite shipping costs. 
 
-   Primary Aluminum Business Unit 
The following table lists KACC's primary aluminum s melting facilities as of 
December 31, 2000: 
 
 
 



 
                                                                Annual Rated        Total         2000
                                                                    Capacity       Annual      Average
                                                  C ompany      Available to         Rated    Operating
Location                           Facility     Own ership        the Company     Capacity         Rate
----------------              --------------   ---- --------    -------------    ---------    -----------
                                                                      (tons)       (tons) 
United States 
   Washington                    Mead                100%            200,000      200,000          85% (1)
   Washington                    Tacoma              100%             73,000       73,000          41% (1)
                                                               -------------    --------- 
       Subtotal                                                      273,000      273,000 
                                                               -------------    --------- 
 
 
International 
   Ghana                         Valco                90%            180,000      200,000          78%
   Wales, United Kingdom         Anglesey             49%             66,150      135,000         106%
                                                               -------------    --------- 
       Subtotal                                                      246,150      335,000 
                                                               -------------    --------- 
              Total                                                  519,150      608,000 
                                                               =============    ========= 
 
 
-------- 
(1)  2000 operating rates were affected by the high  market prices for electric 
     power in the Pacific Northwest. Both smelters were curtailed as of December 
     31, 2000. For a discussion of these matters se e "Availability of Affordable 
     Electric Power" below. 
 
KACC uses proprietary retrofit and control technolo gy in all of its smelters. 
This technology - which includes the redesign of th e cathodes, anodes and bus 
that conduct electricity through reduction cells, i mproved feed systems that add 
alumina to the cells, computerized process control and energy management 
systems, and furnace technology for baking of anode  carbon - has significantly 
contributed to increased and more efficient product ion of primary aluminum and 
enhanced KACC's ability to compete more effectively  with the industry's newer 
smelters. 
 
KACC's principal primary aluminum customers consist  of large trading 
intermediaries and metal brokers. In 2000, KACC sol d its primary aluminum 
production not utilized for internal purposes to ap proximately 46 customers, the 
largest and top five of which accounted for approxi mately 52% and 73%, 
respectively, of the business unit's third-party ne t sales. See "-Competition" 
in this Report. Marketing and sales efforts are con ducted by personnel located 
in Houston, Texas; and Tacoma and Spokane, Washingt on. 
 
Operations in the United States. The Mead facility uses pre-bake technology. 
Approximately 68% of Mead's 2000 production was use d at KACC's Trentwood, 
Washington, rolling mill and other KACC-owned facil ities, with the balance being 
sold to third parties. The Tacoma facility uses Sod erberg technology and 
produces primary aluminum and high-grade, continuou s-cast, redraw rod, which 
currently commands a premium price in excess of the  price of primary aluminum. 
The business unit maintains specialized laboratorie s and a miniature carbon 
plant in the state of Washington which concentrate on the development of 
cost-effective technical innovations such as equipm ent and process improvements. 
As of December 31, 2000, both the Mead and Tacoma s melters were completely 
curtailed and are expected to remain curtailed at l east through September 30, 
2001. However, KACC has continued to operate the Ta coma rod-mill. See additional 
discussion below regarding electric power. 
 
International Operations. KACC manages, and owns a 90% interest in, the Volta 
Aluminium Company Limited ("Valco") aluminum smelte r in Ghana. The Valco smelter 
uses pre-bake technology and processes alumina supp lied by KACC and the other 
participant into primary aluminum under tolling con tracts which provide for 



proportionate payments by the participants. KACC's share of the primary aluminum 
is sold to third parties. Valco's operating level h as been subject to 
fluctuations resulting from the amount of power it is allocated by the Volta 
River Authority ("VRA"). The operating level over t he last five years has ranged 
from one to four out of a total of five potlines. D uring 2000 and 1999, Valco 
operated an average of four and three potlines, res pectively. 
 
KACC owns a 49% interest in the Anglesey Aluminium Limited ("Anglesey") aluminum 
smelter at Holyhead, Wales. The Anglesey smelter us es pre-bake technology. KACC 
supplies 49% of Anglesey's alumina requirements and  purchases 49% of Anglesey's 
aluminum output. KACC sells its share of Anglesey's  output to third parties. 
 
Availability of Affordable Electric Power - Electri c power represents an 
important production input for KACC at its aluminum  smelters and its cost can 
significantly affect KACC's profitability. 
 
United States. KACC purchases electric power for th e Mead and Tacoma, 
Washington, smelters from the BPA, which has suppli ed approximately half of the 
electric power for the two plants over recent years , and from other suppliers. 
The power contract with the BPA expires in Septembe r 2001, and the power 
contracts with other suppliers have either expired or the underlying power has 
been sold. As a result of unprecedented high market  prices for electric power in 
the Pacific Northwest, KACC temporarily curtailed a ll of the primary aluminum 
production at the Tacoma and Mead, Washington, smel ters and commenced selling 
power that it had under contract through September 30, 2001. As a result of the 
curtailment, KACC will avoid the need to purchase p ower on a variable market 
basis and will receive cash proceeds sufficient to more than offset the cash 
impact of the potline curtailments over the period for which the power was sold. 
Both the Mead and Tacoma smelters are expected to r emain curtailed through at 
least September 30, 2001. Under a new contract with  the BPA, which will run from 
October 2001 through September 2006, the BPA will p rovide KACC with sufficient 
power to operate its Trentwood facility as well as approximately 40% of the 
combined capacity of its Mead and Tacoma aluminum s melting operations. Power 
costs under the new contract are expected to exceed  the cost of power under 
KACC's current BPA contract by between 20% to 60% a nd, perhaps, as much as 100% 
in certain periods, and other contract terms are le ss favorable than KACC's 
current BPA contract. KACC does not have any remark eting rights under the new 
BPA contract. 
 
International. Valco and the VRA have reached an ag reement, which is subject to 
Parliamentary approval in 2001, that provides for s ufficient power to operate at 
least four of Valco's five potlines in 2001 and at least three and one-half 
potlines thereafter. During early 2000, Anglesey en tered into a new power 
agreement that provides sufficient power to sustain  its operations at full 
capacity through September 2009. 
 
-   Commodities Marketing Business Unit 
The Company's operating results are sensitive to ch anges in the prices of 
alumina, primary aluminum, and fabricated aluminum products, and also depend to 
a significant degree upon the volume and mix of all  products sold. Primary 
aluminum prices have historically been subject to s ignificant cyclical 
fluctuations. Alumina prices, as well as fabricated  aluminum product prices 
(which vary considerably among products), are signi ficantly influenced by 
changes in the price of primary aluminum and genera lly lag behind primary 
aluminum prices by up to three months. From time to  time in the ordinary course 
of business, KACC enters into hedging transactions to provide risk management in 
respect of its net exposure of earnings and cash fl ow related to primary 
aluminum price changes. Given the significance of p rimary aluminum hedging 
activities to the Company and KACC, the Company has  begun (starting with the 
year ended December 31, 2000) reporting its primary  aluminum-related hedging 
activities as a separate segment. Primary aluminum- related hedging activities 
are managed centrally on behalf of all of KACC's bu siness segments to minimize 
transaction costs, to monitor consolidated net expo sures and to allow for 
increased responsiveness to changes in market facto rs. See Note 1 of Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements, " - Derivative F inancial Instruments," Note 
13 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements an d "Quantitative and 



Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk" for addi tional information regarding 
primary aluminum-related hedging activities. 
 
Hedging activities conducted in respect of the Comp any's cost exposure to energy 
prices and foreign exchange rates are not considere d a part of the Commodity 
marketing segment. Rather, such activities are incl uded in the results of the 
business unit to which they relate. 
 
-   Flat-Rolled Products Business Unit 
The Flat-rolled products business unit operates the  Trentwood, Washington, 
rolling mill. The business unit sells to the aerosp ace, transportation and 
industrial ("ATI") markets (producing heat-treat sh eet and plate products and 
automotive brazing sheet) and the beverage containe r market (producing lid and 
tab stock), both directly and through distributors.  
 
During 2000, KACC shifted the product mix of its Tr entwood rolling mill toward 
higher value-added product lines, such as heat-trea t sheet and plate, automotive 
brazing sheet and beverage can lid and tab stock, a nd away from beverage can 
body stock, wheel and common alloy tread products i n an effort to enhance its 
profitability. See "Management's Discussion and Ana lysis of Financial Condition 
and Results of Operation--2000 as Compared to 1999- -Flat-Rolled Products" for a 
discussion of the financial impact of this product mix shift. In 2000, the 
business unit sold to approximately 124 customers i n the ATI markets, most of 
which represented heat-treat product shipments to d istributors who sell to a 
variety of industrial end-users. The largest and to p five customers in the ATI 
markets for flat-rolled products accounted for appr oximately 8% and 23%, 
respectively, of the business unit's third-party ne t sales. 
 
KACC's flat-rolled products are also sold to bevera ge container manufacturing 
locations primarily in the western United States an d Asian Pacific Rim 
countries. The largest and top five of such custome rs accounted for 
approximately 12% and 26%, respectively, of the bus iness unit's third-party net 
sales. See "- Competition" in this Report. Sales ar e made directly to end-use 
customers and distributors by KACC sales representa tives located across the 
United States and England, and by independent sales  agents in Asia. However, in 
addition to exiting can body stock production, beve rage can lid and tab 
manufacturing is also being de-emphasized to furthe r increase the business 
unit's focus on higher value- added heat-treat prod uct lines described above. 
 
-   Engineered Products Business Unit 
The Engineered products business unit operates soft -alloy and hard-alloy 
extrusion facilities and engineered component (forg ings) facilities in the 
United States and Canada. Major markets for extrude d products are in the ground 
transportation industry, to which the business unit  sells extruded shapes for 
automobiles, light-duty vehicles, heavy duty trucks  and trailers, and shipping 
containers, and in the distribution, durable goods,  defense, building and 
construction, ordnance and electrical markets. 
 
Soft-alloy extrusion facilities are located in Los Angeles, California; Sherman, 
Texas; Tulsa, Oklahoma; Richmond, Virginia; and Lon don, Ontario, Canada. 
Products manufactured at these facilities include r od, bar, tube, shapes and 
billet. During 2000 and 2001, the Tulsa facility is  being reconfigured as a 
focused production facility for standard soft- allo y extrusion products, having 
transferred its cathodic protection business to the  Sherman facility. Hard-alloy 
extrusion facilities are located in Newark, Ohio; a nd Jackson, Tennessee, and 
produce rod, bar, screw machine stock, redraw rod, forging stock and billet. The 
business unit also extrudes seamless tubing in both  hard- and soft-alloys at a 
facility in Richland, Washington and produces drawn  tube in both hard- and 
soft-alloys at a facility in Chandler, Arizona, tha t it purchased in May 2000. 
 
The business unit sells forged parts to customers i n the automotive, heavy-duty 
truck, general aviation, rail, machinery and equipm ent, and ordnance markets. 
The high strength-to-weight properties of forged al uminum make it particularly 
well-suited for automotive applications. Forging fa cilities are located in 
Oxnard, California, and Greenwood, South Carolina. Through its sales and 
engineering office in Southfield, Michigan, the bus iness unit staff works with 



automobile makers and other customers and plant per sonnel to create new 
automotive component designs and to improve existin g products. 
 
In 2000, the Engineered products business unit had approximately 400 customers, 
the largest and top five of which accounted for app roximately 8% and 23%, 
respectively, of the business unit's third-party ne t sales. See "- Competition" 
below. Sales are made directly to end-use customers  and distributors by KACC 
sales representatives located across the United Sta tes. 
 
COMPETITION 
 
KACC competes globally with producers of bauxite, a lumina, primary aluminum, and 
fabricated aluminum products. Many of KACC's compet itors have greater financial 
resources than KACC. Primary aluminum and, to some degree, alumina are 
commodities with generally standard qualities, and competition in the sale of 
these commodities is based primarily upon price, qu ality and availability. 
Aluminum competes in many markets with steel, coppe r, glass, plastic, and other 
materials. KACC competes with numerous domestic and  international fabricators in 
the sale of fabricated aluminum products. KACC manu factures and markets 
fabricated aluminum products for the transportation , packaging, construction, 
and consumer durables markets in the United States and abroad. Sales in these 
markets are made directly and through distributors to a large number of 
customers. Competition in the sale of fabricated pr oducts is based upon quality, 
availability, price and service, including delivery  performance. KACC 
concentrates its fabricating operations on selected  products in which it 
believes it has production expertise, high-quality capability, and geographic 
and other competitive advantages. The Company belie ves that, assuming the 
current relationship between worldwide supply and d emand for alumina and primary 
aluminum does not change materially, the loss of an y one of KACC's customers, 
including intermediaries, would not have a material  adverse effect on the 
Company's financial condition or results of operati ons. 
 
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 
 
Net expenditures for research and development activ ities were $5.6 million in 
2000, $11.0 million in 1999, and $13.7 million in 1 998. KACC estimates that 
research and development net expenditures will be i n the range of $3.0 million 
to $5.0 million in 2001. 
 
EMPLOYEES 
 
During 2000, KACC employed an average of approximat ely 7,800 persons, compared 
with an average of approximately 8,600 persons in 1 999 and approximately 9,200 
persons in 1998. At December 31, 2000, KACC employe d approximately 7,300 
persons. The foregoing employee counts for 2000, 19 99 and 1998 include the USWA 
workers who were subject to the lockout imposed by KACC as a result of the labor 
dispute that was settled in September 2000. During the labor dispute, KACC 
operated the five affected facilities with temporar y workers who were not 
included in the employee counts for 2000, 1999 and 1998. 
 
The labor agreements with employees at the Valco sm elter in Ghana, the Alpart 
refinery in Jamaica and the Engineered products bus iness unit's plants at Los 
Angeles, California, and Richmond, Virginia, are sc heduled to expire in 2001. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS 
 
The Company and KACC are subject to a wide variety of international, federal, 
state and local environmental laws and regulations.  For a discussion of this 
subject, see "Factors Affecting Future Performance - KACC's current or past 
operations subject it to environmental compliance, clean-up and damage claims 
that may be costly" below. 
 
FACTORS AFFECTING FUTURE PERFORMANCE 
 
This section discusses certain factors that could c ause actual results to vary, 
perhaps materially, from the results described in f orward-looking statements 



made in this Report. Forward-looking statements in this Report are not 
guarantees of future performance and involve signif icant risks and 
uncertainties. In addition to the factors identifie d below, actual results may 
vary materially from those in such forward-looking statements as a result of a 
variety of other factors including the effectivenes s of management's strategies 
and decisions, general economic and business condit ions, developments in 
technology, new or modified statutory or regulatory  requirements, and changing 
prices and market conditions. This Report also iden tifies other factors that 
could cause such differences. No assurance can be g iven that these factors are 
all of the factors that could cause actual results to vary materially from the 
forward-looking statements. 
 
-  Our earnings are sensitive to a number of variab les 
Our operating earnings are sensitive to a number of  variables over which we have 
no direct control. Two key variables in this regard  are prices for primary 
aluminum and general economic conditions. 
 
The price of primary aluminum significantly affects  our financial results. 
Primary aluminum prices historically have been subj ect to significant cyclical 
price fluctuations. The Company believes the timing  of changes in the market 
price of aluminum are largely unpredictable. Since 1993, the Average Midwest 
United States transaction price (the "AMT price") h as ranged from approximately 
$.50 to $1.00 per pound. 
 
Changes in global, regional, or country-specific ec onomic conditions can have a 
significant impact on overall demand for aluminum-i ntensive fabricated products 
in the transportation, distribution, and packaging markets. Such changes in 
demand can directly affect our earnings by impactin g the overall volume and mix 
of such products sold. To the extent that these end -use markets weaken, demand 
can also diminish for alumina and primary aluminum.  
 
- KACC's near-term significant debt maturities coul d adversely affect us 
KACC has significant near-term debt maturities. KAC C's Credit Agreement expires 
in August 2001. It is the Company's and KACC's inte ntion to extend or replace 
the Credit Agreement prior to its expiration. Howev er, in order for the Credit 
Agreement to be extended, on a short-term basis, be yond August 2001, KACC will 
have to have a plan to mitigate the $225.0 million of 97/8% Senior Notes. For 
the Credit Agreement to be extended past February 2 003, both the 97/8% Senior 
Notes and the $400.0 million of Senior Subordinated  Notes will have to be 
retired and/or refinanced. As of February 28, 2001,  KACC had received approval 
from the Credit Agreement lenders to purchase up to  $50.0 million of the 97/8% 
Senior Notes. As of February 28, 2001, KACC had pur chased approximately $1.0 
million of 97/8% Senior Notes. As of February 28, 2 001, there were $94.0 million 
of borrowings outstanding under the Credit Agreemen t and remaining availability 
of approximately $120.0 million. However, proceeds of approximately $130.0 
million related to 2001 power sales are expected to  be received at or near March 
30, 2001, and an additional $130.0 million of power  proceeds will be received 
periodically through October 2001 with respect to o ther power sales made during 
the first quarter of 2001. KACC is also considering  the possible sale of part or 
all of its interests in certain assets. The contemp lated transactions are in 
various stages of development. KACC expects that at  least one operating asset 
will be sold. KACC has multiple transactions under way. It is unlikely, however, 
that it would consummate all of the transactions un der consideration. Further, 
there can be no assurance as to the likelihood, tim ing or terms of such sales. 
The Company expects to use the proceeds from any su ch sales for debt reduction, 
capital spending or some combination thereof. 
 
KACC's ability to refinance its debt depends primar ily on its ability to 
generate cash in the future. This, to a certain ext ent, is subject to general 
economic, financial, competitive, legislative and o ther factors beyond KACC's 
control. 
 
-  KACC's high leverage and debt service requiremen ts could adversely affect us 
KACC is highly leveraged and has significant debt s ervice requirements. As of 
December 31, 2000, KACC's total debt was approximat ely $989.4 million. KACC's 
high level of debt affects our operations in severa l important ways: 



 
-    a large portion of the cash KACC generates is used to pay interest. 
     Accordingly, our financial results are more vu lnerable in the event of a 
     downturn in our business, the aluminum industr y or general economic 
     conditions; 
 
-    the agreements governing such debt limit KACC' s and our flexibility in 
     planning for and reacting to changes in our bu siness conditions. For 
     example, some or all of the agreements governi ng such debt limit KACC's 
     and/or our ability to make capital expenditure s, to borrow additional money 
     and to consolidate or merge with other compani es; 
 
-    KACC may experience a competitive disadvantage  because it is more highly 
     leveraged than some of its competitors; and 
 
-    the agreements governing such debt permit KACC 's and our creditors to 
     accelerate payments if KACC or we default or e xperience a change in the 
     control of our ownership as set forth in such agreements. 
 
KACC's ability to make payments on its debt depends  on its ability to generate 
cash in the future. This, to a certain extent, is s ubject to general economic, 
financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and  other factors beyond KACC's 
control. 
 
-  The asbestos-related lawsuits against KACC could  continue to increase and 
   could adversely impact our financial position 
KACC is a defendant in numerous lawsuits in which t he plaintiffs allege that 
they have injuries caused by exposure to asbestos d uring, and as a result of, 
their employment or association with KACC, or expos ure to products containing 
asbestos produced or sold by KACC. The lawsuits gen erally relate to products 
KACC sold more than 20 years ago. 
 
Our December 31, 2000, balance sheet includes a lia bility for estimated 
asbestos-related costs of $492.4 million. We cannot  assure you that this 
liability will not increase in the future. In deter mining the amount of the 
liability, we have only included estimates for the cost of claims for a ten year 
period through 2010 because we do not have a reason able basis for estimating 
costs beyond that period. However, we expect that t hese costs may continue 
beyond 2010 and that they could be substantial. 
 
We believe KACC has insurance coverage for a substa ntial portion of such 
asbestos-related costs. Accordingly, our December 3 1, 2000, balance sheet 
includes a long-term receivable for estimated insur ance recoveries of $406.3 
million. We believe that KACC will recover a substa ntial portion of these 
payments from insurance, but cannot assure you that  KACC will receive 
substantial insurance payments or that the timing o f such payments will occur in 
the year KACC is required to make the payments. Del ays in receiving future 
insurance repayments would have an adverse impact o n KACC's liquidity. 
 
Prior to insurance recoveries, we estimate that KAC C's annual cash payments for 
asbestos-related costs will be approximately $110.0  - $135.0 million in the 
years 2001 and 2002, approximately $45.0 - $50.0 mi llion in the years 2003 and 
2004, approximately $25.0 million in the year 2005 and a total of $125.0 million 
beyond 2005. 
 
See Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Stat ements for additional 
discussion of this matter. 
 
-   Power availability for smelting operations 
Electric power represents an important production i nput for KACC at its aluminum 
smelters and its cost can significantly affect KACC 's profitability. Power 
contracts for KACC's smelters have varying contract ual terms. See "Business - 
Primary Aluminum Business Unit - Availability of Af fordable Electric Power" in 
this Report. We cannot provide assurance that elect ric power will be available 
in the future, at affordable prices, for KACC's sme lters. Under the new contract 
with the BPA, KACC's Pacific Northwest operations w ill not receive sufficient 



power to run its smelting operations at full capaci ty and may have to pay as 
much as 100% more than the power rate under the cur rent contract. Depending on 
the ultimate price for such power or the availabili ty of an alternate power 
supply at an acceptable price, KACC may be unable t o operate the smelters in the 
near or long-term. Under KACC's contract with the U SWA, KACC is liable for 
certain severance and supplemental unemployment ben efits for laid-off workers. 
Such costs related to the period from January 1, 20 01 to September 30, 2001 have 
been accrued to the extent that the costs are fixed  and determinable. However, 
the Company may become liable for additional costs.  In particular, KACC would 
become liable for certain early retirement benefits  for USWA workers at the Mead 
and Tacoma, Washington, facilities if such faciliti es are not restarted prior to 
late 2002 or early 2003. Such costs could be signif icant and would adversely 
impact KACC's and our operating results and liquidi ty. 
 
-  The Gramercy incident could result in adverse co nsequences to us 
In July 1999, KACC's Gramercy, Louisiana, alumina r efinery was extensively 
damaged by an explosion in the digestion area of th e plant. A number of 
employees were injured in the incident, several of them severely. KACC may be 
liable for claims relating to the injured employees . The incident has also 
resulted in more than ninety lawsuits being filed a gainst KACC alleging, among 
other things, property damage, business interruptio n loss by other businesses 
and personal injury. The aggregate amount of damage s sought in the lawsuits and 
other claims cannot be determined at this time. We currently believe KACC's 
insurance will cover the majority of the costs of t hese lawsuits and claims 
relating to the injured employees. 
 
Through February 28, 2001, KACC had recorded $289.3  million of estimated 
insurance recoveries related to the Gramercy incide nt and had collected $262.6 
million of such amounts. An additional $7.0 million  is expected in March 2001. 
The remaining balance of approximately $20.0 millio n and any additional amounts 
possibly due to KACC will likely not be recovered u ntil KACC and the insurers 
resolve certain outstanding issues. The insurers ha ve asserted that no 
additional business interruption amounts are due af ter November 30, 2000. KACC 
and the insurers are currently negotiating an arbit ration agreement as a means 
of resolving their differences. We anticipate that the remaining issues will not 
be resolved until late 2001 or early 2002. We conti nue to believe that a minimum 
of approximately $290.0 million of insurance recove ries are probable, that 
additional amounts are owed to KACC by the insurers , and that the likelihood of 
any refund by KACC of amounts previously received f rom the insurers is remote. 
However, because this matter is subject to signific ant uncertainties, no 
assurances can be given as to the ultimate outcome of this matter or its impact 
on KACC's and our near-term liquidity and results o f operations. 
 
-   Our profits and cash flows may be adversely impac ted by the results of KACC's hedging programs
KACC enters into hedging transactions to limit its exposure resulting from (1) 
its anticipated sales of alumina, primary aluminum,  and fabricated aluminum 
products, net of expected purchase costs for items that fluctuate with primary 
aluminum prices, (2) energy price risk from fluctua ting prices for natural gas, 
fuel oil and diesel oil used in its production proc ess, and (3) foreign currency 
requirements with respect to its cash commitments w ith foreign subsidiaries and 
affiliates. To the extent that the prices for prima ry aluminum exceed the fixed 
or ceiling prices established by KACC's hedging tra nsactions or that energy 
costs or foreign exchange rates are below the fixed  or floor prices, our profits 
and cash flow would be lower than they otherwise wo uld have been. 
 
Hedging activities can also have a temporary impact  on our and KACC's liquidity. 
KACC has established credit limits with certain cou nterparties related to open 
forward sales and option contracts. When unrealized  gains or losses on open 
positions are in excess of such credit lines, KACC is entitled to receive margin 
advances from the counterparties or is required to make margin advances to 
counterparties, as the case may be. At December 31,  2000, the impact of margin 
arrangements on KACC's and our liquidity was insign ificant. However, future 
increases in primary aluminum prices or decreases i n foreign exchange rates 
could result in KACC having to make margin advances  or post additional letters 
of credit and such amounts could be significant and  could adversely impact 
KACC's and our liquidity. 



 
Information regarding KACC's sensitivity to certain  price amounts from both an 
earnings and liquidity perspective is provided in " Quantitative and Qualitative 
Disclosures About Market Risk." 
 
-  KACC's current or past operations subject it to environmental compliance, 
   clean-up and damage claims that may be costly 
The operations of KACC's facilities are regulated b y a wide variety of 
international, federal, state and local environment al laws. These environmental 
laws regulate, among other things, air and water em issions and discharges; the 
generation, storage, treatment, transportation and disposal of solid and 
hazardous waste; and the release of hazardous or to xic substances, pollutants 
and contaminants into the environment. Compliance w ith these environmental laws 
is costly. While legislative, regulatory and econom ic uncertainties make it 
difficult for us to project future spending for the se purposes, we currently 
anticipate that in the 2001 - 2002 period, KACC's e nvironmental capital spending 
will be approximately $6.0 million per year and tha t KACC's operating costs will 
include pollution control costs totaling approximat ely $27.0 million per year. 
However, subsequent changes in environmental laws m ay change the way KACC must 
operate and may force KACC to spend more then we cu rrently project. 
 
Additionally, KACC's current and former operations can subject it to fines or 
penalties for alleged breaches of environmental law s and to other actions 
seeking clean-up or other remedies under these envi ronmental laws. KACC also may 
be subject to damages related to alleged injuries t o health or to the 
environment, including claims with respect to certa in waste disposal sites and 
the clean-up of sites currently or formerly used by  KACC. 
 
Currently, KACC is subject to certain lawsuits unde r the Comprehensive 
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended by 
the Superfund Amendments and Reauthorization Act of  1986 ("CERCLA"). KACC, along 
with certain other companies, has been named as a P otentially Responsible Party 
for clean-up costs at certain third-party sites lis ted on the National 
Priorities List under CERCLA. As a result, KACC may  be exposed not only to its 
assessed share of clean-up but also to the costs of  others if they are unable to 
pay. Additionally, KACC's Mead, Washington, facilit y has been listed on the 
National Priorities List under CERCLA. KACC and the  regulatory authorities 
agreed to a plan of remediation in January 2000. 
 
In response to environmental concerns, we have esta blished environmental 
accruals representing our estimate of the costs we reasonably expect KACC to 
incur in connection with these matters. At December  31, 2000, the balance of our 
accruals, which are primarily included in our long- term liabilities, was $46.1 
million. We estimate that the annual costs charged to these environmental 
accruals will be approximately $3.0 million to $12. 0 million per year for the 
years 2001 through 2005 and an aggregate of approxi mately $21.0 million 
thereafter. However, we cannot assure you that KACC 's actual costs will not 
exceed our current estimates. We believe that it is  reasonably possible that 
costs associated with these environmental matters m ay exceed current accruals by 
amounts that could range, in the aggregate, up to a n estimated $35.0 million. 
See Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Stat ements for additional 
information. 
 
- The remaining allegations of Unfair Labor Practic es ("ULPs") filed by the USWA 
could adversely affect us In connection with the US WA strike and subsequent 
lock-out by KACC, the USWA filed twenty-four allega tions of ULPs. Twenty-two of 
the allegations were dismissed. A trial before an a dministrative law judge for 
the two remaining allegations commenced in November  2000 and is continuing. If 
the outcome of either of these two allegations even tually results in a final 
ruling against KACC, it could be obligated to provi de back pay to the USWA 
members and such amount could be significant. Howev er, any outcome from the 
trial before the administrative law judge would be subject to additional appeals 
by the general counsel of the National Labor Relati ons Board (the "NLRB"), the 
USWA or KACC. This process could take months or yea rs. 
 
-   Ability to operate profitably in the future 



We reported net income of $16.8 million for the yea r ended December 31, 2000 
which included material non-recurring gains and los ses. If such non-recurring 
gains and losses were excluded from the 2000 result s (see "Management's 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation - 
Summary" for a summary of non-recurring gains and l osses), net income for the 
year ended December 31, 2000 would have been only s lightly above break-even. 
While we expect that 2001 will be profitable as a r esult of net gains from power 
sales, there can be no assurance that we will gener ate a profit from recurring 
operations or that we will operate profitably in fu ture periods. 
 
-   We operate in a highly competitive industry 
The production of alumina, primary and fabricated a luminum products is highly 
competitive. There are numerous companies who opera te in the aluminum industry. 
Certain of our competitors are substantially larger , have greater financial 
resources than we do and may have other strategic a dvantages. 
 
-  KACC is subject to political and regulatory risk s in a number of countries 
KACC operates facilities in the United States and i n a number of other 
countries, including Australia, Canada, Ghana, Jama ica, and the United Kingdom. 
While we believe KACC's relationships in the countr ies in which it operates are 
generally satisfactory, we cannot assure you that f uture country developments or 
governmental actions will not adversely affect KACC 's operations particularly or 
the aluminum industry generally. Among the risks in herent in KACC's operations 
are unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, unfavorable legal rulings, 
new or increased taxes and levies, and new or incre ased import or export 
restrictions. KACC's operations outside of the Unit ed States are subject to a 
number of additional risks, including but not limit ed to currency exchange rate 
fluctuations, currency restrictions, and nationaliz ation of assets. 
 
 
 
 
ITEM 2.       PROPERTIES 
 
The locations and general character of the principa l plants, mines, and other 
materially important physical properties relating t o KACC's operations are 
described in Item 1 "- Business Operations" and tho se descriptions are 
incorporated herein by reference. KACC owns in fee or leases all the real estate 
and facilities used in connection with its business . Plants and equipment and 
other facilities are generally in good condition an d suitable for their intended 
uses, subject to changing environmental requirement s. Although KACC's domestic 
aluminum smelters were initially designed early in KACC's history, they have 
been modified frequently over the years to incorpor ate technological advances in 
order to improve efficiency, increase capacity, and  achieve energy savings. The 
Company believes that KACC's plants are cost compet itive on an international 
basis. However, the long-term viability of KACC's P acific Northwest smelters may 
be adversely impacted if an adequate supply of powe r at reasonable prices is not 
ultimately available. 
 
KACC's obligations under the Credit Agreement are s ecured by, among other 
things, mortgages on KACC's major domestic plants ( other than the Gramercy 
alumina refinery). See Note 8 of Notes to Consolida ted Financial Statements for 
further discussion. 
 
 
 
 
ITEM 3.       LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
 
This section contains statements which constitute " forward-looking statements" 
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litiga tion Reform Act of 1995. See 
Item 1 of this Report for cautionary information wi th respect to such 
forward-looking statements. 
 
GRAMERCY LITIGATION 
 



On July 5, 1999, KACC's Gramercy, Louisiana, alumin a refinery was extensively 
damaged by an explosion in the digestion area of th e plant. A number of 
employees were injured in the incident, several of them severely. KACC may be 
liable for claims relating to the injured employees . The incident has resulted 
in more than ninety lawsuits, many of which were st yled as class action suits, 
being filed against KACC and others since July 1999  on behalf of more than 
16,000 claimants. Such lawsuits allege, among other  things, property damage, 
business interruption loss by other businesses and personal injury. All such 
lawsuits previously pending in state court are now consolidated into one action 
pending in the Twenty-Third Judicial District Court  for the Parish of St. James, 
State of Louisiana. One lawsuit remains pending in the United States District 
Court, Eastern District of Louisiana. Discovery has  begun in the cases. The 
aggregate amount of damages sought in the lawsuits cannot be determined at this 
time. See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial  Statements. 
 
In connection with the settlement of the U.S. Mine Safety and Health 
Administration's ("MSHA") investigation of the inci dent, KACC is paying a fine 
of $.5 million but denied the alleged violations. 
 
ASBESTOS-RELATED LITIGATION 
 
KACC is a defendant in a number of lawsuits, some o f which involve claims of 
multiple persons, in which the plaintiffs allege th at certain of their injuries 
were caused by, among other things, exposure to asb estos during, and as a result 
of, their employment or association with KACC or ex posure to products containing 
asbestos produced or sold by KACC. The lawsuits gen erally relate to products 
KACC has not manufactured for more than 20 years. T he portion of Note 12 of 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements under th e heading "Asbestos 
Contingencies" is incorporated herein by reference.  
 
LABOR MATTERS 
 
In connection with the USWA strike and subsequent l ock-out by KACC, certain 
allegations of ULPs were filed by the USWA with the  NLRB. Twenty-two of the 
twenty-four allegations of ULPs brought against KAC C by the USWA have been 
dismissed. A trial on the remaining two allegations  before an administrative law 
judge commenced in November 2000 and is continuing.  The Company is unable to 
estimate when the trial will be completed. If the o utcome of either of these two 
allegations eventually results in a final ruling ag ainst KACC, it could be 
obligated to provide back pay to the USWA members a nd such amount could be 
significant. Any outcome from the trial would be su bject to additional appeals 
by the general counsel of the NLRB, the USWA or KAC C. This process could take 
months or years. The portion of Note 12 of Notes to  Consolidated Financial 
Statements under the heading "Labor Matters" is inc orporated herein by 
reference. 
 
OTHER MATTERS 
 
Various other lawsuits and claims are pending again st KACC. While uncertainties 
are inherent in the final outcome of such matters a nd it is presently impossible 
to determine the actual costs that ultimately may b e incurred, management 
believes that the resolution of such uncertainties and the incurrence of such 
costs should not have a material adverse effect on the Company's consolidated 
financial position, results of operations, or liqui dity. See Note 12 of Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 
 
 
ITEM 4.       SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SE CURITY HOLDERS 
 
No matter was submitted to a vote of security holde rs of the Company during the 
fourth quarter of 2000. 
 
 
 



 
 
PART II 
 
 
 
ITEM 5.       MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY  AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER 
              MATTERS 
 
The Company's Common Stock is traded on the New Yor k Stock Exchange under the 
symbol "KLU." The number of record holders of the C ompany's Common Stock at 
February 28, 2001, was 347. The Company has not pai d any dividends on its Common 
Stock during the two most recent fiscal years. The high and low sales prices for 
the Company's Common Stock for each quarterly perio d of 2000, 1999 and 1998, as 
reported on the New York Stock Exchange is set fort h in the Quarterly Financial 
Data on page 60 in this Report and is incorporated herein by reference. 
 
The Credit Agreement contains restrictions on the a bility of the Company to pay 
dividends on or make distributions on account of th e Company's Common Stock, and 
the Credit Agreement and the indentures governing K ACC's public debt contain 
restrictions on the ability of the Company's subsid iaries to transfer funds to 
the Company in the form of cash dividends, loans or  advances. 
 
See Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial State ments under the heading "Debt 
Covenants and Restrictions" and the " Management's Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Liq uidity and Capital Resources 
- Capital Structure" for additional information whi ch are incorporated herein. 
 
 
 
 
ITEM 6.       SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 
 
Selected financial data for the Company is incorpor ated herein by reference to 
the table at page 1 of this Report, to the table at  pages 14 - 15 of 
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial C ondition and Results of 
Operations, to Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Fina ncial Statements, and to the 
Five-Year Financial Data on pages 61 - 62 in this R eport. 
 
 
 
 
ITEM 7.       MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND 
              RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
Kaiser Aluminum Corporation ("Kaiser" or the "Compa ny"), through its wholly 
owned subsidiary, Kaiser Aluminum & Chemical Corpor ation ("KACC"), operates 
in the following business segments: Bauxite and alu mina, Primary aluminum, 
Flat-rolled products, Engineered products and Commo dities marketing. The Company 
uses a portion of its bauxite, alumina, and primary  aluminum production for 
additional processing at certain of its downstream facilities. Intersegment 
transfers are valued at estimated market prices. Th e table below provides 
selected operational and financial information on a  consolidated basis with 
respect to the Company for the years ended December  31, 2000, 1999 and 1998. The 
following data should be read in conjunction with t he Company's consolidated 
financial statements and the notes thereto, contain ed elsewhere herein. See Note 
14 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements fo r further information 
 
 
regarding segments. (All references to tons refer t o metric tons of 2,204.6 
pounds.) 
 
                                                                                          Year Ended D ecember 31,
                                                                                   ------------------------------------
(In millions of dollars, except shipments and price s)                                 2000         199 9          1998
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- -----------------



Shipments: (000 tons) 
   Alumina(1) 
      Third Party                                                                   1,927.1       2,09 3.9       2,250.0
      Intersegment                                                                    751.9         75 7.3         750.7
                                                                                   ---------     
        Total Alumina                                                               2,679.0       2,85 1.2       3,000.7
                                                                                   ---------     
   Primary Aluminum(2) 
      Third Party                                                                     345.5         29 5.6         263.2
      Intersegment                                                                    148.9         17 1.2         162.8
                                                                                   ---------     
        Total Primary Aluminum                                                        494.4         46 6.8         426.0
                                                                                   ---------     
   Flat- Rolled Products                                                               162.3         217.9         235.6
                                                                                   ---------     
   Engineered Products                                                                164.6         17 1.1         169.4
                                                                                   ---------     
Average Realized Third Party Sales Price:(3)(4) 
   Alumina (per ton)                                                               $    209     $     176     $     184
   Primary Aluminum (per pound)                                                    $    .74     $     .66     $     .67
Net Sales:(3) 
   Bauxite and Alumina(1)(4) 
      Third Party (includes net sales of bauxite)                                  $  442.2     $   39 5.8     $   445.2
      Intersegment                                                                    148.3         12 9.0         135.8
                                                                                   ---------     
        Total Bauxite & Alumina                                                   590.5         524.8         581.0
                                                                                   ---------     
   Primary Aluminum(2)(4) 
      Third Party                                                                     563.7         43 2.9         390.7
      Intersegment                                                                    242.3         24 0.6         233.5
                                                                                   ---------     
        Total Primary Aluminum                                                        806.0         67 3.5         624.2
                                                                                   ---------     
   Flat- Rolled Products                                                               521.0         591.3         732.7
   Engineered Products                                                                564.9         55 6.8         595.3
   Commodities Marketing(4)                                                           (25.4)         1 8.3          60.5
   Minority Interests                                                                 103.4          8 8.5          78.0
   Eliminations                                                                      (390.6)       (36 9.6)       (369.3)
                                                                                   ---------     
        Total Net Sales                                                            $2,169.8     $ 2,08 3.6     $ 2,302.4
                                                                                   =========    ====== ====    ==========
Operating Income (Loss): (7)(8) 
   Bauxite & Alumina (4)(5)                                                    $   57.2     $   (10.5)     $     5.5
   Primary Aluminum (4)(6)                                                            100.1          ( 4.8)         28.3
   Flat- Rolled Products                                                                16.6          17.1          86.8
   Engineered Products                                                                 34.1          3 8.6          51.5
   Commodities Marketing(4)                                                           (48.7)         2 1.3          98.1
   Micromill                                                                            (.6)        (1 1.6)        (18.4)
   Eliminations                                                                          .1           6.9           8.9
   Corporate and Other                                                                (61.4)        (6 1.8)        (65.1)
   Labor Settlement Charge                                                            (38.5)         
   Other Non- Recurring Operating Items, Net                                            80.4         (24.1)       (1 05.0)
                                                                                   ---------     
        Total Operating Income (Loss)                                              $  139.3     $   (2 8.9)    $    90.6
                                                                                   =========    ====== ====    ==========
Net Income (Loss)                                                                  $   16.8     $   (5 4.1)    $      .6
                                                                                   =========    ====== ====    ==========
Capital Expenditures                                                               $  296.5     $    6 8.4     $    77.6
                                                                                   =========    ====== ====    ==========
 
(1)   Net sales for 2000 and 1999 included approxim ately 267,000 tons and 
      264,000 tons, respectively, of alumina purcha sed from third parties and 
      resold to certain unaffiliated customers and 55,000 tons and 131,000 tons, 
      respectively, of alumina purchased from third  parties and transferred to 
 
      the Company's primary aluminum business unit.  



(2)   Net sales for 2000, 1999 and 1998 included ap proximately 206,500 tons, 
      260,100 tons and 251,300 tons, respectively, of primary aluminum purchased 
      from third parties to meet third-party and in ternal commitments. 
(3)   Net sales for 1999 and 1998 for all segments have been restated to conform 
      to a new accounting requirement which states that freight charges should 
      be included in cost of products sold rather t han netted against net sales 
      as was the Company's prior policy. Average re alized prices for the 
      Company's Flat-rolled products and Engineered  products segments are not 
      presented as such prices are subject to fluct uations due to changes in 
      product mix. 
(4)   Average realized third-party sales prices, ne t sales and operating income 
      (loss) for Bauxite and alumina and Primary al uminum segments for 1999 and 
      1998 have been restated to reflect a change i n the Company's segment 
      reporting. The results of KACC's metal hedgin g activities are now set out 
      separately in the Commodities marketing segme nt rather than being 
      allocated between the two commodity business units. 
(5)   Operating income (loss) for 2000 and 1999 inc luded estimated business 
      interruption insurance recoveries totaling $1 10.0 and $41.0, respectively 
      Additionally, depreciation was suspended for the Gramercy facility for the 
      period from July 1999 to December 2000 as a r esult of the July 1999 
      incident. Depreciation expense for the Gramer cy facility for the six 
      months ended June 30, 1999, was approximately  $6.0. See Note 2 of Notes to 
      Consolidated Financial Statements for additio nal information. 
(6)   Operating income (loss) for the year ended De cember 31, 1999, included 
      potline preparation and restart costs of $12. 8. 
(7)   The allocation of the labor settlement charge s to the Company's business 
      units for the year ended December 31, 2000 is  as follows: Bauxite and 
      Alumina - $2.1, Primary aluminum - $15.9, Fla t-rolled products - $18.2 and 
      Engineered products - $2.3. 
(8)   See Note 6 of Notes to Consolidated Financial  Statements for a detailed 
      summary of the components of non-recurring op erating items, net (other 
      than the labor settlement charges) and the bu siness segment to which the 
      items relate. 
 
This section contains statements which constitute " forward-looking statements" 
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litiga tion Reform Act of 1995. 
These statements appear in a number of places in th is section (see "Overview," 
"Results of Operations," "Liquidity and Capital Res ources" and "Other Matters"). 
Such statements can be identified by the use of for ward-looking terminology such 
as "believes," "expects," "may," "estimates," "will ," "should," "plans" or 
"anticipates" or the negative thereof or other vari ations thereon or comparable 
terminology, or by discussions of strategy. Readers  are cautioned that any such 
forward-looking statements are not guarantees of fu ture performance and involve 
significant risks and uncertainties, and that actua l results may vary materially 
from those in the forward-looking statements as a r esult of various factors. 
These factors include the effectiveness of manageme nt's strategies and 
decisions, general economic and business conditions , developments in technology, 
new or modified statutory or regulatory requirement s and changing prices and 
market conditions. No assurance can be given that t hese are all of the factors 
that could cause actual results to vary materially from the forward-looking 
statements. 
 
OVERVIEW 
 
Market-related Factors. The Company's operating res ults are sensitive to changes 
in the prices of alumina, primary aluminum, and fab ricated aluminum products, 
and also depend to a significant degree on the volu me and mix of all products 
sold and on KACC's hedging strategies. Primary alum inum prices have historically 
been subject to significant cyclical price fluctuat ions. See Notes 1 and 13 of 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a di scussion of KACC's hedging 
activities. 
 
Changes in global, regional, or country-specific ec onomic conditions can have a 
significant impact on overall demand for aluminum-i ntensive fabricated products 
in the transportation, distribution, and packaging markets. Such changes in 
demand can directly affect the Company's earnings b y impacting the overall 



volume and mix of such products sold. To the extent  that these end-use markets 
weaken, demand can also diminish for what the Compa ny sometimes refers to as the 
"upstream" products: alumina and primary aluminum. 
 
During 2000, the Average Midwest United States tran saction price ("AMT price") 
per pound of primary aluminum was $.75 per pound. D uring 1999, the AMT price 
declined to a low of approximately $.57 per pound i n February 1999 and then 
began a steady increase ending 1999 at $.79 per pou nd. During 1998, the AMT 
price experienced a steady decline during the year,  beginning the year in the 
$.70 to $.75 range and ending the year in the low $ .60 range. At January 31, 
2001, the AMT price was approximately $.81 per poun d. 
 
Liquidity/Cash Resources. KACC has significant near -term debt maturities. KACC's 
ability to make payments on and refinance its debt depends on its ability to 
generate cash in the future. In addition to being i mpacted by power sales and 
normal operating items, the Company's and KACC's ne ar-term liquidity and cash 
flows will also be affected by the Gramercy inciden t, net payments for 
asbestos-related liabilities and possible proceeds from asset dispositions. See 
"Liquidity and Capital Resources - Financing Activi ties and Liquidity" for a 
discussion of these matters. 
 
Incident at Gramercy Facility. In July 1999, KACC's  Gramercy, Louisiana alumina 
refinery was extensively damaged by an explosion in  the digestion area of the 
plant. Construction on the damaged part of the faci lity began during the first 
quarter of 2000. Initial production at the plant co mmenced during the middle of 
December 2000. The plant is expected to increase pr oduction progressively to 
approximately 75% of its newly rated estimated annu al capacity of 1,250,000 tons 
by the end of March 2001. At February 28, 2001, the  plant was operating at 70% 
of capacity. Based on current estimates, constructi on at the facility is 
expected to be completed during the third quarter o f 2001. 
 
Through February 28, 2001, KACC had recorded $289.3  million of estimated 
insurance recoveries related to the Gramercy incide nt and had collected $262.6 
million of such amounts. An additional $7.0 million  is expected in March 2001. 
The remaining balance of approximately $20.0 millio n and any additional amounts 
possibly due to KACC will likely not be recovered u ntil KACC and the insurers 
resolve certain outstanding issues. KACC and the in surers are currently 
negotiating an arbitration agreement as a means of resolving their differences. 
The Company anticipates that the remaining issues w ill not be resolved until 
late 2001 or early 2002. KACC and the Company conti nue to believe that a minimum 
of approximately $290.0 million of insurance recove ries are probable, that 
additional amounts are owed to KACC by the insurers , and that the likelihood of 
any refund by KACC of amounts previously received f rom the insurers is remote. 
 
See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial State ments for a full discussion 
regarding the incident at the Gramercy facility. 
 
Labor Matters. As previously reported, prior to the  settlement of the labor 
dispute, KACC was operating five of its U.S. facili ties with salaried employees 
and other employees as a result of the September 19 98 strike by the United 
Steelworkers of America ("USWA") and the subsequent  "lockout" by KACC in January 
1999. The labor dispute was settled in September 20 00. In September 2000, the 
Company recorded a one-time pre-tax labor settlemen t charge of $38.5 million to 
reflect the incremental, non-recurring impacts of t he labor settlement, 
including severance and other contractual obligatio ns for non-returning workers. 
See Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial State ments for additional 
discussions on the labor settlement. 
 
Although the USWA dispute has been settled and the workers have returned to the 
facilities, two allegations of unfair labor practic es ("ULPs") in connection 
with the USWA strike and subsequent lock-out by KAC C remain to be settled. The 
Company believes that the remaining charges made ag ainst KACC by the USWA are 
without merit. See Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated  Financial Statements for 
additional discussion on the ULP charges. 
 
Strategic Initiatives. KACC's strategy is to improv e its financial results by: 



increasing the competitiveness of its existing plan ts; continuing its cost 
reduction initiatives; adding assets to businesses it expects to grow; pursuing 
divestitures of its non-core businesses; and streng thening its financial 
position by divesting of part or all of its interes ts in certain operating 
assets. 
 
In addition to working to improve the performance o f the Company's existing 
assets, the Company has devoted significant efforts  analyzing its existing asset 
portfolio. The Company intends to focus its efforts  and capital in sectors of 
the industry that are considered most attractive, a nd in which the Company 
believes it is well positioned to capture value. Du ring 2000, KACC sold certain 
non-operating properties, its Micromill assets and technology and its 
Pleasanton, California, office complex and purchase d the assets of a drawn tube 
aluminum fabricating operation. The dispositions we re part of the Company's 
initiative to monetize non-strategic or underperfor ming assets. The acquisition 
was part of the Company's continued focus on growin g its Engineered products 
operations. 
 
KACC is considering the possible sale of part or al l of its interests in certain 
operating assets. The contemplated transactions are  in various stages of 
development. KACC expects that at least one operati ng asset will be sold. KACC 
has multiple transactions under way. It is unlikely , however, that it would 
consummate all of the transactions under considerat ion. Further, there can be no 
assurance as to the likelihood, timing, or terms of  such sales. The consummation 
of any such sales would be dependent upon a number of factors, such as 
negotiation of definitive documentation, due- dilig ence investigations, certain 
lender approvals and/or anti-trust clearances. The Company would expect to use 
the proceeds from any such sales for debt reduction , capital spending or some 
combination thereof. 
 
Another area of emphasis has been a continuing focu s on managing the Company's 
legacy liabilities. The Company believes that KACC has insurance coverage 
available to recover a substantial portion of its a sbestos-related costs and is 
actively pursuing recoveries in this regard. For th e period from inception 
through December 31, 2000, the Company has paid app roximately $220.5 million for 
asbestos-related settlements and associated defense  costs and has received 
partial insurance reimbursements during this same p eriod totaling $131.3 
million. The timing and amount of future recoveries  of asbestos-related claims 
from insurance carriers remain a major priority of the Company, but will depend 
on the pace of claims review and processing by such  carriers and the resolution 
of any disputes regarding coverage under the insura nce policies. 
 
Additional portfolio analysis and initiatives are c ontinuing. 
 
Pacific Northwest Power Sales and Operating Level. In response to the 
unprecedented high market prices for power in the P acific Northwest, the Company 
temporarily curtailed the primary aluminum producti on at the Tacoma and Mead, 
Washington, smelters during the second half of 2000  and sold a portion of the 
power that it had under contract through September 30, 2001. As a result of the 
curtailments, KACC avoided the need to purchase pow er on a variable market price 
basis and will receive cash proceeds sufficient to more than offset the cash 
impact of the potline curtailments over the period for which the power was sold. 
KACC has made additional power sales in 2001. 
 
During October 2000, KACC signed a new power contra ct with the Bonneville Power 
Administration ("BPA") under which the BPA will pro vide KACC's operations in the 
State of Washington with power during the period Oc tober 2001 through September 
2006. The contract will provide sufficient power to  operate KACC's Trentwood 
facility as well as approximately 40% of the combin ed capacity of KACC's Mead 
and Tacoma aluminum smelting operations. Power cost s under the new contract are 
expected to exceed the cost of power under KACC's c urrent BPA contract by 
between 20% to 60% and, perhaps, by as much as 100%  in certain periods. There 
are other terms of the new BPA contract which are a lso less favorable than the 
current BPA contract. KACC does not have any remark eting rights under the new 
BPA contract. 
 



See Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial State ments for additional 
information on the power sales and the new BPA cont ract. 
 
 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
Summary. The Company reported net income of $16.8 m illion, or $.21 of basic 
income per common share, for 2000 compared to a net  loss of $54.1 million, or 
$.68 of basic loss per common share, for 1999 and n et income of $.6 million, or 
$.01 of basic income per common share, for 1998. Ho wever, results for 2000, 1999 
and 1998 included material non- recurring gains and  losses as summarized below: 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                           Year Ended December 31,
                                                                                  ------------------------------------------
                                                                                      2000            1999            1998
                                                                                  ----------       
As reported, income (loss) per common share                                       $    .21        $   (.68)       $    .01
Less material non-recurring (gains) losses: 
   Labor settlement charge in 2000; strike- related costs in 1998                       .30            
   Asbestos- related charges                                                            .33             .44             .11
   Impairment loss -  U.S. smelters in 2000; Micromill in 1999 and 1998                 .25             .16             .38
   Net gains from power sales                                                        (1.22)           
   Operating profit foregone as a result of power s ales                                .20            
   Gains -  real estate transactions in 2000; AKW L.P. interes ts in 1999               (.30)           (.42)           
   Other non- recurring operating charges                                               .21            
   Gramercy-related items: 
      Gain on involuntary conversion                                                  -                (.71)           
      Incremental maintenance spending                                                 .09            
      Charge for insurance deductibles                                                -                 .04            
      LIFO inventory charge                                                            .05            
   Mark-to- market (gains) losses                                                      (.08)            .27            
                                                                                  ----------       
                                                                                  $    .04        $   (.90)       $   1.00
                                                                                  ==========      ==== ======      ==========
 
Net sales in 2000 totaled $2,169.8 million compared  to $2,083.6 million in 1999 
and $2,302.4 million in 1998. 
 
2000 AS COMPARED TO 1999 
 
Bauxite and Alumina. Third party net sales of alumi na were up 12% in 2000 as 
compared to 1999 as a 19% increase in third party a verage realized price was 
partially offset by an 8% decrease in third party s hipments. The increase in 
average realized price was because the sales prices  for alumina under the 
Company's third-party alumina sales contracts are l inked to primary aluminum 
prices and primary aluminum prices increased year o ver year. The decrease in 
year-over- year shipments resulted primarily from d ifferences in the timing of 
shipments and, to a lesser extent, the net effect o f the Gramercy incident, 
after considering the 267,000 tons of alumina purch ased by KACC in 2000 from 
third parties to fulfill third party sales contract s. 
 
Intersegment net sales for 2000 increased 15% as co mpared to 1999. The increase 
was primarily due to a 16% increase in the interseg ment average realized price 
resulting from increases in primary aluminum prices  from period to period as 
intersegment transfers are made on the basis of pri mary aluminum market prices 
on a lagged basis of one month. Intersegment shipme nts were essentially flat. 
The favorable impact on intersegment alumina shipme nts of operating more 
potlines at the Company's smelters during the first  half of 2000 as compared to 
the same period in 1999 was offset by the unfavorab le impact of the potline 
curtailments at the Company's Washington smelters i n the last half of 2000. 
Intersegment shipments for 2000 included approximat ely 55,000 tons of alumina 
purchased by KACC from third-parties and transferre d to the Primary aluminum 



business unit. 
 
Segment operating income (before non-recurring item s) for 2000 was up 
significantly as compared to 1999 primarily as a re sult of the factors discussed 
above. Segment operating income for 2000 excludes n on-recurring labor settlement 
charges of $2.1 million and three Gramercy-related items; a $7.0 million 
non-cash LIFO inventory charge, incremental mainten ance spending of $11.5 
million and an $.8 million non-cash restructuring c harge. Segment operating 
income for 1999 excludes the segment's allocated sh are of the expense of 
insurance deductibles related to the Gramercy incid ent of $4.0 million. 
 
 
See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial State ments for additional 
discussion of the effect of the Gramercy incident o n the Bauxite and Alumina 
business unit's operations. 
 
Primary Aluminum. Third party net sales of primary aluminum were up 30% for 2000 
as compared to 1999 as a result of a 17% increase i n third party shipments and a 
12% increase in third party averaged realized price s. The increase in shipments 
was primarily due to the favorable impact of the in creased operating rate at the 
Company's 90%-owned Volta Aluminium Company Limited  ("Valco") throughout 2000 
and the Washington smelters (during the first six m onths of 2000). These 
shipment increases were offset, in part, by curtail ments of the potlines at the 
Washington smelters during the second half of 2000,  net of approximately 206,500 
tons of primary aluminum purchased from third-parti es to meet third-party and 
internal commitments. The increase in the average r ealized prices reflects the 
14% increase in primary aluminum market prices. Int ersegment net sales for 2000 
were up modestly when compared to 1999. A 16% incre ase in intersegment average 
realized prices was offset by a 13% decrease in int ersegment shipments. The 
increase in the intersegment average realized price  was due to higher market 
prices for primary aluminum as intersegment transfe rs are made on the basis of 
market prices. The decrease in shipments was primar ily due to the potline 
curtailments at the Washington smelters, the reduce d requirements of the 
Flat-rolled products segment due to the can body st ock exit and the reduced 
requirements of the Engineered products segment due  to the softening of the 
ground transportation and distribution markets. 
 
Segment operating income (before non-recurring item s) for 2000 was up 
significantly from 1999. The primary reason for the  increase was the 
improvements in average realized prices and net shi pments discussed above. 
However, segment operating income for 2000 was adve rsely affected by increased 
alumina prices, higher electric power costs and red uced profitability resulting 
from metal purchased and resold to the Flat-rolled products and Engineered 
products business units. The increase in alumina co sts is the result of higher 
primary aluminum prices in 2000 because transfers o f alumina from KACC's alumina 
business unit are made on a metal-linked basis. Pow er costs have generally 
increased, even after excluding the higher than nor mal power costs experienced 
by the Company in the Pacific Northwest. As previou sly reported, new agreements 
entered into in both Ghana and Wales provide for in creased power stability but 
at increased costs. The reduced profitability on sa les to the Flat-rolled 
products and Engineered products segments is due to  the lack of a profit margin 
on metal that was purchased and resold at cost to t he segments versus the profit 
margin that would have existed had the metal been p roduced. 
 
Segment operating income for 2000, discussed above,  excludes non-recurring net 
power sales gains of $159.5 million. Segment operat ing income for 2000 also 
excludes a non-cash smelter impairment charge of $3 3.0 million, the segment's 
share of the non-recurring labor settlement charge of $15.9 million and costs 
related to staff reduction initiatives of $3.1 mill ion. Operating income in 1999 
included costs of approximately $12.8 million assoc iated with preparing and 
restarting potlines at Valco and the Washington sme lters. 
 
Flat-Rolled Products. Net sales of flat-rolled prod ucts decreased by 12% in 2000 
as compared to 1999 as a 26% decrease in shipments was only partially offset by 
a 14% increase in average realized prices. The decr ease in shipments was 
primarily due to reduced shipments of can body stoc k as a part of the Company's 



planned exit from this product line. Offsetting the  reduced can body stock 
shipments was a modest year over year improvement i n shipments of heat-treat 
products. The increase in average realized prices p rimarily reflects the change 
in product mix (resulting from the can body stock e xit) as well as the pass 
through to customers of increased market prices for  primary aluminum. 
 
Segment operating income (before non-recurring item s) for 2000 was essentially 
flat when compared to 1999 as the increase in price  and volume for heat-treat 
products offset the impacts of the can body stock e xit. Segment operating income 
for 2000, discussed above, excludes the segment's s hare of the non-recurring 
labor settlement charge of $18.2 million. Segment o perating income also excludes 
a $7.5 million non-cash LIFO inventory charge and $ 5.1 million of non-cash 
impairment charges associated with KACC's exit from  the can body stock product 
line. 
 
Results for 2000 for the Flat-rolled products segme nt were also adversely 
affected late in the year by the Washington smelter  curtailments as the business 
unit no longer had a supply of hot metal. While the  impact of this change was 
modest in 2000, the business unit will be adversely  affected by this situation 
in 2001. The amount of the impact will depend on th e cost of acquiring the 
necessary metal units and the energy costs incurred  to melt the purchased metal. 
 
Engineered Products. Net sales of engineered produc ts for 2000 were essentially 
flat as compared to 1999 as a 5% increase in averag e realized prices was offset 
by a 4% decrease in product shipments. The increase  in average realized prices 
reflects increased prices for soft alloy extrusions , offset, in part, by a shift 
in product mix. The decrease in product shipments i n 2000 over 1999 reflects a 
substantial weakening in ground transportation and distribution markets in the 
last half of 2000. 
 
The changes in segment operating income (before non -recurring items) for 2000 as 
compared to 1999 were primarily attributable to inc reased energy costs. Segment 
operating income for 2000 excludes a non-recurring non-cash impairment charge 
associated with product line exit of $5.6 million a nd labor settlement charges 
of $2.3 million. Segment operating income for 1999 included equity in earnings 
of $2.5 million from the Company's 50% interest in AKW L.P., which was sold in 
April 1999. 
 
Commodities Marketing. Commodities marketing includ es the results of KACC's 
aluminum hedging activities. Its hedging activities  include: (1) metal hedging 
on behalf of the Bauxite and alumina and Primary al uminum business segments with 
third-party brokers (other than mark-to-market char ges on certain non-qualifying 
hedges which are reflected in Other income (expense ) - see Notes 1 and 13 of 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements) and (2)  internal hedging with 
Flat-rolled products and Engineered products busine ss segments so as to 
eliminate the commodity price risk on the underlyin g aluminum whenever these 
segments enter into a fixed price contract with a t hird-party customer. 
 
Net sales for this segment represent net settlement s with third-party brokers 
for derivative positions. Operating income represen ts the combined effect of 
such net settlements, any net premium costs associa ted with the purchase or sale 
of options, as well as net results of internal hedg ing activities with KACC's 
fabricated products segments. The decrease in net s ales as well as a decrease in 
operating income in 2000 as compared to 1999 result s from the 2000 hedging 
positions having lower ceilings than the positions in 1999. This is primarily 
the result of the timing of when the hedging positi on activities were completed. 
 
Eliminations. Eliminations of intersegment profit v ary from period to period 
depending on fluctuations in market prices as well as the amount and timing of 
the affected segments' production and sales. 
 
Corporate and Other. Corporate operating expenses ( excluding non-recurring 
items) represent corporate general and administrati ve expenses which are not 
allocated to the Company's business segments. Corpo rate operating results for 
2000 exclude costs related to staff reduction and e fficiency initiatives of $5.5 
million. Corporate operating results for 1999 exclu de the expense of insurance 



deductibles related to the Gramercy incident alloca ted to the Corporate segment 
of $1.0 million. 
 
1999 AS COMPARED TO 1998 
 
Bauxite and Alumina. Third party net sales were dow n 11% in 1999 as compared to 
1998 as a result of a 4% decline in third party ave rage realized prices and a 7% 
decrease in third party alumina shipments. The decl ine in the average realized 
prices in 1999 as compared to 1998 was primarily at tributable to lower 
realizations under KACC's primary aluminum linked a lumina sales contracts caused 
by lower primary aluminum market prices. The decrea se in year-over- year 
shipments was primarily the net effect of the Grame rcy incident after 
considering the 264,000 tons of alumina purchased b y KACC from third parties to 
fulfill third party sales contract. 
 
Intersegment net sales for 1999 declined 5% as comp ared to 1998. The decline was 
primarily due to a 6% decline in the intersegment a verage realized price, offset 
in part by a 1% increase in intersegment shipments,  resulting from potline 
restarts at Valco and at the Company's Washington s melters. Intersegment net 
sales include approximately 131,000 tons of alumina  purchased from third-parties 
and transferred to the primary aluminum business un it. 
 
Segment operating income (before non-recurring item s) for 1999 was down as 
compared to 1998 primarily as a result of the price  and volume factors discussed 
above. Segment operating income for 1999 was favora bly impacted by the fact that 
depreciation on the Gramercy facility was suspended  in July 1999. 
 
Segment operating income for 1999, discussed above,  excludes the segment's 
allocated share of the expense of insurance deducti bles related to the Gramercy 
incident of $4.0 million. Segment operating income for 1998 excludes the adverse 
impact of approximately $11.0 million of incrementa l strike-related costs. 
 
Primary Aluminum. Third party net sales of primary aluminum were up 11% as 
compared to 1998 as a result of a 12% increase in t hird party shipments offset 
by a 1% decrease in the average realized third part y sales prices. The increase 
in shipments was primarily due to the favorable imp act of Valco operating three 
potlines in 1999 as compared to one potline in 1998 . 
 
Intersegment net sales for 1999 were up 3% as compa red to 1998. Intersegment 
shipments increased 5% due to the timing of shipmen ts to the Company's 
fabricated business units while intersegment averag e realized prices were down 
2%. 
 
Segment operating income (before non-recurring item s) for 1999 was down compared 
to 1998. The most significant component of this dec line was the reduction in the 
average realized prices discussed above. Results fo r 1999 were also adversely 
impacted by costs of approximately $12.8 million as sociated with preparing and 
restarting potlines at Valco and the Washington sme lters. The favorable impact 
of Valco operating at a higher rate in 1999 (as com pared to 1998) was 
substantially offset by the fact that Valco earned mitigating compensation of 
approximately $29.0 million in 1998 for two of its curtailed potlines. 
 
Segment operating income for 1998, discussed above,  excludes the adverse impact 
of approximately $29.0 of incremental strike-relate d costs. 
 
Flat-Rolled Products. Net sales of flat-rolled prod ucts for 1999 declined by 19% 
compared to 1998 as a result of a 13% decline in av erage realized prices and an 
8% decline in product shipments. The decline in ave rage realized prices resulted 
primarily from a shift in product mix (from aerospa ce products, which have a 
higher price and operating margin, to other product s) and a reduction in prices 
resulting from reduced demand for heat treat produc ts. The reduction in 
shipments was primarily due to reduced demand in 19 99 for aerospace heat-treat 
products offset, in small part, by increased shipme nts of general engineered 
products. 
 
The decline in 1999 prices and shipments as compare d to 1998 was responsible for 



the decline in segment operating income for 1999. S egment operating income for 
1998 excluded the adverse impact of approximately $ 16.0 million of incremental 
strike-related costs. 
 
Engineered Products. Net sales of engineered produc ts for 1999 decreased 7% 
compared to 1998 primarily due to an 8% decline in average realized prices. 
Product shipments were essentially flat. The declin e in the average sales 
realized prices in 1999 was attributable to a chang e in product mix (higher 
ground transportation products offset by lower aero space shipments). While there 
was a strong increase in 1999 in the demand for gro und transportation products 
it was offset by a reduced demand for aerospace pro ducts. 
 
Segment operating income for 1999 decreased compare d to 1998 as a result of the 
factors discussed above as well as the reduced equi ty in earnings from AKW 
(which partnership interests were sold in April 199 9). Segment operating income 
for 1998 excluded the adverse impact of approximate ly $4.0 million of 
incremental strike-related costs. 
 
Commodities Marketing. Net sales for this segment r epresent net settlements with 
third-party brokers for derivative positions. Opera ting income represents the 
combined effect of such net settlements, any net pr emium costs associated with 
the purchase or sale of options, as well as net res ults of internal hedging 
activities with KACC's fabricated products segments . The decrease in net sales 
as well as a decrease in operating income in 1999 a s compared to 1998 results 
primarily from the 1999 hedging positions having lo wer floors than the positions 
in 1998. This is primarily the result of the timing  of when the hedging position 
activities were completed. 
 
Eliminations. Eliminations of intersegment profits vary from period to period 
depending on fluctuations in market prices as well as the amount and timing of 
the affected segments' production and sales. 
 
Corporate and Other. Corporate operating expenses ( before non-recurring items) 
represent corporate general and administrative expe nses which are not allocated 
to the Company's business segments. Corporate opera ting expenses for 1999 were 
lower than 1998 primarily due to reduced incentive compensation expense 
resulting from the decline in operating results. Co rporate operating results for 
1999 exclude the expense of insurance deductibles r elated to the Gramercy 
incident allocated to the Corporate segment of $1.0  million. 
 
 
 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
See Note 8 of Notes to Consolidated Financial State ments for a listing of the 
Company's indebtedness and information concerning c ertain restrictive debt 
covenants. See Note 12 of Notes to Consolidated Fin ancial Statements for a 
discussion of the material commitments and continge ncies affecting the Company's 
liquidity and capital resources. 
 
Operating Activities. In 2000, operating activities  provided $84.6 million of 
cash. This amount compares with 1999 when operating  activities used cash of 
$89.3 million and 1998 when operating activities pr ovided cash of $170.7 
million. The increase in cash flows from operating activities between 2000 and 
1999 resulted primarily from the impact of the impr oved 2000 operating results, 
driven primarily by the net proceeds received from power sales of approximately 
$119.8 million, and a decline in inventories of app roximately $125.8 million, 
offset in part by an increase in receivables of app roximately $168.8 million. 
The decrease in inventories was primarily due to im proved inventory management 
and the exit from the can body product line at the Flat-rolled products business 
unit. The increase in receivables was primarily due  to power sale proceeds that 
were received in the first quarter of 2001 and Gram ercy-related items. The 
decrease in cash flows from operating activities be tween 1999 and 1998 was due 
primarily to the impact of 1999 results, excluding non-cash charges, and an 
increased investment in working capital (excluding cash). 



 
Investing Activities. Total consolidated capital ex penditures were $296.5, $68.4 
and $77.6 million in 2000, 1999 and 1998, respectiv ely (of which $5.4, $4.8 and 
$7.2 million were funded by the minority partners i n certain foreign joint 
ventures). The $296.5 million capital expenditures in 2000 included $239.1 
million spent with respect to rebuilding the Gramer cy facility and $13.3 million 
spent with respect to the purchase of the non-worki ng capital assets of the 
Chandler, Arizona drawn tube aluminum fabricating o peration. The remaining 
capital expenditures in 2000 and the capital expend itures in 1999 and 1998 were 
made primarily to improve production efficiency, re duce operating costs and 
expand capacity at existing facilities. Total conso lidated capital expenditures, 
excluding the expenditures in 2001 to finish rebuil ding the Gramercy, Louisiana 
facility, are currently expected to be between $60. 0 and $80.0 million per year 
in each of 2001 and 2002 (of which approximately 15 % is expected to be funded by 
the Company's minority partners in certain foreign joint ventures). See " - 
Financing Activities and Liquidity" below for a dis cussion of Gramercy related 
capital spending. Management continues to evaluate numerous projects, all of 
which would require substantial capital, both in th e United States and overseas. 
The level of capital expenditures may be adjusted f rom time to time depending on 
the Company's price outlook for primary aluminum an d other products, KACC's 
ability to assure future cash flows through hedging  or other means, the 
Company's financial position and other factors. 
 
Financing Activities and Liquidity: Short-Term. KAC C uses its credit agreement, 
as amended (the "Credit Agreement") to provide shor t-term liquidity requirements 
and for letters of credit to support operations. Du ring 2000, month-end 
borrowing amounts outstanding under the Credit Agre ement have been as high as 
approximately $53.4 million, which occurred in Augu st 2000, primarily as a 
result of costs incurred and capital spending relat ed to the Gramercy rebuild, 
net of insurance reimbursements. The average amount  of borrowings outstanding 
under the Credit Agreement during 2000 was approxim ately $25.6 million. The 
average interest rate on loans outstanding under th e Credit Agreement during 
2000, was approximately 10.3% per annum. Outstandin g letters of credit monthly 
balances have primarily been in the range of $55.0 to $65.0 million. As of 
February 28, 2001, there were $94.0 million of borr owings outstanding under the 
Credit Agreement and remaining availability of appr oximately $120.0 million. 
However, proceeds of approximately $130.0 million r elated to 2001 power sales 
are expected to be received at or near March 30, 20 01, and an additional $130.0 
million of power proceeds will be received periodic ally through October 2001 
with respect to other power sales made during the f irst quarter of 2001. 
 
The Credit Agreement expires in August 2001. It is the Company's and KACC's 
intention to extend or replace the Credit Agreement  prior to its expiration. 
However, in order for the Credit Agreement to be ex tended, on a short-term 
basis, beyond August 2001, KACC will have to have a  plan to mitigate the $225.0 
million of 97/8% Senior Notes, due February 2002 (t he "97/8% Senior Notes"). For 
the Credit Agreement to be extended past February 2 003, both the 97/8% Senior 
Notes and the $400.0 million of 12 3/4% Senior Subo rdinated Notes, due February 
2003, will have to be retired and/or refinanced. As  of February 28, 2001, KACC 
had received approval from the Credit Agreement len ders to purchase up to $50.0 
million of the 97/8% Senior Notes. As of February 2 8, 2001, KACC had purchased 
approximately $1.0 million of 97/8% Senior Notes. 
 
In addition to being impacted by power sales and no rmal operating variables, the 
Company's and KACC's near-term liquidity will also,  as more fully discussed 
below, be affected by, among other things, three si gnificant items: the Gramercy 
incident, the amount of net payments for asbestos l iabilities and possible 
proceeds from asset dispositions. 
 
KACC will continue to incur business interruption c osts and capital spending 
until all construction activity at the Gramercy fac ility is completed and full 
production is restored. As more fully discussed in Note 2 of Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements, unless KACC is s uccessful in its arbitration 
process against its insurers, it will have to fund all of the remaining 
Gramercy-related capital expenditures as well as an y incremental costs or losses 
incurred at Gramercy. It is believed that such amou nts will total between $100.0 



and $150.0 million depending on, among other things , the ultimate cost of the 
rebuild, the elapsed time of the rebuild and the am ount of start-up 
costs/inefficiencies. The Company now believes that  the total cost of the 
rebuild will be between $300.0 and $325.0 million. As previously announced, 
however, the plant will include several additional enhancements from its 
original design including the installation of addit ional safety features in the 
digestion unit and enhancements to increase the ann ual production capacity of 
the plant from 1,125,000 tons to 1,250,000 tons on an extremely favorable 
cost-per-ton basis. 
 
During 2000, KACC paid $99.5 million of asbestos-re lated settlement and defense 
costs and received insurance reimbursement of $62.8  million for asbestos-related 
matters. KACC's 2001 and 2002 cash payments, prior to insurance recoveries, for 
asbestos-related costs are estimated to be between $110.0 million and $135.0 
million per year. The Company believes that KACC wi ll recover a substantial 
portion of asbestos payments from insurance. Howeve r, insurance reimbursements 
have historically lagged KACC's payments. Delays in  receiving future insurance 
repayments would have an adverse impact on KACC's l iquidity. During 2000, KACC 
filed suit against a group of its insurers, after n egotiations with certain of 
the insurers regarding an agreement covering both r eimbursement amounts and the 
timing of reimbursement payments were unsuccessful.  The litigation is intended, 
among other things, to: (1) ensure that the insurer s provide KACC with timely 
and appropriate reimbursement payments for asbestos -related settlements and 
related legal costs incurred; and (2) to resolve ce rtain issues between the 
parties with respect to how specific provisions of the applicable insurance 
policies are to be applied. Given the significance of expected asbestos-related 
payments in 2001 and 2002 based on settlement agree ments in place at December 
31, 2000, the receipt of timely and appropriate rei mbursements from such 
insurers is critical to KACC's liquidity. The court  is not expected to try the 
case until late 2001 or 2002. KACC is continuing to  receive cash payments from 
the insurers. 
 
KACC is considering the possible sale of part or al l of its interests in certain 
operating assets. The contemplated transactions are  in various stages of 
development. KACC expects that at least one operati ng asset will be sold. KACC 
has multiple transactions under way. It is unlikely , however, that it will 
consummate all of the transactions under considerat ion. Further, there can be no 
assurance as to the likelihood, timing or terms of such sales. The Company would 
expect to use the proceeds from any such sales for debt reduction, capital 
spending or a combination thereof. 
 
Management believes that the Company's existing cas h resources, together with 
cash flows from operations, power sales and anticip ated asset dispositions, as 
well as borrowings under the Credit Agreement, will  be sufficient to satisfy its 
working capital and capital expenditure requirement s for the next year. However, 
no assurance can be given that existing cash source s will be sufficient to meet 
the Company's short-term liquidity requirements or that additional sources of 
cash will not be required. 
 
Long-Term. As of December 31, 2000, the Company's t otal consolidated 
indebtedness was $989.4 million, including $30.4 mi llion outstanding under the 
Credit Agreement, which amount is included in curre nt liabilities. KACC's 
ability to make payments on and to refinance its de bt on a long-term basis 
depends on its ability to generate cash in the futu re. This, to a certain 
extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, 
regulatory and other factors beyond KACC's control.  With respect to long-term 
liquidity, management believes that operating cash flow, together with the 
ability to obtain both short and long-term financin g, should provide sufficient 
funds to meet KACC's and the Company's working capi tal, financing and capital 
expenditure requirements. However, no assurance can  be given that KACC will be 
able to refinance its debt on acceptable terms. 
 
Capital Structure. MAXXAM Inc. ("MAXXAM") and one o f its wholly owned 
subsidiaries collectively own approximately 63% of the Company's Common Stock, 
with the remaining approximately 37% of the Company 's Common Stock being 
publicly held. Certain of the shares of the Company 's Common Stock beneficially 



owned by MAXXAM are subject to certain pledge agree ments. See Note 11 of Notes 
to Consolidated Financial Statements for a further description of the pledge 
agreements. 
 
The Company has an effective "shelf" registration s tatement covering the 
offering from time to time of up to $150.0 million of equity securities. Any 
such offering will only be made by means of a prosp ectus. The Company also has 
an effective "shelf" registration statement coverin g the offering of up to 
10,000,000 shares of the Company's Common Stock tha t are owned by MAXXAM. The 
Company will not receive any of the net proceeds fr om any transaction initiated 
by MAXXAM pursuant to this registration statement. 
 
Commitments and Contingencies. The Company and KACC  are subject to a number of 
environmental laws, to fines or penalties assessed for alleged breaches of the 
environmental laws, and to claims and litigation ba sed upon such laws. Based on 
the Company's evaluation of these and other environ mental matters, the Company 
has established environmental accruals of $46.1 mil lion at December 31, 2000. 
However, the Company believes that it is reasonably  possible that changes in 
various factors could cause costs associated with t hese environmental matters to 
exceed current accruals by amounts that could range , in the aggregate, up to an 
estimated $35.0 million. 
 
KACC is also a defendant in a number of asbestos-re lated lawsuits that generally 
relate to products KACC has not sold for more than 20 years. Based on past 
experience and reasonably anticipated future activi ty, the Company has 
established a $492.4 million accrual at December 31 , 2000, for estimated 
asbestos-related costs for claims filed and estimat ed to be filed through 2010, 
before consideration of insurance recoveries. Howev er, the Company believes that 
substantial recoveries from insurance carriers are probable. The Company reached 
this conclusion based on prior insurance-related re coveries in respect of 
asbestos-related claims, existing insurance policie s and the advice of outside 
counsel with respect to applicable insurance covera ge law relating to the terms 
and conditions of these policies. Accordingly, the Company has recorded an 
estimated aggregate insurance recovery of $406.3 mi llion (determined on the same 
basis as the asbestos-related cost accrual) at Dece mber 31, 2000. Although the 
Company has settled asbestos- related coverage matt ers with certain of its 
insurance carriers, other carriers have not yet agr eed to settlements and 
disputes with certain carriers exist. The timing an d amount of future recoveries 
from these carriers will depend on the pace of clai ms review and processing by 
such carriers and on the resolution of any disputes  regarding coverage under 
such policies that may arise. 
 
In connection with the USWA strike and subsequent l ock-out by KACC which was 
settled in September 2000, certain allegations of u nfair labor practices 
("ULPs") have been filed with the National Labor Re lations Board ("NLRB")by the 
USWA. KACC believes that all such allegations are w ithout merit. Twenty-two of 
twenty-four allegations of ULPs previously brought against it by the USWA have 
been dismissed. A trial before an administrative la w judge for the two remaining 
allegations commenced in November 2000 and is conti nuing. The Company is unable 
to estimate when the trial will be completed. Any o utcome from the trial would 
be subject to additional appeals by the general cou nsel of the NLRB, the USWA or 
KACC. This process could take months or years. If t hese proceedings eventually 
resulted in a final ruling against KACC with respec t to either allegation, it 
could be obligated to provide back pay to USWA memb ers at the five plants and 
such amount could be significant. 
 
While uncertainties are inherent in the final outco me of these matters and it is 
presently impossible to determine the actual costs that ultimately may be 
incurred and insurance recoveries that ultimately m ay be received, management 
currently believes that the resolution of these unc ertainties and the incurrence 
of related costs, net of any related insurance reco veries, should not have a 
material adverse effect on the Company's consolidat ed financial position or 
liquidity. However, amounts paid, if any, in satisf action of these matters could 
be significant to the results of the period in whic h they are recorded. See Note 
12 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements fo r a more detailed discussion 
of these contingencies and the factors affecting ma nagement's beliefs. 



 
OTHER MATTERS 
 
Income Tax Matters. The Company's net deferred inco me tax assets as of December 
31, 2000, were $464.2 million, net of valuation all owances of $122.3 million. 
The Company believes a long-term view of profitabil ity is appropriate and has 
concluded that these net deferred income tax assets  will more likely than not be 
realized. See Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Finan cial Statements for a 
discussion of these and other income tax matters. 
 
 
 
 
 
ITEM 7A.     QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSUR ES ABOUT MARKET RISK 
 
This section contains forward-looking statements th at involve risk and 
uncertainties. Actual results could differ material ly from those projected in 
these forward-looking statements. The following dis closures are before 
consideration of any impacts resulting from the app lication of Statement of 
Financial Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 133 beg inning January 1, 2001. See 
Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statement s for a discussion of the 
impacts of SFAS No. 133. 
 
The Company's operating results are sensitive to ch anges in the prices of 
alumina, primary aluminum, and fabricated aluminum products, and also depend to 
a significant degree upon the volume and mix of all  products sold. As discussed 
more fully in Notes 1 and 13 of Notes to Consolidat ed Financial Statements, KACC 
utilizes hedging transactions to lock- in a specifi ed price or range of prices 
for certain products which it sells or consumes in its production process and to 
mitigate KACC's exposure to changes in foreign curr ency exchange rates. The 
following sets forth the impact on future earnings of adverse market changes 
related to KACC's hedging positions with respect to  commodity, foreign exchange 
and energy contracts described more fully in Note 1 3 of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements. 
 
Alumina and Primary Aluminum. Alumina and primary a luminum production in excess 
of internal requirements is sold in domestic and in ternational markets, exposing 
the Company to commodity price opportunities and ri sks. KACC's hedging 
transactions are intended to provide price risk man agement in respect of the net 
exposure of earnings resulting from (i) anticipated  sales of alumina, primary 
aluminum and fabricated aluminum products, less (ii ) expected purchases of 
certain items, such as aluminum scrap, rolling ingo t, and bauxite, whose prices 
fluctuate with the price of primary aluminum. On av erage, before consideration 
of hedging activities, any fixed price contracts wi th fabricated aluminum 
products customers, variations in production and sh ipment levels, and timing 
issues related to price changes, the Company estima tes that each $.01 increase 
(decrease) in the market price per price-equivalent  pound of primary aluminum 
increases (decreases) the Company's annual pre-tax earnings by approximately 
$10.0 - $15.0 million, based on recent fluctuations  in operating levels. 
 
Based on the average December 2000 London Metal Exc hange ("LME") cash price for 
primary aluminum of approximately $.71 per pound, t he Company estimates that 
there would be no material net aggregate pre-tax im pact on operating income from 
its hedging positions and fixed price customer cont racts during the period 2001 
through 2003. The Company estimates that a hypothet ical $.10 increase from the 
above stated December 2000 price would result in a net aggregate pre-tax 
decrease in operating income of approximately $75.0  million being realized 
during the period 2001 through 2003 from KACC's hed ging positions and fixed 
price customer contracts. Conversely, the Company e stimates that a hypothetical 
$.10 decrease from the above stated December 2000 p rice level would result in an 
aggregate pre-tax increase in operating income of a pproximately $130.0 million 
being realized during the period 2001 through 2003 from KACC's hedging positions 
and fixed price customer contracts. Both of the for egoing hypothetical amounts 
are versus what the Company's results would have be en without the derivative 
commodity contracts and fixed price customer contra cts discussed above. It 



should be noted, however, that, since the hedging p ositions and fixed price 
customer contracts lock-in a specified price or ran ge of prices, increases or 
decreases in earnings attributable to KACC's hedgin g positions or fixed price 
customer contracts are significantly offset by a de crease or increase in the 
proceeds to be realized on the underlying physical transactions. 
 
As stated in Note 13 of Notes to the Consolidated F inancial Statements, KACC has 
certain hedging positions which do not qualify for treatment as a "hedge" under 
current accounting guidelines and thus must be mark ed-to-market each period. 
Fluctuations in forward market prices for primary a luminum would likely result 
in additional earnings volatility as a result of th ese positions. The Company 
estimates that a hypothetical $.10 change in spot m arket prices from the 
December 31, 2000, LME cash price of $.71 per pound  would, depending on the 
shape of the forward curve, result in additional ag gregate mark-to-market 
impacts of between $10.0-$30.0 million during any p eriod through 2003. 
 
In addition to having an impact on the Company's ea rnings, a hypothetical 
$.10-per-pound change in primary aluminum prices wo uld also impact the Company's 
cash flows and liquidity through changes in possibl e margin advance 
requirements. At December 31, 2000, KACC had made m argin advances of $5.1 
million and had posted letters of credit totaling $ 5.0 million in lieu of paying 
margin advances. Increases in primary aluminum pric es subsequent to December 31, 
2000, could result in KACC having to make additiona l margin advances or post 
additional letters of credit and such amounts could  be significant. If primary 
aluminum prices increased by $.10 per pound (from t he year-end 2000 price) by 
March 31, 2001 and the forward curve were as descri bed above, it is estimated 
that KACC could be required to make additional marg in advances in the range of 
$50.0 to $100.0 million. 
 
Foreign Currency. KACC enters into forward exchange  contracts to hedge material 
cash commitments for foreign currencies. KACC's pri mary foreign exchange 
exposure is related to KACC's Australian Dollar (A$ ) commitments in respect of 
activities associated with its 28.3%-owned affiliat e, Queensland Alumina 
Limited. The Company estimates that, before conside ration of any hedging 
activities, a US $0.01 increase (decrease) in the v alue of the A$ results in an 
approximate $2 million (decrease) increase in the C ompany's annual pre-tax 
operating income. 
 
KACC's foreign currency hedges would have no net ag gregate pre-tax impact on the 
Company's operating results for the period 2001 thr ough 2005 at the December 31, 
2000 US$ to A$ exchange rate of $.55. The Company e stimates that a hypothetical 
10% reduction in the A$ exchange rate would result in the Company recognizing a 
net aggregate pre-tax cost of approximately $10.0 m illion for the period 2001 
through 2005 from KACC's foreign currency hedging p ositions. Conversely, the 
Company estimates that a hypothetical 10% increase in the A$ exchange rate (from 
$.55) would result in the Company realizing a net p re-tax aggregate benefit of 
approximately $20.0 million. These hypothetical imp acts are versus what the 
Company's results would have been without the Compa ny's derivative foreign 
currency contracts. It should be noted, however, th at, since the hedging 
positions lock-in specified rates, increases or dec reases in earnings 
attributable to currency hedging instruments would be offset by a corresponding 
decrease or increase in the value of the hedged com mitments. 
 
Energy. KACC is exposed to energy price risk from f luctuating prices for fuel 
oil, diesel oil and natural gas consumed in the pro duction process. The Company 
estimates that each $1.00 change in natural gas pri ces (per mcf) impacts the 
Company's pre-tax operating results by approximatel y $20.0 million. Further, the 
Company estimates that each $1.00 change in fuel oi l prices (per barrel) impacts 
the Company's pre-tax operating results by approxim ately $3.0 million. 
 
KACC from time to time in the ordinary course of bu siness enters into hedging 
transactions with major suppliers of energy and ene rgy related financial 
instruments. As of December 31, 2000, KACC held opt ion and swap contracts 
hedging a substantial majority of its first quarter  2001 natural gas 
requirements. The Company expects to realize a pre-  tax benefit of approximately 
$10.0 million in the first quarter of 2001 associat ed with these hedging 



positions. However, it should be noted that these b enefits will be offset by the 
higher than normal gas prices on the physical gas d eliveries received during the 
first quarter of 2001. 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------------- 
 
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of K aiser Aluminum Corporation: 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balan ce sheets of Kaiser Aluminum 
Corporation (a Delaware corporation) and subsidiari es as of December 31, 2000 
and 1999, and the related statements of consolidate d income (loss), 
stockholders' equity and comprehensive income (loss ) and cash flows for each of 
the three years in the period ended December 31, 20 00. These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these fi nancial statements based on 
our audits. 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing  standards generally accepted 
in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the fi nancial statements are free 
of material misstatement. An audit includes examini ng, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the finan cial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles u sed and significant estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overa ll financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred t o above present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of Ka iser Aluminum Corporation and 
subsidiaries as of December 31, 2000 and 1999, and the results of their 
operations and their cash flows for each of the thr ee years in the period ended 
December 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting pr inciples generally accepted 
in the United States. 
 
 
 
ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP 
 
 
 
 



Houston, Texas 
March 27, 2001 
 
 
 
 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------------- 
 
                                                                                        December 31,
                                                                                 -------------------------
(In millions of dollars, except share amounts)                                        2000         199 9
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ----
ASSETS 
Current assets: 
   Cash and cash equivalents                                                     $     23.4    $     2 1.2
   Receivables: 
     Trade, less allowance for doubtful receivables  of $5.8 and $5.9                  188.7         15 4.1
     Other                                                                            241.1         10 6.9
   Inventories                                                                        396.2         54 6.1
   Prepaid expenses and other current assets                                          162.7         14 5.6
                                                                                 -----------   -----------
     Total current assets                                                           1,012.1         97 3.9
 
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated affil iates                               77.8          9 6.9
Property, plant, and equipment -  net                                                1,176.1       1,053.7
Deferred income taxes                                                                 454.2         44 0.0
Other assets                                                                          622.9         63 4.3
                                                                                 -----------   -----------
     Total                                                                       $  3,343.1    $  3,19 8.8
                                                                                 ===========   ======= ====
 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Current liabilities: 
   Accounts payable                                                              $    236.8    $    23 1.7
   Accrued interest                                                                    37.5          3 7.7
   Accrued salaries, wages, and related expenses                                      110.3          6 2.1
   Accrued postretirement medical benefit obligatio n -  current portion                 58.0          51.5
   Other accrued liabilities                                                          288.9         16 8.8
   Payable to affiliates                                                               78.3          8 5.8
   Long-term debt -  current portion                                                    31.6            .3
                                                                                 -----------   -----------
 
     Total current liabilities                                                        841.4         63 7.9
 
Long- term liabilities                                                                 703.7         727.1
Accrued postretirement medical benefit obligation                                     656.9         67 8.3
Long- term debt                                                                        957.8         972.5
Minority interests                                                                    101.1         11 7.7
Commitments and contingencies 
Stockholders' equity: 
   Common stock, par value $.01, authorized 125,000 ,000 shares; issued 
     and outstanding 79,599,557 and 79,405,333 shar es                                    .8            .8
   Additional capital                                                                 537.5         53 6.8
   Accumulated deficit                                                               (454.3)       (47 1.1)
   Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)                                       (1.8)         ( 1.2)
                                                                                 -----------   -----------
     Total stockholders' equity                                                        82.2          6 5.3
                                                                                 -----------   -----------
     Total                                                                       $  3,343.1    $  3,19 8.8
                                                                                 ===========   ======= ====
 
 
 
The accompanying notes to consolidated financial st atements are an integral part of these statements.
 



 
 
STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED INCOME (LOSS) 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------------- 
 
 
                                                                               Year Ended December 31,
                                                                       ---------------------------------------
(In millions of dollars, except share amounts)                              2000          1999          1998
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- --------
Net sales                                                              $  2,169.8    $  2,083.6    $  2,302.4
                                                                       -----------   -----------
Costs and expenses: 
   Cost of products sold                                                  1,891.4       1,893.5       1,892.2
   Depreciation and amortization                                             76.9          89.5          99.1
   Selling, administrative, research and developmen t, and general           104.1         105.4         115.5
   Labor settlement charge                                                   38.5           -              
   Other non- recurring operating items, net                                 (80.4)         24.1         105.0
                                                                       -----------   -----------
     Total costs and expenses                                             2,030.5       2,112.5       2,211.8
                                                                       -----------   -----------
 
Operating income (loss)                                                     139.3         (28.9)         90.6
 
Other income (expense): 
   Interest expense                                                        (109.6)       (110.1)       (110.0)
   Gain on involuntary conversion at Gramercy facil ity                      -               85.0           
   Other -  net                                                               (4.3)        (35.9)          3.5
                                                                       -----------   -----------
 
Income (loss) before income taxes and minority inte rests                     25.4         (89.9)        (15.9)
 
(Provision) benefit for income taxes                                        (11.6)         32.7         16.4
 
Minority interests                                                            3.0           3.1            .1
                                                                       -----------   -----------
 
Net income (loss)                                                      $     16.8    $    (54.1)   $       .6
                                                                       ===========   ===========   === ========
Earnings (loss) per share: 
   Basic/Diluted                                                       $      .21    $     (.68)   $      .01
                                                                       ===========   ===========   === ========
Weighted average shares outstanding (000): 
   Basic                                                                   79,520        79,336        79,115
                                                                       ===========   ===========   === ========
 
   Diluted                                                                 79,523        79,336        79,156
                                                                       ===========   ===========   === ========
 
 
 
The accompanying notes to consolidated financial st atements are an integral part of these statements.
 
 
 
 
STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------------- 
 
(In millions of dollars) 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------------- 
 
                                                                                                    Ac cumulated
                                                                                                          Other
                                                    Common       Additional     Accumulated       Comp rehensive
                                                     Stock          Capital         Deficit       Inco me (Loss)       Total



                                            ------- -------  ---------------  --------------   -----------------
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 1997                  $          .8   $        533.8   $      (417.6)   $         
   Net income/Comprehensive income                   -               -                   .6              
   Stock options exercised                           -                  .1            -                  
   Incentive plan accretion                          -                 1.5            -                  
                                            ------- -------  ---------------  --------------   -----------------
 
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 1998                             .8            535.4          (417.0)             
 
   Net income (loss)                                 -               -                (54.1)             
   Minimum pension liability 
     adjustment, net of tax                          -               -                -                    (1.2)       (1.2)
                                                                                                                
 
     Comprehensive income (loss)                     -               -                -                  
   Stock options exercised                           -                  .1            -                  
   Incentive plan accretion                          -                 1.3            -                  
                                            ------- -------  ---------------  --------------   -----------------
 
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 1999                             .8            536.8          (471.1)               (1.2)       65.3
 
   Net income                                        -               -                 16.8              
   Minimum pension liability 
     adjustment, net of tax                          -               -                -                     (.6)        (.6)
                                                                                                                
     Comprehensive income                            -               -                -                  
   Incentive plan accretion                          -                  .7            -                  
                                            ------- -------  ---------------  --------------   -----------------
 
BALANCE, DECEMBER 31, 2000                  $          .8   $        537.5   $      (454.3)   $           (1.8) $     82.2
                                            ======= =======  ===============  ==============   ======== ========= ===========
 
 
 
The accompanying notes to consolidated financial st atements are an integral part of these statements.
 
 
 
 
STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOWS 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------------- 
 
                                                                                              Year End ed December 31,
                                                                                        -----------------------------------
(In millions of dollars)                                                                    2000        1999         1998
                                                                                        ----------
Cash flows from operating activities: 
   Net income (loss)                                                                    $    16.8    $   (54.1)   $      .6
   Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used) provided by operating 
       activities: 
       Depreciation and amortization (including def erred financing costs of $4.4, 
         $4.3 and $3.9)                                                                      81.3        93.8        103.0
       Non- cash impairment charges (Notes 1 and 6)                                           63.3        19.1         45.0
       Gain on involuntary conversion at Gramercy f acility                                   -           (85.0)         
       Gains -  real estate related (2000); sale of interests in A KW L.P. (1999)             (39.0)      (50.5)         
       Non-cash benefit for income taxes                                                      -            
       Equity in loss (income) of unconsolidated af filiates, net of distributions            13.1        (4.9)          .1
       Minority interests                                                                    (3.0)       (3.1)         (.1)
       (Increase) decrease in trade and other recei vables                                  (168.8)       21.7         61.5
       Decrease (increase) in inventories                                                   125.8        (2.6)        24.8
       Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses and other current assets                      20.8       (66.9)        30.1
       (Decrease) increase in accounts payable (ass ociated with operating activities) and 
         accrued interest                                                                    (29.7)       58.8         (3.2)
       Increase (decrease) in payable to affiliates  and other accrued liabilities            68.9        19.6        (45.3)
       Decrease in accrued and deferred income taxe s                                        (10.2)      (55.2)       (26.2)
       Net (used) provided by long- term assets and liabilities                              (69.4)       15.7        (23.9)



       Other                                                                                 14.7         4.3         12.6
                                                                                        ----------
 
         Net cash provided (used) by operating acti vities                                    84.6       (89.3)       170.7
                                                                                        ----------
Cash flows from investing activities: 
   Capital expenditures, net of accounts payable of  $34.6 in 2000                          (261.9)      (68.4)       (77.6)
   Gramercy- related property damage insurance recoveries                                    100.0          
   Net proceeds from disposition of property and in vestments                                 66.9        74.8          6.7
   Other                                                                                       .2        (3.3)        (3.5)
                                                                                        ----------
 
         Net cash (used) provided by investing acti vities                                   (94.8)        3.1        (74.4)
                                                                                        ----------
 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
   Borrowings under credit agreement, net                                                    20.0        10.4           
   Repayments of long- term debt                                                              (4.4)        (.6)        (8.9)
   Redemption of minority interests' preference sto cks                                       (2.8)       (1.6)        (8.7)
   Incurrence of financing costs                                                              (.4)         
   Capital stock issued                                                                      -              .1           .1
   Decrease in restricted cash, net                                                          -              .8          4.3
                                                                                        ----------
 
         Net cash provided (used) by financing acti vities                                    12.4         9.1        (13.8)
                                                                                        ----------
 
Net increase (decrease) in Cash and cash equivalent s during the year                          2.2       (77.1)        82.5
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year                                               21.2        98.3         15.8
                                                                                        ----------
 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year                                                $    23.4    $    21.2    $    98.3
                                                                                        ==========   = ========   ==========
 
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information: 
   Interest paid, net of capitalized interest of $6 .5, $3.4 and $3.0                    $   105.3    $   105.4    $   106.3
   Income taxes paid                                                                         19.6        24.1         16.8
 
 
 
The accompanying notes to consolidated financial st atements are an integral part of these statements.
 
 
 
1.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Principles of Consolidation. The consolidated finan cial statements include the 
statements of Kaiser Aluminum Corporation ("Kaiser"  or the "Company") and its 
majority owned subsidiaries. The Company is a subsi diary of MAXXAM Inc. 
("MAXXAM") and conducts its operations through its wholly-owned subsidiary, 
Kaiser Aluminum & Chemical Corporation ("KACC"). KA CC operates in all 
principal aspects of the aluminum industry-the mini ng of bauxite (the major 
aluminum bearing ore), the refining of bauxite into  alumina (the intermediate 
material), the production of primary aluminum, and the manufacture of fabricated 
and semi-fabricated aluminum products. Kaiser's pro duction levels of alumina, 
before consideration of the Gramercy incident (see Note 2), and primary aluminum 
exceed its internal processing needs, which allows it to be a major seller of 
alumina and primary aluminum to domestic and intern ational third parties (see 
Note 14). 
 
The preparation of financial statements in accordan ce with generally accepted 
accounting principles requires the use of estimates  and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, dis closure of contingent assets 
and liabilities known to exist as of the date the f inancial statements are 
published, and the reported amounts of revenues and  expenses during the 
reporting period. Uncertainties, with respect to su ch estimates and assumptions, 



are inherent in the preparation of the Company's co nsolidated financial 
statements; accordingly, it is possible that the ac tual results could differ 
from these estimates and assumptions, which could h ave a material effect on the 
reported amounts of the Company's consolidated fina ncial position and results of 
operation. 
 
Investments in 50%-or-less-owned entities are accou nted for primarily by the 
equity method. Intercompany balances and transactio ns are eliminated. 
 
Net sales and cost of products sold for 1999 and 19 98 have been restated to 
conform to a new accounting principle that requires  freight charges ($39.3 in 
1999 and $46.0 in 1998) to be included in cost of p roducts sold. 
 
Liquidity/Cash Resources. KACC has significant near -term debt maturities. KACC's 
ability to make payments on and refinance its debt depends on its ability to 
generate cash in the future. In addition to being i mpacted by power sales and 
normal operating items, the Company's and KACC"s ne ar-term liquidity and cash 
flows will also be affected by the Gramercy inciden t, net payments for 
asbestos-related liabilities and possible proceeds from asset dispositions. For 
discussions of these matters, see Notes 2, 7, 8 and  12. 
 
Recognition of Sales. Sales are recognized when tit le, ownership and risk of 
loss pass to the buyer. No changes were required to  the Company's revenue 
recognition policy as a result of Staff Accounting Bulletin 101, "Revenue 
Recognition in Financial Statements", which become effective during 2000. 
 
Earnings per Share. Basic earnings per share is com puted by dividing the 
weighted average number of common shares outstandin g during the period, 
including the weighted average impact of the shares  of common stock issued 
during the year from the date(s) of issuance. 
 
Diluted earnings per share for the years ended Dece mber 31, 2000 and 1998 
include the dilutive effect of outstanding stock op tions (3,000 shares and 
41,000 shares, respectively). The impact of outstan ding stock options was 
excluded from the computation of diluted loss per s hare for the year ended 
December 31, 1999, as its effect would have been an tidilutive. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents. The Company considers on ly those short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of 90 d ays or less to be cash 
equivalents. 
 
Inventories. Substantially all product inventories are stated at last-in, 
first-out ("LIFO") cost, not in excess of market va lue. Replacement cost is not 
in excess of LIFO cost. Inventories at December 31,  2000, have been reduced by 
LIFO inventory charges totaling $24.1 ($.6 in cost of products sold and $23.5 in 
non-recurring operating items, net). The non-recurr ing LIFO charges result 
primarily from the Washington smelters' curtailment  ($4.5), the exit from the 
can body stock product line ($11.1) and the delayed  restart of the Gramercy 
facility ($7.0). Other inventories, principally ope rating supplies and repair 
and maintenance parts, are stated at the lower of a verage cost or market. 
Inventory costs consist of material, labor, and man ufacturing overhead, 
including depreciation. Inventories consist of the following: 
 
 
 
                                                                           December 31, 
                                                                    -------------------------- 
                                                                          2000           1999 
--------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------- 
Finished fabricated products                                        $      54.6     $    118.5 
Primary aluminum and work in process                                      126.9          189.4 
Bauxite and alumina                                                        88.6          124.1 
Operating supplies and repair and maintenance parts                        126.1          114.1 
                                                                    -----------     ---------- 
                                                                    $     396.2     $    546.1 
                                                                    ===========     ========== 



 
 
Depreciation. Depreciation is computed principally by the straight-line method 
at rates based on the estimated useful lives of the  various classes of assets. 
The principal estimated useful lives of land improv ements, buildings, and 
machinery and equipment are 8 to 25 years, 15 to 45  years, and 10 to 22 years, 
respectively. 
 
Stock-Based Compensation. The Company applies the i ntrinsic value method to 
account for a stock-based compensation plan whereby  compensation cost is 
recognized only to the extent that the quoted marke t price of the stock at the 
measurement date exceeds the amount an employee mus t pay to acquire the stock. 
No compensation cost has been recognized for this p lan as the exercise price of 
the stock options granted in 2000, 1999 and 1998 we re at or above the market 
price. The pro forma after-tax effect of the estima ted fair value of the grants 
would be to reduce net income in 2000 by $2.2, incr ease the net loss in 1999 by 
$1.8 and reduce net income in 1998 by $1.5. The fai r value of the 2000, 1999 and 
1998 stock option grants were estimated using a Bla ck-Scholes option pricing 
model. 
 
Other Income (Expense). Amounts included in other i ncome (expense) in 2000, 1999 
and 1998, other than interest expense and gain on i nvoluntary conversion at the 
Gramercy facility, included the following pre-tax g ains (losses): 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                          Year Ended D ecember 31,
                                                                                -------------------------------------
                                                                                    2000          1999         1998
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ---------------
Asbestos- related charges (Note 12)                                              $    (43.0)  $    (53.2)  $    (12.7)
Gain on sale of Pleasanton complex (Note 4)                                           22.0          
Lease obligation adjustment (Note 12)                                                 17.0          
Mark-to- market gains (losses) (Note 13)                                               11.0        (32.8)        
Gain on sale of interests in AKW L.P. (Note 3)                                        -             50.5         
Environmental cost insurance recoveries (Note 12)                                     -              
All other, net                                                                       (11.3)         (. 4)         4.2
                                                                                -----------  -----------
                                                                                $     (4.3)  $    (35. 9)  $      3.5
                                                                                ===========  ========= ==  ===========
 
Deferred Financing Costs. Costs incurred to obtain debt financing are deferred 
and amortized over the estimated term of the relate d borrowing. Such 
amortization is included in Interest expense. 
 
Foreign Currency. The Company uses the United State s dollar as the functional 
currency for its foreign operations. 
 
Derivative Financial Instruments. Hedging transacti ons using derivative 
financial instruments are primarily designed to mit igate KACC's exposure to 
changes in prices for certain of the products which  KACC sells and consumes and, 
to a lesser extent, to mitigate KACC's exposure to changes in foreign currency 
exchange rates. KACC does not utilize derivative fi nancial instruments for 
trading or other speculative purposes. KACC's deriv ative activities are 
initiated within guidelines established by manageme nt and approved by KACC's and 
the Company's boards of directors. Hedging transact ions are executed centrally 
on behalf of all of KACC's business segments to min imize transaction costs, 
monitor consolidated net exposures and allow for in creased responsiveness to 
changes in market factors. 
 
Most of KACC's hedging activities involve the use o f option contracts (which 
establish a maximum and/or minimum amount to be pai d or received) and forward 
sales contracts (which effectively fix or lock-in t he amount KACC will pay or 
receive). Option contracts typically require the pa yment of an up-front premium 



in return for the right to lock-in a minimum or max imum price. Forward sales 
contracts do not require an up-front payment and ar e settled by the receipt or 
payment of the amount by which the price at the set tlement date varies from the 
contract price. Consistent with accounting guidelin es in place through December 
31, 2000, any interim fluctuations in option prices  prior to the settlement date 
were deferred until the settlement date of the unde rlying hedged transaction, at 
which time they were reflected in net sales or cost  of products sold (as 
applicable) together with the related premium cost.  No accounting recognition 
was accorded to interim fluctuations in prices of f orward sales contracts. Hedge 
(deferral) accounting would have been terminated (r esulting in the applicable 
derivative positions being marked-to-market) if the  level of underlying physical 
transactions ever fell below the net exposure hedge d. This did not occur in 
1998, 1999 or 2000. Deferred gains or losses as of December 31, 2000, were 
included in Prepaid expenses and other current asse ts and Other accrued 
liabilities (see Note 13). 
 
Beginning with the quarterly period ending March 31 , 2001, the Company will 
begin reporting derivative activities consistent wi th Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards ("SFAS") No. 133, Accounting f or Derivative Instruments and 
Hedging Activities. SFAS No. 133, which has been ad opted as of January 1, 2001, 
requires companies to recognize all derivative inst ruments as assets or 
liabilities in the balance sheet and to measure tho se instruments at fair value. 
Under SFAS No. 133, the Company will be required to  "mark-to-market" all of its 
hedging positions at each period-end. This contrast s with guidance under 
pre-2001 accounting principles which generally only  required certain 
"non-qualifying" hedging positions to be marked-to- market. Changes in the market 
value of the Company's open hedging positions resul ting from the mark-to-market 
process will represent unrealized gains or losses. Such unrealized gains or 
losses will change, based on prevailing market pric es at each subsequent balance 
sheet date, until the transaction date occurs. Unde r SFAS No. 133, these changes 
will be reflected as an increase or reduction in st ockholders' equity through 
either other comprehensive income or net income, de pending on the nature of the 
hedging instrument used. To the extent that changes  in market value of the 
Company's hedging positions are initially recorded in other comprehensive 
income, such changes will reverse out of other comp rehensive income (net of any 
fluctuations in other "open" positions) and will be  reflected in net income when 
the subsequent physical transactions occur. As of D ecember 31, 2000, the amount 
of the Company's other comprehensive income adjustm ents were not significant so 
there was not a significant difference between net income and comprehensive 
income. However, differences between comprehensive income and net income may 
become significant in future periods as a result of  SFAS No. 133. In general, 
SFAS No. 133 will result in material fluctuations i n comprehensive income, net 
income and stockholders' equity in periods of price  volatility, despite the fact 
that the Company's cash flow and earnings will be " fixed" to the extent hedged. 
This result is contrary to the intent of the Compan y's hedging program, which is 
to "lock-in" a price (or range of prices) for produ cts sold/used so that 
earnings and cash flows are subject to reduced risk  of volatility. 
 
SFAS No. 133 requires that as of the date of the in itial adoption, the 
difference between the market value of derivative i nstruments recorded on the 
Company's consolidated balance sheet and the previo us carrying amount of those 
derivatives be reported in net income or other comp rehensive income, as 
appropriate, as the cumulative effect of a change i n accounting principle. As 
previously discussed, this impact will be reflected  in the Company's first 
quarter 2001 financial statements. The adoption of SFAS No. 133 will result in a 
pre-tax benefit of $21.2 to other comprehensive inc ome and an essentially 
offsetting pre-tax charge of $18.9 to earnings, suc h that the net effect of the 
adoption of SFAS No. 133 on stockholders' equity wi ll be small. See Note 13 for 
additional discussions regarding the Company's deri vatives. 
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments. The Company es timates the fair value of its 
outstanding indebtedness to be $798.3 and $970.5 as  of December 31, 2000 and 
1999, respectively, based on quoted market prices f or KACC's 97/8% Senior Notes 
due 2002 (the "97/8% Notes"), 12 3/4% Senior Subord inated Notes due 2003 (the 
"12 3/4% Notes"), and 107/8% Senior Notes due 2006 (the "107/8% Notes"), and the 
discounted future cash flows for all other indebted ness, using the current rate 



for debt of similar maturities and terms. The Compa ny believes that the carrying 
amount of other financial instruments is a reasonab le estimate of their fair 
value, unless otherwise noted. 
 
2.   INCIDENT AT GRAMERCY FACILITY 
 
In July 1999, KACC's Gramercy, Louisiana alumina re finery was extensively 
damaged by an explosion in the digestion area of th e plant. A number of 
employees were injured in the incident, several of them severely. In connection 
with the settlement of the U.S. Mine Safety and Hea lth Administration's ("MSHA") 
investigation of the incident, KACC is paying a fin e of $.5 but denied the 
alleged violations. As a result of the incident, al umina production at the 
facility was completely curtailed. Construction on the damaged part of the 
facility began during the first quarter of 2000. In itial production at the plant 
commenced during the middle of December 2000. The p lant is expected to increase 
production progressively to approximately 75% of it s newly rated estimated 
annual capacity of 1,250,000 tons by the end of Mar ch 2001. At February 28, 
2001, the plant was operating at 70% of capacity. B ased on current estimates, 
construction at the facility is expected to be comp leted during the third 
quarter of 2001. 
 
KACC has significant amounts of insurance coverage related to the Gramercy 
incident. Deductibles and self-retention provisions  under the insurance coverage 
for the incident total $5.0, which amounts were cha rged to Other non-recurring 
operating items, net in 1999 (Note 6). KACC's insur ance coverage has five 
separate components: property damage, clean-up and site preparation, business 
interruption, liability and workers' compensation. The insurance coverage 
components are discussed below. 
 
Property Damage. KACC's insurance policies provide that KACC will be reimbursed 
for the costs of repairing or rebuilding the damage d portion of the facility 
using new materials of like kind and quality with n o deduction for depreciation. 
In 1999, based on discussions with the insurance ca rriers and their 
representatives and third party engineering reports , KACC recorded a pretax gain 
of $85.0, representing the difference between the m inimum expected property 
damage reimbursement amount of $100.0 and the net c arrying value of the damaged 
property of $15.0. The reimbursement amount was cla ssified as a receivable in 
Other assets at December 31, 1999. The full amount of the receivable was 
collected in 2000. Additional recoveries are possib le. See "Timing and Amount of 
Additional Insurance Recoveries" below. 
 
Clean-up and Site Preparation. The Gramercy facilit y incurred incremental costs 
for clean-up and other activities during 1999 and 2 000. These clean-up and site 
preparation activities have been offset by accruals  of approximately $24.0, of 
which $10.0 were accrued in 2000, for estimated ins urance recoveries. 
 
Business Interruption. KACC's insurance policies pr ovide for the reimbursement 
of specified continuing expenses incurred during th e interruption period plus 
lost profits (or less expected losses) plus other e xpenses incurred as a result 
of the incident. Operations at the Gramercy facilit y and a sister facility in 
Jamaica, which supplies bauxite to Gramercy, will c ontinue to incur operating 
expenses until full production at the Gramercy faci lity is restored. Through 
December 2000, KACC purchased alumina from third pa rties, in excess of the 
amounts of alumina available from other KACC-owned facilities, to supply these 
customers' needs as well as to meet intersegment re quirements. The excess cost 
of such open market purchases was substantially off set by insurance recoveries. 
However, the insurers have alleged that certain sub limits within KACC's 
insurance coverage have been reached, and, accordin gly, any additional excess 
purchase costs incurred in 2001 will be substantial ly unreimbursed. However, as 
the facility is approaching 75% of its newly rated production capacity, any such 
unreimbursed costs will be limited. The insurers ha ve also asserted that no 
additional business interruption amounts are due af ter November 30, 2000. After 
considering all of the foregoing items, KACC record ed expected business 
interruption insurance recoveries totaling $151.0, of which $110.0 was recorded 
in the year ended December 31, 2000, as a reduction  of Cost of products sold, 
which amounts substantially offset actual expenses incurred during these 



periods. Such business interruption insurance amoun ts represent estimates of 
KACC's business interruption coverage based on disc ussions with the insurance 
carriers and their representatives and are therefor e subject to change. See 
"Timing and Amount of Additional Insurance Recoveri es" below. 
 
Depreciation expense for the first six months of 19 99 was approximately $6.0. 
KACC suspended depreciation at the facility startin g in July 1999 since 
production had been completely curtailed. However, in accordance with an 
agreement with KACC's insurers, during the second h alf of 2000, the Company 
recorded a depreciation charge of $14.3, of which $ 1.5 was recorded in the 
fourth quarter, representing the previously unrecor ded depreciation related to 
the undamaged portion of the facility for the perio d from July 1999 through 
November 2000. However, this charge did not have an y impact on the Company's 
operating results as the Company has reflected (as a reduction of depreciation 
expense) an equal and offsetting insurance receivab le (incremental to the 
amounts discussed in the preceding paragraph) since  the insurers have agreed to 
reimburse the Company this amount. Since production  at the facility was 
partially restored during December 2000, normal dep reciation has commenced. Such 
depreciation will exceed prior historical rates pri marily due to the capital 
costs on the newly constructed assets. 
 
Liability. The incident has also resulted in more t han ninety individual and 
class action lawsuits being filed against KACC and others alleging, among other 
things, property damage, business interruption loss es by other businesses and 
personal injury. The aggregate amount of damages so ught in the lawsuits and 
other claims cannot be determined at this time; how ever, KACC does not currently 
believe the damages will exceed the amount of cover age under its liability 
policies. 
 
Workers' Compensation. While it is presently imposs ible to determine the 
aggregate amount of claims that may be incurred, KA CC currently believes that 
any amount in excess of the coverage limitations wi ll not have a material effect 
on the Company's consolidated financial position or  liquidity. However, it is 
possible that as additional facts become available,  additional charges may be 
required and such charges could be material to the period in which they are 
recorded. 
 
Timing and Amount of Additional Insurance Recoverie s. Through December 31, 2000, 
the Company had recorded $289.3 of estimated insura nce recoveries related to the 
property damage, clean-up and site preparation and business interruption aspects 
of the Gramercy incident and had collected $252.6 o f such amounts. Through 
February 2001, an additional $10.0 had been receive d with respect to the 
estimated recoveries at year-end 2000 and an additi onal $7.0 is expected in 
March 2001. The remaining balance of approximately $20.0 and any additional 
amounts possibly due to KACC are not expected to be  recovered until KACC and the 
insurers resolve their differences. KACC and the in surers are currently 
negotiating an arbitration agreement as a means of resolving their differences. 
The Company anticipates that the remaining issues w ill not be resolved until 
late 2001 or early 2002. KACC and the Company conti nue to believe that a minimum 
of approximately $290.0 of insurance recoveries are  probable, that additional 
amounts are owed to KACC by the insurers, and that the likelihood of any refund 
by KACC of amounts previously received from the ins urers is remote. However, no 
assurances can be given as to the ultimate outcome of this matter or its impact 
on the Company's and KACC's near-term liquidity and  results of operations. 
 
Neither KACC nor the Company intend to record any a dditional insurance-related 
recoveries in 2001 unless and until agreed to by th e insurers or until the 
arbitration process is completed. As such, the Comp any's and KACC's future 
operating results will be adversely affected until all of the additional 
costs/lost profits related to the Gramercy plant's start-up and return to full 
production are eliminated or until any amounts rela ted to 2001 ultimately 
determined to be due to KACC through negotiation wi th the insurers or as a part 
of the arbitration process are received. 
 
Other. During the third quarter of 2000, KACC incur red approximately $11.5 of 
normal recurring maintenance expenditures for the G ramercy facility (which 



amounts were reflected in Other non-recurring opera ting items, net - see Note 6) 
that otherwise would have been incurred in the ordi nary course of business over 
the next one to three years. The Company chose to i ncur these expenditures now 
to avoid normal operational outages that otherwise would have occurred once the 
facility resumes production. 
 
3.   INVESTMENTS IN AND ADVANCES TO UNCONSOLIDATED AFFILIATES 
 
Summary of combined financial information is provid ed below for unconsolidated 
aluminum investments, most of which supply and proc ess raw materials. The 
investees are Queensland Alumina Limited ("QAL") (2 8.3% owned), Anglesey 
Aluminium Limited ("Anglesey") (49.0% owned) and Ka iser Jamaica Bauxite Company 
(49.0% owned). The equity in income (loss) before i ncome taxes of such 
operations is treated as a reduction (increase) in Cost of products sold. At 
December 31, 2000 and 1999, KACC's net receivables from these affiliates were 
not material. 
 
KACC was a founding partner (during 2000) in MetalS pectrum, LLC, an independent 
neutral online site to serve manufacturers, distrib utors and customers in the 
specialty metals business. Since KACC's interest in  MetalSpectrum is less than 
10%, it is being accounted for on the cost basis. 
 
On April 1, 1999, KACC sold its 50% interest in AKW  L.P. ("AKW") to its partner 
for $70.4, which resulted in the Company recognizin g a net pre-tax gain of $50.5 
(included in Other income (expense) - Note 1). The Company's equity in income of 
AKW was $2.5 and $7.8 for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998, 
respectively. 
 
Summary of Combined Financial Position 
 
                                                                                 December 31, 
                                                                          --------------------------
                                                                                2000            1999
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------------------------
Current assets                                                            $    350.1      $    370.4
Long- term assets (primarily property, plant, and equipme nt, net)               327.3           344.1
                                                                          ----------      ----------
     Total assets                                                         $    677.4      $    714.5
                                                                          ==========      ==========
Current liabilities                                                       $    144.1      $    120.4
Long-term liabilities (primarily long- term debt)                               331.4           368.3
Stockholders' equity                                                           201.9           225.8
                                                                          ----------      ----------
     Total liabilities and stockholders' equity                           $    677.4      $    714.5
                                                                          ==========      ==========
 
 
Summary of Combined Operations 
 
                                                                                              Year End ed December 31,
                                                                                        -----------------------------------
                                                                                          2000          1999         1998
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ---------------------
Net sales                                                                               $ 602.9       $ 594.9      $ 659.2
Costs and expenses                                                                       (617.1)       (582.9)      (651.7)
Benefit (provision) for income taxes                                                       (4.5)           .8         (2.7)
                                                                                        --------
Net income (loss)                                                                       $ (18.7)      $  12.8      $   4.8
                                                                                        ========      ========     ========
Company's equity in income (loss)                                                       $  (4.8)      $   4.9      $   5.4
                                                                                        ========      ========     ========
Dividends received                                                                      $   8.3       $    
                                                                                        ========      ========     ========
 
The Company's equity in income differs from the sum mary net income (loss) due to 
varying percentage ownerships in the entities and e quity method accounting 



adjustments. Prior to December 31, 2000, KACC's inv estment in its unconsolidated 
affiliates exceeded its equity in their net assets and such excess was being 
amortized to Depreciation and amortization. At Dece mber 31, 2000, the excess 
investment had been fully amortized. Such amortizat ion was approximately $10.0 
for each of the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999  and 1998. 
 
The Company and its affiliates have interrelated op erations. KACC provides some 
of its affiliates with services such as management and engineering. Significant 
activities with affiliates include the acquisition and processing of bauxite, 
alumina, and primary aluminum. Purchases from these  affiliates were $235.7, 
$223.7 and $235.1, in the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998, 
respectively. 
 
4.   PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT 
 
The major classes of property, plant, and equipment  are as follows: 
 
                                                            December 31, 
                                                     -------------------------- 
                                                         2000            1999 
--------------------------------------------------- ---------------------------- 
Land and improvements                                $   130.7       $   166.1 
Buildings                                                197.2           230.0 
Machinery and equipment                                1,702.8         1,519.7 
Construction in progress                                 130.3            67.7 
                                                     ----------      ---------- 
                                                       2,161.0         1,983.5 
Accumulated depreciation                                (984.9)         (929.8) 
                                                     ----------      ---------- 
     Property, plant, and equipment, net             $ 1,176.1       $ 1,053.7 
                                                     ==========      ========== 
 
 
KACC evaluated the recoverability of the approximat e $200.0 carrying value of 
its Washington smelters, as a result of the change in the economic environment 
of the Pacific Northwest associated with the reduce d power availability and 
higher power costs for KACC's Washington smelters u nder the terms of the new 
contract with the Bonneville Power Administration ( "BPA") starting in October 
2001 (see Note 7). The Company determined that the expected future undiscounted 
cash flows of the Washington smelters were below th eir carrying value. 
Accordingly, during the fourth quarter of 2000, KAC C adjusted the carrying value 
of its Washington smelting assets to their estimate d fair value, which resulted 
in a non-cash impairment charge of approximately $3 3.0 (which amount was 
reflected in Other non-recurring operating items, n et - see Note 6). The 
estimated fair value was based on anticipated futur e cash flows discounted at a 
rate commensurate with the risk involved. 
 
During September 2000, KACC sold its Pleasanton, Ca lifornia, office complex 
because the complex had become surplus to the Compa ny's needs. Net proceeds from 
the sale were approximately $51.6 and resulted in a  net pre-tax gain of $22.0 
(included in Other income (expense) - see Note 1). 
 
In May 2000, KACC acquired the assets of a drawn tu be aluminum fabricating 
operation in Chandler, Arizona. Total consideration  for the acquisition was 
$16.1, consisting of cash payments of $15.1 and ass umed current liabilities of 
$1.0. The purchase price was allocated to the asset s acquired based on their 
estimated fair values, of which approximately $1.1 was allocated to property, 
plant and equipment and $2.8 was allocated to recei vables, inventory and prepaid 
expenses. The excess of the purchase price over the  fair value of the assets 
acquired (goodwill) was approximately $12.2 and is being amortized on a 
straight- line basis over 20 years. Total revenues for the Chandler facility 
were approximately $13.8 for the year ended Decembe r 31, 1999 (unaudited). 
 
During the quarter ended March 31, 2000, KACC, in t he ordinary course of 
business, sold certain non-operating properties for  total proceeds of 
approximately $12.0. The sale did not have a materi al impact on the Company's 



operating results for the year ended December 31, 2 000. 
 
In February 2000, KACC completed the sale of the Mi cromill assets and technology 
for a nominal payment at closing and possible futur e payments based on 
subsequent performance and profitability of the Mic romill technology. The sale 
did not have a material impact on the Company's 200 0 operating results. As a 
result of the changes in strategic course in the fu rther development and 
deployment of KACC's Micromill technology , the car rying value of the Micromill 
assets was reduced by recording impairment charges of $19.1 and $45.0 in 1999 
and 1998, respectively (see Note 6). 
 
5.   LABOR DISPUTE, SETTLEMENT AND RELATED COSTS 
 
As previously reported, prior to the settlement of the labor dispute discussed 
below, KACC was operating five of its U.S. faciliti es with salaried employees 
and other employees as a result of the September 30 , 1998, strike by the United 
Steelworkers of America ("USWA") and the subsequent  "lock-out" by KACC in 
January 1999. The labor dispute was settled in Sept ember 2000. A significant 
portion of the issues were settled through direct n egotiations between KACC and 
the USWA and the remaining issues were settled purs uant to an agreed-upon 
arbitration process. Under the terms of the settlem ent, USWA members generally 
returned to the affected plants during October 2000 . The new labor contract, 
which expires in September 2005, provides for a 2.6 % average annual increase in 
the overall wage and benefit packages, results in t he reduction of at least 540 
hourly jobs at the five facilities (from approximat ely 2,800 on September 30, 
1998), allows KACC greater flexibility in using out side contractors and provides 
for productivity gains by allowing KACC to utilize the knowledge obtained during 
the labor dispute without many of the work-rule res trictions that were a part of 
the previous labor contract. The Company has record ed a one-time pre-tax charge 
of $38.5 in its results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2000, to 
reflect the incremental, non-recurring impacts of t he labor settlement, 
including severance and other contractual obligatio ns for non-returning workers. 
At December 31, 2000, the total remaining liability  associated with the labor 
settlement charge was $16.3. It is anticipated that  substantially all remaining 
costs will be incurred during 2001 or early 2002. S ee Note 14 for the allocation 
of the labor settlement charge by business unit. 
 
During the period of the strike and subsequent lock -out, the Company continued 
to accrue certain benefits (such as pension and oth er postretirement benefit 
costs/liabilities) for the USWA members, which accr uals were based on the terms 
of the previous USWA contract. The difference betwe en the amounts accrued for 
the returning workers and the amounts agreed to in the settlement with the USWA 
resulted in an approximate $33.6 increase in KACC's  accumulated pension 
obligation and an approximate $33.4 decrease in KAC C's accumulated other 
postretirement benefit obligations. In accordance w ith generally accepted 
accounting principles, these amounts will be amorti zed to expense over the 
employees' expected remaining years of service. 
 
On March l, 2001, in connection with the USWA settl ement agreement, KACC 
redeemed all of its Cumulative (1985 Series A) and Cumulative (1985 Series B) 
Preference Stock. See Note 11. 
 
 
 
6.   NON-RECURRING OPERATING ITEMS, NET (OTHER THAN  LABOR SETTLEMENT) 
 
The income (loss) impact associated with non-recurr ing operating items, net, 
other than the labor settlement charge, for 2000, 1 999 and 1998 was as follows: 
 
 
                                                                                      Year Ended Decem ber 31,
                                                                             ----------------------------------------
                                                    Business Segment                2000          1999          1998
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ---------------
Net gains from power sales (Note 7)              Pr imary Aluminum            $     159.5   $     
Impairment charge - Washington 



     smelters  (Note 4)                          Pr imary Aluminum                  (33.0)        
Gramercy related items: 
     Incremental maintenance (Note 2)            Ba uxite & Alumina             (11.5)        -              
     Insurance deductibles, etc. (Note 2)        Ba uxite & Alumina            -                (4.0)        
                                                 Co rporate                        -                (1.0)        
     LIFO inventory charge (Note 1)              Ba uxite & Alumina              (7.0)        -              
Impairment charges associated with 
     product line exits                          Fl at- Rolled Products              (12.6)        
                                                 En gineered Products                (5.6)        
Restructuring charges                            Ba uxite & Alumina               (.8)        -              
                                                 Pr imary Aluminum                   (3.1)        
                                                 Co rporate                          (5.5)        
Micromill impairment (Note 4)                    Mi cromill                        -               (19.1)       (45.0)
Incremental strike-related costs                 Ba uxite & Alumina            -              -             (11.0)
                                                 Pr imary Aluminum                 -               
                                                 Fl at-Rolled Products             -               
                                                 En gineered Products              -               
                                                                             ------------  ------------
                                                                             $      80.4   $     (24.1 )   $  (105.0)
                                                                             ============  =========== =   ==========
 
The $12.6 impairment charge reflected by KACC's Fla t-Rolled products segment in 
2000 includes a $11.1 LIFO inventory charge (see No te 1), of which $3.6 was 
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2000, and a $1.5 charge to reduce the carrying 
value of certain assets to their estimated net real izable value as a result of 
the segment's decision to exit the can body stock p roduct line. The $5.6 
impairment charge recorded by KACC's Engineered pro ducts segment in 2000 
includes a $.9 LIFO inventory charge (all in the fo urth quarter of 2000) and a 
$4.7 charge to reduce the carrying value of certain  machining facilities and 
assets, which are no longer required as a result of  the segment's decision to 
exit a marginal product line, to their estimated ne t realizable value. 
 
The restructuring charges recorded by KACC's Primar y aluminum segment in 2000 
represent employee benefit and other costs for appr oximately 50 job eliminations 
reflecting a reduced emphasis on technology sales a nd reduced salaried employee 
requirements at KACC's Tacoma facility, given its c urrent curtailment. The 
Corporate portion of the restructuring charges in 2 000 represent employee 
benefit and other costs associated with the consoli dation or elimination of 
certain corporate staff functions. The Corporate re structuring initiatives in 
2000 involve a group of approximately 50 employees.  As of December 31, 2000, the 
total remaining liability associated with both rest ructuring efforts was $2.8. 
It is anticipated that all remaining costs will be incurred during 2001. 
 
The incremental strike-related costs in 1998 reflec t the adverse impact on the 
Company's profitability due to the USWA strike in S eptember 1998. 
 
7.   PACIFIC NORTHWEST POWER SALES AND OPERATING LE VEL 
 
Power Sales. In response to the unprecedented high market prices for power in 
the Pacific Northwest, KACC temporarily curtailed t he primary aluminum 
production at the Tacoma and Mead, Washington smelt ers during the second half of 
2000 and sold a portion of the power that it had un der contract through 
September 30, 2001. As a result of the curtailments , KACC avoided the need to 
purchase power on a variable market price basis and  will receive cash proceeds 
sufficient to more than offset the cash impact of t he potline curtailments over 
the period for which the power was sold. To impleme nt the curtailment, KACC 
temporarily curtailed the two and one-half operatin g potlines at its Tacoma 
smelter and two and one-half out of a total of eigh t potlines at its Mead 
smelter in June 2000 and temporarily curtailed the remaining Mead potlines 
during the fourth quarter of 2000. One-half of a po tline at the Tacoma smelter 
was already curtailed. The Company recorded net pre -tax gains of approximately 
$159.5 in 2000, of which $103.2 was recorded in the  fourth quarter, as a result 
of these power sales. The net gain amounts were com posed of gross proceeds of 
$207.8, of which $88.0 (included in Receivables - o ther at December 31, 2000) 
was received through February 28, 2001. The gross p roceeds were offset by 
employee-related expenses, incremental excess power  costs, a non- cash LIFO 



inventory charge and other fixed commitments, which  amounts are expected to be 
paid through September 2001. The resulting net gain s have been reflected in 
Other non-recurring operating items, net (see Note 6). 
 
As previously announced, in a series of transaction s completed during the first 
quarter of 2001, KACC agreed to sell a substantial majority of the remaining 
power that it had under contract through September 2001. These power sales, 
before consideration of any applicable non-energy c osts (which have yet to be 
determined), are expected to result in pre-tax gain s of approximately $260.0 in 
the first quarter of 2001. Approximately one-half o f the net proceeds are 
expected to be received in late March 2001, with th e balance being received 
periodically through October 2001. Based on the for ward price for power 
experienced during the first quarter of 2001, the v alue of the remaining power 
that KACC has under contract that can be sold is es timated to be between $20.0 
and $40.0. 
 
Future Power Supply. During October 2000, KACC sign ed a new power contract with 
the BPA under which the BPA will provide KACC's ope rations in the State of 
Washington with power during the period October 200 1 through September 2006. The 
contract will provide KACC with sufficient power to  fully operate KACC's 
Trentwood facility as well as approximately 40% of the combined capacity of 
KACC's Mead and Tacoma aluminum smelting operations . Power costs under the new 
contract are expected to exceed the cost of power u nder KACC's current BPA 
contract by between 20% to 60% and, perhaps, by as much as 100% in certain 
periods. Additional provisions of the new BPA contr act include a take-or-pay 
requirement, an additional cost recovery mechanism under which KACC's base power 
rate could be increased and clauses under which KAC C's power allocation could be 
curtailed, or its costs increased, in certain insta nces. KACC does not have any 
remarketing rights under the new BPA contract. KACC  has the right to terminate 
the contract until certain pricing and other provis ions of the BPA contract are 
finalized, which is expected to be mid-2001. 
 
Depending on the ultimate price for power under the  terms of the new BPA 
contract or the availability of an alternate power supply at an acceptable 
price, KACC may be unable to operate the Mead and T acoma smelters in the near or 
long-term. Under KACC's contract with the USWA, KAC C is liable for certain 
severance and supplemental unemployment benefits fo r laid-off workers. Costs 
related to the period from January 1, 2001 to Septe mber 30, 2001 have been 
accrued to the extent the costs were fixed and dete rminable. However, the 
Company may become liable for additional costs. In particular, the Company would 
become liable for certain early retirement benefits  for USWA workers at the Mead 
and Tacoma facilities if such facilities are not re started prior to late 2002 or 
early 2003. Such costs could be significant and wou ld adversely impact the 
Company's operating results and liquidity. 
 
8.   LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
Long-term debt and its maturity schedule are as fol lows: 
 
                                                                                                               December 31,
                                                                                                             
                                                                                                     2 006
                                                                                                      and       2000     1999
                                                       2001      2002    2003     2004     2005     Af ter      Total    Total
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- -----------------------
 
Credit Agreement                                    $  30.4                                                  $  30.4  $  10.4
97/8% Senior Notes due 2002, net                             $  224.8                                          224.8    224.6
107/8% Senior Notes due 2006, net                                                                  $  225.5    225.5    225.6
12 3/4% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2003                               $ 400.0                               400.0    400.0
Alpart CARIFA Loans - (fixed and variable rates) 
     due 2007, 2008                                                                                    56.0     56.0     60.0
Other borrowings (fixed and variable rates)             1.2        .2         .2  $    .2  $    .2     50.7     52.7     52.2
                                                    -------  ---------   -------- -------  -------
Total                                               $  31.6  $  225.0    $ 400.2  $    .2  $    .2 $  332.2    989.4    972.8
                                                    =======  =========   ======== =======  ======= === =====



Less current portion                                                                                            31.6       .3
                                                                                                             
     Long- term debt                                                                                          $ 9 57.8  $ 972.5
                                                                                                             =======  =======
 
 
Credit Agreement and Liquidity. The Company and KAC C have a credit agreement, as 
amended, (the "Credit Agreement") which provides a secured, revolving line of 
credit through August 15, 2001. KACC is able to bor row under the facility by 
means of revolving credit advances and letters of c redit (up to $125.0) in an 
aggregate amount equal to the lesser of $300.0 (red uced from $325.0 in December 
2000) or a borrowing base relating to eligible acco unts receivable and eligible 
inventory. As of December 31, 2000, $155.3 (of whic h $69.3 could have been used 
for letters of credit) was available to KACC under the Credit Agreement. The 
Credit Agreement is unconditionally guaranteed by t he Company and by certain 
significant subsidiaries of KACC. Interest on any o utstanding balances will bear 
a spread (which varies based on the results of a fi nancial test) over either a 
base rate or LIBOR, at KACC's option. The interest rate at December 31, 2000 was 
11.0%. As of February 28, 2001, there were $94.0 of  borrowings outstanding under 
the Credit Agreement and remaining availability of approximately $120.0. 
However, proceeds of approximately $130.0 related t o 2001 power sales are 
expected to be received at or near March 30, 2001, and an additional $130.0 of 
power proceeds will be received periodically throug h October 2001 with respect 
to other power sales made during the first quarter of 2001. 
 
It is the Company's and KACC's intention to extend or replace the Credit 
Agreement prior to its expiration. However, in orde r for the Credit Agreement to 
be extended, on a short-term basis, beyond August 2 001, KACC will have to have a 
plan to mitigate the $225.0 million of 97/8% Notes,  due February 2002. For the 
Credit Agreement to be extended past February 2003,  both the 97/8% Notes and the 
12 3/4% Notes, due February 2003, will have to be r etired and/or refinanced. As 
of February 28, 2001, KACC had received approval fr om the Credit Agreement 
lenders to purchase up to $50.0 of the 97/8% Notes.  As of February 28, 2001, 
KACC has purchased approximately $1.0 of 97/8% Note s. 
 
As previously disclosed, KACC is considering the po ssible sale of part or all of 
its interests in certain operating assets. The cont emplated transactions are in 
various stages of development. KACC expects that at  least one operating asset 
will be sold. 
 
KACC has multiple transactions under way. It is unl ikely, however, that it would 
consummate all of the transactions under considerat ion. Further, there can be no 
assurance as to the likelihood, timing or terms of such sales. The Company would 
expect to use the proceeds from any such sales for debt reduction, capital 
spending or some combination thereof. 
 
Alpart CARIFA Loans. In December 1991, Alumina Part ners of Jamaica ("Alpart") 
entered into a loan agreement with the Caribbean Ba sin Projects Financing 
Authority ("CARIFA"). As of December 31, 2000, Alpa rt's obligations under the 
loan agreement were secured by two letters of credi t aggregating $59.7. KACC was 
a party to one of the two letters of credit in the amount of $38.8 in respect of 
its ownership interest in Alpart. Alpart has also a greed to indemnify 
bondholders of CARIFA for certain tax payments that  could result from events, as 
defined, that adversely affect the tax treatment of  the interest income on the 
bonds. 
 
During March 2000, Alpart redeemed $4.0 principal a mount of the CARIFA loans. 
During March 2001, Alpart redeemed an additional $3 4.0 principal amount of the 
CARIFA loans and, accordingly, KACC's letter of cre dit securing the loans was 
reduced to $15.3. The March 2001 redemption had a m odest beneficial effect on 
the unused availability remaining under the Credit Agreement as the additional 
Credit Agreement borrowings of $22.1 required for K ACC's share of the redemption 
were more than offset by a reduction in the amount of letters of credit 
outstanding. 
 
Debt Covenants and Restrictions. The Credit Agreeme nt requires KACC to comply 



with certain financial covenants and places restric tions on the Company's and 
KACC's ability to, among other things, incur debt a nd liens, make investments, 
pay dividends, undertake transactions with affiliat es, make capital 
expenditures, and enter into unrelated lines of bus iness. The Credit Agreement 
is secured by, among other things, (i) mortgages on  KACC's major domestic plants 
(excluding KACC's Gramercy alumina plant); (ii) sub ject to certain exceptions, 
liens on the accounts receivable, inventory, equipm ent, domestic patents and 
trademarks, and substantially all other personal pr operty of KACC and certain of 
its subsidiaries; (iii) a pledge of all the stock o f KACC owned by Kaiser; and 
(iv) pledges of all of the stock of a number of KAC C's wholly owned domestic 
subsidiaries, pledges of a portion of the stock of certain foreign subsidiaries, 
and pledges of a portion of the stock of certain pa rtially owned foreign 
affiliates. 
 
The obligations of KACC with respect to its 97/8% N otes, its 107/8% Notes and 
its 12 3/4% Notes are guaranteed, jointly and sever ally, by certain subsidiaries 
of KACC. The indentures governing the 97/8% Notes, the 107/8% Notes and the 12 
3/4% Notes (collectively, the "Indentures") restric t, among other things, KACC's 
ability to incur debt, undertake transactions with affiliates, and pay 
dividends. Further, the Indentures provide that KAC C must offer to purchase the 
97/8% Notes, the 107/8% Notes and the 12 3/4% Notes , respectively, upon the 
occurrence of a Change of Control (as defined there in), and the Credit Agreement 
provides that the occurrence of a Change in Control  (as defined therein) shall 
constitute an Event of Default thereunder. 
 
The Credit Agreement does not permit the Company, a nd significantly restricts 
KACC's ability, to pay dividends on their common st ock. 
 
Restricted Net Assets of Subsidiaries. Certain debt  instruments restrict the 
ability of KACC to transfer assets, make loans and advances, and pay dividends 
to the Company. The restricted net assets of KACC t otaled $87.0 and $70.7 at 
December 31, 2000 and 1999, respectively. 
 
 
 
9.   INCOME TAXES 
 
Income (loss) before income taxes and minority inte rests by geographic area is 
as follows: 
 
                                                        Year Ended December 31, 
                                              ----- -------------------------------------- 
                                                  2 000             1999            1998 
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------------------- 
Domestic                                      $   ( 96.6)      $    (81.8)      $   (93.6) 
Foreign                                           1 22.0             (8.1)           77.7 
                                              ----- -----      -----------      ---------- 
 
     Total                                    $    25.4       $    (89.9)      $   (15.9) 
                                              ===== ====       ===========      ========== 
 
 
 
Income taxes are classified as either domestic or f oreign, based on whether 
payment is made or due to the United States or a fo reign country. Certain income 
classified as foreign is also subject to domestic i ncome taxes. 
 
The (provision) benefit for income taxes on income (loss) before income taxes 
and minority interests consists of: 
 
 
 
 
                                             Federa l           Foreign           State          Total
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------
2000     Current                        $      (1.9 )      $     (35.3)     $      (.3)     $   (37.5)



         Deferred                              35.5               (8.9)            (.7)          25.9
                                        ----------- -      ------------     -----------     ----------
              Total                     $      33.6        $     (44.2)     $     (1.0)     $   (11.6)
                                        =========== =      ============     ===========     ==========
 
1999     Current                        $       (.5 )      $     (23.1)     $      (.3)     $   (23.9)
         Deferred                              43.8                7.1             5.7           56.6
                                        ----------- -      ------------     -----------     ----------
              Total                     $      43.3        $     (16.0)     $      5.4      $    32.7
                                        =========== =      ============     ===========     ==========
 
1998     Current                        $      (1.8 )      $     (16.5)     $      (.2)     $   (18.5)
         Deferred                              44.4              (12.5)            3.0           34.9
                                        ----------- -      ------------     -----------     ----------
              Total                     $      42.6        $     (29.0)     $      2.8      $    16.4
                                        =========== =      ============     ===========     ==========
 
 
A reconciliation between the (provision) benefit fo r income taxes and the amount 
computed by applying the federal statutory income t ax rate to income (loss) 
before income taxes and minority interests is as fo llows: 
 
 
 
                                                                                              Year End ed December 31,
                                                                                        -----------------------------------
                                                                                            2000          1999         1998
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ---------------------
Amount of federal income tax (provision) benefit ba sed on the statutory rate            $  (8.9)      $  31.2      $   5.6
Revision of prior years' tax estimates and other ch anges in valuation allowances           (1.8)          1.1          8.3
Percentage depletion                                                                        3.0           2.8          3.2
Foreign taxes, net of federal tax benefit                                                  (3.2)         (3.2)        (1.9)
Other                                                                                       (.7)           .8          1.2
                                                                                        --------
(Provision) benefit for income taxes                                                    $ (11.6)      $  32.7      $  16.4
                                                                                        ========      ========     ========
 
The components of the Company's net deferred income  tax assets are as follows: 
                                                                           December 31, 
                                                                   ----------------------------  
                                                                       2000             1999 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------  
Deferred income tax assets: 
     Postretirement benefits other than pensions                   $     267.4       $    274.7  
     Loss and credit carryforwards                                       125.2            119.3  
     Other liabilities                                                   143.7            146.3  
     Other                                                               181.5            193.9  
     Valuation allowances                                               (122.3)          (125.6)
                                                                   ------------      -----------
         Total deferred income tax assets-net                            595.5            608.6  
                                                                   ------------      -----------
Deferred income tax liabilities: 
     Property, plant, and equipment                                     (105.1)          (101.6)
     Other                                                               (26.2)           (69.6)
                                                                   ------------      -----------
         Total deferred income tax liabilities                          (131.3)          (171.2)
                                                                   ------------      -----------
Net deferred income tax assets                                     $     464.2       $    437.4  
                                                                   ============      ===========
 
 
The principal component of the Company's net deferr ed income tax assets is the 
tax benefit, net of certain valuation allowances, a ssociated with the accrued 
liability for postretirement benefits other than pe nsions. The future tax 
deductions with respect to the turnaround of this a ccrual will occur over a 
30-to-40-year period. If such deductions create or increase a net operating 



loss, the Company has the ability to carry forward such loss for 20 taxable 
years. Accordingly, the Company believes that a lon g-term view of profitability 
is appropriate and has concluded that this net defe rred income tax asset will 
more likely than not be realized. 
 
A substantial portion of the valuation allowances p rovided by the Company 
relates to loss and credit carryforwards. To determ ine the proper amount of 
valuation allowances with respect to these carryfor wards, the Company evaluated 
all appropriate factors, including any limitations concerning their use and the 
year the carryforwards expire, as well as the level s of taxable income necessary 
for utilization. With regard to future levels of in come, the Company believes, 
based on the cyclical nature of its business, its h istory of operating earnings, 
and its expectations for future years, that it will  more likely than not 
generate sufficient taxable income to realize the b enefit attributable to the 
loss and credit carryforwards for which valuation a llowances were not provided. 
 
As of December 31, 2000 and 1999, $56.0 and $39.1, respectively, of the net 
deferred income tax assets listed above are include d in the Consolidated Balance 
Sheets in the caption entitled Prepaid expenses and  other current assets. 
Certain other portions of the deferred income tax l iabilities listed above are 
included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets in the captions entitled Other 
accrued liabilities and Long-term liabilities. 
 
The Company and its domestic subsidiaries file cons olidated federal income tax 
returns. During the period from October 28, 1988, t hrough June 30, 1993, the 
Company and its domestic subsidiaries were included  in the consolidated federal 
income tax returns of MAXXAM. The tax allocation ag reements of the Company and 
KACC with MAXXAM terminated pursuant to their terms , effective for taxable 
periods beginning after June 30, 1993. However, pay ments or refunds for periods 
prior to July 1, 1993 related to certain jurisdicti ons could still be required 
pursuant to the Company's and KACC's respective tax  allocation agreements with 
MAXXAM. In accordance with the Credit Agreement, an y such payments to MAXXAM by 
KACC would require lender approval, except in certa in specific circumstances. 
 
At December 31, 2000, the Company had certain tax a ttributes available to offset 
regular federal income tax requirements, subject to  certain limitations, 
including net operating loss and general business c redit carryforwards of $84.9 
and $1.0, respectively, which expire periodically t hrough 2019 and 2011, 
respectively, foreign tax credit ("FTC") carryforwa rds of $67.1, which expire 
primarily in 2004 and 2005, and alternative minimum  tax ("AMT") credit 
carryforwards of $25.8, which have an indefinite li fe. The Company also has AMT 
net operating loss and FTC carryforwards of $45.3 a nd $89.8, respectively, 
available, subject to certain limitations, to offse t future alternative minimum 
taxable income, which expire periodically through 2 019 and 2005, respectively. 
 
10.  EMPLOYEE BENEFIT AND INCENTIVE PLANS 
 
Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plans. Ret irement plans are 
non-contributory for salaried and hourly employees and generally provide for 
benefits based on formulas which consider such item s as length of service and 
earnings during years of service. The Company's fun ding policies meet or exceed 
all regulatory requirements. 
 
The Company and its subsidiaries provide postretire ment health care and life 
insurance benefits to eligible retired employees an d their dependents. 
Substantially all employees may become eligible for  those benefits if they reach 
retirement age while still working for the Company or its subsidiaries. The 
Company has not funded the liability for these bene fits, which are expected to 
be paid out of cash generated by operations. The Co mpany reserves the right, 
subject to applicable collective bargaining agreeme nts, to amend or terminate 
these benefits. Assumptions used to value obligatio ns at year-end and to 
determine the net periodic benefit cost in the subs equent year are: 
 
 
 
 



                                                               Pension Benefits                  Medic al/Life Benefits
                                                        --------------------------------    -------------------------------
                                                             2000        1999       1998         2000       1999       1998
                                                        --------------------------------    -------------------------------
Weighted-average assumptions as of December 31, 
Discount rate                                               7.75%       7.75%      7.00%        7.75%      7.75%      7.00%
Expected return on plan assets                              9.50%       9.50%      9.50%          
Rate of compensation increase                               4.00%       4.00%      5.00%        4.00%      4.00%      4.00%
 
 
In 2000, the average annual assumed rate of increas e in the per capita cost of 
covered benefits (i.e., health care cost trend rate ) is 8.0% for all 
participants. The assumed rate of increase is assum ed to decline gradually to 
5.0% in 2009 for all participants and remain at tha t level thereafter. 
 
The following table presents the funded status of t he Company's pension and 
other postretirement benefit plans as of December 3 1, 2000 and 1999, and the 
corresponding amounts that are included in the Comp any's Consolidated Balance 
Sheets: 
 
 
 
                                                               Pension Benefits                  Medic al/Life Benefits
                                                       --------------------------------    --------------------------------
                                                            2000              1999              2000              1999
                                                       --------------    --------------    --------------
Change in Benefit Obligation: 
     Obligation at beginning of year                   $       806.0     $       872.5     $       615 .4      $      616.8
     Service cost                                               19.0              14.6               5 .3               5.2
     Interest cost                                              60.5              59.7              45 .0              41.5
     Currency exchange rate change                              -                  (5.7)               
     Curtailments, settlements and amendments                   33.7                .4             (33 .4)               
     Actuarial (gain) loss                                       9.1             (44.5)             79 .5                .1
     Benefits paid                                             (92.5)            (91.0)            (53 .6)            (48.2)
                                                       --------------    --------------    --------------
         Obligation at end of year                             835.8             806.0             658 .2             615.4
                                                       --------------    --------------    --------------
Change in Plan Assets: 
     FMV of plan assets at beginning of year                   857.8             801.8                
     Actual return on assets                                   (18.0)            133.0                
     Employer contributions                                     10.7              14.0              53 .6              48.2
     Benefits paid                                             (92.5)            (91.0)            (53 .6)            (48.2)
                                                       --------------    --------------    --------------
     FMV of plan assets at end of year                         758.0             857.8               
                                                       --------------    --------------    --------------
     Obligation in excess of (less than) plan 
         assets                                                 77.8             (51.8)            658 .2             615.4
     Unrecognized net actuarial gain (loss)                     25.1             131.9             (21 .6)             56.7
     Unrecognized prior service costs                          (45.1)            (15.2)             78 .3              57.7
     Adjustment required to recognize minimum liabi lity          1.8               1.2                
     Intangible asset and other                                  3.0               2.6                
                                                       --------------    --------------    --------------
         Accrued benefit liability                     $        62.6     $        68.7     $       714 .9      $      729.8
                                                       ==============    ==============    =========== ===     =============
 
 
 
The aggregate accumulated benefit obligation and fa ir value of plan assets for 
pension plans with accumulated benefit obligation i n excess of plan assets were 
$789.3 and $748.5, respectively, as of December 31,  2000, and $92.4 and $79.7, 
respectively, as of December 31, 1999. 
 
 
 
                                                               Pension Benefits                  Medic al/Life Benefits
                                                       ---------------------------------   --------------------------------



                                                          2000       1999        1998         2000       1999       1998
                                                       ---------- ----------- ----------   ----------
Components of Net Periodic Benefit Costs: 
     Service cost                                      $    19.0  $     14.6  $    14.2    $     5.3  $     5.2  $     4.2
     Interest cost                                          60.5        59.7       59.7         45.0       41.5       37.5
     Expected return on assets                             (77.9)      (72.9)     (69.4)            
     Amortization of prior service cost                      3.9         3.3        3.2        (12.8)     (12.1)     (12.4)
     Recognized net actuarial (gain) loss                   (1.9)         .7        1.4            
                                                       ---------- ----------- ----------   ----------
     Net periodic benefit cost                               3.6         5.4        9.1         37.5       34.6       22.2
     Curtailments, settlements, etc.                          .1          .4        3.2            
                                                       ---------- ----------- ----------   ----------
         Adjusted net periodic benefit costs           $     3.7  $      5.8  $    12.3    $    37.5  $    34.6  $    22.2
                                                       ========== =========== ==========   ========== ========== ==========
 
 
Assumed health care cost trend rates have a signifi cant effect on the amounts 
reported for the health care plan. A one-percentage - point change in assumed 
health care cost trend rates would have the followi ng effects: 
 
 
 
                                                                       1% Increase           1% Decrea se
                                                                      --------------        -------------
Increase (decrease) to total of service and interes t cost             $        6.8          $       (5 .0)
Increase (decrease) to the postretirement benefit o bligation          $       68.3          $      (48 .0)
 
 
Postemployment Benefits. The Company provides certa in benefits to former or 
inactive employees after employment but before reti rement. 
 
Incentive Plans. The Company has an unfunded incent ive compensation program, 
which provides incentive compensation based on perf ormance against annual plans 
and over rolling three-year periods. In addition, t he Company has a 
"nonqualified" stock option plan and KACC has a def ined contribution plan for 
salaried employees. The Company's expense for all o f these plans was $5.7, $6.0 
and $7.5 for the years ended December 31, 2000, 199 9 and 1998, respectively. 
 
Up to 8,000,000 shares of the Company's Common Stoc k were reserved for issuance 
under its stock incentive compensation plans. At De cember 31, 2000, 1,861,752 
shares of Common Stock remained available for issua nce under those plans. Stock 
options granted pursuant to the Company's nonqualif ied stock option program are 
granted at or above the prevailing market price, ge nerally vest at a rate of 20 
- 33% per year, and have a five or ten year term. I nformation concerning 
nonqualified stock option plan activity is shown be low. The weighted average 
price per share for each year is shown parenthetica lly. 
 
 
 
 
                                                                         2000          1999         19 98
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ----
Outstanding at beginning of year ($10.24, $9.98 and  $10.45)          4,239,210     3,049,122      819, 752
Granted ($10.23, $11.15 and $9.79)                                     757,335     1,218,068    2,263, 170
Exercised ($7.25 in both years)                                           -            (7,920)     (10,640)
Expired or forfeited ($11.08, $11.02 and $9.60)                       (620,598)      (20,060)     (23, 160)
                                                                     ----------    ----------    
Outstanding at end of year ($10.24, $10.24 and $9.9 8)                4,375,947     4,239,210    3,049, 122
                                                                     ==========    ==========   ====== ====
Exercisable at end of year ($10.18, $10.17 and $10. 09)               2,380,491     1,763,852    1,261, 262
                                                                     ==========    ==========   ====== ====
 
 
Options exercisable at December 31, 2000 had exerci sable prices ranging from 
$6.13 to $12.75 and a weighted average remaining co ntractual life of 3.4 years. 
 



11.  MINORITY INTERESTS AND PLEDGED SHARES OF COMMO N STOCK 
 
Minority Interests. The Company owns a 90% interest  in Volta Aluminium Company 
Limited ("Valco") and a 65% interest in Alumina Par tners of Jamaica ("Alpart"). 
These companies' financial statements are fully con solidated into the Company's 
consolidated financial statements because they are majority-owned. Interests of 
Alpart's and Valco's minority shareholders' (includ ed in "Other" in the table 
below) are included in minority interests together with KACC's Redeemable 
Preference Stock and KACC's Preference Stock discus sed below. Changes in 
minority interest were: 
 
 
 
                                             2000                           1999                           1998
                                   ---------------- ---------     ----------------------    ---------------------------
                                     Redeemable                  Redeemable                  Redeemabl e
                                     Preference                  Preference                  Preferenc e
                                          Stock      Other            Stock      Other          Stock        Other
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ----------------
Beginning of period balance        $    19.5    $    98.2      $     20.1   $    103.4     $     27.7    $   100.0
Redeemable preference stock - 
   Accretion                                -           -             1.0            -             1.1             
   Stock redemption                     (2.0)         (.8)           (1.6)           -            (8.7)            
   Reclassification (see below)        (17.5)           -              -             -              
Minority interests                          -         3.7              -           (5.2)            
                                   ----------   --- -------     -----------  -----------    -----------
End of period balance              $        -    $   101.1      $     19.5   $     98.2     $     20.1    $   103.4
                                   ==========   === =======     ===========  ===========    ===========    ==========
 
 
In 1985, KACC issued its Cumulative (1985 Series A)  Preference Stock and its 
Cumulative (1985 Series B) Preference Stock (togeth er, the "Redeemable 
Preference Stock") each of which has a par value of  $1 per share and a 
liquidation and redemption value of $50 per share p lus accrued dividends, if 
any. No additional Redeemable Preference Stock is e xpected to be issued. In 
connection with the USWA settlement agreement (see Note 5), during March 2001, 
KACC redeemed all of the Redeemable Preference Stoc k (350,872 shares outstanding 
at December 31, 2000). The amount applicable to the  unredeemed shares at 
December 31, 2000 ($17.5), was included in Other ac crued liabilities. The net 
cash impact of the redemption on KACC was only appr oximately $5.5 because 
approximately $12.0 of the redemption amount had pr eviously been funded into 
redemption funds (included in Prepaid expenses). 
 
KACC has four series of $100 par value Cumulative C onvertible Preference Stock 
("$100 Preference Stock") outstanding with annual d ividend requirements of 
between 41/8% and 4 3/4% (included in "Other" in th e above table). KACC has the 
option to redeem the $100 Preference Stock at par v alue plus accrued dividends. 
KACC does not intend to issue any additional shares  of the $100 Preference 
Stock. The $100 Preference Stock can be exchanged f or per share cash amounts 
between $69 - $80. KACC records the $100 Preference  Stock at their exchange 
amounts for financial statement presentation and th e Company includes such 
amounts in minority interests. At December 31, 2000  and 1999, outstanding shares 
of $100 Preference Stock were 9,250 and 19,538, res pectively. 
 
Pledged Shares. From time to time MAXXAM or certain  of its subsidiaries which 
own the Company's Common Stock may use such stock a s collateral under various 
financing arrangements. At December 31, 2000, 26,73 7,443 shares of the Company's 
Common Stock beneficially owned by MAXXAM Group Hol dings Inc. ("MGHI"), a wholly 
owned subsidiary of MAXXAM, were pledged as securit y for $130.0 principal amount 
of 12% Senior Secured Notes due 2003 issued in Dece mber 1996 by MGHI. An 
additional 7,915,000 shares of the Company's Common  Stock were pledged by MAXXAM 
under a separate agreement under which $13.4 had be en borrowed by MAXXAM at 
December 31, 2000. 
 
12.  COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 



Commitments. KACC has a variety of financial commit ments, including purchase 
agreements, tolling arrangements, forward foreign e xchange and forward sales 
contracts (see Note 13), letters of credit, and gua rantees. Such purchase 
agreements and tolling arrangements include long-te rm agreements for the 
purchase and tolling of bauxite into alumina in Aus tralia by QAL. These 
obligations are scheduled to expire in 2008. Under the agreements, KACC is 
unconditionally obligated to pay its proportional s hare of debt, operating 
costs, and certain other costs of QAL. KACC's share  of the aggregate minimum 
amount of required future principal payments at Dec ember 31, 2000, is $101.5 
which matures as follows: $14.1 in 2001, $43.0 in 2 002 and $44.4 in 2003. KACC's 
share of payments, including operating costs and ce rtain other expenses under 
the agreements, has ranged between $92.0 - $96.0 ov er the past three years. KACC 
also has agreements to supply alumina to and to pur chase aluminum from Anglesey. 
 
Minimum rental commitments under operating leases a t December 31, 2000, are as 
follows: years ending December 31, 2001 - $36.5; 20 02 - $32.3; 2003 - $29.4; 
2004 - $26.9; 2005 - $26.4; thereafter - $78.0. The  future minimum rentals 
receivable under noncancelable subleases was $132.3  at December 31, 2000. 
 
Rental expenses were $42.5, $41.1 and $34.5, for th e years ended December 31, 
2000, 1999 and 1998, respectively. 
 
KACC has a long-term liability, net of estimated su bleases income (included in 
Long-term liabilities), on a building in which KACC  has not maintained offices 
for a number of years, but for which it is responsi ble for lease payments as 
master tenant through 2008 under a sale-and-leaseba ck agreement. During 2000, 
KACC reduced its net lease obligation by $17.0 (see  Note 1) to reflect new 
third-party sublease agreements which resulted in o ccupancy and lease rates 
above those previously projected. 
 
Environmental Contingencies. The Company and KACC a re subject to a number of 
environmental laws, to fines or penalties assessed for alleged breaches of the 
environmental laws, and to claims and litigation ba sed upon such laws. KACC 
currently is subject to a number of claims under th e Comprehensive Environmental 
Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, a s amended by the Superfund 
Amendments Reauthorization Act of 1986 ("CERCLA"), and, along with certain other 
entities, has been named as a potentially responsib le party for remedial costs 
at certain third-party sites listed on the National  Priorities List under 
CERCLA. 
 
Based on the Company's evaluation of these and othe r environmental matters, the 
Company has established environmental accruals, pri marily related to potential 
solid waste disposal and soil and groundwater remed iation matters. The following 
table presents the changes in such accruals, which are primarily included in 
Long-term liabilities, for the years ended December  31, 2000, 1999 and 1998: 
 
 
 
 
                                                  2 000        1999       1998 
--------------------------------------------------- -------------------------- 
Balance at beginning of period                 $ 48 .9      $ 50.7     $ 29.7 
Additional accruals                               2 .6         1.6       24.5 
Less expenditures                                (5 .4)       (3.4)      (3.5) 
                                               ---- ---     -------    ------- 
Balance at end of period                       $ 46 .1      $ 48.9     $ 50.7 
                                               ==== ===     =======    ======= 
 
 
These environmental accruals represent the Company' s estimate of costs 
reasonably expected to be incurred based on present ly enacted laws and 
regulations, currently available facts, existing te chnology, and the Company's 
assessment of the likely remediation action to be t aken. The Company expects 
that these remediation actions will be taken over t he next several years and 
estimates that annual expenditures to be charged to  these environmental accruals 
will be approximately $3.0 to $12.0 for the years 2 001 through 2005 and an 



aggregate of approximately $21.0 thereafter. 
 
As additional facts are developed and definitive re mediation plans and necessary 
regulatory approvals for implementation of remediat ion are established or 
alternative technologies are developed, changes in these and other factors may 
result in actual costs exceeding the current enviro nmental accruals. The Company 
believes that it is reasonably possible that costs associated with these 
environmental matters may exceed current accruals b y amounts that could range, 
in the aggregate, up to an estimated $35.0. As the resolution of these matters 
is subject to further regulatory review and approva l, no specific assurance can 
be given as to when the factors upon which a substa ntial portion of this 
estimate is based can be expected to be resolved. H owever, the Company is 
currently working to resolve certain of these matte rs. 
 
The Company believes that KACC has insurance covera ge available to recover 
certain incurred and future environmental costs and  is pursuing claims in this 
regard. During December 1998, KACC received recover ies totaling approximately 
$35.0 from certain of its insurers related to curre nt and future claims. Based 
on the Company's analysis, a total of $12.0 of such  recoveries was allocable to 
previously accrued (expensed) items and, therefore,  was reflected in earnings 
during 1998 (see Note 1 - Other Income (Expense)). The remaining recoveries were 
offset against increases in the total amount of env ironmental reserves. No 
assurances can be given that the Company will be su ccessful in other attempts to 
recover incurred or future costs from other insurer s or that the amount of 
recoveries received will ultimately be adequate to cover costs incurred. 
 
While uncertainties are inherent in the final outco me of these environmental 
matters, and it is presently impossible to determin e the actual costs that 
ultimately may be incurred, management currently be lieves that the resolution of 
such uncertainties should not have a material adver se effect on the Company's 
consolidated financial position, results of operati ons, or liquidity. 
 
Asbestos Contingencies. KACC is a defendant in a nu mber of lawsuits, some of 
which involve claims of multiple persons, in which the plaintiffs allege that 
certain of their injuries were caused by, among oth er things, exposure to 
asbestos during, and as a result of, their employme nt or association with KACC 
or exposure to products containing asbestos produce d or sold by KACC. The 
lawsuits generally relate to products KACC has not sold for more than 20 years. 
 
The following table presents the changes in number of such claims pending for 
the years ended December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998. 
 
 
 
                                                                         2000         1999         199 8
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- --
Number of claims at beginning of period                               100,000       86,400       77,40 0
Claims received                                                        30,600       29,300       22,90 0
Claims settled or dismissed                                           (19,800)     (15,700)     (13,90 0)
                                                                    ----------    ---------    ---------
 
Number of claims at end of period                                     110,800      100,000       86,40 0
                                                                    ==========    =========    ======= ==
Number of claims at end of period (included above) covered by 
     agreements under which KACC expects to settle over an 
     extended period                                                   66,900       31,900       30,00 0
                                                                    ==========    =========    ======= ==
 
 
The Company maintains a liability for estimated asb estos-related costs for 
claims filed to date and an estimate of claims to b e filed over a 10 year period 
(i.e., through 2010). The Company's estimate is bas ed on the Company's view, at 
each balance sheet date, of the current and anticip ated number of 
asbestos-related claims, the timing and amounts of asbestos-related payments, 
the status of ongoing litigation and settlement ini tiatives, and the advice of 
Wharton Levin Ehrmantraut Klein & Nash, P.A., with respect to the current state 



of the law related to asbestos claims. However, the re are inherent uncertainties 
involved in estimating asbestos- related costs and the Company's actual costs 
could exceed the Company's estimates due to changes  in facts and circumstances 
after the date of each estimate. Further, while the  Company does not presently 
believe there is a reasonable basis for estimating asbestos-related costs beyond 
2010 and, accordingly, no accrual has been recorded  for any costs which may be 
incurred beyond 2010, the Company expects that such  costs are likely to continue 
beyond 2010, and that such costs could be substanti al. 
 
The Company believes that KACC has insurance covera ge available to recover a 
substantial portion of its asbestos-related costs. Although the Company has 
settled asbestos-related coverage matters with cert ain of its insurance 
carriers, other carriers have not yet agreed to set tlements and disputes with 
certain carriers exist. The timing and amount of fu ture recoveries from these 
and other insurance carriers will depend on the pac e of claims review and 
processing by such carriers and on the resolution o f any disputes regarding 
coverage under such policies. The Company believes that substantial recoveries 
from the insurance carriers are probable. The Compa ny reached this conclusion 
after considering its prior insurance-related recov eries in respect of asbestos- 
related claims, existing insurance policies, and th e advice of Heller Ehrman 
White & McAuliffe LLP with respect to applicable in surance coverage law relating 
to the terms and conditions of those policies. Duri ng 2000, KACC filed suit 
against a group of its insurers, after negotiations  with certain of the insurers 
regarding an agreement covering both reimbursement amounts and the timing of 
reimbursement payments were unsuccessful. The litig ation is intended, among 
other things, to: (1) ensure that the insurers prov ide KACC with timely and 
appropriate reimbursement payments for asbestos-rel ated settlements and related 
legal costs incurred; and (2) to resolve certain is sues between the parties with 
respect to how specific provisions of the applicabl e insurance policies are to 
be applied. Given the significance of expected asbe stos-related payments in 2001 
and 2002 based on settlement agreements in place at  December 31, 2000, the 
receipt of timely and appropriate reimbursements fr om such insurers is critical 
to KACC's liquidity. The court is not expected to t ry the case until late 2001 
or 2002. KACC is continuing to receive cash payment s from the insurers. 
 
The following tables present historical information  regarding KACC's 
asbestos-related balances and cash flows: 
 
 
 
                                                                             December 31, 
                                                                   ----------------------------  
                                                                        2000            1999 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------  
Liability (current portion of $130.0 and $53.0)                    $     492.4     $     387.8 
Receivable (included in Other assets)(1)                                 406.3           315.5 
                                                                   ------------    ------------  
                                                                   $      86.1     $      72.3 
                                                                   ============    ============  
 
 
(1)  The asbestos-related receivable was determined  on the same basis as the 
     asbestos-related cost accrual. However, no ass urances can be given that 
     KACC will be able to project similar recovery percentages for future 
     asbestos-related claims or that the amounts re lated to future 
     asbestos-related claims will not exceed KACC's  aggregate insurance 
     coverage. As of December 31, 2000 and 1999, $3 6.9 and $25.0, respectively, 
     of the receivable amounts relate to costs paid . The remaining receivable 
     amounts relate to costs that are expected to b e paid by KACC in the future. 
 
 
 
 
                                                                         Year Ended December 31,
                                                               -------------------------------------------
                                                                   2000          1999            1998           To Date



                                                               -----------   -----------     -------------
Payments made, including related legal costs....... .........   $      99.5   $      24.6     $       1 8.5    $        220.5
Insurance recoveries............................... .........          62.8           6.6             1 9.9             131.3
                                                               -----------   -----------     -------------
                                                               $      36.7   $      18.0     $       ( 1.4)   $         89.2
                                                               ===========   ===========     ========= ====   ===============
 
                                                                                 As of December 31, 20 00
                                                                --------------------------------------------------- ----
                                                                   2001 and              2003 to
                                                                     2002                 2005              Thereafter
                                                                ---------------       -------------
Expected annual payment amounts, before considering  
   insurance recoveries............................ ...........  $110.0 - $135.0       $25.0 -  $50.0           $125.0
 
 
 
Management continues to monitor claims activity, th e status of lawsuits 
(including settlement initiatives), legislative dev elopments, and costs incurred 
in order to ascertain whether an adjustment to the existing accruals should be 
made to the extent that historical experience may d iffer significantly from the 
Company's underlying assumptions. This process resu lted in the Company 
reflecting charges of $43.0, $53.2 and $12.7 (inclu ded in Other income(expense) 
- see Note 1) in the years ended December 31, 2000,  1999 and 1998, respectively, 
for asbestos-related claims, net of expected insura nce recoveries, based on 
recent cost and other trends experienced by KACC an d other companies. While 
uncertainties are inherent in the final outcome of these asbestos matters and it 
is presently impossible to determine the actual cos ts that ultimately may be 
incurred and insurance recoveries that will be rece ived, management currently 
believes that, based on the factors discussed in th e preceding paragraphs, the 
resolution of asbestos-related uncertainties and th e incurrence of 
asbestos-related costs net of related insurance rec overies should not have a 
material adverse effect on the Company's consolidat ed financial position or 
liquidity. However, as the Company's estimates are periodically re-evaluated, 
additional charges may be necessary and such charge s could be material to the 
results of the period in which they are recorded. 
 
Labor Matters. In connection with the USWA strike a nd subsequent lock-out by 
KACC, which was settled in September 2000, certain allegations of unfair labor 
practices ("ULPs") were filed with the National Lab or Relations Board ("NLRB") 
by the USWA. As previously disclosed, KACC responde d to all such allegations and 
believes that they were without merit. Twenty-two o f twenty-four allegations of 
ULPs previously brought against KACC by the USWA ha ve been dismissed. A trial 
before an administrative law judge for the two rema ining allegations commenced 
in November 2000 and is continuing. The Company is unable to estimate when the 
trial will be completed. Any outcome from the trial  before the administrative 
law judge would be subject to additional appeals by  the general counsel of the 
NLRB, the USWA or KACC. This process could take mon ths or years. If these 
proceedings eventually resulted in a final ruling a gainst KACC with respect to 
either allegation, it could be obligated to provide  back pay to USWA members at 
the five plants and such amount could be significan t. The Company continues to 
believe that the charges are without merit. While u ncertainties are inherent in 
matters such as this and it is presently impossible  to determine the actual 
costs, if any, that may ultimately arise in connect ion with this matter, the 
Company does not believe that the ultimate outcome of this matter will have a 
material adverse impact on the Company's liquidity or financial position. 
However, amounts paid, if any, in satisfaction of t his matter could be 
significant to the results of the period in which t hey are recorded. 
 
Other Contingencies. The Company or KACC is involve d in various other claims, 
lawsuits, and other proceedings relating to a wide variety of matters related to 
past or present operations. While uncertainties are  inherent in the final 
outcome of such matters, and it is presently imposs ible to determine the actual 
costs that ultimately may be incurred, management c urrently believes that the 
resolution of such uncertainties and the incurrence  of such costs should not 
have a material adverse effect on the Company's con solidated financial position, 



results of operations, or liquidity. 
 
13.   DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RELATED HEDGING PROGRAMS 
 
In conducting its business, KACC uses various instr uments, including forward 
contracts and options, to manage the risks arising from fluctuations in aluminum 
prices, energy prices and exchange rates. KACC ente rs into hedging transactions 
to limit its exposure resulting from (1) its antici pated sales of alumina, 
primary aluminum, and fabricated aluminum products,  net of expected purchase 
costs for items that fluctuate with aluminum prices , (2) the energy price risk 
from fluctuating prices for natural gas, fuel oil a nd diesel oil used in its 
production process, and (3) foreign currency requir ements with respect to its 
cash commitments with foreign subsidiaries and affi liates. 
 
As KACC's hedging activities are generally designed  to lock-in a specified price 
or range of prices, gains or losses on the derivati ve contracts utilized in 
these hedging activities (except the impact of thos e contracts discussed below 
which have been marked to market) will generally of fset at least a portion of 
any losses or gains, respectively, on the transacti ons being hedged. See Note 1 
for a discussion of the effects of the new accounti ng requirements under SFAS 
No. 133, which will be used for reporting results b eginning with the first 
quarter of 2001. The following table summarizes KAC C's derivative hedging 
positions at December 31, 2000: 
 
 
 
                                                                             Estimated % 
                                                                              of Annual 
                                                             Notional      Sales/Purchases     Carryin g         Market
               Commodity                     Period            Amount           Hedged            Value            Value
--------------------------------------  ----------- -----   -------------  ----------------   ------------
Aluminum (in tons) - 
       Option contracts                       2001               362,000       82%(1)        $       1 8.2    $       3.1
       Option contracts                       2002               262,000       52%(1)                1 0.9           13.4
       Option contracts                       2003                42,000        9%(1)                 1.8            1.7
 
Natural gas (in MMBtus per day) - 
       Option contracts and swaps         1/01 to 6 /01            27,900         24%                  1.3           21.8
 
Australian dollars (A$ per year) - 
       Forwards and option contracts          2001              A$ 160.0         80%                  1.4           (5.2)
       Option contracts                   2002 to 2 005          A$  90.0         56%                 1 2.2           13.3
 
 
(1)  As of February 28, 2001, the estimated percent ages of annual sales of 
     primary aluminum (equivalents) hedged for 2001 , 2002 and 2003 were 82%, 63% 
     and 14%, respectively. 
 
During late 1999 and early 2000, KACC also entered into a series of transactions 
with a counterparty that provided KACC with a premi um over the forward market 
prices at the date of the transaction for 2,000 ton s of primary aluminum per 
month during the period January 2000 through June 2 001. KACC also contracted 
with the counterparty to receive certain fixed pric es (also above the forward 
market prices at the date of the transaction) on 4, 000 tons of primary aluminum 
per month over a three year period commencing Octob er 2001, unless market prices 
during certain periods decline below a stipulated " floor" price, in which case 
the fixed price sales portion of the transactions t erminate. The price at which 
the October 2001 and after transactions terminate i s well below current market 
prices. While the Company believes that the October  2001 and after transactions 
are consistent with its stated hedging objectives, these positions do not 
qualify for treatment as a "hedge" under both pre-2 001 and post-2001 accounting 
guidelines. Accordingly, these positions are marked -to-market each period. See 
Note 1 for mark-to-market pre-tax gains (losses) as sociated with the 
transactions for the years ended December 31, 2000,  1999 and 1998. 
 
As of December 31, 2000, KACC had sold forward appr oximately 100% and 80% of the 



alumina available to it in excess of its projected internal smelting 
requirements for 2001 and 2002, respectively, at pr ices indexed to future prices 
of primary aluminum. 
 
14.  SEGMENT AND GEOGRAPHICAL AREA INFORMATION 
 
The Company's operations are located in many foreig n countries, including 
Australia, Canada, Ghana, Jamaica, and the United K ingdom. Foreign operations in 
general may be more vulnerable than domestic operat ions due to a variety of 
political and other risks. Sales and transfers amon g geographic areas are made 
on a basis intended to reflect the market value of products. 
 
The Company's operations are organized and managed by product type. The Company 
operations include four operating segments of the a luminum industry and its 
commodities marketing and corporate segments. The a luminum industry segments 
include: Alumina and bauxite, Primary aluminum, Fla t-rolled products and 
Engineered products. The Alumina and bauxite busine ss unit's principal products 
are smelter grade alumina and chemical grade alumin a hydrate, a value-added 
product, for which the Company receives a premium o ver smelter grade market 
prices. The Primary aluminum business unit produces  commodity grade products as 
well as value-added products such as rod and billet , for which the Company 
receives a premium over normal commodity market pri ces. The Flat-rolled products 
group sells value-added products such as heat treat  aluminum sheet and plate 
which are used in the aerospace and general enginee ring markets as well as 
selling to the beverage container and specialty coi l markets. The Engineered 
products business unit serves a wide range of indus trial segments including the 
automotive, distribution, aerospace and general eng ineering markets. The Company 
uses a portion of its bauxite, alumina and primary aluminum production for 
additional processing at its downstream facilities.  Transfers between business 
units are made at estimated market prices. The Comm odities marketing segment 
includes the results of KACC's alumina and aluminum  hedging activities (see Note 
13). The accounting policies of the segments are th e same as those described in 
Note 1. Business unit results are evaluated interna lly by management before any 
allocation of corporate overhead and without any ch arge for income taxes, 
interest expense or non- recurring charges. 
 
Financial information by operating segment at Decem ber 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998 
is as follows: 
 
 
 
                                                                             Year Ended December 31,
                                                                    ----------------------------------------
                                                                       2000           1999           1 998
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------
Net Sales:(3) 
   Bauxite and Alumina:(1)(4) 
     Net sales to unaffiliated customers                            $   442.2     $    395.8     $    445.2
     Intersegment sales                                                 148.3          129.0          135.8
                                                                    ----------    -----------     
                                                                        590.5          524.8          581.0
                                                                    ----------    -----------     
   Primary Aluminum:(2)(4) 
     Net sales to unaffiliated customers                                563.7          432.9          390.7
     Intersegment sales                                                 242.3          240.6          233.5
                                                                    ----------    -----------     
                                                                        806.0          673.5          624.2
                                                                    ----------    -----------     
   Flat- Rolled Products                                                 521.0          591.3          732.7
   Engineered Products                                                  564.9          556.8          595.3
   Commodities Marketing(4)                                             (25.4)          18.3           60.5
   Minority Interests                                                   103.4           88.5           78.0
   Eliminations                                                        (390.6)        (369.6)        ( 369.3)
                                                                    ----------    -----------     
                                                                    $ 2,169.8     $  2,083.6     $  2, 302.4
                                                                    ==========    ===========    ===== ======



Equity in income (loss) of unconsolidated affiliate s: 
   Bauxite and Alumina                                              $    (8.4)    $      3.4     $     (3.2)
   Primary Aluminum                                                       3.6           (1.0)           1.2
   Engineered Products and Other                                            -             2.5            7.4
                                                                    ----------    -----------     
                                                                    $    (4.8)    $      4.9     $      5.4
                                                                    ==========    ===========    ===== ======
Operating income (loss):(4)(6) 
   Bauxite and Alumina -  Note 2                                     $    57 .2     $    (10.5)    $      5.5
   Primary Aluminum (5)                                                 100.1           (4.8)          28.3
   Flat- Rolled Products                                                  16.6           17.1           86.8
   Engineered Products                                                   34.1           38.6           51.5
   Commodities Marketing(4)                                             (48.7)          21.3           98.1
   Micromill                                                              (.6)         (11.6)         (18.4)
   Eliminations                                                            .1            6.9            8.9
   Corporate and Other                                                  (61.4)         (61.8)         (65.1)
   Labor Settlement and Other Non-Recurring Operati ng Items, 
        Net -  Notes 5 and 6                                              41.9          (24.1)        (105.0)
                                                                    ----------    -----------     
                                                                    $   139.3     $    (28.9)    $     90.6
                                                                    ==========    ===========    ===== ======
 
 
                                                                            Year Ended December 31,
                                                                   ----------------------------------------
                                                                      2000          1999           199 8
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- -----
Depreciation and amortization: 
   Bauxite and Alumina -  Note 2                                    $    22. 2     $     29.7     $     36.4
   Primary Aluminum                                                     24.8           27.8           29.9
   Flat- Rolled Products                                                 16.7           16.2           16.1
   Engineered Products                                                  11.5           10.7           10.8
   Corporate and Other (includes Micromill in 1999 and 1998)             1.7            5.1            5.9
                                                                   ----------    -----------     
                                                                   $    76.9     $     89.5     $     99.1
                                                                   ==========    ===========    ====== =====
Capital expenditures: 
   Bauxite and Alumina -  Note 2                                    $   254. 6     $     30.4     $     26.9
   Primary Aluminum                                                      9.6           12.8           20.7
   Flat- Rolled Products                                                  7.6           16.6           20.4
   Engineered Products -  Note 4                                         23. 6            7.8            8.4
   Corporate and Other                                                   1.1             .8            1.2
                                                                   ----------    -----------     
                                                                   $   296.5     $     68.4     $     77.6
                                                                   ==========    ===========    ====== =====
 
 
(1)  Net sales for 2000 and 1999, included approxim ately 267,000 tons and 
     264,000 tons, respectively of alumina purchase d from third parties and 
     resold to certain unaffiliated customers of th e Gramercy facility and 
     55,000 tons and 131,000 tons, respectively, of  alumina purchased from third 
     parties and transferred to the Company's Prima ry aluminum business unit. 
(2)  Net sales for 2000, 1999 and 1998 included app roximately 206,500 tons, 
     260,100 tons and 251,300 tons, respectively, o f primary aluminum purchased 
     from third parties to meet third-party and int ernal commitments. 
(3)  Net sales for 1999 and 1998 for all segments h ave been restated to conform 
     to a new accounting requirement which states t hat freight charges should be 
     included in cost of products sold rather than netted against net sales as 
     was the Company's prior policy. 
(4)  Net sales and operating income (loss) for Baux ite and alumina and Primary 
     aluminum segments for 1999 and 1998 have been restated to reflect a change 
     in the Company's segment reporting. The result s of the Company's metal 
     hedging activities in the Commodities marketin g segment are now set out 
     separately rather than being allocated between  the two commodity business 
     units. 
(5)  Operating income (loss) for 1999 included potl ine preparation and restart 



     costs of $12.8. 
(6)  The allocation of the labor settlement charge to the Company's business 
     units for the year ended December 31, 2000, is  as follows: Bauxite and 
     Alumina - $2.1, Primary aluminum - $15.9, Flat -rolled products - $18.2 and 
     Engineered products - $2.3. 
 
 
 
                                                                                 December 31, 
                                                                          -------------------------
                                                                               2000         1999
--------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------------------------
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated affil iates: 
   Bauxite and Alumina                                                    $     56.0     $     71.6
   Primary Aluminum                                                             19.0           25.3
   Corporate and Other                                                           2.8            
                                                                          ----------     ----------
                                                                          $     77.8     $     96.9
                                                                          ==========     ==========
 
                                                                            December 31, 
                                                                  -------------------------- 
                                                                       2000            1999 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------------------------- 
Segment assets: 
   Bauxite and Alumina                                            $     957.0     $    777.7 
   Primary Aluminum                                                     623.3          560.8 
   Flat-Rolled Products                                                 337.7          423.2 
   Engineered Products                                                  232.9          253.1 
   Commodities Marketing                                                 62.1           99.0 
   Corporate and Other (includes Micromill in 1999)                    1,130.1        1,085.0 
                                                                  -----------     ---------- 
                                                                  $   3,343.1     $  3,198.8 
                                                                  ===========     ========== 
 
 
Geographical information for net sales, based on co untry of origin, and 
long-lived assets follows: 
 
 
 
                                                               Year Ended December 31, 
                                                    ---------------------------------------------
                                                        2000            1999             1998 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------------------------------
Net sales to unaffiliated customers: 
     United  States                                 $    1,350.1    $     1,439.6    $    1,744.0
     Jamaica                                               298.5            233.1           237.0
     Ghana                                                 237.5            153.2            89.8
     Other Foreign                                         283.7            257.7           231.6
                                                    ------------    -------------    ------------
                                                    $    2,169.8    $     2,083.6    $    2,302.4
                                                    ============    =============    ============
 
                                                      December 31, 
                                              ----- ------------------------ 
                                                  2 000             1999 
--------------------------------------------------- ------------------------ 
Long-lived assets: (1) 
     United States                            $       809.0    $      688.1 
     Jamaica                                          290.3           288.2 
     Ghana                                             80.8            84.1 
     Other Foreign                                     73.8            90.2 
                                              ----- --------    ------------ 
                                              $     1,253.9    $    1,150.6 
                                              ===== ========    ============ 



 
 
(1) Long-lived assets include Property, plant, and equipment, net and 
    Investments in and advances to unconsolidated a ffiliates. 
 
The aggregate foreign currency gain included in det ermining net income was 
immaterial for the years ended December 31, 2000, 1 999 and 1998. No single 
customer accounted for sales in excess of 10% of to tal revenue in 2000, 1999 and 
1998. Export sales were less than 10% of total reve nue during the years ended 
December 31, 2000, 1999 and 1998. 
 
 
 
QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED) 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------------- 
 
 
                                                                           Quarter Ended 
                                                     --------------------------------------------------- ---------
(In millions of dollars, except share amounts)        March 31,     June 30,    September 30,     Dece mber 31,
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- -----------
 
2000 
   Net sales                                         $   575.7 (8)  $  552.8 (8)    $ 545.2 (8)      $  496.1
   Operating income                                       36.9          51.5            2.8             48.1
   Net income (loss)                                      11.7 (1)      11.0 (2)      (16.8)(3)         10.9 (4)
   Basic/Diluted Earnings (loss) per share                 .15 (1)       .14 (2)       (.21)(3)          .14 (4)
   Common stock market price: 
      High                                                8.88          5.13           6.06             5.94
      Low                                                 4.13          2.94           3.50             3.50
1999 
   Net sales                                         $   490.3 (8)  $  536.2 (8)    $ 528.7 (8)      $  528.4 (8)
   Operating income (loss)                               (33.0)           .7          (12.1)            15.5
   Net income (loss)                                     (38.2)        (15.7)         (39.2)(5)         39.0 (6)
   Basic/Diluted Earnings (loss) per share                (.48)         (.20)          (.49)(5)          .49
   Common stock market price: 
      High                                                6.94         10.13           9.69             8.25
      Low                                                 4.75          5.00           6.63             6.00
1998 
   Net sales                                         $   609.6 (8)  $  626.8(8)    $  552.9 (8)      $   513.1(8)
   Operating income (loss)                                44.8          55.3           30.8            (40.3)
   Net income (loss)                                      12.0          16.7           10.8            (38.9)(7)
   Basic/Diluted Earnings (loss) per share                 .15           .21            .14             (.49)(7)
   Common stock market price: 
      High                                               11.00         11.63           9.63             7.75
      Low                                                 8.13          8.88           5.63             4.63
 
 
(1)   Includes a pre-tax gain of $14.4 to reflect a  mark-to-market adjustment on 
      certain primary aluminum hedging transactions . Excluding this item, basic 
      income per share would have been approximatel y $.04. 
(2)   Includes a pre-tax gain of $15.8 from the sal e of power offset by a 
      pre-tax charge of $6.0 to reflect a mark-to-m arket adjustment on certain 
      primary aluminum hedging transactions and a p re-tax charge of $2.0 for 
      certain severance and relocation costs associ ated with Corporate 
      restructuring initiatives and product line ex it. Excluding these items, 
      basic income per share would have been approx imately $.09. 
(3)   Includes a pre-tax labor settlement charge of  $38.5, a non-cash pre-tax 
      charge of $43.0 for asbestos-related claims, a pre-tax charge of $11.5 for 
      incremental maintenance spending and pre-tax charges of $18.1 for 
      non-recurring impairment and restructuring ch arges offset by a pre-tax 
      gain of $40.5 from the sale of power, pre-tax  gains of $39.0 related to 
      real estate transactions and a pre-tax gain o f $.9 to reflect a 
      mark-to-market adjustment on certain primary aluminum hedging 
      transactions. Excluding these items, basic in come per share would have 
      been approximately $.03. 



(4)   Includes a pre-tax gain of $103.2 from the sa le of power and a pre-tax 
      gain of $1.4 to reflect a mark-to-market adju stment on certain primary 
      aluminum hedging transactions offset by a non -cash impairment loss of 
      approximately $33.0, a LIFO inventory charge of $7.0 and a pre-tax charge 
      of $5.3 for other non-recurring impairment an d restructuring charges. 
      Excluding these items, but giving effect to o perating profit foregone as a 
      result of these power sales, basic loss per s hare would have been 
      approximately $.19. 
(5)   Includes a non-cash pre-tax charge of $19.1 t o reduce the carrying value 
      of the Company's Micromill assets, a non-cash  pre-tax charge of $15.2 for 
      asbestos-related claims and a pre-tax charge of $5.9 to reflect a 
      mark-to-market adjustment on certain primary aluminum hedging 
      transactions. Excluding these items, basic lo ss per share would have been 
      approximately $.16. 
(6)   Includes a pre-tax gain of $85.0 on involunta ry conversion at Gramercy 
      facility. See Note 2.  Excluding this item, b asic loss per share would 
      have been $.22. 
(7)   Includes an unfavorable pre-tax strike-relate d gross profit impact of 
      approximately $50.0, and a non-cash pre-tax c harge of $45.0 related to 
      impairment of the Company's Micromill assets.  Excluding these items, basic 
      earnings per share would have been approximat ely $.29. 
(8)   Net sales for the quarterly periods prior to the quarter ended December 
      31, 2000 have been restated to conform to a n ew accounting principle 
      that requires freight charges to be included in cost of products sold. 
 
 
 
 
 
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL DATA 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------------- 
 
                                                                                       December 31,
                                                               --------------------------------------------------- ---------
(In millions of dollars)                                              2000        1999        1998         1997        1996
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ---------------------
ASSETS 
Current assets: 
   Cash and cash equivalents                                   $     23.4  $     21.2   $    98.3   $     15.8   $    81.3
   Receivables                                                      429.8       261.0       282.7        340.2       252.4
   Inventories                                                      396.2       546.1       543.5        568.3       562.2
   Prepaid expenses and other current assets                        162.7       145.6       105.5        121.3       127.8
                                                               ----------- -----------  ----------
      Total current assets                                        1,012.1       973.9     1,030.0      1,045.6     1,023.7
 
Investments in and advances to unconsolidated affil iates             77.8        96.9       128.3        148.6       168.4
Property, plant, and equipment -  net                              1,176.1     1,053 .7     1,108.7      1,171.8     1,168.7
Deferred income taxes                                               454.2       440.0       377.9        330.6       264.5
Other assets                                                        622.9       634.3       346.0        317.3       308.7
                                                               ----------- -----------  ----------
      Total                                                    $  3,343.1  $  3,198.8   $ 2,990.9   $  3,013.9   $ 2,934.0
                                                               =========== ===========  ==========  == =========  ==========
 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Current liabilities: 
   Accounts payable and accruals                               $    673.5  $    500.3   $   432.7   $    457.3   $   453.4
   Accrued postretirement medical benefit obligatio n - 
      current portion                                                58.0        51.5        48.2         45.3        50.1
   Payable to affiliates                                             78.3        85.8        77.1         82.7        97.0
   Long-term debt -  current portion                                  3 1.6          .3          .4          8.8         8. 9
                                                               ----------- -----------  ----------
      Total current liabilities                                     841.4       637.9       558.4        594.1       609.4
 
Long- term liabilities                                               703.7       727.1       532.9        49 1.9       458.1
Accrued postretirement medical benefit obligation                   656.9       678.3       694.3        720.3       722.5



Long- term debt                                                      957.8       972.5       962.6        96 2.9       953.0
Minority interests                                                  101.1       117.7       123.5        127.7       121.7
 
Stockholders' equity: 
   Preferred stock                                                    -           -            -
   Common stock                                                        .8          .8          .8           .8          .7
   Additional capital                                               537.5       536.8       535.4        533.8       531.1
   Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)                         (454.3)     (471.1)     (417.0)      (417.6)     (460.1)
   Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)                     (1.8)       (1.2)         -
                                                               ----------- -----------  ----------
      Total stockholders' equity                                     82.2        65.3       119.2        117.0        69.3
                                                               ----------- -----------  ----------
      Total                                                    $  3,343.1  $  3,198.8   $ 2,990.9   $  3,013.9   $ 2,934.0
                                                               =========== ===========  ==========  == =========  ==========
 
Debt-to- capital ratio(1)                                             81.2        81.2        76.9         77.8         81.2
 
 
 
(1)   Total of long-term debt - current portion and  long-term debt (collectively 
      "total debt") as a ratio of total debt, defer red income tax liabilities, 
      minority interests, and stockholders' equity.  
 
 
 
 
FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL DATA 
STATEMENTS OF CONSOLIDATED INCOME (LOSS) 
--------------------------------------------------- ----------------------------- 
 
                                                                            Year Ended December 31,
                                                       --------------------------------------------------- --------------------------
(In millions of dollars, except share amounts)                 2000          1999         1998            1997         1996
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ------------------------------
Net sales                                              $   2,169.8    $  2,083.6 (1)  $  2,302.4 (1)  $  2,423.3 (1)  $  2,238.8 (1)
                                                       ------------   --------------  --------------
 
 
Costs and expenses: 
   Cost of products sold                                   1,891.4       1,893.5 (1)     1,892.2 (1)     2,001.3 (1)     1,905.8 (1)
   Depreciation and amortization                              76.9          89.5            99.1           102.5           107.6
   Selling, administrative, research and developmen t, 
     and general                                             104.1         105.4           115.5           131.8           127.6
   Labor settlement charge                                    38.5           -               -                
   Other non- recurring operating items, net                  (80 .4)         24.1           105.0            19.7             
                                                       ------------   --------------  --------------
     Total costs and expenses                              2,030.5       2,112.5         2,211.8         2,255.3         2,141.0
                                                       ------------   --------------  --------------
 
Operating income (loss)                                      139.3         (28.9)           90.6           168.0            97.8
 
Other income (expense): 
   Interest expense                                         (109.6)       (110.1)         (110.0)         (110.7)          (93.4)
   Gain on involuntary conversion at Gramercy facil ity       -              85.0             -                
   Other -  net                                                (4.3)        (35.9)            3.5             3.0             (2.7)
                                                       ------------   --------------  --------------
 
Income (loss) before income taxes, minority interes ts         25.4         (89.9)          (15.9)           60.3             1.7
 
(Provision) benefit for income taxes                         (11.6)         32.7            16.4            (8.8)            9.3
 
Minority interests                                             3.0           3.1              .1            (3.5)           (2.8)
                                                       ------------   --------------  --------------
 
Net income (loss)                                             16.8         (54.1)             .6            48.0             8.2
 



Preferred stock dividends                                      -             -               -               (5.5)           (8.4)
                                                       ------------   --------------  --------------
 
Net income (loss) available to common shareholders     $      16.8    $    (54.1)     $       .6      $     42.5      $      (.2)
                                                       ============   ==============  ==============  ==============  ==============
Earnings (loss) per share: 
   Basic/Diluted                                       $       .21    $     (.68)     $      .01      $      .57      $       
                                                       ============   ==============  ==============  ==============  ==============
 
Dividends per common share                             $        -     $       -       $       -        $       
                                                       ============   ==============  ==============  ==============  ==============
Weighted average shares outstanding (000): 
   Basic                                                    79,520        79,336          79,115          74,221          71,644
 
   Diluted                                                  79,523        79,336          79,156          74,382          71,644
 
 
 
(1)  Net sales and cost of products sold for prior years have been restated to 
     conform to a new accounting principle that req uires freight charges ($39.3 
     in 1999, $46.0 in 1998, $50.1 in 1997 and $48. 3 in 1996) to be included in 
     cost of products sold. 
 
 
 
 
 
ITEM 9.       CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACC OUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
              DISCLOSURE 
 
None. 
 
 
 
 
 
PART III 
 
Information required under PART III (Items 10, 11, 12 and 13) has been omitted 
from this Report since the Company intends to file with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission, not later than 120 days after the close of its fiscal year, 
a definitive proxy statement pursuant to Regulation  14A which involves the 
election of directors, and such information is inco rporated by reference from 
such definitive proxy statement. 
 
 
 
 
PART IV 
 
 
 
ITEM 14.      EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDUL ES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K 
 
(a)           INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCH EDULES 
 
              1.  Financial Statements 
 
 
 
 
 
              Report of Independent Public Accounta nts 
 
              Consolidated Balance Sheets 
 



              Statements of Consolidated Income (Lo ss) 
 
              Statements of Consolidated Stockholde rs' Equity and 
                  Comprehensive Income (Loss) 
 
              Statements of Consolidated Cash Flows  
 
              Notes to Consolidated Financial State ments 
 
              Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) 
 
              Five-Year Financial Data 
 
 
              2.  Financial Statement Schedules 
 
 
 
 
                  Report of Independent Public Acco untants 
 
 
 
                  Schedule I     -   Condensed Bala nce Sheets - Parent Company, 
                                     Condensed Stat ements of Income - Parent Company, 
                                     Condensed Stat ements of Cash Flows - Parent Company, and 
                                     Notes to Conde nsed Financial Statements - Parent Company 
 
 
                  All other schedules are inapplica ble or the required 
                  information is included in the Co nsolidated Financial 
                  Statements or the Notes thereto. 
 
 
              3.  Exhibits 
 
                  Reference is made to the Index of  Exhibits immediately 
                  preceding the exhibits hereto (be ginning on page 71), which 
                  index is incorporated herein by r eference. 
 
(b)           REPORTS ON FORM 8-K 
 
              No Report on Form 8-K was filed by th e Company during the last 
              quarter of the period covered by this  Report. 
 
(c)           EXHIBITS 
 
              Reference is made to the Index of Exh ibits immediately preceding 
              the exhibits hereto (beginning on pag e 71), which index is 
              incorporated herein by reference. 
 
 
 
 
 
                    REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC AC COUNTANTS 
 
We have audited in accordance with auditing standar ds generally accepted in the 
United States, the financial statements included in  Kaiser Aluminum Corporation 
and Subsidiary Companies' annual report to sharehol ders incorporated by 
reference in this Form 10-K, and have issued our re port thereon dated March 27, 
2001. Our audit was made for the purpose of forming  an opinion on the basic 
financial statements taken as a whole. Schedule I l isted in the index at Item 
14(a)2. above is the responsibility of the Company' s management and is presented 
for purposes of complying with the Securities and E xchange Commission's rules 
and is not a required part of the basic financial s tatements. This schedule has 



been subjected to the auditing procedures applied i n our audit of the basic 
financial statements and, in our opinion, fairly st ates in all material respects 
the financial data required to be set forth therein  in relation to the basic 
financial statements taken as a whole. 
 
 
 
ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP 
 
 
 
Houston, Texas 
March 27, 2001 
 
 
 
 
                                   SCHEDULE I 
                    CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS - PARE NT COMPANY 
 
                 (In millions of dollars, except sh are amounts) 
 
 
 
                                                                                         December 31,
                                                                                  -------------------------
                                                                                       2000          1 999
                                                                                  -----------     
ASSETS 
Investment in KACC                                                                $  2,122.2     $ 1,9 78.2
                                                                                  -----------     
        Total                                                                     $  2,122.2     $ 1,9 78.2
                                                                                  ===========    ===== =====
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Current liabilities                                                               $     -         $     
 
Intercompany note payable to KACC, including accrue d interest                        2,040.0       1,9 12.9
 
Stockholders' equity: 
   Common stock, par value $.01, authorized 125,000 ,000 shares; issued and 
      outstanding 79,599,557 and 79,405,333                                               .8            .8
   Additional capital                                                                  537.5         5 36.8
   Accumulated deficit                                                                (454.3)       (4 71.1)
   Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)                                        (1.8)         (1.2)
                                                                                  -----------     
        Total stockholders' equity                                                      82.2          65.3
                                                                                  -----------     
        Total                                                                     $  2,122.2     $ 1,9 78.2
                                                                                  ===========    ===== =====
 
 
 
The accompanying notes to condensed financial state ments are an integral part of these statements.
 
 
 
 
                                   SCHEDULE I 
             CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS) - PARENT COMPANY 
 
                            (In millions of dollars ) 
 
                                                                  December 31, 
                                                    ----------------------------------------- 
                                                       2000            1999            1998 
                                                    ---------       ---------       --------- 



Equity in income of KACC                            $  144.3        $   65.1        $  112.5 
 
Administrative and general expense                       (.4)            (.3)            (.4) 
 
Interest expense                                      (127.1)         (118.9)         (111.5) 
                                                    ---------       ---------       --------- 
Net income (loss)                                   $   16.8        $  (54.1)       $     .6 
                                                    =========       =========       ========= 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes to condensed financial state ments are an integral part of these statements.
 
 
 
 
                                   SCHEDULE I 
               CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS -  PARENT COMPANY 
 
                            (In millions of dollars ) 
 
                                                                                                Decemb er 31,
                                                                                 ------------------------------------------
                                                                                     2000            1 999           1998
                                                                                 -----------      
Cash flows from operating activities: 
   Net income (loss)                                                             $     16.8      $    (54.1)     $      .6
   Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used for operating 
        activities: 
        Equity in income of KACC                                                     (144.3)          (65.1)        (112.5)
        Accrued interest on intercompany note payab le to KACC                         127.1           118.9          111.5
        Accrued taxes paid                                                             -                
                                                                                 -----------      
           Net cash used by operating activities                                        (.4)            (.3)          (3.7)
                                                                                 -----------      
Cash flows from investing activities: 
   Investment in KACC                                                                  -                 (.1)           (.1)
                                                                                 -----------      
           Net cash used by investing activities                                       -                 (.1)           (.1)
                                                                                 -----------      
Cash flows from financing activities: 
   Capital stock issued                                                                -                  .1             .1
   Tax allocation payments from KACC                                                   -                
   Operating cost advances from KACC                                                    .4               .3             .4
                                                                                 -----------      
           Net cash provided by financing activitie s                                    .4               .4            3.8
                                                                                 -----------      
 
 
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalent s during the year                   -                
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year                                         -                
                                                                                 -----------      
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year                                         $     -          $     
                                                                                 ===========     ===== ======     ==========
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing activ ities: 
   Non-cash (decrease) increase in investment in KA CC                            $     -          $      (.1)     $    (1.7)
 
 
 
The accompanying notes to condensed financial state ments are an integral part of these statements.
 
 
                                   SCHEDULE I 
            NOTES TO CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  - PARENT COMPANY 
 
 



1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
   Kaiser Aluminum Corporation (the " Company") is a holding company and 
   conducts its operations through its wholly owned  subsidiary, Kaiser Aluminum 
   & Chemical Corporation ("KACC"), which is report ed herein using the equity 
   method of accounting. The accompanying parent co mpany condensed financial 
   statements of the Company should be read in conj unction with the 2000 
   consolidated financial statements of Kaiser Alum inum Corporation and 
   Subsidiary Companies ("Kaiser"). 
 
 
2. INTERCOMPANY NOTE PAYABLE 
 
   The Intercompany Note to KACC, as amended, provi des for a fixed interest rate 
   of 65/8% and matures on December 21, 2020. Inter est and principal payments 
   are payable over a 15-year term pursuant to a pr edetermined schedule starting 
   December 21, 2006. 
 
 
3. RESTRICTED NET ASSETS 
 
   The investment in KACC is substantially unavaila ble to the Company pursuant 
   to the terms of certain debt instruments. The ob ligations of KACC in respect 
   of the credit facilities under the Credit Agreem ent are guaranteed by the 
   Company and by certain significant subsidiaries of KACC. See Note 8 of Notes 
   to Kaiser's Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 
4. LIQUIDITY/CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
   KACC has significant near-term debt maturities. KACC's ability to make 
   payments on and refinance its debt depends on it s ability to generate cash in 
   the future. In addition to being impacted by pow er sales and normal operating 
   items, the Company's and KACC's near-term liquid ity and cash flows will also 
   be affected by the Gramercy incident, net paymen ts for asbestos- related 
   liabilities and possible proceeds from asset dis positions. For discussions of 
   these matters, see Notes 2, 7, 8 and 12 of Notes  to Kaiser's Consolidated 
   Financial Statements. 
 
 
 
 
 
                                   SIGNATURES 
 
        Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly cause d this report to be signed on 
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly autho rized. 
 
 
                                          KAISER AL UMINUM CORPORATION 
 
       Date:  March 27, 2001       By        /S/ Ra ymond J. Milchovich 
                                   ---------------- ----------------------------- 
                                            Raymond  J. Milchovich 
                                     President, Chi ef Executive Officer 
                                               and Director 
 
         Pursuant to the requirements of the Securi ties Exchange Act of 1934, 
this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the 
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates i ndicated. 
 
                                             /S/ Ra ymond J. Milchovich 
       Date:  March 27, 2001       ---------------- ----------------------------- 
                                            Raymond  J. Milchovich 
                                      President, Ch ief Executive Officer 



                                                 an d Director 
                                       (Principal E xecutive Officer) 
 
       Date:  March 27, 2001                 /S/ Jo hn T. La Duc 
                                   ---------------- ----------------------------- 
                                              John T. La Duc 
                                     Executive Vice  President and 
                                        Chief Finan cial Officer 
                                     (Principal Fin ancial Officer) 
 
 
       Date:  March 27, 2001                 /S/ Da niel D. Maddox 
                                   ---------------- ----------------------------- 
                                                Dan iel D. Maddox 
                                        Vice Presid ent and Controller 
                                       (Principal A ccounting Officer) 
 
       Date:  March 27, 2001                 /S/ Ge orge T. Haymaker, Jr. 
                                   ---------------- ----------------------------- 
                                               Geor ge T. Haymaker, Jr. 
                                                Cha irman of the Board 
 
       Date:  March 27, 2001                 /S/ Ro bert J. Cruikshank 
                                   ---------------- ----------------------------- 
                                               Robe rt J. Cruikshank 
                                                      Director 
 
       Date:  March 27, 2001                 /S/ Ja mes T. Hackett 
                                   ---------------- ----------------------------- 
                                               Jame s T. Hackett 
                                                   Director 
 
       Date:  March 27, 2001                 /S/ Ch arles E. Hurwitz 
                                   ---------------- ----------------------------- 
                                               Char les E. Hurwitz 
                                                    Director 
 
       Date:  March 27, 2001                 /S/ Ez ra G. Levin 
                                   ---------------- ----------------------------- 
                                               Ezra  G. Levin 
                                                 Di rector 
 
       Date:  March 27, 2001                 /S/ Ja mes D. Woods 
                                   ---------------- ----------------------------- 
                                              James  D. Woods 
                                                 Di rector 
 
 
 
 
 
                                INDEX OF EXHIBITS 
 
 
 
Exhibit 
Number                            Description 
-------                           ----------- 
 3.1            Restated Certificate of Incorporati on of Kaiser Aluminum 
                Corporation ("KAC"), dated February  18, 2000 (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Rep ort on Form 10-K for the 
                period ended December 31, 1999, fil ed by KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 3.2            Certificate of Retirement of KAC, d ated October 24, 1995 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 3.2 to the Report 
                on Form 10-K for the period ended D ecember 31, 1995, filed by 



                KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 3.3            Certificate of Retirement of KAC, d ated February 12, 1998 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 3.3 to the Report 
                on From 10-K for the period ended D ecember 31, 1997, filed by 
                KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 3.4            Certificate of Elimination of KAC, dated July 1, 1998 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 3.4 to the Report on 
                Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 1999, filed by 
                KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 3.5            Certificate of Amendment of the Res tated Certificate of 
                Incorporation of KAC, dated January  10, 2000 (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 3.5 to the Rep ort on Form 10-K for the 
                period ended December 31, 1999, fil ed by KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 3.6            Amended and Restated By-Laws of KAC , dated October 1, 1997 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 3.3 to the Report on Form 
                10-Q for the quarterly period ended  September 30, 1997, filed by 
                KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.1            Indenture, dated as of February 1, 1993, among Kaiser Aluminum & 
                Chemical Corporation ("KACC"), as I ssuer, Kaiser Alumina 
                Australia Corporation, Alpart Jamai ca Inc., and Kaiser Jamaica 
                Corporation, as Subsidiary Guaranto rs, and The First National 
                Bank of Boston, as Trustee, regardi ng KACC's 12 3/4% Senior 
                Subordinated Notes Due 2003 (incorp orated by reference to 
                Exhibit 4.1 to Form 10-K for the pe riod ended December 31, 1992, 
                filed by KACC, File No. 1-3605). 
 
 4.2            First Supplemental Indenture, dated  as of May 1, 1993, to the 
                Indenture, dated as of February 1, 1993 (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Rep ort on Form 10-Q for the 
                quarterly period ended June 30, 199 3, filed by KACC, File 
                No. 1-3605). 
 
 4.3            Second Supplemental Indenture, date d as of February 1, 1996, to 
                the Indenture, dated as of February  1, 1993 (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Rep ort on Form 10-K for the 
                period ended December 31, 1995, fil ed by KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.4            Third Supplemental Indenture, dated  as of July 15, 1997, to the 
                Indenture, dated as of February 1, 1993 (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Rep ort on Form 10-Q for the 
                quarterly period ended June 30, 199 7, filed by KAC, File 
                No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.5            Fourth Supplemental Indenture, date d as of March 31, 1999, to 
                the Indenture, dated as of February  1, 1993, (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Rep ort on Form 10-Q for the 
                quarterly period ended March 31, 19 99, filed by KAC, File 
                No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.6            Indenture, dated as of February 17,  1994, among KACC, as Issuer, 
                Kaiser Alumina Australia Corporatio n, Alpart Jamaica Inc., 
                Kaiser Jamaica Corporation, and Kai ser Finance Corporation, as 
                Subsidiary Guarantors, and First Tr ust National Association, as 
                Trustee, regarding KACC's 97/8% Sen ior Notes Due 2002 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 4.3 to the Report on Form 
                10-K for the period ended December 31, 1993, filed by KAC, File 
                No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.7            First Supplemental Indenture, dated  as of February 1, 1996, to 
                the Indenture, dated as of February  17, 1994 (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Rep ort on Form 10-K for the 



                period ended December 31, 1995, fil ed by KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.8            Second Supplemental Indenture, date d as of July 15, 1997, to the 
                Indenture, dated as of February 17,  1994 (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Rep ort on Form 10-Q for the 
                quarterly period ended June 30, 199 7, filed by KAC, File No. 
                1-9447). 
 
 4.9            Third Supplemental Indenture, dated  as of March 31, 1999, to the 
                Indenture, dated as of February 17,  1994 (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Rep ort on Form 10-Q for the 
                quarterly period ended March 31, 19 99, filed by KAC, File 
                No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.10           Indenture, dated as of October 23, 1996, among KACC, as Issuer, 
                Kaiser Alumina Australia Corporatio n, Alpart Jamaica Inc., 
                Kaiser Jamaica Corporation, Kaiser Finance Corporation, Kaiser 
                Micromill Holdings, LLC, Kaiser Sie rra Micromills, LLC, Kaiser 
                Texas Micromill Holdings, LLC and K aiser Texas Sierra 
                Micromills, LLC, as Subsidiary Guar antors, and First Trust 
                National Association, as Trustee, r egarding KACC's 107/8% Series 
                B Senior Notes Due 2006 (incorporat ed by reference to Exhibit 
                4.2 to the Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended 
                September 30, 1996, filed by KAC, F ile No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.11           First Supplemental Indenture, dated  as of July 15, 1997, to the 
                Indenture, dated as of October 23, 1996 (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Rep ort on Form 10-Q for the 
                quarterly period ended June 30, 199 7, filed by KAC, File 
                No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.12           Second Supplemental Indenture, date d as of March 31, 1999, to 
                the Indenture, dated as of October 23, 1996 (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the Rep ort on Form 10-Q for the 
                quarterly period ended March 31, 19 99, filed by KAC, File 
                No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.13           Indenture, dated as of December 23,  1996, among KACC, as Issuer, 
                Kaiser Alumina Australia Corporatio n, Alpart Jamaica Inc., 
                Kaiser Jamaica Corporation, Kaiser Finance Corporation, Kaiser 
                Micromill Holdings, LLC, Kaiser Sie rra Micromills, LLC, Kaiser 
                Texas Micromill Holdings, LLC, and Kaiser Texas Sierra 
                Micromills, LLC, as Subsidiary Guar antors, and First Trust 
                National Association, as Trustee, r egarding KACC's 10 7/8% 
                Series D Senior Notes due 2006 (inc orporated by reference to 
                Exhibit 4.4 to the Registration Sta tement on Form S-4, dated 
                January 2, 1997, filed by KACC, Reg istration No. 333-19143). 
 
 4.14           First Supplemental Indenture, dated  as of July 15, 1997, to the 
                Indenture, dated as of December 23,  1996 (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Rep ort on Form 10-Q for the 
                quarterly period ended June 30, 199 7, filed by KAC, File 
                No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.15           Second Supplemental Indenture, date d as of March 31, 1999, to 
                the Indenture, dated as of December  23, 1996 (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Rep ort on Form 10-Q for the 
                quarterly period ended March 31, 19 99, filed by KAC, File 
                No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.16           Credit Agreement, dated as of Febru ary 15, 1994, among KAC, 
                KACC, the financial institutions a party thereto, and 
                BankAmerica Business Credit, Inc., as Agent (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Rep ort on Form 10-K for the 
                period ended December 31, 1993, fil ed by KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 



 4.17           First Amendment to Credit Agreement , dated as of July 21, 1994, 
                amending the Credit Agreement, date d as of February 15, 1994, 
                among KAC, KACC, the financial inst itutions party thereto, and 
                BankAmerica Business Credit, Inc., as Agent (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Rep ort on Form 10-Q for the 
                quarterly period ended June 30, 199 4, filed by KAC, File No. 
                1-9447). 
 
 4.18           Second Amendment to Credit Agreemen t, dated as of March 10, 
                1995, amending the Credit Agreement , dated as of February 15, 
                1994, as amended, among KAC, KACC, the financial institutions 
                party thereto, and BankAmerica Busi ness Credit, Inc., as Agent 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 4.6 to the Report on Form 
                10-K for the period ended December 31, 1994, filed by KAC, 
                File No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.19           Third Amendment to Credit Agreement , dated as of July 20, 1995, 
                amending the Credit Agreement, date d as of February 15, 1994, as 
                amended, among KAC, KACC, the finan cial institutions a party 
                thereto, and BankAmerica Business C redit, Inc., as Agent 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 4.1 to the Report on Form 
                10-Q for the quarterly period ended  June 30, 1995, filed by KAC, 
                File No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.20           Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreemen t, dated as of October 17, 
                1995, amending the Credit Agreement , dated as of February 15, 
                1994, as amended, among KAC, KACC, the financial institutions a 
                party thereto, and BankAmerica Busi ness Credit, Inc., as Agent 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 4.1 to the Report on Form 
                10-Q for the quarterly period ended  September 30, 1995, filed by 
                KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.21           Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement , dated as of December 11, 
                1995, amending the Credit Agreement , dated as of February 15, 
                1994, as amended, among KAC, KACC, the financial institutions a 
                party thereto, and BankAmerica Busi ness Credit, Inc., as Agent 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 4.11 to the Report on Form 
                10-K for the period ended December 31, 1995, filed by KAC, File 
                No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.22           Sixth Amendment to Credit Agreement , dated as of October 1, 
                1996, amending the Credit Agreement , dated as of February 15, 
                1994, as amended, among KAC, KACC, the financial institutions a 
                party thereto, and BankAmerica Busi ness Credit, Inc., as Agent 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 4.1 to the Report on Form 
                10-Q for the quarterly period ended  September 30, 1996, filed by 
                KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.23           Seventh Amendment to Credit Agreeme nt, dated as of December 17, 
                1996, amending the Credit Agreement , dated as of February 15, 
                1994, as amended, among KAC, KACC, the financial institutions a 
                party thereto, and BankAmerica Busi ness Credit, Inc., as Agent 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 4.18 to the Registration 
                Statement on Form S-4, dated Januar y 2, 1997, filed by KACC, 
                Registration No. 333-19143). 
 
 4.24           Eighth Amendment to Credit Agreemen t, dated as of February 24, 
                1997, amending the Credit Agreement , dated as of February 15, 
                1994, as amended, among KACC, KAC, the financial institutions a 
                party thereto, and BankAmerica Busi ness Credit, Inc., as Agent 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 4.16 to the Report on Form 
                10-K for the period ended December 31, 1996, filed by KAC, File 
                No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.25           Ninth Amendment to Credit Agreement , dated as of April 21, 1997, 
                amending the Credit Agreement, date d as of February 15, 1994, as 



                amended, among KACC, KAC, the finan cial institutions a party 
                thereto, and BankAmerica Business C redit, Inc., as Agent 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 4.5 to the Report on Form 
                10-Q for the quarterly period ended  June 30, 1997, filed by KAC, 
                File No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.26           Tenth Amendment to Credit Agreement , dated as of June 25, 1997, 
                amending the Credit Agreement, date d as of February 15, 1994, as 
                amended, among KACC, KAC, the finan cial institutions a party 
                thereto, and BankAmerica Business C redit, Inc., as Agent 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 4.6 to the Report on Form 
                10-Q for the quarterly period ended  June 30, 1997, filed by KAC, 
                File No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.27           Eleventh Amendment to Credit Agreem ent, dated as of October 20, 
                1997, amending the Credit Agreement , dated as of February 15, 
                1994, as amended, among KACC, KAC, the financial institutions a 
                party thereto, and BankAmerica Busi ness Credit, Inc., as Agent 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 4.7 to the Report on Form 
                10-Q for the quarterly period ended  September 30, 1997, filed by 
                KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.28           Twelfth Amendment to Credit Agreeme nt, dated as of January 13, 
                1998, amending the Credit Agreement , dated as of February 15, 
                1994, as amended, among KACC, KAC, the financial institutions a 
                party thereto, and BankAmerica Busi ness Credit, Inc., as Agent 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 4.24 to the Report on Form 
                10-K for the period ended December 31, 1997, filed by KAC, File 
                No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.29           Thirteenth Amendment to Credit Agre ement, dated as of July 20, 
                1998, amending the Credit Agreement , dated as of February 15, 
                1994, as amended, among KACC, KAC, the financial institutions 
                party thereto, and BankAmerica Busi ness Credit, Inc., as Agent 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 4 to the Report on Form 
                10-Q for the quarterly period ended  June 30, 1998, filed by KAC, 
                File No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.30           Fourteenth Amendment to Credit Agre ement, dated as of December 
                11, 1998, amending the Credit Agree ment, dated as of February 
                15, 1994, as amended, among KACC, K AC, the financial 
                institutions party thereto, and Ban kAmerica Business Credit, 
                Inc., as Agent (incorporated by ref erence to Exhibit 4.26 to the 
                Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 1998, 
                filed by KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.31           Fifteenth Amendment to Credit Agree ment, dated as of February 
                23, 1999, amending the Credit Agree ment, dated as of February 
                15, 1994, as amended, among KACC, K AC, the financial 
                institutions party thereto, and Ban kAmerica Business Credit, 
                Inc., as Agent (incorporated by ref erence to Exhibit 4.27 to the 
                Report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 1998, 
                filed by KAC, File No. 1-9447.) 
 
 4.32           Sixteenth Amendment to Credit Agree ment, dated as of March 26, 
                1999, amending the Credit Agreement , dated as of February 15, 
                1994, as amended, among KACC, KAC, the financial institutions 
                party thereto, and BankAmerica Busi ness Credit, Inc., as Agent 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 4.28 to the Report on Form 
                10-K for the period ended December 31, 1998, filed by KAC, File 
                No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.33           Seventeenth Amendment to Credit Agr eement, dated as of September 
                24, 1999, amending the Credit Agree ment, dated as of February 
                15, 1994, as amended, among KACC, K AC, the financial 
                institutions party thereto, and Ban k of America, N.A. (successor 



                to BankAmerica Business Credit, Inc .), as Agent (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Rep ort on Form 10-Q for the 
                quarterly period ended September 30 , 1999, filed by KAC, File 
                No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.34           Eighteenth Amendment to Credit Agre ement, dated as of February 
                11, 2000, amending the Credit Agree ment, dated as of February 
                15, 1994, as amended, among KACC, K AC, the financial 
                institutions party thereto, and Ban k of America, N.A. (successor 
                to BankAmerica Business Credit, Inc .), as Agent (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 4.34 to the Re port on Form 10-K for the 
                period ended December 31, 1999, fil ed by KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
*4.35           Nineteenth Amendment to Credit Agre ement, dated as of December 
                27, 2000, amending the Credit Agree ment, dated as of February 
                15, 1994, as amended, among KACC, K AC, the financial 
                institutions party thereto, and Ban k of America, N.A. (successor 
                to BankAmerica Business Credit, Inc .), as Agent. 
 
*4.36           Twentieth Amendment to Credit Agree ment, dated as of January 26, 
                2001, amending the Credit Agreement , dated as of February 15, 
                1994, as amended, among KACC, KAC, the financial institutions 
                party thereto, and Bank of America,  N.A. (successor to 
                BankAmerica Business Credit, Inc.),  as Agent. 
 
 4.37           Limited Waiver Regarding Repayment of CARIFA Bonds, dated 
                February 17, 2000, among KAC, KACC,  the financial institutions 
                party thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as Agent (incorporated 
                by reference to Exhibit 4.35 to the  Report on Form 10-K for the 
                period ended December 31, 1999, fil ed by KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.38           Agreement dated August 18, 2000, am ong KAC, KACC, the financial 
                institutions party to the Credit Ag reement dated as of February 
                15, 1994, as amended, and Bank of A merica, N.A., as agent, 
                regarding the Sale of the Center fo r Technology (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Rep ort on Form 10-Q for the 
                period ended September 30, 2000, fi led by KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.39           Intercompany Note between KAC and K ACC (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the R eport on Form 10-K for the 
                period ended December 31, 1996, fil ed by MAXXAM Inc. ("MAXXAM"), 
                File No. 1-3924). 
 
 4.40           Confirmation of Amendment of Non-Ne gotiable Intercompany Note, 
                dated as of October 6, 1993, betwee n KAC and KACC (incorporated 
                by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to th e Report on Form 10-K for the 
                period ended December 31, 1996, fil ed by MAXXAM, File No. 
                1-3924). 
 
*4.41           Amendment to Non-Negotiable Interco mpany Note, dated as of 
                December 11, 2000, between KAC and KACC. 
 
 4.42           Senior Subordinated Intercompany No te between KAC and KACC dated 
                February 15, 1994 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.22 to 
                the Report on Form 10-K for the  pe riod ended December 31, 1993, 
                filed by KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 4.43           Senior Subordinated Intercompany No te between KAC and KACC dated 
                March 17, 1994 (incorporated by ref erence to Exhibit 4.23 to the 
                Report on Form 10-K for the  period  ended December 31, 1993, 
                filed by KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
                KAC has not filed certain long-term  debt instruments not being 
                registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission where the 
                total amount of indebtedness author ized under any such 
                instrument does not exceed 10% of t he total assets of KAC and 



                its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. KAC agrees and 
                undertakes to furnish a copy of any  such instrument to the 
                Securities and Exchange Commission upon its request. 
 
 10.1           Form of indemnification agreement w ith officers and directors 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it (10)(b) to the 
                Registration Statement of KAC on Fo rm S-4, File No. 33-12836). 
 
 10.2           Tax Allocation Agreement, dated as of December 21, 1989, between 
                MAXXAM and KACC (incorporated by re ference to Exhibit 10.21 to 
                Amendment No. 6 to the Registration  Statement on Form S-1, dated 
                December 14, 1989, filed by KACC, R egistration No. 33-30645). 
 
*10.3           Amendment of Tax Allocation Agreeme nt, dated as of March 12, 
                2001, between MAXXAM and KACC, amen ding the Tax Allocation 
                Agreement dated as of December 21, 1989. 
 
 10.4           Tax Allocation Agreement, dated as of February 26, 1991, between 
                KAC and MAXXAM (incorporated by ref erence to Exhibit 10.23 to 
                Amendment No. 2 to the Registration  Statement on Form S-1, dated 
                June 11, 1991, filed by KAC, Regist ration No. 33-37895). 
 
 10.5           Tax Allocation Agreement, dated as of June 30, 1993, between 
                KACC and KAC (incorporated by refer ence to Exhibit 10.3 to the 
                Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ly period ended June 30, 
                1993, filed by KACC, File No. 1-360 5). 
 
                  Executive Compensation Plans and Arrangements 
                       [Exhibits 10.6 - 10.36, incl usive] 
 
 10.6           Kaiser 1993 Omnibus Stock Incentive  Plan (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Re port on Form 10-Q for the 
                quarterly period ended June 30, 199 3, filed by KACC, File 
                No. 1-3605). 
 
 10.7           Kaiser 1995 Employee Incentive Comp ensation Program 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 10.1 to the Report on Form 
                10-Q for the quarterly period ended  March 31, 1995, filed by 
                KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 10.8           Kaiser 1995 Executive Incentive Com pensation Program 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 99 to the Proxy Statement, 
                dated April 26, 1995, filed by KAC,  File No. 1-9447). 
 
 10.9           Kaiser 1997 Omnibus Stock Incentive  Plan (incorporated by 
                reference to Appendix A to the Prox y Statement, dated April 29, 
                1997, filed by KAC, File No. 1-9447 ). 
 
 10.10          Director and Non-Executive Chairman  Agreement, dated January 1, 
                2000, among KAC, KACC and George T.  Haymaker, Jr. (incorporated 
                by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to th e Report on Form 10-K for the 
                period ended December 31, 1999, fil ed by KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 10.11          Time-Based Stock Option Grant pursu ant to the Kaiser 1997 
                Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan to Geo rge T. Haymaker, Jr., 
                effective January 1, 1998 (incorpor ated by reference to Exhibit 
                10.18 to the Report on Form 10-K fo r the period ended December 
                31, 1998, filed by KAC, File No. 1- 9447). 
 
*10.12          Agreement among George T. Haymaker,  Jr., KAC and KACC amending 
                Time-Based Stock Option Grant. 
 
 10.13          Performance-Accelerated Stock Optio n Grant pursuant to the 
                Kaiser 1997 Omnibus Stock Incentive  Plan to George T. Haymaker, 
                Jr., effective January 1, 1998 (inc orporated by reference to 
                Exhibit 10.19 to the Report on Form  10-K for the period ended 



                December 31, 1998, filed by KAC, Fi le No. 1-9447). 
 
*10.14          Agreement among George T. Haymaker,  Jr., KAC and KACC amending 
                Performance-Accelerated Stock Optio n Grant. 
 
 10.15          Letter Agreement, dated January 199 5, between KAC and Charles E. 
                Hurwitz, granting Mr. Hurwitz stock  options under the Kaiser 
                1993 Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan ( incorporated by reference to 
                Exhibit 10.17 to the Report on Form  10-K for the period ended 
                December 31, 1994, filed by KAC, Fi le No. 1-9447). 
 
 10.16          Employment Agreement, dated as of J une 1, 1999, between KACC and 
                Raymond J. Milchovich (incorporated  by reference to Exhibit 10.1 
                to the Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended June 
                30, 1999, filed by KAC, File No. 1- 9447). 
 
 10.17          Time-Based Stock Option Grant pursu ant to the Kaiser 1997 
                Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan to Ray mond J. Milchovich, effective 
                July 2, 1998 (incorporated by refer ence to Exhibit 10.4 to the 
                Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ly period ended September 30, 
                1998, filed by KAC, File No. 1-9447 ). 
 
*10.18          Agreement among Raymond J. Milchovi ch, KAC and KACC amending 
                1998 Time-Based Stock Option Grant.  
 
 10.19          Time-Based Stock Option Grant pursu ant to the Kaiser 1997 
                Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan to Ray mond J. Milchovich 
                (incorporated by reference to Exhib it 10.4 to the Report on Form 
                10-Q for the period ended September  30, 2000, filed by KAC, 
                File No. 1-9447). 
 
*10.20          Agreement among Raymond J. Milchovi ch, KAC and KACC amending 
                1999 Time-Based Stock Option Grant.  
 
 10.21          Restricted Stock Agreement between Raymond J. Milchovich, KAC 
                and KACC pursuant to the Kaiser 199 7 Omnibus Stock Incentive 
                Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Report on 
                Form 10-Q for the period ended Sept ember 30, 2000, filed by KAC, 
                File No. 1-9447). 
 
 10.22          Employment Agreement between KACC a nd John T. La Duc made 
                effective for the period from Janua ry 1, 1998, to December 31, 
                2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Report on 
                Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September 30, 1998, 
                filed by KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 10.23          Time-Based Stock Option Grant pursu ant to the Kaiser 1997 
                Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan to Joh n T. La Duc, effective July 
                10, 1998 (incorporated by reference  to Exhibit 10.6 to the 
                Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ly period ended September 30, 
                1998, filed by KAC, File No. 1-9447 ). 
 
 10.24          Time-Based Stock Option Grant pursu ant to the Kaiser 1997 
                Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan to Jos eph A. Bonn, effective 
                September 9, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to 
                the Report on Form 10-Q for the per iod ended June 30, 2000, 
                filed by KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 10.25          Executive Employment Agreement, eff ective December 1, 1999, 
                between MAXXAM and J. Kent Friedman  (incorporated by reference 
                to Exhibit 10.52 to the Report on F orm 10-K for the period ended 
                December 31, 1999, filed by MAXXAM,  File No. 1-3924). 
 
 10.26          Time-Based Stock Option Grant pursu ant to the Kaiser 1997 
                Omnibus Stock Incentive Plan to J. Kent Friedman, effective 
                December 1, 1999 (incorporated by r eference to Exhibit 10.2 to 



                the Report on Form 10-Q for the per iod ended June 30, 2000, 
                filed by KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 10.27          Employment Agreement made and enter ed into as of September 1, 
                1996, by and between KACC and Jack A. Hockema (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 10 to the Repo rt on Form 10-Q for the 
                quarterly period ended September 30 , 1996, filed by KAC, File 
                No. 1-9447). 
 
 10.28          Letter Agreement, dated April 15, 1 999, amending the Employment 
                Agreement made and entered into as of September 1, 1996, by and 
                between KACC and Jack A. Hockema (i ncorporated by reference to 
                Exhibit 10.26 to the Report on Form  10-K for the period ended 
                December 31, 1999, filed by KAC, Fi le No. 1-9447). 
 
 10.29          Description of compensation arrange ments among KACC, KAC, and 
                Jack A. Hockema (incorporated by re ference to Exhibit 10.27 to 
                the Report on Form 10-K for the per iod ended December 31, 1999, 
                filed by KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 10.30          Stock Option Grant pursuant to the Kaiser 1997 Omnibus Stock 
                Incentive Plan to Jack A. Hockema ( incorporated by reference to 
                Exhibit 10.1 to the Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended 
                September 30, 2000, filed by KAC, F ile No. 1-9447). 
 
 10.31          Letter Agreement, dated July 27, 19 98, between KACC and John H. 
                Walker (incorporated by reference t o Exhibit 10.20 to the Report 
                on Form 10-K for the period ended D ecember 31, 1998, filed by 
                KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 10.32          Description of Kaiser Severance Pro tection and Change of Control 
                Benefits Program (incorporated by r eference to Exhibit 10.21 to 
                the Report on Form 10-K for the per iod ended December 31, 1998, 
                filed by KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 10.33          Form of letter agreement with perso ns granted stock options 
                under the Kaiser 1993 Omnibus Stock  Incentive Plan to acquire 
                shares of KAC Common Stock (incorpo rated by reference to Exhibit 
                10.18 to the Report on Form 10-K fo r the period ended December 
                31, 1994, filed by KAC, File No. 1- 9447). 
 
 10.34          Form of Enhanced Severance Agreemen t between KACC and key 
                executive personnel (incorporated b y reference to Exhibit 10.3 
                to the Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 
                2000, filed by KAC, File No. 1-9447 ). 
 
 10.35          Form of Non-Employee Director Stock  Option Agreement pursuant to 
                the Kaiser 1997 Omnibus Stock Incen tive Plan (incorporated by 
                reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Re port on Form 10-Q for the 
                period ended June 30, 2000, filed b y KAC, File No. 1-9447). 
 
 10.36          Form of Deferred Fee Agreement betw een KAC, KACC, and directors 
                of KAC and KACC (incorporated by re ference to Exhibit 10 to the 
                Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ly period ended March 31, 
                1998, filed by KAC, File No. 1-9447 ). 
 
*21             Significant Subsidiaries of KAC. 
 
*23.1           Consent of Independent Public Accou ntants. 
 
*23.2           Consent of Wharton Levin Ehrmantrau t Klein & Nash, P.A. 
 
*23.3           Consent of Heller Ehrman White & Mc Auliffe LLP. 
 
 
 



 
------------------ 
*               Filed herewith 
 

                                                     E X E C U T I O N   C O P Y 
 
           NINETEENTH AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT  AND LIMITED WAIVER 
 
                  THIS NINETEENTH AMENDMENT TO CRED IT AGREEMENT AND 
LIMITED WAIVER (this "Amendment"), dated as of Dece mber 27, 2000, is by and 
between KAISER ALUMINUM & CHEMICAL CORPORATION, a D elaware corporation (the 
"Company"), KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION, a Delaware  corporation (the "Parent 
Guarantor"), the various financial institutions tha t are or may from time to 
time become parties to the Credit Agreement referre d to below (collectively, the 
"Lenders" and, individually, a "Lender"), and Bank of America, N.A. (successor 
to BankAmerica Business Credit, Inc., a Delaware co rporation), as agent (in such 
capacity, together with its successors and assigns in such capacity, the 
"Agent") for the Lenders. Capitalized terms used, b ut not defined, herein shall 
have the meanings given to such terms in the Credit  Agreement, as amended 
hereby. 
 
                              W I T N E S S E T H: 
 
                  WHEREAS, the Company, the Parent Guarantor, the Lenders and 
the Agent are parties to the Credit Agreement, date d as of February 15, 1994, as 
amended by the First Amendment to Credit Agreement,  dated as of July 21, 1994, 
the Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 10, 1995, the Third 
Amendment to Credit Agreement and Acknowledgement, dated as of July 20, 1995, 
the Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of October 17, 1995, the 
Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of De cember 11, 1995, the Sixth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of October 1, 1996, the Seventh 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of December  17, 1996, the Eighth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February  24, 1997, the Ninth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement and Acknowledgment, d ated as of April 21, 1997, 
the Tenth Amendment to Credit Agreement and Assignm ent, dated as of June 25, 
1997, the Eleventh Amendment to Credit Agreement an d Limited Waivers, dated as 
of October 20, 1997, the Twelfth Amendment to Credi t Agreement, dated as of 
January 13, 1998, the Thirteenth Amendment to Credi t Agreement, dated as of July 
20, 1998, the Fourteenth Amendment to Credit Agreem ent, dated as of December 11, 
1998, the Fifteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February 23, 
1999, the Sixteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 26, 1999, 
the Seventeenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, date d as of September 24, 1999, 
and the Eighteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, d ated as of February 11, 2000 
(the "Credit Agreement"); and 
 
                  WHEREAS, the parties hereto have agreed to amend the Credit 
Agreement as herein provided; 
 
                  NOW, THEREFORE, the parties heret o agree as follows: 
 
Section 1.    Amendments to Credit Agreement. 
 
1.1  Amendments to Article I:  Definitions and Acco unting Terms. 
 
         A. Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by amending 
the definitions of "Collateral Documents," "Currenc y Hedge Providers," 
"Intercreditor Agreement," "Minimum Net Worth," "Ob ligations," and "Secured 
Lenders" contained therein to read in their entiret y as follows: 
 
                           '"Collateral Documents' means, collectively, the 
                  Parent Collateral Documents, the Company Collateral Documents, 
                  the Subsidiary Collateral Documen ts, the Collection Bank 
                  Agreements, the Concentration Ban k Agreement, and each other 
                  Instrument or document pursuant t o which a Lien is granted to 
                  the Agent (or perfected in favor of the Agent) (or to or in 



                  favor of any agent, trustee, or o ther Person acting on the 
                  Agent's behalf) as security for a ny of the Obligations, as any 
                  of the foregoing may be amended, supplemented, restated, or 
                  otherwise modified from time to t ime in accordance with the 
                  provisions hereof or thereof. Any thing in this Agreement or in 
                  any other Loan Document to the co ntrary notwithstanding, the 
                  Obligations secured under each Co llateral Document shall be 
                  deemed to include all Currency He dge Obligations and Cash 
                  Management Obligations now existi ng or hereafter arising; 
                  provided, however, that anything in this Agreement or in any 
                  other Loan Document to the contra ry notwithstanding, (a) with 
                  respect to any Cash Management Ob ligations constituting 
                  Indebtedness (as defined in the S enior Indenture, the New 
                  Senior Indenture or the Additiona l New Senior Indentures), the 
                  Collateral shall not include any U.S. Fixed Assets (as defined 
                  in the Senior Indenture, the New Senior Indenture or the 
                  Additional New Senior Indentures)  and (b) no Proceeds of any 
                  U.S. Fixed Assets, or of the disp osition by the Agent of any 
                  U.S. Fixed Assets, shall be appli ed toward the satisfaction of 
                  any Cash Management Obligations c onstituting Indebtedness (as 
                  defined in the Senior Indenture, the New Senior Indenture or 
                  the Additional New Senior Indentu res)." 
 
                           '"Currency Hedge Provide rs' means all Lenders party 
                  to a Currency Hedge Agreement and , in their capacity as a 
                  Currency Hedge Provider, party to  the Intercreditor 
                  Agreement." 
 
                           "'Intercreditor Agreemen t' means the intercreditor 
                  agreement executed and delivered by the Agent, each Lender, 
                  each Lender party to a Currency H edge Agreement and each 
                  Lender providing Cash Management Services, in substantially 
                  the form of Exhibit U attached he reto, as amended, 
                  supplemented, restated or otherwi se modified from time to time 
                  in accordance with the provisions  thereof." 
 
                           "'Minimum Net Worth' mea ns (a) for each Fiscal 
                  Quarter of the Company ending on or prior to December 31, 1998 
                  (commencing with the Fiscal Quart er ending September 30, 
                  1996), $500,000,000 plus 50% of N et Income (but not loss) for 
                  each such Fiscal Quarter, (b) for  the Fiscal Quarters of the 
                  Company ending on March 31, 1999 and June 30, 1999, 
                  $600,000,000 plus 50% of Net Inco me (but not loss) for each 
                  such Fiscal Quarter, (c) for the Fiscal Quarters of the 
                  Company ending on September 30, 1 999, December 31, 1999, 
                  March 31, 2000, June 30, 2000 and  September 30, 2000, 
                  $550,000,000 plus 50% of Net Inco me (but not loss) for each 
                  such Fiscal Quarter, and (d) for each Fiscal Quarter of the 
                  Company ending thereafter, $515,0 00,000 plus 50% of Net Income 
                  (but not loss) for each such Fisc al Quarter; provided that the 
                  calculation of Minimum Net Worth shall exclude (i) the effect 
                  of any non-cash charges, up to an  aggregate amount of 
                  $70,000,000, in respect of the Mi cromill project, including 
                  (without limitation) any write-do wn of Micromill project 
                  assets located at the Center for Technology in Pleasanton, 
                  California, and at the Micromill facility near Reno, Nevada, 
                  (ii) the net cumulative effect of  any mark-to-market gains or 
                  losses incurred after December 31 , 1998, up to an aggregate 
                  net amount of $50,000,000 of loss es, on aluminum hedging 
                  agreements of the Company and its  Subsidiaries that do not 
                  qualify for hedging treatment und er GAAP, (iii) the effect of 
                  any non-cash charges, up to an ag gregate amount of 
                  $30,000,000, in respect of the se ttlement of the Company's 
                  labor dispute with the United Ste elworkers of America, and 
                  (iv) the net cumulative effect of  any gains or losses, up to 
                  an aggregate net amount of $50,00 0,000 of losses, in respect 



                  of adjustments to the net cost ba sis of the assets of the 
                  Gramercy, Louisiana facility as a  result of the explosion at 
                  such facility, all of the above a djustments to be reflected on 
                  the relevant Compliance Certifica te." 
 
                           "'Obligations' means (a)  all obligations (monetary or 
                  otherwise) of the Company and eac h other Obligor arising under 
                  or in connection with this Agreem ent, the Letters of Credit, 
                  and each other Loan Document, (b)  all Currency Hedge 
                  Obligations, and (c) all Cash Man agement Obligations." 
 
                           "'Secured Lenders' means  the Agent, each Lender, each 
                  Issuer Bank, each Currency Hedge Provider and each Cash 
                  Management Provider, together wit h any successors and assigns 
                  thereto." 
 
         B.   Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreement i s hereby further amended by 
adding the following definitions in appropriate alp habetical order: 
 
                           "'Cash Management Obliga tions' means, with respect to 
                  the Company, all liabilities and obligations (monetary or 
                  otherwise) of the Company arising  in connection with Cash 
                  Management Services." 
 
                           "'Cash Management Provid ers'  means all Lenders 
                  providing Cash Management Service s and, in their capacity as a 
                  Cash Management Provider, party t o the Intercreditor Agreement." 
 
                            "'Cash Management Servi ces' means any one or more of 
                  the following types of services o r facilities extended to the 
                  Company by a Cash Management Prov ider: (a) credit cards; and 
                  (b) any cash management or relate d services including 
                  automatic clearing house transfer  of funds by a Cash Management 
                  Provider for the account of the C ompany pursuant to 
                  agreement or overdrafts." 
 
         C.       Section 1.1 of the Credit Agreeme nt is hereby further amended 
by adding the following to the end of the definitio n of "Interest Coverage 
Ratio" contained therein: 
 
                  "; provided that the calculation of EBITDA for purposes of the 
                  calculation of the Interest Cover age Ratio shall exclude the 
                  effect of any non-cash charges, u p to an aggregate amount of 
                  $40,000,000, in respect of the wr ite-down of the carrying 
                  value of the Tacoma and Mead faci lities." 
 
1.2  Amendment to Article II:  Commitments and Borr owing Procedures 
 
                  Section 2.1.1(b) of the Credit Ag reement is hereby amended by 
deleting the reference to "$325,000,000" contained therein and substituting a 
reference to "$300,000,000" therefor. 
 
1.3  Amendments to Article IX:  Covenants 
 
         A.   Section 9.2.2(b)(x) of the Credit Agr eement is hereby amended to 
read in its entirety as follows: 
 
                           "(x) Indebtedness of the  Company in respect of (1) 
                  unsecured Hedging Obligations; (2 ) secured Hedging 
                  Obligations; (3) Currency Hedge A greements, provided the 
                  remaining Dollar amount (or the D ollar Equivalent thereof) of 
                  all currency payments the Company  is obligated to make under 
                  all such Currency Hedge Agreement s (including any payments 
                  that would be payable by the Comp any following the exercise of 
                  any foreign exchange option sold by the Company but excluding, 
                  during the period prior to the da te of exercise, any payments 



                  that would be payable by the Comp any following the exercise of 
                  any foreign exchange option purch ased by the Company) does not 
                  exceed $500,000,000, in the aggre gate, at any time; and (4) 
                  Cash Management Obligations;" 
 
         B.   Section 9.2.3(n) and Section 9.2.3(w)  of the Credit Agreement are 
hereby amended to read in their entirety as follows : 
 
                           "(n) Liens on the Compan y's or any of its 
                  Subsidiary's rights under agreeme nts with respect to spot, 
                  forward, future and option transa ctions, entered into in the 
                  ordinary course of business, invo lving (or, in the case of 
                  futures and options, for or relat ing to) the purchase and sale 
                  of aluminum, alumina, bauxite, en ergy or other commodities 
                  used in the production process or  on the transaction accounts 
                  in which such transactions are ef fected securing the Company's 
                  or such Subsidiary's obligations under such agreements; 
 
                           "(w) Liens (i) securing the obligations of the 
                  Company under Currency Hedge Agre ements, provided (1) the 
                  remaining Dollar amount (or the D ollar Equivalent thereof) of 
                  all currency payments the Company  is obligated to make under 
                  all such Currency Hedge Agreement s (including any payments 
                  that would be payable by the Comp any following the exercise of 
                  any foreign exchange option sold by the Company but excluding, 
                  during the period prior to the da te of exercise, any payments 
                  that would be payable by the Comp any following the exercise of 
                  any foreign exchange option purch ased by the Company) does not 
                  exceed $500,000,000, in the aggre gate, at any time, and (2) 
                  all Property which is subject to any such Lien constitutes 
                  Collateral; (ii) securing Cash Ma nagement Obligations, 
                  provided all Property which is su bject to any such Lien 
                  constitutes Collateral; or (iii) securing Hedging 
                  Obligations;" 
 
         C.   Section 9.2.4(b) of the Credit Agreem ent is hereby amended by 
amending the table contained therein to read in its  entirety as follows: 
 
 
 
         "Date                                                  Ratio 
          ----                                                  ------------ 
         First Fiscal Quarter of 1998                           0.80 to 1.00 
         Second Fiscal Quarter of 1998                          1.20 to 1.00 
         Third Fiscal Quarter of 1998                           1.60 to 1.00 
         Fourth Fiscal Quarter of 1998                          1.10 to 1.00 
         First Fiscal Quarter of 1999                           No Test 
         Second Fiscal Quarter of 1999                          No Test 
         Third Fiscal Quarter of 1999                           No Test 
         Fourth Fiscal Quarter of 1999                          No Test 
         First Fiscal Quarter of 2000                           0.50 to 1.00 
         Second Fiscal Quarter of 2000                          1.00 to 1.00 
         Third Fiscal Quarter of 2000                           1.25 to 1.00 
         Fourth Fiscal Quarter of 2000                          1.00 to 1.00 
         First Fiscal Quarter of 2001                           1.00 to 1.00 
         Second Fiscal Quarter of 2001 and Thereaft er           1.00 to 1.00" 
 
 
         D.      Section 9.2.5(k) of the Credit Agr eement is hereby amended to 
read in its entirety as follows: 
 
                           "(k) Investments in the form of advance payments in 
                  connection with (i) Hedging Oblig ations, (ii) Currency Hedge 
                  Agreements, and (iii) spot, forwa rd, future and option 
                  transactions, entered into in the  ordinary course of business, 
                  involving (or, in the case of fut ures and options, for or 



                  relating to) the purchase and sal e of aluminum, alumina, 
                  bauxite, energy or other commodit ies used in the production 
                  process;" 
 
          E.      Section 9.2.7 of the Credit Agree ment is hereby amended by 
amending the table contained therein to read in its  entirety as follows: 
 
 
 
"Fiscal Year                                        Base Amount 
 -----------                                        ----------- 
     1994                                          $  60,000,000 
     1995                                          $  80,000,000 
     1996                                           $175,000,000 
     1997                                           $175,000,000 
     1998                                           $140,000,000 
     1999                                           $140,000,000 
     2000                                           $185,000,000 
     Thereafter                                     $140,000,000 " 
 
 
         F.   Section 9.2.11(j) of the Credit Agree ment is hereby amended by 
deleting the reference to "$25,000,000" contained t herein and substituting a 
reference to "$35,000,000" therefor. 
 
         G. Section 9.2.14 of the Credit Agreement is hereby amended by deleting 
the two references to "$1,500,000" contained in cla use (d) of the second 
paragraph thereof and substituting a reference to " $2,250,000" therefor. 
 
1.4  Amendment to Exhibits. 
 
                  Exhibit U to the Credit Agreement  is hereby deleted and 
Exhibit I hereto substituted therefor. 
 
1.5  Amendment to Signature Pages. 
 
                  The Percentages set forth opposit e the Lenders' names on the 
signature pages of the Credit Agreement are hereby amended to read as follows: 
 
 
 
                  "Bank of America, N.A.                               36.307% 
                  Congress Financial Corporation (W estern)             27.768% 
                  La Salle Bank National Associatio n                    5.666% 
                  The CIT Group/Business Credit, In c.                   7.333% 
                  Transamerica Business Credit Corp oration              7.362% 
                  Heller Financial, Inc.                               10.333% 
                  ABN AMRO Bank N.V.                                    5.231%  " 
 
1.6  Amendments to Collateral Documents. 
 
 
                  The parties agree that, as of the  Nineteenth Amendment 
Effective Date (as defined below), the Parent Secur ity Agreement, the Company 
Pledge Agreement, the Company Security Agreement, t he Subsidiary Guaranty, the 
Subsidiary Security Agreement, the Company Deeds of  Trust, the Company Mortgages 
and the Intercompany Note Pledge Agreement shall be  amended or supplemented as 
set forth in Exhibits II, III, IV, V, VI, VII, VIII  and IX hereto, respectively. 
 
Section 2.    Limited Waiver. 
 
                  The undersigned Lenders, constitu ting Required Lenders under 
the Credit Agreement, hereby waive compliance with the provisions of Section 
9.2.6(b)(ii) of the Credit Agreement to the extent,  and only to the extent, 
necessary to permit Alumina Partners of Jamaica, a Subsidiary of the Company, to 
purchase and cancel a portion of its Caribbean Basi n Projects Financing 



Authority Bonds in the aggregate principal amount o f $34,000,000 (only 
$22,100,000 of such amount to be paid by the Compan y) and to pay accrued 
interest thereon. 
 
                  Without limiting the generality o f the provisions of Section 
12.1 of the Credit Agreement, the waiver set forth in this Section 2 shall be 
limited precisely as written and relates solely to the noncompliance by Company 
with the provisions of Section 9.2.6(b)(ii) of the Credit Agreement in the 
manner and to the extent described above, and nothi ng in this Section 2 shall be 
deemed to (a) constitute a waiver of compliance by Company (i) with respect to 
Section 9.2.6(b)(ii) of the Credit Agreement in any  other instance or (ii) any 
other term, provision or condition of the Credit Ag reement or any other 
instrument or agreement referred to therein or (b) prejudice any right or remedy 
that Agent or any Lender may now have or may have i n the future under or in 
connection with the Credit Agreement or any other i nstrument or agreement 
referred to therein. 
 
Section 3.    Conditions to Effectiveness. 
 
                  This Amendment shall become effec tive as of the date hereof 
only when the following conditions shall have been satisfied and notice thereof 
shall have been given by the Agent to the Parent Gu arantor, the Company and each 
Lender (the date of satisfaction of such conditions  and the giving of such 
notice being referred to herein as the "Nineteenth Amendment Effective Date"): 
 
         A. The Agent shall have received for each Lender counterparts hereof 
duly executed on behalf of the Parent Guarantor, th e Company, the Agent and the 
Required Lenders (or notice of the approval of this  Amendment by the Required 
Lenders satisfactory to the Agent shall have been r eceived by the Agent). 
 
         B.   The Agent shall have received: 
 
                  (1) Resolutions of the Board of D irectors or of the Executive 
         Committee of the Board of Directors of the  Company, the Parent 
         Guarantor and the applicable Subsidiaries of the Company approving and 
         authorizing the execution, delivery and pe rformance of this Amendment 
         and the amendments to the Collateral Docum ents described in Section 1.6 
         hereof, certified by their respective corp orate secretaries or 
         assistant secretaries as being in full for ce and effect without 
         modification or amendment as of the date o f execution hereof by the 
         Company, the Parent Guarantor or such Subs idiary, as the case may be; 
 
                  (2) A signature and incumbency ce rtificate of the officers of 
         the Company, the Parent Guarantor and the applicable Subsidiaries of 
         the Company executing this Amendment and t he amendments to the 
         Collateral Documents described in Section 1.6 hereof; 
 
                  (3) For each Lender, an opinion, addressed to the Agent and 
         each Lender, from Kramer Levin Naftalis & Frankel LLP, in form and 
         substance satisfactory to the Agent; 
 
                  (4) Such other information, appro vals, opinions, documents or 
         instruments as the Agent may reasonably re quest; and 
 
                  (5) For the pro rata benefit of t he Lenders, calculated in 
         accordance with the Percentages set forth in Section 1.5 hereof, a fee 
         in the amount of $450,000. 
 
Section 4.    Conditions Subsequent. 
 
                  On or prior to January 31, 2001, (a) the Agent shall have 
received duly executed amendments to the UCC-1 Fina ncing Statements originally 
filed under the Credit Agreement naming the Cash Ma nagement Providers as 
additional secured parties and (b) the amendments t o the Company Deeds of Trust 
and the Company Mortgages described in Section 1.6 hereof shall have been duly 
recorded. 



 
Section 5.    Company's Representations and Warrant ies. 
 
                  In order to induce the Lenders an d the Agent to enter into 
this Amendment and to amend the Credit Agreement in  the manner provided herein, 
the Parent Guarantor and the Company represent and warrant to each Lender and 
the Agent that, as of the Nineteenth Amendment Effe ctive Date, after giving 
effect to the effectiveness of this Amendment, the following statements are true 
and correct in all material respects: 
 
         A. Authorization of Agreements. The execut ion and delivery of this 
Amendment by the Company and the Parent Guarantor a nd the performance of the 
Credit Agreement as amended by this Amendment (the "Amended Agreement") by the 
Company and the Parent Guarantor are within such Ob ligor's corporate powers and 
have been duly authorized by all necessary corporat e action on the part of the 
Company and the Parent Guarantor, as the case may b e. 
 
         B. No Conflict.  The execution and deliver y by the Company and the 
Parent Guarantor of this Amendment and the performa nce by the Company and the 
Parent Guarantor of the Amended Agreement do not: 
 
                  (1) contravene such Obligor's Org anic Documents; 
 
                  (2) contravene the Senior Indentu re, the New Senior Indenture, 
         the Additional New Senior Indentures, or t he Subordinated Indenture or 
         contravene any other contractual restricti on where such a contravention 
         has a reasonable possibility of having a M aterially Adverse Effect or 
         contravene any law or governmental regulat ion or court decree or order 
         binding on or affecting such Obligor or an y of its Subsidiaries; or 
 
                  (3) result in, or require the cre ation or imposition of, any 
         Lien on any of such Obligor's properties o r any of the properties of 
         any Subsidiary of such Obligor, other than  pursuant to the Loan 
         Documents. 
 
         C. Binding Obligation. This Amendment has been duly executed and 
delivered by the Company and the Parent Guarantor a nd this Amendment and the 
Amended Agreement constitute the legal, valid and b inding obligations of the 
Company and the Parent Guarantor, enforceable again st the Company and the Parent 
Guarantor in accordance with their respective terms , except as may be limited by 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws relating to 
or limiting creditors' rights generally and by gene ral principles of equity. 
 
         D.   Governmental Approval, Regulation, et c.  No authorization or 
approval or other action by, and no notice to or fi ling with, any governmental 
authority or regulatory body or any other Person is  required for the due 
execution, delivery or performance of this Amendmen t by the Company or the 
Parent Guarantor. 
 
         E.   Incorporation of Representations and Warranties from Credit 
Agreement.  Each of the statements set forth in Sec tion 7.2.1 of the Credit 
Agreement is true and correct. 
 
Section 6.    Acknowledgement and Consent. 
 
                  The Company is a party to the Com pany Collateral Documents, in 
each case as amended through the date hereof, pursu ant to which the Company has 
created Liens in favor of the Agent on certain Coll ateral to secure the 
Obligations. The Parent Guarantor is a party to the  Parent Collateral Documents, 
in each case as amended through the date hereof, pu rsuant to which the Parent 
Guarantor has created Liens in favor of the Agent o n certain Collateral and 
pledged certain Collateral to the Agent to secure t he Obligations of the Parent 
Guarantor. Certain Subsidiaries of the Company are parties to the Subsidiary 
Guaranty and/or one or more of the Subsidiary Colla teral Documents, in each case 
as amended through the date hereof, pursuant to whi ch such Subsidiaries have (i) 
guarantied the Obligations and/or (ii) created Lien s in favor of the Agent on 



certain Collateral. The Company, the Parent Guarant or and such Subsidiaries are 
collectively referred to herein as the "Credit Supp ort Parties", and the 
Company Collateral Documents, the Parent Collateral  Documents, the Subsidiary 
Guaranty and the Subsidiary Collateral Documents ar e collectively referred to 
herein as the "Credit Support Documents". 
 
                  Each Credit Support Party hereby acknowledges that it has 
reviewed the terms and provisions of the Credit Agr eement as amended by this 
Amendment and consents to the amendment of the Cred it Agreement effected as of 
the date hereof pursuant to this Amendment. 
 
                  Each Credit Support Party acknowl edges and agrees that any of 
the Credit Support Documents to which it is a party  or otherwise bound shall 
continue in full force and effect. Each Credit Supp ort Party hereby confirms 
that each Credit Support Document to which it is a party or otherwise bound and 
all Collateral encumbered thereby will continue to guaranty or secure, as the 
case may be, the payment and performance of all obl igations guaranteed or 
secured thereby, as the case may be. 
 
                  Each Credit Support Party (other than the Company and the 
Parent Guarantor) acknowledges and agrees that (i) notwithstanding the 
conditions to effectiveness set forth in this Amend ment, such Credit Support 
Party is not required by the terms of the Credit Ag reement or any other Loan 
Document to consent to the amendments to the Credit  Agreement effected pursuant 
to this Amendment and (ii) nothing in the Credit Ag reement, this Amendment or 
any other Loan Document shall be deemed to require the consent of such Credit 
Support Party to any future amendments to the Credi t Agreement. 
 
Section 7.    Miscellaneous. 
 
         A.   Reference to and Effect on the Credit  Agreement and the Other Loan Documents. 
 
                  (1) On and after the Nineteenth A mendment Effective Date, each 
         reference in the Credit Agreement to "this  Agreement", "hereunder," 
         "hereof," "herein" or words of like import  referring to the Credit 
         Agreement, and each reference in the other  Loan Documents to the 
         "Credit Agreement," "thereunder," "thereof " or words of like import 
         referring to the Credit Agreement shall me an and be a reference to the 
         Amended Agreement. 
 
                  (2) Except as specifically amende d by this Amendment and the 
         amendments to the Collateral Documents des cribed in Section 1.6 hereof, 
         the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Do cuments shall remain in full 
         force and effect and are hereby ratified a nd confirmed. 
 
         B.   Applicable Law.  THIS AMENDMENT SHALL  BE DEEMED TO BE A 
CONTRACT MADE UNDER AND GOVERNED BY THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE 
STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO SUCH LA WS RELATING TO 
CONFLICTS OF LAWS. 
 
         C.   Headings.  The various headings of th is Amendment are inserted 
for convenience only and shall not affect the meani ng or interpretation of this 
Amendment or any provision hereof. 
 
         D.   Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed by the parties 
hereto in several counterparts and by the different  parties on separate 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be a n original and all of which 
shall constitute together but one and the same inst rument; signature pages may 
be detached from multiple separate counterparts and  attached to a single 
counterpart so that all signature pages are physica lly attached to the same 
document. 
 
         E.   Severability.  Any provision of this Amendment which is 
prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction sha ll, as to such provision and 
such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or 
unenforceability without invalidating the remaining  provisions of this Amendment 



or affecting the validity or enforceability of such  provisions in any other 
jurisdiction. 
 
                  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendmen t has been duly executed and 
delivered as of the day and year first above writte n. 
 
KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION                          KAISER ALUMINUM & CHEMICAL 
                                                     CORPORATION 
 
By:   /S/ DAVID A. CHEADLE                           By:     /S/ DAVID A. CHEADLE 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (successor to                  BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (successor to 
BankAmerica Business Credit, Inc.), as Agent         BankAmerica Business Credit, Inc.) 
 
By:  /S/ MICHAEL J. JASAITIS                         By:    /S/ MICHAEL J. JASAITIS 
Name: Michael J. Jasaitis                            Name: Michael J. Jasaitis 
Its: Vice President                                  Its: Vice President 
 
THE CIT GROUP/BUSINESS                               HELLER FINANCIAL, INC. 
CREDIT, INC. 
 
By:  /S/ GRANT WEISS                                 By:  /S/ RICHARD HOLSTON 
Name Printed: Grant Weiss                            Name Printed:  Richard Holston 
Its:  Assistant Vice President                       Its:  Assistant Vice President 
 
CONGRESS FINANCIAL CORPORATION                       TRANSAMERICA BUSINESS CREDIT 
(WESTERN)                                            CORPORATION 
 
By:   /S/ GARY D. CASSIANNI                          By:  /S/ ARI D. KAPLAN 
Name Printed:  Gary D. Cassianni                     Name Printed:  Ari D. Kaplan 
Its:  Vice President                                 Its:  Vice President 
 
LA SALLE BANK NATIONAL                               ABN AMRO BANK N.V. 
ASSOCIATION (formerly known as 
La Salle National Bank)                              By:  /S/ L. DAVID WRIGHT 
                                                     Name Printed:  L. David Wright 
                                                     Its:  Group Vice President 
By:   /S/ DOUGLAS C. COLLETTI 
Name Printed: Douglas C. Colletti                    By:  /S/ KEVIN S. MCFADDEN 
Its: 1st VP                                          Name Printed:  Kevin S. McFadden 
                                                     Its:  Group Vice President 
 
ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED TO: 
 
AKRON HOLDING CORPORATION                            KAISER ALUMINUM & CHEMICAL 
                                                     INVESTMENT, INC. 
By: /S/ DAVID A. CHEADLE                             By:  /S/ DAVID A. CHEADLE 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
KAISER ALUMINUM PROPERTIES,                          KAISER ALUMINUM TECHNICAL 
INC.                                                 SERVICES, INC. 
 
By:  /S/ DAVID A. CHEADLE                            By:  /S/ DAVID A. CHEADLE 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
OXNARD FORGE DIE COMPANY, INC.                       KAISER ALUMINIUM 
                                                     INTERNATIONAL, INC. 
 
By:  /S/ DAVID A. CHEADLE                            By:  /S/ DAVID A. CHEADLE 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 



KAISER ALUMINA AUSTRALIA                             KAISER FINANCE CORPORATION 
CORPORATION 
By:  /S/ DAVID A. CHEADLE                            By:  /S/ DAVID A. CHEADLE 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
ALPART JAMAICA INC.                                  KAISER JAMAICA CORPORATION 
 
By:  /S/ DAVID A. CHEADLE                            By:  /S/ DAVID A. CHEADLE 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
KAISER BAUXITE COMPANY                               KAISER EXPORT COMPANY 
 
By:  /S/ DAVID A. CHEADLE                            By:  /S/ DAVID A. CHEADLE 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
KAISER MICROMILL HOLDINGS, LLC                       KAISER SIERRA MICROMILLS, LLC 
 
By:  /S/ DAVID A. CHEADLE                            By:  /S/ DAVID A. CHEADLE 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed: David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its: Assistant Treasurer 
 
KAISER TEXAS SIERRA MICROMILLS,                      KAISER TEXAS MICROMILL 
LLC                                                  HOLDINGS, LLC 
 
By:  /S/ DAVID A. CHEADLE                            By:  /S/ DAVID A. CHEADLE 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
KAISER BELLWOOD CORPORATION                          KAISER TRANSACTION CORP. 
 
By:  /S/ DAVID A. CHEADLE                            By:  /S/ DAVID A. CHEADLE 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
 
                                    EXHIBIT I 
 
                                    EXHIBIT U 
                             INTERCREDITOR AGREEMEN T 
 
                  This INTERCREDITOR AGREEMENT, dat ed as of December 27, 2000 
(as amended, supplemented, amended and restated or otherwise modified from time 
to time, this "Agreement"), is by and among (i) BAN K OF AMERICA, N.A. (successor 
to BankAmerica Business Credit, Inc., a Delaware co rporation), as collateral 
agent (in such capacity, together with its successo rs and assigns in such 
capacity, the "Collateral Agent") for (a) the finan cial institutions (the 
"Lenders") that are or may from time to time become  parties to the Credit 
Agreement, dated as of February 15, 1994 (as amende d, supplemented, amended and 
restated or otherwise modified from time to time, t he "Credit Agreement") by and 
among Kaiser Aluminum & Chemical Corporation, a Del aware corporation (the 
"Company"), Kaiser Aluminum Corporation, a Delaware  corporation (the "Parent 
Guarantor"), Bank of America, N.A., as Agent for th e Lenders, and the Lenders, 
(b) the Lenders that may from time to time enter in to a Currency Hedge Agreement 
(as defined in the Credit Agreement) with the Compa ny and become a party hereto 
(the "Currency Hedge Providers"), and (c) the Lende rs that may from time to time 
provide Cash Management Services (as defined in the  Credit Agreement) to the 
Company and become a party hereto (the "Cash Manage ment Providers"); (ii) the 
LENDERS; (iii) the CURRENCY HEDGE PROVIDERS; and (i v) the CASH MANAGEMENT 
PROVIDERS. 
 
                                R E C I T A L S: 
 
                  A. Capitalized terms used in this  Agreement and not otherwise 



defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to s uch terms in the Credit 
Agreement. In the event the Credit Agreement is ter minated or the Commitments of 
the Lenders under the Credit Agreement have expired  or been terminated prior to 
the termination of this Agreement, capitalized term s used in this Agreement and 
not otherwise defined herein shall have the meaning  ascribed to such terms in 
the Credit Agreement immediately prior to such term ination or expiration. 
 
 
                  B. The Company and the Collateral  Agent have executed and 
delivered the Company Collateral Documents to secur e the obligations of the 
Company under the Credit Agreement. 
 
                  C. The Parent Guarantor has execu ted and delivered the Parent 
Guaranty contained in the Credit Agreement and Akro n Holding Corporation, an 
Ohio corporation, Alpart Jamaica Inc., a Delaware c orporation, Kaiser Alumina 
Australia Corporation, a Delaware corporation, Kais er Aluminium International, 
Inc., a Delaware corporation, Kaiser Aluminum & Che mical Investment, Inc., a 
Delaware corporation, Kaiser Aluminum Properties, I nc., a Delaware corporation, 
Kaiser Aluminum Technical Services, Inc., a Califor nia corporation, Kaiser 
Finance Corporation, a Delaware corporation, Kaiser  Jamaica Corporation, a 
Delaware corporation, Oxnard Forge Die Company, Inc ., a California corporation, 
Kaiser Micromill Holdings, LLC, a limited liability  company organized under the 
laws of Delaware, Kaiser Sierra Micromills, LLC, a limited liability company 
organized under the laws of Delaware, Kaiser Texas Sierra Micromills, LLC, a 
limited liability company organized under the laws of Texas, Kaiser Texas 
Micromill Holdings, LLC, a limited liability compan y organized under the laws of 
Texas, Kaiser Bellwood Corporation, a Delaware corp oration, and Kaiser 
Transaction Corp., a Delaware corporation (collecti vely the "Subsidiary 
Guarantors"), have executed the Subsidiary Guaranty , in each case for the 
purpose of guarantying the obligations of the Compa ny under the Credit Agreement 
and the other Loan Documents. 
 
                  D. The Parent Guarantor and the C ollateral Agent have executed 
and delivered the Parent Collateral Documents to se cure the obligations of the 
Parent Guarantor under the Parent Guaranty, and cer tain of the Subsidiary 
Guarantors, certain other Subsidiaries of the Compa ny and the Collateral Agent 
have executed and delivered the Subsidiary Collater al Documents to secure the 
obligations of such Subsidiaries under the Subsidia ry Guaranty and of the 
Company under the Credit Agreement and the other Lo an Documents. 
 
                  E. The Company, the Parent Guaran tor, the Lenders and the 
Collateral Agent have entered into a First Amendmen t to Credit Agreement dated 
as of July 21, 1994 pursuant to which the Company i s permitted to enter into 
Currency Hedge Agreements from time to time with th e Currency Hedge Providers; 
provided the remaining amount (or the Dollar Equiva lent (as defined in the 
Credit Agreement) thereof) of all currency payments  the Company is obligated to 
make under all such Currency Hedge Agreements does not exceed $300,000,000 in 
the aggregate at any time. 
 
                  F. In addition, the Company, the Parent Guarantor, certain of 
the Subsidiary Guarantors, certain other Subsidiari es of the Company and the 
Collateral Agent have entered into amendments dated  as of July 21, 1994 to 
certain of the Collateral Documents and the Subsidi ary Guaranty in order to (i) 
provide for the guaranty by the Parent Guarantor an d the Subsidiary Guarantors 
of the Company's obligations under the Currency Hed ge Agreements and (ii) secure 
the obligations of the Company under the Currency H edge Agreements and the 
obligations of the Parent Guarantor and such Subsid iaries with respect to the 
Currency Hedge Obligations by the Collateral. 
 
                  G. The Lenders and the Currency H edge Providers agreed that 
the Lien on the Collateral in favor of the Currency  Hedge Providers shall be 
subordinate to the Lien on the Collateral in favor of the Lenders and the 
Lenders, the Currency Hedge Providers and the Colla teral Agent entered into an 
Intercreditor Agreement dated as of July 21, 1994 e stablishing such priority 
(the "Existing Intercreditor Agreement"). 
 



                  H. In addition, the Company, the Parent Guarantor, certain of 
the Subsidiary Guarantors, certain other Subsidiari es of the Company and the 
Collateral Agent have entered into amendments dated  as of the date hereof to 
certain of the Collateral Documents and the Subsidi ary Guaranty in order to (i) 
provide for the guaranty by the Parent Guarantor an d the Subsidiary Guarantors 
of the Company's obligations in respect of the Cash  Management Services and (ii) 
secure the obligations of the Company in respect of  the Cash Management Services 
and the obligations of the Parent Guarantor and suc h Subsidiaries with respect 
to the Cash Management Obligations by the Collatera l. 
 
                  I. The Lenders, the Currency Hedg e Providers and the Cash 
Management Providers have agreed that the Lien on t he Collateral in favor of the 
Cash Management Providers shall be subordinate to t he Lien on the Collateral in 
favor of the Lenders and the Currency Hedge Provide rs. 
 
                  J. The Lenders, the Currency Hedg e Providers, the Cash 
Management Providers and the Collateral Agent desir e to amend and restate the 
Existing Intercreditor Agreement and set forth thei r agreements concerning the 
Collateral. 
 
                  NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, 
agreements and undertakings contained herein, the p arties hereto agree that the 
Existing Intercreditor Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety 
as follows: 
 
                  1. Definitions. When used in this  Agreement, the following 
capitalized terms shall have the meanings set forth  below. Terms defined 
elsewhere in this Agreement are used as so defined.  
 
                  (a) "Bank of America" means Bank of America, N.A. (successor 
to BankAmerica Business Credit, Inc., a Delaware co rporation). 
 
                  (b) "Bank Obligations" means all liabilities and obligations 
of the Company, the Parent Guarantor and each Oblig or arising under or in 
connection with the Credit Agreement and the other Loan Documents, including, 
without limitation, all costs and expenses of the C ollateral Agent and the 
Lenders payable thereunder. The term "Bank Obligati ons" does not include the 
Currency Hedge Obligations or the Cash Management O bligations. 
 
                  (c) "Cash Management Obligations"  means all liabilities and 
obligations of the Company arising in connection wi th the Cash Management 
Services, including, without limitation, all costs and expenses of the Cash 
Management Providers payable in connection therewit h. 
 
                  (d) "Cash Management Pro Rata Sha re" means, with respect to 
any Cash Management Provider, a fraction, expressed  as a percentage, (i) the 
numerator of which is the remaining Dollar amount o f all payments that the 
Company is obligated to make in respect of all Cash  Management Services then 
being provided by such Cash Management Provider and  (ii) the denominator of 
which is the remaining Dollar amount of all payment s that the Company is 
obligated to make in respect of all Cash Management  Services. 
 
                  (e) "Collateral Agreements" means  the Company Collateral 
Documents, the Parent Collateral Documents, the Sub sidiary Collateral Documents, 
the Parent Guaranty and the Subsidiary Guaranty. 
 
                  (f) "Creditors" means the Lenders , the Currency Hedge 
Providers and the Cash Management Providers. 
 
                  (g) "Currency Hedge Obligations" means all liabilities and 
obligations of the Company arising under or in conn ection with the Currency 
Hedge Agreements, including, without limitation, al l costs and expenses of the 
Currency Hedge Providers payable thereunder. 
 
                  (h) "Currency Hedge Pro Rata Shar e" means, with respect to any 
Currency Hedge Provider, a fraction, expressed as a  percentage, (i) the 



numerator of which is the remaining Dollar amount ( or the Dollar Equivalent 
thereof) of all currency payments that the Company is obligated to make under 
all Currency Hedge Agreements to which such Currenc y Hedge Provider is a party 
(other than payments in respect of Subordinated Cur rency Hedge Obligations) and 
(ii) the denominator of which is the remaining Doll ar amount (or the Dollar 
Equivalent thereof) of all currency payments that t he Company is obligated to 
make under all Currency Hedge Agreements (other tha n payments in respect of 
Subordinated Currency Hedge Obligations). 
 
                  (i) "Obligations" means and inclu des all of the Bank 
Obligations, all of the Currency Hedge Obligations and all of the Cash 
Management Obligations. 
 
                  (j) "Required Cash Management Pro viders" means, at any time, 
Cash Management Providers the sum of whose Cash Man agement Pro Rata Shares 
equals at least 67%. 
 
                  (k) "Required Currency Hedge Prov iders" means, at any time, 
Currency Hedge Providers the sum of whose Currency Hedge Pro Rata Shares and 
Subordinated Currency Hedge Pro Rata Shares equals at least 67%. 
 
                  (l) "Subordinated Currency Hedge Obligations" means, as to any 
Currency Hedge Provider, (i) if the Lien on the Col lateral securing any Currency 
Hedge Obligation owing to such Currency Hedge Provi der is subordinated to any 
Lien on the Collateral to which the Lien on the Col lateral securing all Currency 
Hedge Obligations is not also subordinated and amou nts payable in respect of 
such Currency Hedge Obligation are permitted to be netted against other Currency 
Hedge Obligations owing to such Currency Hedge Prov ider, all Currency Hedge 
Obligations owing to such Currency Hedge Provider a nd (ii) if the Lien on the 
Collateral securing any Currency Hedge Obligation o wing to such Currency Hedge 
Provider is subordinated to any Lien on the Collate ral to which the Lien on the 
Collateral securing all Currency Hedge Obligations is not also subordinated (the 
"Subordinated Obligation") and all rights to net am ounts payable in respect of 
the Subordinated Obligation against amounts payable  in respect of all other 
Currency Hedge Obligations owing to such Currency H edge Provider have been 
waived, the Subordinated Obligation. 
 
                  (m) "Subordinated Currency Hedge Pro Rata Share" means, with 
respect to any Currency Hedge Provider, a fraction,  expressed as a percentage, 
(i) the numerator of which is the remaining Dollar amount (or the Dollar 
Equivalent thereof) of all currency payments that t he Company is obligated to 
make under all Currency Hedge Agreements to which s uch Currency Hedge Provider 
is a party in respect of Subordinated Currency Hedg e Obligations and (ii) the 
denominator of which is the remaining Dollar amount  (or the Dollar Equivalent 
thereof) of all currency payments that the Company is obligated to make under 
all Currency Hedge Agreements in respect of Subordi nated Currency Hedge 
Obligations. 
 
                  2. Agreement by Currency Hedge Pr oviders to Subordinate Liens. 
The Lenders and the Currency Hedge Providers agree that the Liens on the 
Collateral in favor of any Currency Hedge Provider securing the Currency Hedge 
Obligations shall be and hereby are subordinate to the Liens on the Collateral 
in favor of the Lenders securing the Bank Obligatio ns and that each Currency 
Hedge Provider's rights and remedies with respect t o any Collateral shall be and 
hereby are subordinate to the rights and remedies o f the Lenders with respect 
thereto in accordance with the terms hereof. Each C urrency Hedge Provider agrees 
that until the Bank Obligations have been paid in f ull, including the deposit of 
available funds in an amount equal to the then aggr egate Letter of Credit 
Outstandings in the L/C Collateral Account in accor dance with Section 5.8 of the 
Credit Agreement and the Commitments of the Lenders  under the Credit Agreement 
have expired or been terminated, (a) no Currency He dge Provider shall exercise 
any right or remedy or assert any claims, in each c ase, with respect to any 
Collateral, including, without limitation, seeking to foreclose on its junior 
security interests therein pursuant to the terms of  the Collateral Documents, as 
a judgment creditor or otherwise and (b) no Currenc y Hedge Provider shall have 
any right individually to seek to realize upon the security granted by or any 



guaranty provided by any Collateral Agreement, it b eing understood and agreed 
that such rights and remedies may be exercised sole ly by the Collateral Agent 
for the benefit of the Currency Hedge Providers in accordance with the terms of 
this Agreement and the Collateral Agreements. Notwi thstanding the foregoing, (i) 
the Currency Hedge Providers shall be entitled to d emand and retain all payments 
made by the Company from time to time under the Cur rency Hedge Agreements 
notwithstanding the fact that such payments constit ute a transfer of cash 
Collateral and (ii) the Currency Hedge Providers sh all be entitled to file a 
proof of claim with respect to the Currency Hedge O bligations in any proceedings 
under Title 11 of the United States Code by or agai nst the Company, the Parent 
Guarantor or any Subsidiary of the Company. If any Lien described in this 
Agreement is determined to be avoidable under feder al bankruptcy or applicable 
state law, the priority granted such Lien in this S ection 2 shall automatically 
be void and ineffective and this Agreement automati cally shall cease to apply to 
such avoidable Lien. 
 
                  3. Agreement by Cash Management P roviders to Subordinate 
Liens. The Lenders, the Currency Hedge Providers an d the Cash Management 
Providers agree that the Liens on the Collateral in  favor of any Cash Management 
Provider securing the Cash Management Obligations s hall be and hereby are 
subordinate to the Liens on the Collateral in favor  of the Lenders securing the 
Bank Obligations and the Currency Hedge Providers s ecuring the Currency Hedge 
Obligations and that each Cash Management Provider' s rights and remedies with 
respect to any Collateral shall be and hereby are s ubordinate to the rights and 
remedies of the Lenders and the Currency Hedge Prov iders with respect thereto in 
accordance with the terms hereof. Each Cash Managem ent Provider agrees that 
until the Bank Obligations and the Currency Hedge O bligations have been paid in 
full, including the deposit of available funds in a n amount equal to the then 
aggregate Letter of Credit Outstandings in the L/C Collateral Account in 
accordance with Section 5.8 of the Credit Agreement  and the Commitments of the 
Lenders under the Credit Agreement have expired or been terminated, (a) no Cash 
Management Provider shall exercise any right or rem edy or assert any claims, in 
each case, with respect to any Collateral, includin g, without limitation, 
seeking to foreclose on its junior security interes ts therein pursuant to the 
terms of the Collateral Documents, as a judgment cr editor or otherwise and (b) 
no Cash Management Provider shall have any right in dividually to seek to realize 
upon the security granted by or any guaranty provid ed by any Collateral 
Agreement, it being understood and agreed that such  rights and remedies may be 
exercised solely by the Collateral Agent for the be nefit of the Cash Management 
Providers in accordance with the terms of this Agre ement and the Collateral 
Agreements. Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) the Cash Management Providers 
shall be entitled to demand and retain all payments  made by the Company from 
time to time in connection with the Cash Management  Services notwithstanding the 
fact that such payments constitute a transfer of ca sh Collateral and (ii) the 
Cash Management Providers shall be entitled to file  a proof of claim with 
respect to the Cash Management Obligations in any p roceedings under Title 11 of 
the United States Code by or against the Company, t he Parent Guarantor or any 
Subsidiary of the Company. If any Lien described in  this Agreement is determined 
to be avoidable under federal bankruptcy or applica ble state law, the priority 
granted such Lien in this Section 3 shall automatic ally be void and ineffective 
and this Agreement automatically shall cease to app ly to such avoidable Lien. 
 
                  4. Allocation of Proceeds. The Pr oceeds of any Collateral, or 
of the disposition by the Collateral Agent of any o f the Collateral (including 
insurance benefits) shall be applied by the Collate ral Agent, in the following 
order of priority: 
 
                  First, to the payment of the cost s and expenses of such 
disposition, including the reasonable costs and out -of-pocket expenses of the 
Collateral Agent and attorneys' fees and costs and out-of-pocket expenses of 
counsel (including allocated costs of in-house coun sel) employed in connection 
therewith and to the payment of all advances made b y the Collateral Agent for 
the account of any Obligor under the Collateral Agr eements and to the payment of 
all reasonable costs and out-of-pocket expenses inc urred by the Collateral Agent 
in connection with the administration and enforceme nt of this Agreement and the 
Collateral Agreements, to the extent that such adva nces, costs and expenses 



shall not have been reimbursed to the Collateral Ag ent; 
 
                  Second, toward the satisfaction o f the Bank Obligations other 
than Obligations in respect of principal and Reimbu rsement Obligations; 
 
                  Third, toward the satisfaction of  the Bank Obligations in 
respect of principal and Reimbursement Obligations,  including the deposit of 
available funds in an amount equal to the then aggr egate Letter of Credit 
Outstandings in the L/C Collateral Account in accor dance with Section 5.8 of the 
Credit Agreement; 
 
                  Fourth, toward the satisfaction o f the Currency Hedge 
Obligations (other than any Subordinated Currency H edge Obligations) on a 
ratable basis according to each Currency Hedge Prov ider's Currency Hedge Pro 
Rata Share; 
 
                  Fifth, toward the satisfaction of  any Subordinated Currency 
Hedge Obligations on a ratable basis according to e ach Currency Hedge Provider's 
Subordinated Currency Hedge Pro Rata Share; 
 
                  Sixth, toward the satisfaction of  the Cash Management 
Obligations on a ratable basis according to each Ca sh Management Provider's Cash 
Management Pro Rata Share; provided, however, that no Proceeds of any U.S. Fixed 
Assets (as defined in the Senior Indenture, the New  Senior Indenture or the 
Additional New Senior Indentures), or of the dispos ition by the Collateral Agent 
of any U.S. Fixed Assets, shall be applied toward t he satisfaction of Cash 
Management Obligations constituting Indebtedness (a s defined in the Senior 
Indenture, the New Senior Indenture or the Addition al New Senior Indentures); 
and 
 
                  Seventh, any surplus to be paid t o each Obligor, their 
respective successors and assigns, as their interes ts may appear, or as 
otherwise required by law. 
 
Each Currency Hedge Provider will, promptly upon th e request of the Collateral 
Agent from time to time, notify the Collateral Agen t of the remaining Dollar 
amount (or Dollar Equivalent thereof) of all curren cy payments that the 
Company is obligated to make under all Currency Hed ge Agreements to which such 
Currency Hedge Provider is a party and of the amoun t payable by the Company upon 
early termination of all Currency Hedge Agreements to which such Currency Hedge 
Provider is a party. Each Cash Management Provider will, promptly upon the 
request of the Collateral Agent from time to time, notify the Collateral Agent 
of the amount of all payments that the Company is o bligated to make in 
connection with all Cash Management Services then b eing provided by such Cash 
Management Provider. The Collateral Agent may rely without inquiry or 
investigation on any such notices, which notices sh all be conclusive and 
binding, absent manifest error, for all purposes (i ncluding but not limited 
to the distribution of funds) hereunder and under e ach of the Collateral 
Agreements. 
 
                  5. Certain Actions by Currency He dge Providers Regarding the 
Collateral. Unless and until the Bank Obligations h ave been paid in full, 
including the deposit of available funds in an amou nt equal to the then 
aggregate Letter of Credit Outstandings in the L/C Collateral Account in 
accordance with Section 5.8 of the Credit Agreement  and the Commitments of the 
Lenders under the Credit Agreement have expired or been terminated, (i) the 
Currency Hedge Providers shall have no right or aut hority to direct any action 
or inaction by the Collateral Agent and (ii) notwit hstanding the provisions of 
Section 4 hereof, each Currency Hedge Provider auth orizes the Collateral Agent, 
without the further consent of the Currency Hedge P roviders, to consent to the 
sale, transfer or other disposition by the Obligors  of all or any part of the 
Collateral in accordance with the Credit Agreement or the Collateral Agreements 
free and clear of the Liens of the Lenders and the Currency Hedge Providers; 
provided that the Lien of the Currency Hedge Provid ers shall, subject to the 
priorities established in Section 2 hereof, attach to any and all Proceeds 
thereof unless (A) such sale, transfer or other dis position is also undertaken 



free and clear of all Liens of the Lenders, and (B)  no portion of the Proceeds 
thereof is subject to the continued Lien of the Len ders or required to be 
applied to any of the Bank Obligations. 
 
                  6. Certain Actions by Cash Manage ment Providers Regarding the 
Collateral. Unless and until the Bank Obligations a nd the Currency Hedge 
Obligations have been paid in full, including the d eposit of available funds in 
an amount equal to the then aggregate Letter of Cre dit Outstandings in the L/C 
Collateral Account in accordance with Section 5.8 o f the Credit Agreement and 
the Commitments of the Lenders under the Credit Agr eement have expired or been 
terminated, (i) the Cash Management Providers shall  have no right or authority 
to direct any action or inaction by the Collateral Agent and (ii) 
notwithstanding the provisions of Section 4 hereof,  each Cash Management 
Provider authorizes the Collateral Agent, without t he further consent of the 
Cash Management Providers, to consent to the sale, transfer or other disposition 
by the Obligors of all or any part of the Collatera l in accordance with the 
Credit Agreement or the Collateral Agreements free and clear of the Liens of the 
Lenders, the Currency Hedge Providers and the Cash Management Providers; 
provided that the Lien of the Cash Management Provi ders shall, subject to the 
priorities established in Section 3 hereof, attach to any and all Proceeds 
thereof unless (A) such sale, transfer or other dis position is also undertaken 
free and clear of all Liens of the Lenders and the Currency Hedge Providers, and 
(B) no portion of the Proceeds thereof is subject t o the continued Lien of the 
Lenders or the Currency Hedge Providers or required  to be applied to any of the 
Bank Obligations or any of the Currency Hedge Oblig ations. 
 
                  7. Foreclosure Proceedings. In an y foreclosure proceeding 
concerning any Collateral, each holder of an Obliga tion if bidding for its own 
account or for its own account and the accounts of other Creditors is prohibited 
from including in the amount of its bid an amount t o be applied as a credit 
against the Obligations held by it or the Obligatio ns held by the other 
Creditors; instead, such holder must bid in cash on ly. However, in any such 
foreclosure proceeding, the Collateral Agent may (b ut shall not be obligated to) 
submit a bid for all Creditors in the form of a cre dit against the Obligations. 
If in any foreclosure proceedings concerning any Co llateral the Collateral 
Agent, any Lender, any Currency Hedge Provider or a ny Cash Management Provider 
accepts a transfer, conveyance or assignment of tit le to any of the Collateral, 
it shall accept such transfer, conveyance or assign ment of title only for the 
benefit of all of the Creditors. 
 
                  8. Independent Rights of the Lend ers. The Collateral Agent and 
the Lenders may, at any time and from time to time,  without the consent of or 
notice to any Currency Hedge Provider or any Cash M anagement Provider, and 
without impairing or releasing the obligations of t he Currency Hedge Providers 
or the Cash Management Providers hereunder (a) chan ge the manner, place or terms 
of payment or change or extend the time of payment of, or renew, increase or 
alter, the Bank Obligations or the security therefo r, or otherwise amend (or 
direct the Collateral Agent to amend) in any manner  any of the Loan Documents; 
(b) exercise or refrain from exercising any rights against the Company and 
others; (c) apply any sums by whomsoever paid or ho wever realized to the Bank 
Obligations; (d) sell, exchange, release, surrender , realize upon or otherwise 
deal with in any manner and in any order any Proper ty whatsoever and by 
whomsoever at any time pledged or mortgaged to secu re, or however securing, any 
Bank Obligations; (e) release anyone liable in any manner for the payment or 
collection of any Bank Obligations; and (f) settle or compromise all or any part 
of the Bank Obligations. Except as provided in Sect ion 2 hereof, no invalidity, 
irregularity or unenforceability of all or any part  of the Bank Obligations or 
of any of the Liens securing the Bank Obligations s hall affect, impair or be a 
defense to this Agreement. 
 
                  9. Independent Rights of the Curr ency Hedge Providers. The 
Currency Hedge Providers may, at any time and from time to time, without the 
consent of or notice to any Cash Management Provide r, and without impairing or 
releasing the obligations of the Cash Management Pr oviders hereunder (a) change 
the manner, place or terms of payment or change or extend the time of payment 
of, or renew, increase or alter, the Currency Hedge  Obligations or the security 



therefor, or otherwise amend in any manner any of t he Currency Hedge Agreements; 
(b) exercise or refrain from exercising any rights against the Company and 
others; (c) apply any sums by whomsoever paid or ho wever realized to the 
Currency Hedge Obligations; (d) sell, exchange, rel ease, surrender, realize upon 
or otherwise deal with in any manner and in any ord er any Property whatsoever 
and by whomsoever at any time pledged or mortgaged to secure, or however 
securing, any Currency Hedge Obligations; (e) relea se anyone liable in any 
manner for the payment or collection of any Currenc y Hedge Obligations; and (f) 
settle or compromise all or any part of the Currenc y Hedge Obligations. Except 
as provided in Section 3 hereof, no invalidity, irr egularity or unenforceability 
of all or any part of the Currency Hedge Obligation s or of any of the Liens 
securing the Currency Hedge Obligations shall affec t, impair or be a defense to 
this Agreement. 
 
                  10. Defaults Under Currency Hedge  Obligations. Nothing 
contained in this Agreement shall restrict or impai r the right or power of any 
Currency Hedge Provider to declare a default, an Ev ent of Default (as defined in 
any Currency Hedge Agreement) or a termination even t when such Currency Hedge 
Provider deems it appropriate under and in accordan ce with the terms of the 
applicable Currency Hedge Agreement or to net amoun ts payable under Currency 
Hedge Obligations owing to such Currency Hedge Prov ider; provided, however, such 
declaration or termination shall not permit any Cur rency Hedge Provider to 
exercise any rights with respect to, or to realize on, the Collateral, except as 
specifically provided herein. Any Currency Hedge Pr ovider declaring a default, 
an Event of Default (as defined in any Currency Hed ge Agreement) or a 
termination event shall promptly notify the Collate ral Agent by telephone, and 
confirm such act in writing, within three (3) Busin ess Days, in the manner set 
forth in Section 20 hereof; provided, however, that  any failure by any Currency 
Hedge Lender to so notify the Collateral Agent shal l not affect the validity of 
any such declaration or termination. 
 
                  11. Defaults Under Cash Managemen t Obligations. Nothing 
contained in this Agreement shall restrict or impai r the right or power of any 
Cash Management Provider to declare a default when such Cash Management Provider 
deems it appropriate in respect of the applicable C ash Management Services; 
provided, however, such declaration shall not permi t any Cash Management 
Provider to exercise any rights with respect to, or  to realize on, the 
Collateral, except as specifically provided herein.  Any Cash Management Provider 
declaring a default shall promptly notify the Colla teral Agent by telephone, and 
confirm such act in writing, within three (3) Busin ess Days, in the manner set 
forth in Section 20 hereof; provided, however, that  any failure by any Cash 
Management Provider to so notify the Collateral Age nt shall not affect the 
validity of any such declaration or termination. 
 
                  12. Effect of Bankruptcy. This Ag reement shall remain in full 
force and effect notwithstanding the filing of a pe tition for relief by or 
against the Company, the Parent Guarantor or any Su bsidiary of the Company under 
Title 11 of the United States Code and shall apply with full force and effect 
with respect to all Collateral acquired by the Comp any, the Parent Guarantor or 
any Subsidiary of the Company, or obligations incur red by the Company to any 
Creditor under the Credit Agreement, the Currency H edge Agreements, the 
Collateral Agreements or in respect of the Cash Man agement Services subsequent 
to the date of any such petition. 
 
                  13. Appointment of Collateral Age nt by Lenders. Pursuant to 
Article XI of the Credit Agreement, the Lenders hav e appointed Bank of America 
as agent under and for purposes of the Credit Agree ment and the other Loan 
Documents. The Lenders hereby confirm such appointm ent on the terms and 
conditions set forth in the Credit Agreement and ap point Bank of America as 
their agent for purposes of this Agreement on the s ame terms and conditions. 
Nothing contained in this Agreement is intended to amend the terms of the Credit 
Agreement relating to the rights and duties of the Collateral Agent and the 
Lenders as provided in the Credit Agreement and to the extent that the terms of 
this Agreement are inconsistent with the Credit Agr eement, the Credit Agreement 
shall govern. 
 



                  14. Appointment of Collateral Age nt by Currency Hedge 
Providers. 
 
                  (a) Each Currency Hedge Provider hereby appoints Bank of 
America as its agent under and for purposes of this  Agreement and the Collateral 
Agreements. Each Currency Hedge Provider irrevocabl y authorizes, and each 
assignee of any Currency Hedge Provider shall be de emed to authorize, the 
Collateral Agent to act on behalf of such Currency Hedge Provider under this 
Agreement and the Collateral Agreements and each Cu rrency Hedge Provider 
irrevocably authorizes the Collateral Agent to take  such actions on its behalf 
and to exercise such powers hereunder and thereunde r as are in each case 
specifically delegated to or required of the Collat eral Agent by the terms 
hereof or thereof, together which such powers as ma y be reasonably incidental 
thereto. 
 
                  (b) Each Currency Hedge Provider hereby acknowledges and 
agrees that the Collateral Agent is the agent for t he Lenders under the Credit 
Agreement and that nothing contained in this Agreem ent, or in the appointment of 
Bank of America as Collateral Agent, is intended to  limit or restrict, in any 
manner, the Collateral Agent's rights and discretio n when acting in its capacity 
as agent for the Lenders under the Credit Agreement , regardless of any effect 
the exercise of such rights and discretion may have  on the Currency Hedge 
Providers. In addition, each Currency Hedge Provide r hereby acknowledges and 
agrees that until the Bank Obligations have been pa id in full, including the 
deposit of available funds in an amount equal to th e then aggregate Letter of 
Credit Outstandings in the L/C Collateral Account i n accordance with Section 5.8 
of the Credit Agreement and the Commitments of the Lenders under the Credit 
Agreement have expired or been terminated, the Coll ateral Agent may act as 
Majority Lenders, Required Lenders or all Lenders, as the case may be, may 
request and that neither the Collateral Agent nor a ny Lender shall have any 
liability to any Currency Hedge Provider with respe ct to any such request. 
 
                  (c) The Collateral Agent shall no t have by reason of this 
Agreement or any Collateral Agreement a fiduciary r elationship in respect of any 
Currency Hedge Provider; and nothing in this Agreem ent or any Collateral 
Agreement, expressed or implied, is intended to or shall be so construed as to 
impose upon the Collateral Agent any obligations in  respect of this Agreement or 
any Collateral Agreement except as expressly set fo rth herein or therein. 
 
                  (d) The Collateral Agent shall be  deemed not to have knowledge 
of the occurrence of a default, an Event of Default  (as defined in any Currency 
Hedge Agreement) or a termination event under any C urrency Hedge Agreement, or 
any breach of any of the Collateral Agreements unle ss, in each case, it shall 
have received written notice thereof from a Currenc y Hedge Provider or from the 
Company. Each Currency Hedge Provider acknowledges and agrees that the existence 
of a default, an Event of Default (as defined in an y Currency Hedge Agreement) 
or a termination event under any Currency Hedge Agr eement may not give rise to a 
Default under the Credit Agreement and to the exten t that such default, Event of 
Default (as defined in any Currency Hedge Agreement ) or termination event would 
give rise to a Default under the Credit Agreement w ould not in any event 
obligate the Collateral Agent or the Lenders to dec lare an Event of Default 
under the Credit Agreement or cease extending credi t to the Company thereunder. 
 
                  (e) Bank of America and its succe ssor as the Collateral Agent 
shall have the same rights and powers with respect to the Currency Hedge 
Agreements entered into by it or any of its Affilia tes as any other Currency 
Hedge Provider and may exercise the same as if it w ere not the Collateral Agent. 
The terms "Currency Hedge Provider" and "Currency H edge Providers" as used 
herein shall include the Collateral Agent in its in dividual capacity. 
 
                  (f) Each Currency Hedge Provider acknowledges that it has, 
independently of the Collateral Agent, each Lender,  each Cash Management 
Provider and each other Currency Hedge Provider, an d based on such Currency 
Hedge Provider's review of the financial informatio n of the Company and such 
other documents, information, and investigations as  such Currency Hedge Provider 
has deemed appropriate, made its own credit decisio n to enter into a Currency 



Hedge Agreement. Each Currency Hedge Provider also acknowledges that it will, 
independently of the Collateral Agent, each Lender,  each Cash Management 
Provider and each other Currency Hedge Provider, an d based on such other 
documents, information, and investigations as it sh all deem appropriate at any 
time, continue to make its own credit decisions as to exercising or not 
exercising from time to time any rights and privile ges available to it under 
this Agreement, any Collateral Agreement or any Cur rency Hedge Agreement. 
 
                  15. Appointment of Collateral Age nt by Cash Management 
Providers. 
 
                  (a) Each Cash Management Provider  hereby appoints Bank of 
America as its agent under and for purposes of this  Agreement and the Collateral 
Agreements. Each Cash Management Provider irrevocab ly authorizes, and each 
assignee of any Cash Management Provider shall be d eemed to authorize, the 
Collateral Agent to act on behalf of such Cash Mana gement Provider under this 
Agreement and the Collateral Agreements and each Ca sh Management Provider 
irrevocably authorizes the Collateral Agent to take  such actions on its behalf 
and to exercise such powers hereunder and thereunde r as are in each case 
specifically delegated to or required of the Collat eral Agent by the terms 
hereof or thereof, together which such powers as ma y be reasonably incidental 
thereto. 
 
                  (b) Each Cash Management Provider  hereby acknowledges and 
agrees that the Collateral Agent is the agent for t he Lenders under the Credit 
Agreement and the Currency Hedge Providers and that  nothing contained in this 
Agreement, or in the appointment of Bank of America  as Collateral Agent, is 
intended to limit or restrict, in any manner, the C ollateral Agent's rights and 
discretion when acting in its capacity as agent for  the Lenders under the Credit 
Agreement or the Currency Hedge Providers, regardle ss of any effect the exercise 
of such rights and discretion may have on the Cash Management Providers. In 
addition, each Cash Management Provider hereby ackn owledges and agrees that 
until the Bank Obligations and the Currency Hedge O bligations have been paid in 
full, including the deposit of available funds in a n amount equal to the then 
aggregate Letter of Credit Outstandings in the L/C Collateral Account in 
accordance with Section 5.8 of the Credit Agreement  and the Commitments of the 
Lenders under the Credit Agreement have expired or been terminated, the 
Collateral Agent may act as Majority Lenders, Requi red Lenders, all Lenders or 
Required Currency Hedge Providers, as the case may be, may request and that 
neither the Collateral Agent nor any Lender shall h ave any liability to any Cash 
Management Provider with respect to any such reques t. 
 
                  (c) The Collateral Agent shall no t have by reason of this 
Agreement or any Collateral Agreement a fiduciary r elationship in respect of any 
Cash Management Provider; and nothing in this Agree ment or any Collateral 
Agreement, expressed or implied, is intended to or shall be so construed as to 
impose upon the Collateral Agent any obligations in  respect of this Agreement or 
any Collateral Agreement except as expressly set fo rth herein or therein. 
 
                  (d) The Collateral Agent shall be  deemed not to have knowledge 
of the occurrence of a default in respect of any Ca sh Management Services, or 
any breach of any of the Collateral Agreements unle ss, in each case, it shall 
have received written notice thereof from a Cash Ma nagement Provider or from the 
Company. Each Cash Management Provider acknowledges  and agrees that the 
existence of a default in respect of any Cash Manag ement Services may not give 
rise to a Default under the Credit Agreement and to  the extent that such default 
would give rise to a Default under the Credit Agree ment would not in any event 
obligate the Collateral Agent or the Lenders to dec lare an Event of Default 
under the Credit Agreement or cease extending credi t to the Company thereunder. 
 
                  (e) Bank of America and its succe ssor as the Collateral Agent 
shall have the same rights and powers with respect to the Cash Management 
Services provided by it or any of its Affiliates as  any other Cash Management 
Provider and may exercise the same as if it were no t the Collateral Agent. The 
terms "Cash Management Provider" and "Cash Manageme nt Providers" as used herein 
shall include the Collateral Agent in its individua l capacity. 



 
                  (f) Each Cash Management Provider  acknowledges that it has, 
independently of the Collateral Agent, each Lender,  each Currency Hedge Provider 
and each other Cash Management Provider, and based on such Cash Management 
Provider's review of the financial information of t he Company and such other 
documents, information, and investigations as such Cash Management Provider has 
deemed appropriate, made its own credit decision to  provide Cash Management 
Services. Each Cash Management Provider also acknow ledges that it will, 
independently of the Collateral Agent, each Lender,  each Currency Hedge Provider 
and each other Cash Management Provider, and based on such other documents, 
information, and investigations as it shall deem ap propriate at any time, 
continue to make its own credit decisions as to exe rcising or not exercising 
from time to time any rights and privileges availab le to it under this 
Agreement, any Collateral Agreement or in respect o f any Cash Management 
Services. 
 
                  16. The Collateral Agent. 
 
                  (a) The Collateral Agent shall, a t all times prior to the 
payment in full of the Bank Obligations and the exp iration or termination of the 
Commitments of the Lenders under the Credit Agreeme nt, be the same Person that 
is the Agent under the Credit Agreement. Written no tice of resignation by the 
Agent pursuant to Section 11.4 of the Credit Agreem ent shall also constitute 
notice of resignation as the Collateral Agent under  this Agreement; removal of 
the Agent pursuant to Section 11.4 of the Credit Ag reement, and appointment of a 
successor Agent pursuant to Section 11.4 of the Cre dit Agreement, shall also 
constitute appointment of a successor Collateral Ag ent hereunder and such 
successor Collateral Agent shall thereupon succeed to and become vested with all 
the rights, powers, privileges, and duties of the r etiring or removed Collateral 
Agent under this Agreement. After any retiring or r emoved Collateral Agent's 
resignation or removal hereunder as Collateral Agen t, the provisions of this 
Agreement shall inure to its benefit as to any acti ons taken or omitted to be 
taken by it under this Agreement while it was the C ollateral Agent hereunder. 
After the payment in full of the Bank Obligations a nd the expiration or 
termination of the Commitments of the Lenders under  the Credit Agreement, the 
Required Currency Hedge Providers may appoint one o f the Currency Hedge 
Providers or a commercial banking institution organ ized under the laws of the 
United States (or any state thereof) or a United St ates branch or agency of a 
foreign commercial banking institution, and having a combined capital and 
surplus of at least $500,000,000, as a successor Co llateral Agent which shall 
thereupon become the Collateral Agent hereunder. Af ter the payment in full of 
the Bank Obligations, the expiration or termination  of the Commitments of the 
Lenders under the Credit Agreement and the payment in full of the Currency Hedge 
Obligations, the Required Cash Management Providers  may appoint one of the Cash 
Management Providers or a commercial banking instit ution organized under the 
laws of the United States (or any state thereof) or  a United States branch or 
agency of a foreign commercial banking institution,  and having a combined 
capital and surplus of at least $500,000,000, as a successor Collateral Agent 
which shall thereupon become the Collateral Agent h ereunder. 
 
                  (b) Whenever the Collateral Agent  shall deem it necessary or 
prudent in order either to conform to any law of an y jurisdiction in which all 
or any part of the Collateral shall be situated or to make any claim or bring 
any suit with respect to the Collateral or the Coll ateral Documents, or in the 
event that the Collateral Agent shall have been req uested to do so by Majority 
Lenders, Required Lenders or all Lenders, as the ca se may be, or, following the 
payment in full of the Bank Obligations, including the deposit of available 
funds in an amount equal to the aggregate Letter of  Credit Outstandings in the 
L/C Collateral Account in accordance with Section 5 .8 of the Credit Agreement 
and the expiration or termination of the Commitment s of the Lenders under the 
Credit Agreement, the Required Currency Hedge Provi ders, or, following the 
payment in full of the Currency Hedge Obligations, the Required Cash Management 
Providers, the Collateral Agent shall execute and d eliver a supplemental 
agreement and all other instruments and agreements necessary or proper to 
constitute another bank or trust company, or one or  more Persons approved by the 
Collateral Agent, either to act as Collateral Agent  or agents with respect to 



all or any part of the Collateral, in any such case  with such powers of the 
Collateral Agent as may be provided in such supplem ental agreement, and to vest 
in such bank, trust company or Person as such Colla teral Agent or separate 
trustee, as the case may be, any Property, title, r ight, or power of the 
Collateral Agent deemed necessary or advisable. 
 
                  (c) (i) To the extent that the Co llateral Agent becomes 
concerned that the exercise of any remedies or any action taken or omitted to be 
taken by it in connection with any Collateral shall  subject it to the 
possibility of any liability, cost, or expense whic h it deems to be significant, 
arising under any law, rules, or regulations relati ng to hazardous or toxic 
wastes or materials, the Collateral Agent may, with out liability to any Currency 
Hedge Provider or any Cash Management Provider or o ther party to this Agreement 
or any Collateral Agreement, or any other Person, d ecline to accept, abandon, 
forfeit, or release such Collateral regardless of a ny effect such declination, 
abandonment, forfeiture, or release may have upon t he Currency Hedge Providers 
or the Cash Management Providers, or otherwise, if either (A) the Collateral 
Agent is requested to decline to accept, abandon, f orfeit, or release such 
Collateral by Majority Lenders, Required Lenders or  all Lenders, as the case may 
be, or following the payment in full of the Bank Ob ligations, including the 
deposit of available funds in an amount equal to th e then aggregate Letter of 
Credit Outstandings into the L/C Collateral Account  in accordance with Section 
5.8 of the Credit Agreement and the expiration or t ermination of the Commitments 
of the Lenders under the Credit Agreement, the Requ ired Currency Hedge 
Providers, or, following the payment in full of all  Currency Hedge Obligations, 
the Required Cash Management Providers or (B) the C ollateral Agent is not, 
within thirty (30) days after making a specific pro posal therefor, specifically 
indemnified to its satisfaction by the Lenders, the  Currency Hedge Providers or 
the Cash Management Providers, as the case may be, or insured to its 
satisfaction by a third party or parties for any li ability, costs, and expenses 
which might result therefrom. 
 
                  (ii) In addition, if the Collater al Agent becomes concerned 
that the inclusion of certain Property in the Colla teral is not in the best 
interests of the Collateral Agent or the Creditors,  either because of potential 
adverse legal implications (including the potential  effects of California's "one 
form of action", "anti-deficiency" and related rule s of law which may apply in 
connection with real property located in California ) or potential liabilities, 
costs, or expenses which the Collateral Agent deems  to be significant that may 
be imposed upon a Person secured by such Collateral , the Collateral Agent may, 
without liability to any Currency Hedge Provider, a ny Cash Management Provider 
or other party to this Agreement or any Collateral Agreement, or any other 
Person, decline to accept, abandon, forfeit, or rel ease such Collateral 
regardless of any effect such declination, abandonm ent, forfeiture, or release 
may have upon the Creditors or otherwise unless (A)  the Collateral Agent is 
requested to do otherwise by Majority Lenders, Requ ired Lenders or all Lenders, 
as the case may be, or, following the payment in fu ll of the Bank Obligations, 
including the deposit of available funds in an amou nt equal to the then 
aggregate Letter of Credit Outstandings into the L/ C Collateral Account in 
accordance with Section 5.8 of the Credit Agreement  and the expiration or 
termination of the Commitments of the Lenders under  the Credit Agreement, the 
Required Currency Hedge Providers, or, following th e payment in full of all 
Currency Hedge Obligations, the Required Cash Manag ement Providers and (B) the 
Collateral Agent is, within thirty (30) days after making a specific proposal 
therefor, specifically indemnified to its satisfact ion by the Lenders, the 
Currency Hedge Providers or the Cash Management Pro viders, as the case may be, 
or insured to its satisfaction by a third party or parties for any liability, 
costs, and expenses which might result therefrom. 
 
                  17. Reliance. The Collateral Agen t shall be entitled to rely 
upon any certification, notice or other communicati on (including any thereof by 
telephone, telex, telegram or cable) believed by it  to be genuine and correct 
and to have been signed or sent by or on behalf of the proper Person and upon 
advice and statements of legal counsel (which may b e counsel for the Company), 
independent accountants and other experts selected by the Collateral Agent. The 
Collateral Agent shall not be required in any way t o determine the identity or 



authority of any Person delivering or executing the  same. 
 
                  18. Waiver of Rights of Currency Hedge Providers; Prohibition 
on Contesting Liens. The Currency Hedge Providers i rrevocably waive any right to 
compel the Lenders to marshal assets of the Company , the Parent Guarantor, or 
any Subsidiary of the Company or to object to the m anner in which the Lenders 
may seek to enforce the Liens granted in any of the  Collateral, including, 
without limitation, any right based on any duty to conduct any sale, lease, 
exchange, transfer or other disposition of Collater al in a commercially 
reasonable manner. The Currency Hedge Providers agr ee that they will not (and 
waive any right to) contest or support any other Pe rson in contesting, in any 
action or proceeding or otherwise (including, witho ut limitation, any federal or 
state bankruptcy, insolvency or liquidation proceed ing), the priority, validity 
or enforceability of the Bank Obligations or any Li en held by the Lenders. In 
addition, the Currency Hedge Providers agree that t hey will not (and waive any 
right to) seek to have any Currency Hedge Obligatio n or any payment thereunder 
characterized as an administrative expense or any o ther expense or claim that 
would permit the payment thereof prior to the payme nt of the secured claims of 
the Lenders in any federal or state bankruptcy, ins olvency or liquidation 
proceeding; provided, however, that nothing contain ed herein shall be deemed to 
be a waiver of any right of any Currency Hedge Prov ider to obtain relief under 
Section 507(b) of Title 11 of the United States Cod e. 
 
                  19. Waiver of Rights of Cash Mana gement Providers; Prohibition 
on Contesting Liens. The Cash Management Providers irrevocably waive any right 
to compel the Lenders or the Currency Hedge Provide rs to marshal assets of the 
Company, the Parent Guarantor, or any Subsidiary of  the Company or to object to 
the manner in which the Lenders or the Currency Hed ge Providers may seek to 
enforce the Liens granted in any of the Collateral,  including, without 
limitation, any right based on any duty to conduct any sale, lease, exchange, 
transfer or other disposition of Collateral in a co mmercially reasonable manner. 
The Cash Management Providers agree that they will not (and waive any right to) 
contest or support any other Person in contesting, in any action or proceeding 
or otherwise (including, without limitation, any fe deral or state bankruptcy, 
insolvency or liquidation proceeding), the priority , validity or enforceability 
of the Bank Obligations or any Lien held by the Len ders or the Currency Hedge 
Obligations or any Lien held by the Currency Hedge Providers. In addition, the 
Cash Management Providers agree that they will not (and waive any right to) seek 
to have any Cash Management Obligation or any payme nt thereunder characterized 
as an administrative expense or any other expense o r claim that would permit the 
payment thereof prior to the payment of the secured  claims of the Lenders or the 
Currency Hedge Providers in any federal or state ba nkruptcy, insolvency or 
liquidation proceeding; provided, however, that not hing contained herein shall 
be deemed to be a waiver of any right of any Cash M anagement Provider to obtain 
relief under Section 507(b) of Title 11 of the Unit ed States Code. 
 
                  20. Notices. Except as otherwise provided herein, all notices 
and other communications provided to any party here to under this Agreement shall 
be in writing or by telex or by facsimile (followed  promptly thereby by mailing 
of such notice or communication) and addressed, del ivered, or transmitted to 
such party at its address, telex, or facsimile numb er set forth on the signature 
pages hereof, or at such other address, telex, or f acsimile number as may be 
designated by such party in a notice to the other p arties. Any notice, if 
delivered by hand or if sent by mail or by overnigh t courier properly addressed 
with postage prepaid, shall be deemed given when re ceived; any notice, if 
transmitted by telex or facsimile, shall be deemed given when transmitted 
(answerback confirmed in the case of telexes). 
 
                  21. Modification, Amendment. No a mendment to, modification or 
waiver of, or consent with respect to, any provisio n of this Agreement shall in 
any event be effective unless the same shall be in writing and signed and 
delivered by the Collateral Agent, the Lenders, the  Currency Hedge Providers and 
the Cash Management Providers. Nothing contained in  this Agreement, however, 
shall be construed to require the approval of all L enders, any Currency Hedge 
Provider or any Cash Management Provider to any ame ndment to the Credit 
Agreement or any of the Collateral Agreements. 



 
                  22. Severability. Any provision o f this Agreement which is 
prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction sha ll, as to such provision and 
such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or 
unenforceability without invalidating the remaining  provisions of this Agreement 
or affecting the validity or enforceability of such  provision in any other 
jurisdiction. 
 
                  23. Additional Currency Hedge Agr eements and Cash Management 
Services. Any Lender may secure Currency Hedge Obli gations or Cash Management 
Obligations by signing an acknowledgment in the for m contained on the signature 
pages hereof and by delivering a signed counterpart  hereof to the Collateral 
Agent by which each such Lender agrees to be bound by the terms of this 
Agreement. 
 
                  24. Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall be binding 
upon and inure to the benefit of the Creditors, the  Collateral Agent and their 
respective trustees, receivers, successors and assi gns; no other Person 
(including but not limited to the Company), shall b e entitled to rely on or 
raise as a defense any provision of this Agreement in any manner whatsoever. 
 
                  25. Transferees. No Currency Hedg e Provider shall sell, assign 
or transfer any of its Liens on the Collateral secu ring Currency Hedge 
Obligations or any interest in the Currency Hedge O bligations except to another 
Currency Hedge Provider. No Cash Management Provide r shall sell, assign or 
transfer any of its Liens on the Collateral securin g Cash Management Obligations 
or any interest in the Cash Management Obligations except to another Cash 
Management Provider. 
 
                  26. Governing Law. This Agreement  shall be deemed to be a 
contract made under and governed by the internal la ws of the State of New York. 
 
                  27. Execution in Counterparts. Th is Agreement may be executed 
by the parties hereto in several counterparts and b y the different parties on 
separate counterparts, each of which shall be deeme d to be an original, and all 
of which shall constitute together but one and the same Agreement; signature 
pages may be detached from multiple separate counte rparts and attached to a 
single counterpart so that all signature pages are physically attached to the 
same document. 
 
                  28. Termination. This Agreement s hall continue in full force 
and effect until the payment in full of the Obligat ions and (a) the Commitments 
of the Lenders under the Credit Agreement have expi red or have terminated, (b) 
all of the Currency Hedge Agreements have terminate d and (c) the provision of 
Cash Management Services has been terminated. 
 
                  29. Further Assurances. The Credi tors shall each execute and 
deliver to the Collateral Agent such other and furt her documents and instruments 
(in recordable form, if requested) as may be necess ary or desirable to implement 
fully or evidence further the provisions of this Ag reement. 
 
                  30. Acknowledgments by Lenders an d Currency Hedge Providers. 
The Lenders and the Currency Hedge Providers acknow ledge the following: 
 
                  (a) Amendments to the UCC-1 Finan cing Statements filed 
pursuant to Section 7.1.6 of the Credit Agreement w ere filed; 
 
                  (b) Endorsements to all title ins urance policies issued to the 
Lenders pursuant to Section 7.1.8 of the Credit Agr eement were issued in favor 
of the Currency Hedge Providers with respect to the  Currency Hedge Obligations; 
and 
 
                  (c) The Company has agreed with t he Lenders that it will not 
enter into any Currency Hedge Agreement containing any provision that permits 
the Currency Hedge Provider party thereto to termin ate the Currency Hedge 
Agreement, or liquidate or close-out any obligation s thereunder, solely as a 



result of the occurrence of any Default under the C redit Agreement unless the 
Agent, as a result of such Default and upon the dir ection of the Majority 
Lenders, shall have declared all of the outstanding  principal amount of the 
Loans and other Bank Obligations to be due and paya ble. 
 
                  31. Acknowledgments by Lenders, C urrency Hedge Providers and 
Cash Management Providers. The Lenders, the Currenc y Hedge Providers and the 
Cash Management Providers acknowledge the following : 
 
                  (a) Amendments to the UCC-1 Finan cing Statements filed 
pursuant to Section 7.1.6 of the Credit Agreement, substantially in the form of 
Annex I hereto, with such changes, additions or del etions as the Agent, in its 
sole and absolute discretion, may approve, may be f iled; and 
 
                  (b) Endorsements to all title ins urance policies issued to the 
Lenders pursuant to Section 7.1.8 of the Credit Agr eement may be issued in favor 
of the Cash Management Providers with respect to th e Cash Management 
Obligations. 
 
                  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties h ereto have executed this 
Agreement effective as of the date first set forth above. 
 
 
 
                                            BANK OF  AMERICA, N.A. (successor to BankAmerica 
                                            Busines s Credit, Inc.), as Collateral Agent 
 
                                            By: 
                                            Name: 
                                            Its: 
                                            Address :          55 South Lake Avenue, Suite 900 
                                                              Pasadena, CA 91101 
 
 
                                            BANK OF  AMERICA, N.A. (successor to BankAmerica 
                                            Busines s Credit, Inc.), as a Lender 
 
                                            By: 
                                            Name: 
                                            Its: 
                                            Address :          55 South Lake Avenue, Suite 900 
                                                              Pasadena, CA 91101 
 
                                            CONGRES S FINANCIAL CORPORATION 
                                            (WESTER N), as a Lender 
 
                                            By: 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
                                            Address :          225 South Lake Avenue 
                                                              Office #1000 
                                                              Pasadena, CA 91101 
 
                                            LA SALL E BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 
                                             as a L ender 
 
                                            By: 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
                                            Address :          120 S. La Salle Street 
                                                              5th Floor 
                                                              Chicago, IL 60603 
 
                                            THE CIT  GROUP/BUSINESS CREDIT, INC., 
                                            as a Le nder 
 



                                            By: 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
                                            Address :          2110 Walnut Hill Lane 
                                                              Irving, TX 75038 
 
                                            TRANSAM ERICA BUSINESS CREDIT 
                                            CORPORA TION, as a Lender 
 
                                            By: 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
                                            Address :          8750 West Bryn Mawr Avenue 
                                                              Suite 720 
                                                              Chicago, IL 60631 
 
                                            HELLER FINANCIAL INC., as a Lender 
 
                                            By: 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
                                            Address :          101 Park Avenue 
                                                              New York, NY 10178 
 
                                            ABN AMR O BANK N.V., as a Lender 
 
                                            By: 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
 
                                            By: 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
                                            Address :          101 California Street 
                                                              Suite 4550 
                                                              San Francisco, CA 94111 
 
                                            LA SALL E BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION, 
                                            as a Cu rrency Hedge Provider 
 
                                            By: 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
                                            Address :          120 S. La Salle Street 
                                                              5th Floor 
                                                              Chicago, IL 60603 
 
                                            BANK OF  AMERICA, N.A. (successor to 
                                            Bank of  America National Trust and Savings 
                                            Associa tion), as a Currency Hedge 
                                            Provide r 
 
                                            By: 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
                                            Address :          555 California Street 
                                                              41st Floor 
                                                              San Francisco, CA 94104 
 
 
 
                                                                                                                                                                                                      ABN AM RO BANK N.V., as a Currency Hedge Provider
                                            By: 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
 



                                            By: 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
                                            Address :          101 California Street 
                                                              Suite 4550 
                                                              San Francisco, CA 94111 
 
                                            BANK OF  AMERICA, N.A., as a Cash Management 
                                            Provide r 
 
                                            By: 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
                                            Address :          555 California Street 
                                                              41st Floor 
                                                              San Francisco, CA 94104 
 
 
 
                                 ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 
                  The undersigned may enter into a Currency Hedge Agreement with 
the Company pursuant to which Currency Hedge Obliga tions thereunder are to be 
secured by the Collateral Agreements. The undersign ed acknowledges the terms of 
this Agreement and agrees to be bound hereby. 
 
                                            _______ ____________, as a Currency Hedge Provider 
 
                                            By: 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
 
                                            Address : 
 
                                 ACKNOWLEDGMENT 
 
                  The undersigned may provide Cash Management Services to the 
Company and the related Cash Management Obligations  are to be secured by the 
Collateral Agreements. The undersigned acknowledges  the terms of this Agreement 
and agrees to be bound hereby. 
 
                                            _______ ____________, as a Cash Management Provider 
 
                                            By: 
                                            Name: 
                                            Title: 
 
                                            Address : 
 
 
                                   EXHIBIT II 
 
                  THIRD AMENDMENT TO PARENT SECURIT Y AGREEMENT 
 
 
                  THIS THIRD AMENDMENT TO PARENT SE CURITY AGREEMENT (this 
"Amendment"), dated as of December 27, 2000, is by and between Kaiser Aluminum 
Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the "Parent Gu arantor"), and Bank of 
America, N.A. (successor to BankAmerica Business Cr edit, Inc., a Delaware 
corporation), as agent for the Secured Lenders (in such capacity, together with 
its successors and assigns in such capacity, the "A gent"). Capitalized terms 
used, but not defined, herein shall have the meanin gs given to such terms in the 
Credit Agreement, as amended by the Nineteenth Amen dment. 
 
                              W I T N E S S E T H: 
 



                  WHEREAS, Kaiser Aluminum & Chemic al Corporation (the 
"Company"), the Parent Guarantor, the various finan cial institutions that are or 
may from time to time become parties to the Credit Agreement (collectively, the 
"Lenders" and, individually, a "Lender"), and the A gent are parties to the 
Credit Agreement, dated as of February 15, 1994, as  amended by the First 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of July 21,  1994, the Second Amendment 
to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 10, 1995, th e Third Amendment to Credit 
Agreement and Acknowledgment, dated as of July 20, 1995, the Fourth Amendment to 
Credit Agreement, dated as of October 17, 1995, the  Fifth Amendment to Credit 
Agreement, dated as of December 11, 1995, the Sixth  Amendment to Credit 
Agreement, dated as of October 1, 1996, the Seventh  Amendment to Credit 
Agreement, dated as of December 17, 1996, the Eight h Amendment to Credit 
Agreement, dated as of February 24, 1997, the Ninth  Amendment to Credit 
Agreement and Acknowledgment, dated as of April 21,  1997, the Tenth Amendment to 
Credit Agreement, dated as of June 25, 1997, the El eventh Amendment to Credit 
Agreement and Limited Waivers, dated as of October 20, 1997, the Twelfth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of January 13, 1998, the Thirteenth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of July 20,  1998, the Fourteenth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of December  11, 1998, the Fifteenth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February  23, 1999, the Sixteenth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 26 , 1999, the Seventeenth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of Septembe r 24, 1999, and the 
Eighteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February 11, 2000 (the 
"Credit Agreement"); and 
 
                  WHEREAS, as of the date hereof th e Company, the Parent 
Guarantor, the Lenders and the Agent are entering i nto a Nineteenth Amendment to 
Credit Agreement and Limited Waiver (the "Nineteent h Amendment"); and 
 
                  WHEREAS, the Parent Guarantor and  the Agent are parties to the 
Parent Security Agreement, Financing Statement, and  Conditional Assignment of 
Patents and Trademarks, dated as of February 15, 19 94, as amended by the First 
Amendment to Parent Security Agreement, dated as of  July 21, 1994, and the 
Second Amendment to Parent Security Agreement, date d as of April 21, 1997 (the 
"Parent Security Agreement"), and have agreed to am end the Parent Security 
Agreement as herein provided; and 
 
                  WHEREAS, the Required Lenders hav e consented to the execution 
and delivery of this Amendment by the Agent; 
 
                  NOW, THEREFORE, the parties heret o agree as follows: 
 
                  Section 1.  Amendment to Parent S ecurity Agreement. 
 
                  Clause (a)(iii) of Section 11 of the Parent Security Agreement 
is hereby amended by amending the final sentence th ereof to read in its entirety 
as follows: 
 
                  "Any Proceeds of any Collateral, or of the disposition by the 
                  Agent of any of the Collateral (i ncluding benefits to the 
                  extent provided in Section 19 her eof), shall be applied by the 
                  Agent, in the following order of priority: 
 
                           First, to payment of the  costs and expenses of such 
                  disposition, including the reason able costs and out-of-pocket 
                  expenses of the Agent and attorne ys' fees and costs and 
                  out-of-pocket expenses of counsel  (including allocated costs 
                  of in-house counsel) employed in connection therewith and to 
                  the payment of all advances made by the Agent for the account 
                  of the Parent Guarantor hereunder  and the payment of all 
                  reasonable costs and out-of-pocke t expenses incurred by the 
                  Agent in connection with the admi nistration and enforcement of 
                  this Agreement, to the extent tha t such advances, costs, and 
                  expenses shall not have been reim bursed to the Agent; 
 
                           Second, toward the satis faction of the Secured 



                  Obligations other than Obligation s in respect of principal and 
                  Reimbursement Obligations, Curren cy Hedge Obligations and Cash 
                  Management Obligations; 
 
                           Third, toward the satisf action of the Secured 
                  Obligations in respect of princip al and Reimbursement 
                  Obligations, including the deposi t of available funds in an 
                  amount equal to the then aggregat e Letter of Credit 
                  Outstandings in the L/C Collatera l Account in accordance with 
                  Section 5.8 of the Credit Agreeme nt; 
 
                           Fourth, toward the satis faction of the Currency Hedge 
                  Obligations in the order agreed t o by the Currency Hedge 
                  Providers from time to time; 
 
                           Fifth, toward the satisf action of the Cash Management 
                  Obligations in the order agreed t o by the Cash Management 
                  Providers from time to time; and 
 
                           Sixth, any surplus to be  paid to the Parent 
                  Guarantor, its successors and ass igns, or as a court of 
                  competent jurisdiction may direct ." 
 
                  Section 2.  Parent Guarantor's Re presentations and Warranties. 
 
                  In order to induce the Agent to e nter into this Amendment and 
to amend the Parent Security Agreement in the manne r provided herein, and to 
induce the Required Lenders to consent to such acti on by the Agent, the Parent 
Guarantor represents and warrants to each Lender an d the Agent that, as of the 
Nineteenth Amendment Effective Date (as defined in the Nineteenth Amendment) 
after giving effect to the effectiveness of this Am endment, the following 
statements are true and correct in all material res pects: 
 
                  A. Authorization of Agreements. T he execution and delivery of 
this Amendment by the Parent Guarantor and the perf ormance of the Parent 
Security Agreement as amended by this Amendment (th e "Amended Agreement") by the 
Parent Guarantor are within the Parent Guarantor's corporate powers and have 
been duly authorized by all necessary corporate act ion on the part of the Parent 
Guarantor. 
 
                  B. No Conflict. The execution and  delivery by the Parent 
Guarantor of this Amendment and the performance by the Parent Guarantor of the 
Amended Agreement do not: (1) contravene the Parent  Guarantor's Organic 
Documents; (2) contravene the Senior Indenture, the  New Senior Indenture, the 
Additional New Senior Indentures or the Subordinate d Indenture, or contravene 
any other contractual restriction where such a cont ravention has a reasonable 
possibility of having a Materially Adverse Effect o r contravene any law or 
governmental regulation or court decree or order bi nding on or affecting the 
Parent Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries; or (3)  result in, or require the 
creation or imposition of, any Lien on any of the P arent Guarantor's properties, 
other than pursuant to the Loan Documents. 
 
                  C. Binding Obligation. This Amend ment has been duly executed 
and delivered by the Parent Guarantor and this Amen dment and the Amended 
Agreement constitute the legal, valid and binding o bligations of the Parent 
Guarantor, enforceable against the Parent Guarantor  in accordance with their 
respective terms, except as may be limited by bankr uptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization, moratorium or similar laws relating  to or limiting creditors' 
rights generally and by general principles of equit y. 
 
                  D. Governmental Approval, Regulat ion, etc. No authorization or 
approval or other action by, and no notice to or fi ling with, any governmental 
authority or regulatory body or other Person is req uired for the due execution, 
delivery or performance of this Amendment by the Pa rent Guarantor. 
 
                  Section 3. Miscellaneous. 



 
                  A. Reference to and Effect on the  Parent Security Agreement 
and the Other Loan Documents. 
 
                       (1) On and after the Ninetee nth Amendment Effective Date, each 
reference in the Parent Security Agreement to "this  Agreement", "hereunder", 
"hereof", "herein" or words of like import referrin g to the Parent Security 
Agreement, and each reference in the other Loan Doc uments to the "Parent 
Security Agreement", "thereunder", "thereof" or wor ds of like import referring 
to the Parent Security Agreement shall mean and be a reference to the Amended 
Agreement. 
 
                       (2) Except as specifically a mended by this Amendment, the Parent 
Security Agreement shall remain in full force and e ffect and is hereby ratified 
and confirmed. 
 
                       (3) The execution, delivery and performance of this Amendment 
shall not, except as expressly provided herein, con stitute a waiver of any provision of, 
or operate as a waiver of any right, power or remed y of the Agent or any Lender 
under, the Parent Security Agreement. 
 
                  B. Applicable Law. THIS AMENDMENT  SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE A 
CONTRACT MADE UNDER AND GOVERNED BY THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, 
WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO SUCH LAWS RELATING TO CONFLICTS OF LAWS. 
 
                  C. Headings. The various headings  of this Amendment are 
inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation 
of this Amendment or any provision hereof. 
 
                  D. Counterparts. This Amendment m ay be executed by the parties 
hereto in several counterparts and by the different  parties on separate 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be a n original and all of which 
shall constitute together but one and the same inst rument; signature pages may 
be detached from multiple separate counterparts and  attached to a single 
counterpart so that all signature pages are physica lly attached to the same 
document. 
 
                  E. Severability. Any provision of  this Amendment which is 
prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction sha ll, as to such provision and 
such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or 
unenforceability without invalidating the remaining  provisions of this Amendment 
or affecting the validity or enforceability of such  provisions in any other 
jurisdiction. 
 
                  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendmen t has been duly executed and 
delivered as of the day and year first above writte n. 
 
 
 
KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION              BANK OF AM ERICA, N.A. 
                                         (successor  to 
                                         BankAmeric a Business Credit, Inc.), as Agent 
 
By:                                      By: 
 
Name Printed:                            Name Print ed: 
Its:                                     Its: 
 
 
                                   EXHIBIT III 
 
                   THIRD AMENDMENT TO COMPANY PLEDG E AGREEMENT 
 
 
                  THIS THIRD AMENDMENT TO COMPANY P LEDGE AGREEMENT (this 
"Amendment"), dated as of December 27, 2000, is by and between Kaiser Aluminum & 



Chemical Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the " Company"), and Bank of 
America, N.A. (successor to BankAmerica Business Cr edit, Inc., a Delaware 
corporation), as agent for the Secured Lenders (in such capacity, together with 
its successors and assigns in such capacity, the "A gent"). Capitalized terms 
used, but not defined, herein shall have the meanin gs given to such terms in the 
Credit Agreement, as amended by the Nineteenth Amen dment. 
 
                              W I T N E S S E T H: 
 
                  WHEREAS, the Company, Kaiser Alum inum Corporation, the various 
financial institutions that are or may from time to  time become parties to the 
Credit Agreement (collectively, the "Lenders" and, individually, a "Lender"), 
and the Agent are parties to the Credit Agreement, dated as of February 15, 
1994, as amended by the First Amendment to Credit A greement, dated as of July 
21, 1994, the Second Amendment to Credit Agreement,  dated as of March 10, 1995, 
the Third Amendment to Credit Agreement and Acknowl edgment, dated as of July 20, 
1995, the Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dat ed as of October 17, 1995, 
the Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as o f December 11, 1995, the 
Sixth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of Oc tober 1, 1996, the Seventh 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of December  17, 1996, the Eighth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February  24, 1997, the Ninth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement and Acknowledgment, d ated as of April 21, 1997, 
the Tenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as o f June 25, 1997, the Eleventh 
Amendment to Credit Agreement and Limited Waivers, dated as of October 20, 1997, 
the Twelfth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as  of January 13, 1998, the 
Thirteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of July 20, 1998, the 
Fourteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 11, 1998, the 
Fifteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as o f February 23, 1999, the 
Sixteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as o f March 26, 1999, the 
Seventeenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as  of September 24, 1999, and 
the Eighteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated  as of February 11, 2000 (the 
"Credit Agreement"); and 
 
                  WHEREAS, as of the date hereof th e Company, the Parent 
Guarantor, the Lenders and the Agent are entering i nto a Nineteenth Amendment to 
Credit Agreement and Limited Waiver (the "Nineteent h Amendment"); and 
 
                  WHEREAS, the Company and the Agen t are parties to the Company 
Pledge Agreement, dated as of February 15, 1994, as  amended by the First 
Amendment to Company Pledge Agreement, dated as of July 21, 1994, the Second 
Amendment to Company Pledge Agreement, dated as of July 20, 1995, and Pledge 
Amendments, dated as of July 20, 1995, December 11,  1995, June 25, 1997 and 
February 24, 1999 (the "Company Pledge Agreement"),  and have agreed to amend the 
Company Pledge Agreement as herein provided; and 
 
                  WHEREAS, the Required Lenders hav e consented to the execution 
and delivery of this Amendment by the Agent; 
 
                  NOW, THEREFORE, the parties heret o agree as follows: 
 
                  Section 1.  Amendment to Company Pledge Agreement. 
 
                  Section 2.2 of the Company Pledge  Agreement is hereby amended 
to read in its entirety as follows: 
 
                  "SECTION 2.2. Secured Obligations . This Agreement secures, and 
                  the Collateral is collateral secu rity for, the prompt payment 
                  or performance in full when due, whether at stated maturity, 
                  by required prepayment, declarati on, acceleration, demand, or 
                  otherwise (including the payment of amounts that would become 
                  due but for the operation of the automatic stay under Section 
                  362(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, 11  U.S.C. Section 362(a)) of, all 
                  Obligations of the Pledgor now ex isting or hereafter arising 
                  under or in connection with the C redit Agreement or any other 
                  Loan Document, all Obligations of  the Pledgor now existing or 
                  hereafter arising under or in con nection with the Currency 



                  Hedge Agreements, all Obligations  of the Pledgor now existing 
                  or hereafter arising in connectio n with the Cash Management 
                  Services, and any and all extensi ons or renewals thereof, 
                  whether for principal, interest ( including interest that, but 
                  for the filing of a petition in b ankruptcy with respect to the 
                  Pledgor, would accrue on such Obl igations), reimbursements of 
                  amounts drawn under Letters of Cr edit, fees, expenses, 
                  indemnities, or otherwise, whethe r voluntary or involuntary, 
                  direct or indirect, absolute or c ontingent, liquidated or 
                  unliquidated, whether or not join tly owed with others, whether 
                  or not from time to time decrease d or extinguished and later 
                  increased, created, or incurred, and all or any portion of 
                  such Obligations that are paid, t o the extent all or any part 
                  of such payment is avoided or rec overed directly or indirectly 
                  from the Agent or any Secured Len der as a preference, 
                  fraudulent transfer, or otherwise , and any and all Obligations 
                  of the Pledgor now or hereafter e xisting under this Agreement, 
                  whether for advances, costs, fees , expenses, or otherwise 
                  (collectively, the 'Secured Oblig ations')." 
 
                  Section 2. Company's Representati ons and Warranties. 
 
                  In order to induce the Agent to e nter into this Amendment and 
to amend the Company Pledge Agreement in the manner  provided herein, and to 
induce the Lenders to consent to such action by the  Agent, the Company 
represents and warrants to each Lender and the Agen t that, as of the Nineteenth 
Amendment Effective Date (as defined in the Ninetee nth Amendment) after giving 
effect to effectiveness of this Amendment, the foll owing statements are true and 
in all material respects: 
 
                  A. Authorization of Agreements. T he execution and delivery of 
this Amendment by the Company and the performance o f the Company Pledge 
Agreement as amended by this Amendment (the "Amende d Agreement") by the Company 
are within the Company's corporate powers and have been duly authorized by all 
necessary corporate action on the part of the Compa ny. 
 
                  B. No Conflict. The execution and  delivery by the Company of 
this Amendment and the performance by the Company o f the Amended Agreement do 
not: 
 
                           (1)      contravene the Company's Organic Documents; 
 
                           (2)      contravene the Senior Indenture, the New 
Senior Indenture, the Additional New Senior Indentu res or the Subordinated 
Indenture or contravene any other contractual restr iction where such a 
contravention has a reasonable possibility of havin g a Materially Adverse Effect 
or contravene any law or governmental regulation or  court decree or order 
binding on or affecting the Company or any of its S ubsidiaries; or 
 
                           (3)      result in, or r equire the creation or 
imposition of, any Lien on any of the Company's pro perties, other than pursuant 
to the Loan Documents. 
 
                  C. Binding Obligation. This Amend ment has been duly executed 
and delivered by the Company and this Amendment and  the Amended Agreement 
constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations  of the Company, enforceable 
against the Company in accordance with their respec tive terms, except as may be 
limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws 
relating to or limiting creditors' rights generally  and by general principles of 
equity. 
 
                  D. Governmental Approval, Regulat ion, etc. No authorization or 
approval or other action by, and no notice to or fi ling with, any governmental 
authority or regulatory body or other Person is req uired for the due execution, 
delivery or performance of this Amendment by the Co mpany. 
 



                  Section 3. Miscellaneous. 
 
                  A. Reference to and Effect on the  Company Pledge Agreement and 
the Other Loan Documents. 
 
                  (1) On and after the Nineteenth A mendment Effective Date, each 
reference in the Company Pledge Agreement to "this Agreement", "hereunder", 
"hereof", "herein" or words of like import referrin g to the Company Pledge 
Agreement, and each reference in the other Loan Doc uments to the "Company Pledge 
Agreement", "thereunder", "thereof" or words of lik e import referring to the 
Company Pledge Agreement shall mean and be a refere nce to the Amended Agreement. 
 
                  (2) Except as specifically amende d by this Amendment, the 
Company Pledge Agreement shall remain in full force  and effect and is hereby 
ratified and confirmed. 
 
                  (3) The execution, delivery and p erformance of this Amendment 
shall not, except as expressly provided herein, con stitute a waiver of any 
provision of, or operate as a waiver of any right, power or remedy of the Agent 
or any Lender under, the Company Pledge Agreement. 
 
                  B. Applicable Law. THIS AMENDMENT  SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE A 
CONTRACT MADE UNDER AND GOVERNED BY THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, 
WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO SUCH LAWS RELATING TO CONFLICTS OF LAWS. 
 
                  C. Headings. The various headings  of this Amendment are 
inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation 
of this Amendment or any provision hereof. 
 
                  D. Counterparts. This Agreement m ay be executed by the parties 
hereto in several counterparts and by the different  parties on separate 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be a n original and all of which 
shall constitute together but one and the same inst rument; signature pages may 
be detached from multiple separate counterparts and  attached to a single 
counterpart so that all signature pages are physica lly attached to the same 
document. 
 
                  E. Severability. Any provision of  this Amendment which is 
prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction sha ll, as to such provision and 
such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or 
unenforceability without invalidating the remaining  provisions of this Amendment 
or affecting the validity or enforceability of such  provisions in any other 
jurisdiction. 
 
                  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendmen t has been duly executed and 
delivered as of the day and year first above writte n. 
 
 
 
KAISER ALUMINUM & CHEMICAL                 BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (successor 
   CORPORATION                                    t o BankAmerica Business Credit, 
                                                  I nc.), as Agent 
 
By:                                            By: 
 
Name Printed:                                  Name  Printed: 
Its:                                           Its:  
 
 
                                   EXHIBIT IV 
                  FIFTH AMENDMENT TO COMPANY SECURI TY AGREEMENT 
 
                  THIS FIFTH AMENDMENT TO COMPANY S ECURITY AGREEMENT (this 
"Amendment"), dated as of December 27, 2000, is by and between Kaiser Aluminum 
& Chemical Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the  "Company"), and Bank of 
America, N.A. (successor to BankAmerica Business Cr edit, Inc., a Delaware 



corporation), as agent for the Secured Lenders (in such capacity, together with 
its successors and assigns in such capacity, the "A gent"). Capitalized terms 
used, but not defined, herein shall have the meanin gs given to such terms in the 
Credit Agreement, as amended by the Nineteenth Amen dment. 
 
                              W I T N E S S E T H: 
 
                  WHEREAS, the Company, Kaiser Alum inum Corporation, a Delaware 
corporation (the "Parent Guarantor"), the various f inancial institutions that 
are or may from time to time become parties to the Credit Agreement 
(collectively, the "Lenders" and, individually, a " Lender"), and the Agent are 
parties to the Credit Agreement, dated as of Februa ry 15, 1994, as amended by 
the First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as o f July 21, 1994, the Second 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 10 , 1995, the Third Amendment 
to Credit Agreement and Acknowledgment, dated as of  July 20, 1995, the Fourth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of October 17, 1995, the Fifth Amendment 
to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 11, 1995,  the Sixth Amendment to 
Credit Agreement, dated as of October 1, 1996, the Seventh Amendment to Credit 
Agreement, dated as of December 17, 1996, the Eight h Amendment to Credit 
Agreement, dated as of February 24, 1997, the Ninth  Amendment to Credit 
Agreement and Acknowledgment, dated as of April 21,  1997, the Tenth Amendment to 
Credit Agreement, dated as of June 25, 1997, the El eventh Amendment to Credit 
Agreement and Limited Waivers, dated as of October 20, 1997, the Twelfth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of January 13, 1998, the Thirteenth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of July 20,  1998, the Fourteenth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of December  11, 1998, the Fifteenth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February  23, 1999, the Sixteenth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 26 , 1999, the Seventeenth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of Septembe r 24, 1999, and the 
Eighteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February 11, 2000 (the 
"Credit Agreement"); and 
 
                  WHEREAS, as of the date hereof th e Company, the Parent 
Guarantor, the Lenders and the Agent are entering i nto a Nineteenth Amendment to 
Credit Agreement and Limited Waiver (the "Nineteent h Amendment"); and 
 
                  WHEREAS, the Company and the Agen t are parties to the Company 
Security Agreement, Financing Statement and Conditi onal Assignment of Patents 
and Trademarks, dated as of February 15, 1994, as a mended by the First Amendment 
to Company Security Agreement, dated as of July 21,  1994, the Second Amendment 
to Company Security Agreement, dated as of December  11, 1995, the Third 
Amendment to Company Security Agreement dated as of  April 21, 1997, and the 
Fourth Amendment to Company Security Agreement, dat ed as of July 20, 1998 (the 
"Company Security Agreement"), and have agreed to a mend the Company Security 
Agreement as herein provided; and 
 
                  WHEREAS, the Required Lenders hav e consented to the execution 
and delivery of this Amendment by the Agent; 
 
                  NOW, THEREFORE, the parties heret o agree as follows: 
 
                  Section 1.   Amendment to Company  Security Agreement. 
 
 
                  A.       Section 2 of the Company  Security Agreement is hereby 
         amended by adding the following as the sec ond proviso of the first 
         paragraph thereof: 
 
                  "; provided further that, notwith standing anything in this 
                  Agreement or in any other Loan Do cument to the contrary, (i) 
                  with respect to any Cash Manageme nt Obligation constituting 
                  Indebtedness (as defined in the S enior Indenture, the New 
                  Senior Indenture or the Additiona l New Senior Indentures), the 
                  Collateral shall not include any U.S. Fixed Assets (as defined 
                  in the Senior Indenture, the New Senior Indenture or the 
                  Additional New Senior Indentures)  and (ii) no Proceeds of any 



                  U.S. Fixed Assets, or of the disp osition by the Agent of any 
                  U.S. Fixed Assets, shall be appli ed toward the satisfaction of 
                  any Cash Management Obligations c onstituting Indebtedness (as 
                  defined in the Senior Indenture, the New Senior Indenture or 
                  the Additional New Senior Indentu res)." 
 
                  B. Section 3 of the Company Secur ity Agreement is hereby 
amended by inserting the phrase "all Obligations of  the Company now existing or 
hereafter arising in connection with Cash Managemen t Services," following the 
phrase "Currency Hedge Agreements" contained therei n. 
 
                  C.   Clause (a)(iii) of Section 1 1 of the Company Security 
Agreement is hereby amended by amending the final s entence thereof to read in 
its entirety as follows: 
 
                  "Any Proceeds of any Collateral, or of the disposition by the 
                  Agent of any of the Collateral (i ncluding benefits to the 
                  extent provided in Section 19 her eof), shall be applied by the 
                  Agent, in the following order of priority: 
 
                           First, to payment of the  costs and expenses of such 
                  disposition, including the reason able costs and out-of-pocket 
                  expenses of the Agent and attorne ys' fees and costs and 
                  out-of-pocket expenses of counsel  (including allocated costs 
                  of in-house counsel) employed in connection therewith and to 
                  the payment of all advances made by the Agent for the account 
                  of the Company hereunder and the payment of all reasonable 
                  costs and out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Agent in 
                  connection with the administratio n and enforcement of this 
                  Agreement, to the extent that suc h advances, costs, and 
                  expenses shall not have been reim bursed to the Agent; 
 
                           Second, toward the satis faction of the Secured 
                  Obligations other than Obligation s in respect of principal and 
                  Reimbursement Obligations, Curren cy Hedge Obligations and Cash 
                  Management Obligations; 
 
                           Third, toward the satisf action of the Secured 
                  Obligations in respect of princip al and Reimbursement 
                  Obligations, including the deposi t of available funds in an 
                  amount equal to the then aggregat e Letter of Credit 
                  Outstandings in the L/C Collatera l Account in accordance with 
                  Section 5.8 of the Credit Agreeme nt; 
 
                           Fourth, toward the satis faction of the Currency Hedge 
                  Obligations in the order agreed t o by the Currency Hedge 
                  Providers from time to time; 
 
                           Fifth, subject to the pr ovisions of the second 
                  proviso of the first paragraph of  Section 2, toward the 
                  satisfaction of the Cash Manageme nt Obligations in the order 
                  agreed to by the Cash Management Providers from time to time; 
                  and 
 
                           Sixth, any surplus to be  paid to the Company, its 
                  successors and assigns, or as a c ourt of competent 
                  jurisdiction may direct." 
 
Section 2.    Company's Representations and Warrant ies. 
 
                  In order to induce the Agent to e nter into this Amendment and 
to amend the Company Security Agreement in the mann er provided herein, and to 
induce the Required Lenders to consent to such acti on by the Agent, the Company 
represents and warrants to each Lender and the Agen t that, as of the Nineteenth 
Amendment Effective Date (as defined in the Ninetee nth Amendment) after giving 
effect to the effectiveness of this Amendment, the following statements are true 



and correct in all material respects: 
 
         A. Authorization of Agreements. The execut ion and delivery of this 
Amendment by the Company and the performance of the  Company Security Agreement 
as amended by this Amendment (the "Amended Agreemen t") by the Company are within 
the Company's corporate powers and have been duly a uthorized by all necessary 
corporate action on the part of the Company. 
 
         B. No Conflict. The execution and delivery  by the Company of this 
Amendment and the performance by the Company of the  Amended Agreement do not 
 
                  (1)      contravene the Company's  Organic Documents; 
 
                  (2) contravene the Senior Indentu re, the New Senior Indenture, 
the Additional New Senior Indentures, or the Subord inated Indenture or 
contravene any other contractual restriction where such a contravention has a 
reasonable possibility of having a Materially Adver se Effect or contravene any 
law or governmental regulation or court decree or o rder binding on or affecting 
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries; or 
 
                  (3) result in, or require the cre ation or imposition of, any 
Lien on any of the Company's properties, other than  pursuant to the Loan 
Documents. 
 
         C. Binding Obligation. This Amendment has been duly executed and 
delivered by the Company and this Amendment and the  Amended Agreement constitute 
the legal, valid and binding obligations of the Com pany, enforceable against the 
Company in accordance with their respective terms, except as may be limited by 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws relating to 
or limiting creditors' rights generally and by gene ral principles of equity. 
 
         D. Governmental Approval, Regulation, etc.   No authorization or approval 
or other action by, and no notice to or filing with , any governmental authority 
or regulatory body or other Person is required for the due execution, delivery 
or performance of this Amendment by the Company. 
 
Section 3.    Miscellaneous. 
 
         A.   Reference to and Effect on the Compan y Security Agreement and the 
Other Loan Documents. 
 
                           (1) On and after the Nin eteenth Amendment Effective 
Date, each reference in the Company Security Agreem ent to "this Agreement", 
"hereunder", "hereof", "herein" or words of like im port referring to the Company 
Security Agreement, and each reference in the other  Loan Documents to the "Company 
Security Agreement", "thereunder", "thereof" or wor ds of like import referring 
to the Company Security Agreement shall mean and be  a reference to the Amended 
Agreement. 
 
                           (2) Except as specifical ly amended by this Amendment, 
the Company Security Agreement shall remain in full  force and effect and is hereby 
ratified and confirmed. 
 
                           (3) The execution, deliv ery and performance of this 
Amendment shall not, except as expressly provided h erein, constitute a waiver of 
any provision of, or operate as a waiver of any rig ht, power or remedy of the 
Agent or any Lender under, the Company Security Agr eement. 
 
         B.   Applicable Law.  THIS AMENDMENT SHALL  BE DEEMED TO BE A 
CONTRACT MADE UNDER AND GOVERNED BY THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE 
STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO SUCH LA WS RELATING TO 
CONFLICTS OF LAWS. 
 
         C.   Headings.  The various headings of th is Amendment are inserted for 
convenience only and shall not affect the meaning o r interpretation of this 
Amendment or any provision hereof. 



 
         D.   Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed by the parties 
hereto in several counterparts and by the different  parties on separate 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be a n original and all of which 
shall constitute together but one and the same inst rument; signature pages may 
be detached from multiple separate counterparts and  attached to a single 
counterpart so that all signature pages are physica lly attached to the 
same document. 
 
         E.   Severability.  Any provision of this Amendment which is prohibited 
or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to s uch provision and such 
jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or 
unenforceability without invalidating the remaining  provisions of this Amendment 
or affecting the validity or enforceability of such  provisions in any other 
jurisdiction. 
 
                  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendmen t has been duly executed and 
delivered as of the day and year first above writte n. 
 
 
 
 
KAISER ALUMINUM & CHEMICAL                              BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (successor to 
CORPORATION                                                 BankAmerica Business Credit, Inc.), as Age nt
 
By:                                                         By: 
Name:    David A. Cheadle                                   Name:    Michael J. Jasaitis 
Its:     Assistant Treasurer                                Its:     Vice President 
 
 
 
                                    EXHIBIT V 
 
                     THIRD AMENDMENT TO SUBSIDIARY GUARANTY 
 
 
                  THIS THIRD AMENDMENT TO SUBSIDIAR Y GUARANTY (this 
"Amendment"), dated as of December 27, 2000, is by and between Akron Holding 
Corporation, an Ohio corporation, Alpart Jamaica In c., a Delaware corporation, 
Kaiser Alumina Australia Corporation, a Delaware co rporation, Kaiser Aluminium 
International, Inc., a Delaware corporation, Kaiser  Aluminum & Chemical 
Investment, Inc., a Delaware corporation, Kaiser Al uminum Properties, Inc., a 
Delaware corporation, Kaiser Aluminum Technical Ser vices, Inc., a California 
corporation, Kaiser Finance Corporation, a Delaware  corporation, Kaiser Jamaica 
Corporation, a Delaware corporation, Oxnard Forge D ie Company, Inc., a 
California corporation Kaiser Micromill Holdings, L LC, a limited liability 
company organized under the laws of Delaware, Kaise r Sierra Micromills, LLC, a 
limited liability company organized under the laws of Delaware, Kaiser Texas 
Sierra Micromills, LLC, a limited liability company  organized under the laws of 
Texas, Texas Micromill Holdings, LLC, a limited lia bility company organized 
under the laws of Texas, Kaiser Bellwood Corporatio n, a Delaware corporation, 
and Kaiser Transaction Corp., a Delaware corporatio n (collectively, the 
"Guarantors" and, individually, a "Guarantor"), and  Bank of America, N.A. 
(successor to BankAmerica Business Credit, Inc., a Delaware corporation), as 
agent for the Secured Lenders (in such capacity, to gether with its successors 
and assigns in such capacity, the "Agent"). Capital ized terms used, but 
not defined, herein shall have the meanings given t o such terms in the Credit 
Agreement, as amended by the Nineteenth Amendment. 
 
                              W I T N E S S E T H: 
 
                  WHEREAS, Kaiser Aluminum & Chemic al Corporation (the 
"Company"), Kaiser Aluminum Corporation, the variou s financial institutions that 
are or may from time to time become parties to the Credit Agreement 
(collectively, the "Lenders" and, individually, a " Lender"), and the Agent are 
parties to the Credit Agreement, dated as of Februa ry 15, 1994, as amended by 



the First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as o f July 21, 1994, the Second 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 10 , 1995, the Third Amendment 
to Credit Agreement and Acknowledgment, dated as of  July 20, 1995, the Fourth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of October 17, 1995, the Fifth Amendment 
to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 11, 1995,  the Sixth Amendment to 
Credit Agreement, dated as of October 1, 1996, the Seventh Amendment to Credit 
Agreement, dated as of December 17, 1996, the Eight h Amendment to Credit 
Agreement, dated as of February 24, 1997, the Ninth  Amendment to Credit 
Agreement and Acknowledgment, dated as of April 21,  1997, the Tenth Amendment to 
Credit Agreement, dated as of June 25, 1997, the El eventh Amendment to Credit 
Agreement and Limited Waivers, dated as of October 20, 1997, the Twelfth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of January 13, 1998, the Thirteenth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of July 20,  1998, the Fourteenth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of December  11, 1998, the Fifteenth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February  23, 1999, the Sixteenth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 26 , 1999, the Seventeenth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of Septembe r 24, 1999, and the 
Eighteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February 11, 2000 (the 
"Credit Agreement"); and 
 
                  WHEREAS, as of the date hereof th e Company, the Parent 
Guarantor, the Lenders and the Agent are entering i nto a Nineteenth Amendment to 
Credit Agreement and Limited Waiver (the "Nineteent h Amendment"); and 
 
                  WHEREAS, the Guarantors and the A gent are parties to the 
Subsidiary Guaranty, dated as of February 15, 1994,  as amended by the First 
Amendment to Subsidiary Guaranty, dated as of July 21, 1994, the Second 
Amendment to Subsidiary Guaranty, dated as of Decem ber 11, 1995, and Supplements 
to Subsidiary Guaranty, dated as of June 25, 1997 a nd February 23, 1999 (the 
"Subsidiary Guaranty"), and have agreed to amend th e Subsidiary Guaranty as 
herein provided; and 
 
                  WHEREAS, the Required Lenders hav e consented to the execution 
and delivery of this Amendment by the Agent; 
 
                  NOW, THEREFORE, the parties heret o agree as follows: 
 
                  Section 1.  Amendment to Subsidia ry Guaranty. 
 
                  Section 2.1(a) of the Subsidiary Guaranty is hereby amended to 
read in its entirety as follows: 
 
                  "(a) guarantee the due and prompt  performance and payment in 
                  full when due, whether at stated maturity, by required 
                  prepayment, declaration, accelera tion, demand or otherwise and 
                  at all times thereafter (includin g the payment of all amounts 
                  that would become due but for the  operation of the automatic 
                  stay under Section 362(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, 11 U.S.C. 
                  Section 362(a)) of any and all Ob ligations of the Parent 
                  Guarantor, the Company and their respective Subsidiaries, 
                  whether now existing or hereafter  made, incurred or created, 
                  whether absolute or contingent, l iquidated or unliquidated, 
                  whether due or not due, whether f or principal, interest 
                  (including interest that, but for  the filing of a petition in 
                  bankruptcy with respect to the Pa rent Guarantor, the Company 
                  or any of their respective Subsid iaries, would accrue on such 
                  Obligations), fees, expenses, ind emnities, or otherwise, and 
                  however arising, under the Credit  Agreement, the other Loan 
                  Documents and the Currency Hedge Agreements and in connection 
                  with the Cash Management Services , including those arising 
                  under successive borrowing transa ctions under the Credit 
                  Agreement which shall either cont inue the Obligations of the 
                  Company or from time to time rene w them after they have been 
                  satisfied (the 'Company Obligatio ns'); and" 
 
                  Section 2. Guarantors' Representa tions and Warranties. 



 
                  In order to induce the Agent to e nter into this Amendment and 
to amend the Subsidiary Guaranty in the manner prov ided herein, and to 
induce the Required Lenders to consent to such acti on by the Agent, each 
Guarantor represents and warrants to each Lender an d the Agent that, as of the 
Nineteenth Amendment Effective Date (as defined in the Nineteenth Amendment) 
after giving effect to the effectiveness of this Am endment, the following 
statements are true and correct in all material res pects: 
 
                  A. Authorization of Agreements. T he execution and delivery of 
this Amendment by such Guarantor and the performanc e of the Subsidiary Guaranty 
as amended by this Amendment (the "Amended Agreemen t") by such Guarantor are 
within such Guarantor's corporate powers and have b een duly authorized by all 
necessary corporate action on the part of such Guar antor. 
 
                  B. No Conflict. The execution and  delivery by such Guarantor 
of this Amendment and the performance by such Guara ntor of the Amended Agreement 
do not: 
 
                           (1)      contravene such  Guarantor's Organic Documents; 
 
                           (2)      contravene the Senior Indenture, the New 
Senior Indenture, the Additional Senior Indentures or the Subordinated Indenture 
or contravene any other contractual restriction whe re such a contravention has a 
reasonable possibility of having a Materially Adver se Effect or contravene any 
law or governmental regulation or court decree or o rder binding on or affecting 
such Guarantor or any of its Subsidiaries; or 
 
                           (3)      result in, or r equire the creation or 
imposition of, any Lien on any of such Guarantor's properties, other than 
pursuant to the Loan Documents. 
 
                  C. Binding Obligation. This Amend ment has been duly executed 
and delivered by such Guarantor and this Amendment and the Amended Agreement 
constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations  of such Guarantor, 
enforceable against such Guarantor in accordance wi th their respective terms, 
except as may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency,  reorganization, moratorium 
or similar laws relating to or limiting creditors' rights generally and by 
general principles of equity. 
 
                  D. Governmental Approval, Regulat ion, etc. No authorization or 
approval or other action by, and no notice to or fi ling with, any governmental 
authority or regulatory body or other Person is req uired for the due execution, 
delivery or performance of this Amendment by such G uarantor. 
 
                  Section 3. Miscellaneous. 
 
                  A. Reference to and Effect on the  Subsidiary Guaranty and the 
Other Loan Documents. 
 
                           (1) On and after the Nin eteenth Amendment Effective Date, 
each reference in the Subsidiary Guaranty to "this Guaranty", "hereunder", 
"hereof", "herein" or words of like import referrin g to the Subsidiary Guaranty, 
and each reference in the other Loan Documents to t he "Subsidiary Guaranty", 
"thereunder", "thereof" or words of like import ref erring to the Subsidiary 
Guaranty shall mean and be a reference to the Amend ed Agreement. 
 
                           (2) Except as specifical ly amended by this Amendment, 
the Subsidiary Guaranty shall remain in full force and effect and is hereby 
ratified and confirmed. 
 
                           (3) The execution, deliv ery and performance of this 
Amendment shall not, except as expressly provided h erein, constitute a waiver of 
any provision of, or operate as a waiver of any rig ht, power or remedy of the 
Agent or any Lender under, the Subsidiary Guaranty.  
 



                  B. Applicable Law. THIS AMENDMENT  SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE A 
CONTRACT MADE UNDER AND GOVERNED BY THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, 
WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO SUCH LAWS RELATING TO CONFLICTS OF LAWS. 
 
                  C. Headings. The various headings  of this Amendment are 
inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation 
of this Amendment or any provision hereof. 
 
                  D. Counterparts. This Amendment m ay be executed by the parties 
hereto in several counterparts and by the different  parties on separate 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be a n original and all of which 
shall constitute together but one and the same inst rument; signature pages may 
be detached from multiple separate counterparts and  attached to a single 
counterpart so that all signature pages are physica lly attached to the same 
document. 
 
                  E. Severability. Any provision of  this Amendment which is 
prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction sha ll, as to such provision and 
such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or 
unenforceability without invalidating the remaining  provisions of this Amendment 
or affecting the validity or enforceability of such  provisions in any other 
jurisdiction. 
 
                  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendmen t has been duly executed and 
delivered as of the day and year first above writte n. 
 
 
 
 
AKRON HOLDING CORPORATION                            KAISER ALUMINUM & CHEMICAL 
                                                              INVESTMENT, INC. 
 
By:                                                  By: 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
KAISER ALUMINUM PROPERTIES,                          KAISER ALUMINUM TECHNICAL 
INC.                                                          SERVICES, INC. 
 
By:                                                  By: 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
OXNARD FORGE DIE COMPANY, INC.                       KAISER ALUMINIUM 
                                                     INTERNATIONAL, INC. 
 
By:                                                  By: 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
KAISER ALUMINA AUSTRALIA                             KAISER FINANCE CORPORATION 
CORPORATION 
 
By:                                                  By: 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
ALPART JAMAICA INC.                                  KAISER JAMAICA CORPORATION 
 
By:                                                  By: 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
KAISER MICROMILL HOLDINGS, LLC                       KAISER SIERRA MICROMILLS, LLC 
 
By:                                                  By: 



Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed: David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its: Assistant Treasurer 
 
KAISER TEXAS SIERRA MICROMILLS,                      KAISER TEXAS MICROMILL 
LLC                                                  HOLDINGS, LLC 
 
By:                                                  By: 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
KAISER BELLWOOD CORPORATION                          KAISER TRANSACTION CORP. 
 
By:                                                  By: 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (successor to 
BankAmerica Business Credit, Inc.), as Agent 
 
 
By: 
 
Name Printed: 
Its: 
 
                                   EXHIBIT VI 
 
                FOURTH AMENDMENT TO SUBSIDIARY SECU RITY AGREEMENT 
 
                  THIS FOURTH AMENDMENT TO SUBSIDIA RY SECURITY AGREEMENT 
(this "Amendment"), dated as of December 27, 2000, is by and among Akron Holding 
Corporation, an Ohio corporation, Kaiser Alumina Au stralia Corporation, a 
Delaware corporation, Kaiser Aluminium Internationa l, Inc., a Delaware 
corporation, Kaiser Aluminum & Chemical Investment,  Inc., a Delaware 
corporation, Kaiser Aluminum Properties, Inc., a De laware corporation, Kaiser 
Aluminum Technical Services, Inc., a California cor poration, Kaiser Finance 
Corporation, a Delaware corporation, Oxnard Forge D ie Company, Inc., a 
California corporation, Kaiser Micromill Holdings, LLC, a limited liability 
company organized under the laws of Delaware, Kaise r Sierra Micromills, LLC, a 
limited liability company organized under the laws of Delaware, Kaiser Texas 
Sierra Micromills, LLC, a limited liability company  organized under the laws of 
Texas, Kaiser Texas Micromill Holdings, LLC, a limi ted liability company 
organized under the laws of Texas, Kaiser Bellwood Corporation, a Delaware 
corporation, and Kaiser Transaction Corp., a Delawa re corporation (collectively, 
the "Kaiser Subsidiaries" and individually a "Kaise r Subsidiary"), and Bank of 
America, N.A. (successor to BankAmerica Business Cr edit, Inc., a Delaware 
corporation), as agent for the Secured Lenders (in such capacity, together with 
its successors and assigns in such capacity, the "A gent"). Capitalized terms 
used, but not defined, herein shall have the meanin gs given to such terms in the 
Credit Agreement, as amended by the Nineteenth Amen dment. 
 
                              W I T N E S S E T H: 
 
                  WHEREAS, Kaiser Aluminum & Chemic al Corporation, a Delaware 
corporation (the "Company"), Kaiser Aluminum Corpor ation, a Delaware corporation 
(the "Parent Guarantor"), the various financial ins titutions that are or may 
from time to time become parties to the Credit Agre ement (collectively, the 
"Lenders" and, individually, a "Lender"), and the A gent are parties to the 
Credit Agreement, dated as of February 15, 1994, as  amended by the First 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of July 21,  1994, the Second Amendment 
to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 10, 1995, th e Third Amendment to Credit 
Agreement and Acknowledgment, dated as of July 20, 1995, the Fourth Amendment to 
Credit Agreement, dated as of October 17, 1995, the  Fifth Amendment to Credit 
Agreement, dated as of December 11, 1995, the Sixth  Amendment to Credit 
Agreement, dated as of October 1, 1996, the Seventh  Amendment to Credit 
Agreement, dated as of December 17, 1996, the Eight h Amendment to Credit 



Agreement, dated as of February 24, 1997, the Ninth  Amendment to Credit 
Agreement and Acknowledgment, dated as of April 21,  1997, the Tenth Amendment to 
Credit Agreement and Assignment, dated as of June 2 5, 1997, the Eleventh 
Amendment to Credit Agreement and Limited Waivers, dated as of October 20, 1997, 
the Twelfth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as  of January 13, 1998, the 
Thirteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of July 20, 1998, the 
Fourteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 11, 1998, the 
Fifteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as o f February 23, 1999, the 
Sixteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as o f March 26, 1999, the 
Seventeenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as  of September 24, 1999, and 
the Eighteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated  as of February 11, 2000 (the 
"Credit Agreement"); and 
 
                  WHEREAS, as of the date hereof th e Company, the Parent 
Guarantor, the Lenders and the Agent are entering i nto a Nineteenth Amendment to 
Credit Agreement and Limited Waiver (the "Nineteent h Amendment"); and 
 
                  WHEREAS, the Kaiser Subsidiaries and the Agent are parties to 
the Subsidiary Security Agreement, Financing Statem ent and Conditional 
Assignment of Patents and Trademarks, dated as of F ebruary 15, 1994, as amended 
by the First Amendment to Subsidiary Security Agree ment, dated as of July 21, 
1994, the Second Amendment to Subsidiary Security A greement, dated as of 
December 11, 1995, the Third Amendment to Subsidiar y Security Agreement, dated 
as of April 21, 1997, and Supplements to Subsidiary  Security Agreement, dated as 
of June 25, 1997 and February 23, 1999 (the "Subsid iary Security Agreement"), 
and have agreed to amend the Subsidiary Security Ag reement as herein provided; 
and 
 
                  WHEREAS, the Required Lenders hav e consented to the execution 
and delivery of this Amendment by the Agent; 
 
                  NOW, THEREFORE, the parties heret o agree as follows: 
 
                  Section 1.        Amendment to Su bsidiary Security Agreement. 
 
                           A.       Section 2 of th e Subsidiary Security 
         Agreement is hereby amended by adding the following as the second 
         proviso of the first paragraph thereof: 
 
                  "; provided further that, notwith standing anything in this 
                  Agreement or in any other Loan Do cument to the contrary, (i) 
                  with respect to any Cash Manageme nt Obligation constituting 
                  Indebtedness (as defined in the S enior Indenture, the New 
                  Senior Indenture or the Additiona l New Senior Indentures), the 
                  Collateral shall not include any U.S. Fixed Assets (as defined 
                  in the Senior Indenture, the New Senior Indenture or the 
                  Additional New Senior Indentures)  and (ii) no Proceeds of any 
                  U.S. Fixed Assets, or of the disp osition by the Agent of any 
                  U.S. Fixed Assets, shall be appli ed toward the satisfaction of 
                  any Cash Management Obligations c onstituting Indebtedness (as 
                  defined in the Senior Indenture, the New Senior Indenture or 
                  the Additional New Senior Indentu res)." 
 
                           B.       Clause (a)(iii)  of Section 11 of the 
         Subsidiary Security Agreement is hereby am ended by amending the final 
         sentence thereof to read in its entirety a s follows: 
 
                  "Any Proceeds of any Collateral, or of the disposition by the 
                  Agent of any of the Collateral (i ncluding benefits to the 
                  extent provided in Section 19 her eof), shall be applied by the 
                  Agent, in the following order of priority: 
 
                           First, to payment of the  costs and expenses of such 
                  disposition, including the reason able costs and out-of-pocket 
                  expenses of the Agent and attorne ys' fees and costs and 
                  out-of-pocket expenses of counsel  (including allocated costs 



                  of in-house counsel) employed in connection therewith and to 
                  the payment of all advances made by the Agent for the account 
                  of any Kaiser Subsidiary hereunde r and the payment of all 
                  reasonable costs and out-of-pocke t expenses incurred by the 
                  Agent in connection with the admi nistration and enforcement of 
                  this Agreement, to the extent tha t such advances, costs, and 
                  expenses shall not have been reim bursed to the Agent; 
 
                           Second, toward the satis faction of the Secured 
                  Obligations other than Obligation s in respect of principal and 
                  Reimbursement Obligations, Curren cy Hedge Obligations and Cash 
                  Management Obligations; 
 
                           Third, toward the satisf action of the Secured 
                  Obligations in respect of princip al and Reimbursement 
                  Obligations, including the deposi t of available funds in an 
                  amount equal to the then aggregat e Letter of Credit 
                  Outstandings in the L/C Collatera l Account in accordance with 
                  Section 5.8 of the Credit Agreeme nt; 
 
                           Fourth, toward the satis faction of the Currency Hedge 
                  Obligations in the order agreed t o by the Currency Hedge 
                  Providers from time to time; 
 
                           Fifth, subject to the pr ovisions of the second 
                  proviso of the first paragraph of  Section 2, toward the 
                  satisfaction of the Cash Manageme nt Obligations in the order 
                  agreed to by the Cash Management Providers from time to time; 
                  and 
 
                           Sixth, any surplus to be  paid to such Kaiser 
                  Subsidiary, its successors and as signs, or as a court of 
                  competent jurisdiction may direct ." 
 
                  Section 2.        Kaiser Subsidia ries' Representations and 
Warranties. 
 
                  In order to induce the Agent to e nter into this Amendment and 
to amend the Subsidiary Security Agreement in the m anner provided herein, and to 
induce the Required Lenders to consent to such acti on by the Agent, each Kaiser 
Subsidiary represents and warrants to each Lender a nd the Agent that, as of the 
Nineteenth Amendment Effective Date (as defined in the Nineteenth Amendment) 
after giving effect to the effectiveness of this Am endment, the following 
statements are true and correct in all material res pects: 
 
                  A. Authorization of Agreements. T he execution and delivery of 
this Amendment by such Kaiser Subsidiary and the pe rformance of the Subsidiary 
Security Agreement as amended by this Amendment (th e "Amended Agreement") by 
such Kaiser Subsidiary are within such Kaiser Subsi diary's corporate powers or 
company powers, as the case may be, and have been d uly authorized by all 
necessary corporate action or company action, as th e case may be, on the part of 
such Kaiser Subsidiary. 
 
                  B. No Conflict. The execution and  delivery by such Kaiser 
Subsidiary of this Amendment and the performance by  such Kaiser Subsidiary of 
the Amended Agreement do not: 
 
                           (1)      contravene such  Kaiser Subsidiary's Organic 
Documents or the Organizational Agreements; 
 
                           (2)      contravene the Senior Indenture, the New 
Senior Indenture, the Additional Senior Indentures or the Subordinated Indenture 
or contravene any other contractual restriction whe re such a contravention has a 
reasonable possibility of having a Materially Adver se Effect or contravene any 
law or governmental regulation or court decree or o rder binding on or affecting 
such Kaiser Subsidiary or any of its Subsidiaries; or 



 
                           (3)      result in, or r equire the creation or 
imposition of, any Lien on any of such Kaiser Subsi diary's properties, other 
than pursuant to the Loan Documents. 
 
                  C. Binding Obligation. This Amend ment has been duly executed 
and delivered by such Kaiser Subsidiary and this Am endment and the Amended 
Agreement constitute the legal, valid and binding o bligations of such Kaiser 
Subsidiary, enforceable against such Kaiser Subsidi ary in accordance with their 
respective terms, except as may be limited by bankr uptcy, insolvency, 
reorganization, moratorium or similar laws relating  to or limiting creditors' 
rights generally and by general principles of equit y. 
 
                  D. Governmental Approval, Regulat ion, etc. No authorization or 
approval or other action by, and no notice to or fi ling with, any governmental 
authority or regulatory body or other Person is req uired for the due execution, 
delivery or performance of this Amendment by such K aiser Subsidiary. 
 
                  Section 3. Miscellaneous. 
 
                  A. Reference to and Effect on the  Subsidiary Security 
Agreement and the Other Loan Documents. 
 
                           (1) On and after the Nin eteenth Amendment Effective 
Date, each reference in the Subsidiary Security Agr eement to "this Agreement", 
"hereunder", "hereof", "herein" or words of like im port referring to the 
Subsidiary Security Agreement, and each reference i n the other Loan Documents to 
the "Subsidiary Security Agreement", "thereunder", "thereof" or words of like 
import referring to the Subsidiary Security Agreeme nt shall mean and be a 
reference to the Amended Agreement. 
 
                           (2) Except as specifical ly amended by this Amendment, 
the Subsidiary Security Agreement shall remain in f ull force and effect and is 
hereby ratified and confirmed. 
 
                           (3) The execution, deliv ery and performance of this 
Amendment shall not, except as expressly provided h erein, constitute a waiver of 
any provision of, or operate as a waiver of any rig ht, power or remedy of the 
Agent or any Lender under, the Subsidiary Security Agreement. 
 
                  B. Applicable Law.  THIS AMENDMEN T SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE A 
CONTRACT MADE UNDER AND GOVERNED BY THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE 
STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO SUCH LA WS RELATING TO 
CONFLICTS OF LAWS. 
 
                  C. Headings. The various headings  of this Amendment are 
inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation 
of this Amendment or any provision hereof. 
 
                  D. Counterparts. This Agreement m ay be executed by the parties 
hereto in several counterparts and by the different  parties on separate 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be a n original and all of which 
shall constitute together but one and the same inst rument; signature pages may 
be detached from multiple separate counterparts and  attached to a single 
counterpart so that all signature pages are physica lly attached to the same 
document. 
 
                  E. Severability. Any provision of  this Amendment which is 
prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction sha ll, as to such provision and 
such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or 
unenforceability without invalidating the remaining  provisions of this Amendment 
or affecting the validity or enforceability of such  provisions in any other 
jurisdiction. 
 
                  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendmen t has been duly executed and 
delivered as of the day and year first above writte n. 



 
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (successor to 
 
 
BankAmerica Business Credit, Inc.), as Agent 
By: 
Name: Michael J. Jasaitis 
Its: Vice President 
 
AKRON HOLDING CORPORATION                            KAISER ALUMINUM & CHEMICAL 
                                                     INVESTMENT, INC. 
 
By:                                                  By: 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
KAISER ALUMINUM PROPERTIES,                          KAISER ALUMINUM TECHNICAL 
INC.                                                 SERVICES, INC. 
 
By:                                                  By: 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
OXNARD FORGE DIE COMPANY, INC.                       KAISER ALUMINIUM 
                                                     INTERNATIONAL, INC. 
 
By:                                                  By: 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
KAISER ALUMINA AUSTRALIA                             KAISER FINANCE CORPORATION 
CORPORATION 
 
By:                                                  By: 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
KAISER MICROMILL HOLDINGS, LLC                       KAISER SIERRA MICROMILLS, LLC 
 
By:                                                  By: 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed: David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its: Assistant Treasurer 
 
KAISER TEXAS SIERRA MICROMILLS,                      KAISER TEXAS MICROMILL 
LLC                                                  HOLDINGS, LLC 
 
By:                                                  By: 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
KAISER BELLWOOD CORPORATION                          KAISER TRANSACTION CORP. 
 
By:                                                  By: 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
 
 
                                   EXHIBIT VII 
 
RECORDING REQUESTED BY: 
 
 
                                                                                                                                                                                                EXHIBIT VII
AND WHEN RECORDED MAIL TO: 
 



O'Melveny & Myers LLP 
275 Battery Street, 26th Floor 
San Francisco, California  94111-3305 
Attn:    Jill H. Matichak, Esq. 
         (File No. 019,368-663) 
 
 
 
              THIRD AMENDMENT TO DEED OF TRUST WITH  POWER OF SALE, 
                         ASSIGNMENT OF LEASES AND R ENTS, 
                       SECURITY AGREEMENT, FIXTURE FILING 
                             AND FINANCING STATEMEN T 
 
                  THIS THIRD AMENDMENT TO DEED OF T RUST WITH POWER OF SALE, 
ASSIGNMENT OF LEASES AND RENTS, SECURITY AGREEMENT, FIXTURE FILING AND FINANCING 
STATEMENT (this "THIRD AMENDMENT") is made as of De cember 27, 2000 by and 
between KAISER ALUMINUM & CHEMICAL CORPORATION, a D elaware corporation 
("TRUSTOR"), whose address is 5847 San Felipe, Suit e 2600, Houston Texas 77057, 
and BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (successor to BankAmerica  Business Credit, Inc., a 
Delaware corporation) ("BANK OF AMERICA"), as agent  for the Secured Lenders, 
having an office at 55 South Lake Avenue, Suite 900 , Pasadena, California 91101 
(Bank of America, in its capacity as agent for the Secured Lenders, shall be 
referred to hereinafter as "BENEFICIARY"). 
 
                                R E C I T A L S : 
 
                  A. Pursuant to that certain Credi t Agreement, dated as of 
February 15, 1994 (the "CREDIT AGREEMENT") between Trustor, Kaiser Aluminum 
Corporation, a Delaware corporation ("PARENT GUARAN TOR"), Bank of America and 
various other financial institutions named therein (which financial 
institutions, together with Bank of America in its capacity as lender, shall be 
referred to hereinafter collectively as "BANK LENDE RS") and Beneficiary, Bank 
Lenders agreed to make certain revolving loans and other financial commitments 
to Trustor (the "LOANS"). Except as otherwise provi ded in this Third Amendment, 
all initially capitalized terms used herein without  definition shall have the 
same meaning as in the Credit Agreement, as amended . 
 
                  B. The Loans are secured by, amon g other things, that certain 
Deed of Trust with Power of Sale, Assignment of Lea ses and Rents, Security 
Agreement, Fixture Filing and Financing Statement d ated as of February 15, 1994, 
executed by Trustor, as trustor, to Chicago Title I nsurance Company, as trustee, 
for the benefit of Beneficiary as agent of Bank Len ders, as beneficiary, and 
recorded on __________ in the Official Records of _ ________ County, __________ 
at Volume _____, Page _____ (the "ORIGINAL DEED OF TRUST"), as amended by the 
First Amendment to Deed of Trust with Power of Sale , Assignment of Leases and 
Rents, Security Agreement, Fixture Filing and Finan cing Statement (the "FIRST 
AMENDMENT") dated as of July 21, 1994 and recorded on __________ in the Official 
Records of _________ County, __________ as Instrume nt _____, Volume _____, Page 
_____ and the Second Amendment to Deed of Trust wit h Power of Sale, Assignment 
of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement, Fixture Fi ling and Financing Statement 
(the "SECOND AMENDMENT") dated as of March 10, 1995  and recorded on __________ 
in the Official Records of __________County, ______ ___ as Instrument _____, 
Volume ____, Page __ (as so amended, the "DEED OF T RUST"). 
 
                  C. The Deed of Trust encumbers th at certain real property 
located in __________ County, _________ as more par ticularly described in 
Exhibit A, attached hereto, and by this reference i ncorporated herein. 
 
                  D. Concurrently herewith, Trustor , Parent Guarantor and Bank 
Lenders have agreed to amend the Credit Agreement t o, among other things, permit 
the Cash Management Providers (as defined in the Cr edit Agreement) to provide 
Cash Management Services (as defined in the Credit Agreement) to Trustor and 
provide that Trustor's obligations in respect there of shall be secured by the 
Deed of Trust, all as set forth in that certain Nin eteenth Amendment to Credit 
Agreement and Limited Waiver dated of even date her ewith by and between Trustor, 
Parent Guarantor, Lenders and Beneficiary (the "NIN ETEENTH CREDIT AGREEMENT 



AMENDMENT"). 
 
                  E. Trustor and Beneficiary desire  to amend the Deed of Trust 
to reflect and evidence the amendments and modifica tions set forth in the 
Nineteenth Credit Agreement Amendment. 
 
                  NOW, THEREFORE, with reference to  the foregoing Recitals and 
for valuable consideration, the receipt and suffici ency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, Trustor and Beneficiary further agree  as follows: 
 
                           1.   The definitions of "Lenders" and "Secured 
                                Obligations" set fo rth in Exhibit C of the Deed 
                                of Trust shall be a mended to read in their 
                                entirety as follows : 
 
                           "'Lender' and 'Lenders' shall mean the Bank Lenders, 
                  the Currency Hedge Providers (as defined in the Credit 
                  Agreement) and the Cash Managemen t Providers (as defined in 
                  the Credit Agreement)." 
 
                           "'Secured Obligations' m eans (A) all Obligations, 
                  whether now existing or hereafter  arising, of Trustor under or 
                  in connection with the Credit Agr eement or any other Loan 
                  Documents, (B) all Obligations, w hether now existing or 
                  hereafter arising, of Trustor und er or in connection with the 
                  Currency Hedge Agreements (as def ined in the Credit Agreement) 
                  and (C) all Obligations, whether now existing or hereafter 
                  arising, of Trustor arising in co nnection with the Cash 
                  Management Services (as defined i n the Credit Agreement), 
                  whether for advances, costs, fees , expenses, or otherwise; 
                  provided, however, that the Secur ed Obligations shall not 
                  include any Cash Management Oblig ation (as defined in the 
                  Credit Agreement) constituting In debtedness (as defined in the 
                  Senior Indenture (as defined in t he Credit Agreement), the 
                  Additional New Senior Indenture ( as defined in the Credit 
                  Agreement) or the New Senior Inde ntures (as defined in the 
                  Credit Agreement))." 
 
                              2.       Section 3.9 of the Deed of Trust is hereby 
                           amended to read in its e ntirety as follows: 
 
                           First, to payment of the  costs and expenses of 
                  disposing of the Collateral and r ealizing Proceeds, including 
                  the reasonable costs and out-of-p ocket expenses of Beneficiary 
                  and the Lenders, and attorneys' f ees and costs and 
                  out-of-pocket expenses of counsel  employed in connection 
                  therewith and to the payment of a ll advances made by 
                  Beneficiary and the Lenders for t he account of Trustor 
                  hereunder and the payment of all reasonable costs and 
                  out-of-pocket expenses incurred b y Beneficiary in connection 
                  with the administration and enfor cement, and by any Lender in 
                  connection with the enforcement, of this Deed of Trust, to the 
                  extent that such advances, costs,  and expenses shall not have 
                  been reimbursed to Beneficiary or  the Lenders, as the case may 
                  be; 
 
                           Second, toward the satis faction of the Secured 
                  Obligations other than Obligation s in respect of principal and 
                  Reimbursement Obligations, Curren cy Hedge Obligations and Cash 
                  Management Obligations; 
 
                           Third, toward the satisf action of the Secured 
                  Obligations in respect of princip al and Reimbursement 
                  Obligations, including the deposi t of available funds in an 
                  amount equal to the then aggregat e Letter of Credit 
                  Outstandings in the L/C Collatera l Account in accordance with 



                  Section 5.8 of the Credit Agreeme nt; 
 
                           Fourth, toward the satis faction of the Currency Hedge 
                  Obligations in the order agreed t o by the Currency Hedge 
                  Providers from time to time; 
 
                           Fifth, toward the satisf action of the Cash Management 
                  Obligations that constitute Secur ed Obligations in the order 
                  agreed to by the Cash Management Providers from time to time; 
                  and 
 
                           Sixth, any surplus to be  paid to the Trustor, its 
                  successors and assigns, or as a c ourt of competent 
                  jurisdiction may direct. 
 
                                3. Trustor's obliga tions 
                            evidenced by the Credit  Agreement, as 
                            amended by the Nineteen th Credit Agreement 
                            Amendment, shall contin ue to be secured by 
                            the Deed of Trust. Exce pt as amended by this 
                            Third Amendment, the De ed of Trust shall 
                            remain unmodified and i n full force and 
                            effect. The parties her eto hereby ratify and 
                            confirm the Deed of Tru st as amended hereby. 
 
                                4.  It is the inten t of 
                            each of the parties her eto that the Deed of 
                            Trust, as modified and amended by the First 
                            Amendment, the Second A mendment and this 
                            Third Amendment, shall have and retain the 
                            priority established at  the time of its 
                            original recordation on  February 18, 1994 
                            (the "ORIGINAL RECORDIN G DATE"). To the 
                            extent that any court o f law or equity 
                            determines that the pri ority of this Third 
                            Amendment may not relat e back to the 
                            Original Recording Date , then (i) this Third 
                            Amendment shall be bifu rcated from the Deed 
                            of Trust such that the obligations of 
                            Trustor with respect to  the Cash Management 
                            Services, secured by th is Third Amendment, 
                            shall have such priorit y as is established 
                            at the time of recordat ion of this Third 
                            Amendment in the Offici al Records of 
                            __________ County, ____ __, and (ii) the Deed 
                            of Trust, as unamended by this Third 
                            Amendment, shall contin ue to secure the 
                            obligations of Trustor under the Credit 
                            Agreement, as unamended  by the Nineteenth 
                            Credit Agreement Amendm ent, and the other 
                            Secured Obligations set  forth in the Deed of 
                            Trust, and shall contin ue to have the 
                            priority described in p aragraph 2 of the 
                            Second Amendment. In no  event shall this 
                            Third Amendment destroy , impair or otherwise 
                            affect the priority of the Deed of Trust 
                            established on the Orig inal Recording Date. 
 
                                5.        This Thir d Amendment 
                            shall be governed by an d construed in 
                            accordance with the law s in the State of 
                            ______ without giving e ffect to the conflict 
                            of law principles of sa id State. 
 
                                6.        This Thir d Amendment 
                            may be executed in coun terparts, each of 



                            which shall be deemed a n original, but all 
                            of which when taken tog ether shall 
                            constitute one and the same instrument. The 
                            signature page of any c ounterpart may be 
                            detached therefrom with out impairing the 
                            legal effect of the sig nature(s) thereon and 
                            attached to any other c ounterpart identical 
                            thereto except having a dditional signature 
                            pages attached to it. 
 
                                7.        In the ev ent of any 
                            inconsistencies between  the provisions of 
                            this Third Amendment an d the provisions of 
                            the Deed of Trust, the provisions of this 
                            Third Amendment shall g overn and prevail. 
 
                                8.        The relat ionship of 
                            Trustor and Beneficiary  with respect to the 
                            Loans and the matters s et forth herein is 
                            that of creditor and de btor respectively and 
                            by virtue of entering i nto the Third Credit 
                            Agreement Amendment and  performing their 
                            respective obligations thereunder, Trustor 
                            and Beneficiary do not intend to form a 
                            partnership or joint ve nture or any other 
                            relationship other than  that of creditor and 
                            debtor respectively. 
 
                  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the duly auth orized representatives of 
Trustor and Beneficiary have executed this Third Am endment as of the date first 
above written. 
 
                                    "TRUSTOR" 
                                    KAISER ALUMINUM  & CHEMICAL 
                                    CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation 
 
                                    By: 
                                    Name: David A. Cheadle 
                                    Its:  Assistant  Treasurer 
 
 
 
                                     "BENEFICIARY" 
                                     BANK OF AMERIC A, N.A. (successor to BankAmerica 
                                     Business Credi t, Inc., a Delaware corporation) 
 
                                     By: 
                                     Name: Michael J. Jasaitis 
                                     Its:  Vice Pre sident 
 
 
 
 
                                ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
 
STATE OF ___________________                ) 
                                            ) 
COUNTY OF __________________                ) 
 
 
 
                  On December __, 2000, before me, _____________________, a 
Notary Public in and for said State, personally app eared 
______________________________________________, per sonally known to me (or 
proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence)  to be the person(s) whose 
name(s) is/are subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that 



he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their auth orized capacity(ies), and 
that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrumen t the person(s), or the 
entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, ex ecuted the instrument. 
 
                  WITNESS my hand and official seal . 
Signature         ________________________________ (Seal) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF ___________________                ) 
                                            ) 
COUNTY OF __________________                ) 
 
 
 
 
                  On December __, 2000, before me, _____________________, a 
Notary Public in and for said State, personally app eared 
______________________________________________, per sonally known to me (or 
proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence)  to be the person(s) whose 
name(s) is/are subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that 
he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their auth orized capacity(ies), and 
that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrumen t the person(s), or the 
entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, ex ecuted the instrument. 
 
                  WITNESS my hand and official seal . 
                                  Signature________ ________________________ (Seal) 
 
 
 
                                                                                                                                                                                                Signature___ _____________________________ (Seal)
 
                                  EXHIBIT VIII 
 
RECORDING REQUESTED BY: 
 
 
                                                                                                                                                                                                EXHIBIT VIII
O'Melveny & Myers LLP 
275 Battery Street, 26th Floor 
San Francisco, California  94111-3305 
Attn:    Jill H. Matichak, Esq. 
         (File No. 019,368-663) 
 
                 THIRD AMENDMENT TO MORTGAGE WITH P OWER OF SALE, 
                         ASSIGNMENT OF LEASES AND R ENTS, 
                       SECURITY AGREEMENT, FIXTURE FILING 
                             AND FINANCING STATEMEN T 
 
                  THIS THIRD AMENDMENT TO MORTGAGE WITH POWER OF SALE, 
ASSIGNMENT OF LEASES AND RENTS, SECURITY AGREEMENT, FIXTURE FILING AND FINANCING 
STATEMENT (this "THIRD AMENDMENT") is made as of De cember 27, 2000 by and 
between KAISER ALUMINUM & CHEMICAL CORPORATION, a D elaware corporation 
("MORTGAGOR"), whose address is 5847 San Felipe, Su ite 2600, Houston Texas 
77057, and BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (successor to Bank America Business Credit, 
Inc., a Delaware corporation) ("BANK OF AMERICA"), as agent for the Secured 
Lenders, having an office at 55 South Lake Avenue, Suite 900, Pasadena, 
California 91101 (Bank of America, in its capacity as agent for the Secured 
Lenders, shall be referred to hereinafter as "MORTG AGEE"). 
 
                                R E C I T A L S : 
 
                  A. Pursuant to that certain Credi t Agreement dated as of 



February 15, 1994 (the "CREDIT AGREEMENT") between Mortgagor, Kaiser Aluminum 
Corporation, a Delaware corporation ("PARENT GUARAN TOR"), Bank of America and 
various other financial institutions named therein (which financial 
institutions, together with Bank of America in its capacity as lender, shall be 
referred to hereinafter collectively as "BANK LENDE RS") and Mortgagee, Bank 
Lenders agreed to make certain revolving loans and other financial commitments 
to Mortgagor (the "LOANS"). Except as otherwise pro vided in this Third 
Amendment, all initially capitalized terms used her ein without definition shall 
have the same meaning as in the Credit Agreement, a s amended. 
 
                  B. The Loans are secured by, amon g other things, that certain 
Mortgage with Power of Sale, Assignment of Leases a nd Rents, Security Agreement, 
Fixture Filing and Financing Statement dated as of February 15, 1994, executed 
by Mortgagor, as mortgagor, to Mortgagee as agent o f Bank Lenders, as mortgagee, 
and recorded on __________ in the Official Records of __________ County, 
__________ at Volume _____, Page _____ (the "ORIGIN AL MORTGAGE"), as amended by 
the First Amendment to Mortgage with Power of Sale,  Assignment of Leases and 
Rents, Security Agreement, Fixture Filing and Finan cing Statement (the "FIRST 
AMENDMENT") dated as of July 21, 1994 and recorded on __________ in the Official 
Records of _________ County, __________ as Instrume nt __________, Volume _____, 
Page _____ and the Second Amendment to Mortgage wit h Power of Sale, Assignment 
of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement, Fixture Fi ling and Financing Statement 
(the "SECOND AMENDMENT") dated as of March 10, 1995  and recorded on __________ 
in the Official Records of __________ County, _____ _____ as Instrument _____, 
Volume ____, Page __ (as so amended, the "MORTGAGE" ). 
 
                  C. The Mortgage encumbers that ce rtain real property located 
in __________ County, __________ as more particular ly described in Exhibit A, 
attached hereto, and by this reference incorporated  herein. 
 
                  D. Concurrently herewith, Mortgag or, Parent Guarantor and Bank 
Lenders have agreed to amend the Credit Agreement t o, among other things, permit 
the Cash Management Providers (as defined in the Cr edit Agreement) to provide 
Cash Management Services (as defined in the Credit Agreement) to Mortgagor and 
provide that Mortgagor's obligations in respect the reof shall be secured by the 
Mortgage, all as set forth in that certain Nineteen th Amendment to Credit 
Agreement dated of even date herewith by and betwee n Mortgagor, Parent 
Guarantor, Lenders and Mortgagee (the "NINETEENTH C REDIT AGREEMENT AMENDMENT"). 
 
 
                  E. Mortgagor and Mortgagee desire  to amend the Mortgage to 
reflect and evidence the amendments and modificatio ns set forth in the 
Nineteenth Credit Agreement Amendment. 
 
                  NOW, THEREFORE, with reference to  the foregoing Recitals and 
for valuable consideration, the receipt and suffici ency of which are hereby 
acknowledged, Mortgagor and Mortgagee further agree  as follows: 
 
                   1.    The definitions of "Lender s" and "Secured Obligations" set 
forth in Exhibit C of the Mortgage shall be amended  to read in their 
entirety as follows: 
 
                      "'Lender' and 'Lenders' shall  mean the Bank Lenders, the 
                   Currency Hedge Providers (as def ined in the Credit Agreement) 
                   and the Cash Management Provider s (as defined in the Credit 
                   Agreement)." 
 
                      "'Secured Obligations' means (A) all Obligations, whether 
                   now existing or hereafter arisin g, of Mortgagor under or in 
                   connection with the Credit Agree ment or any other Loan 
                   Documents, (B) all Obligations, whether now existing or 
                   hereafter arising, of Mortgagor under or in connection with 
                   the Currency Hedge Agreements (a s defined in the Credit 
                   Agreement) and (C) all Obligatio ns, whether now existing or 
                   hereafter arising, of Mortgagor arising in connection with 
                   the Cash Management Services (as  defined in the Credit 



                   Agreement), whether for advances , costs, fees, expenses, or 
                   otherwise; provided, however, th at the Secured Obligations 
                   shall not include any Cash Manag ement Obligation (as defined 
                   in the Credit Agreement) constit uting Indebtedness (as 
                   defined in the Senior Indenture (as defined in the Credit 
                   Agreement), the Additional New S enior Indenture (as defined 
                   in the Credit Agreement) or the New Senior Indentures (as 
                   defined in the Credit Agreement) )." 
 
                  2. Section 3.9 of the Mortgage is  hereby amended to read in 
its entirety as follows: 
 
                     First, to payment of the costs  and expenses of 
                  disposing of the Collateral and r ealizing Proceeds, including 
                  the reasonable costs and out-of-p ocket expenses of Mortgagee 
                  and the Lenders, and attorneys' f ees and costs and 
                  out-of-pocket expenses of counsel  employed in connection 
                  therewith and to the payment of a ll advances made by Mortgagee 
                  and the Lenders for the account o f Mortgagor hereunder and the 
                  payment of all reasonable costs a nd out-of-pocket expenses 
                  incurred by Mortgagee in connecti on with the administration 
                  and enforcement, and by any Lende r in connection with the 
                  enforcement, of this Mortgage, to  the extent that such 
                  advances, costs, and expenses sha ll not have been reimbursed 
                  to Mortgagee or the Lenders, as t he case may be; 
 
                     Second, toward the satisfactio n of the Secured Obligations 
                  other than Obligations in respect  of principal and 
                  Reimbursement Obligations, Curren cy Hedge Obligations and Cash 
                  Management Obligations; 
 
                     Third, toward the satisfaction  of the Secured Obligations 
                  in respect of principal and Reimb ursement Obligations, 
                  including the deposit of availabl e funds in an amount equal to 
                  the then aggregate Letter of Cred it Outstandings in the L/C 
                  Collateral Account in accordance with Section 5.8 of the 
                  Credit Agreement; 
 
                     Fourth, toward the satisfactio n of the Currency Hedge 
                  Obligations in the order agreed t o by the Currency Hedge 
                  Providers from time to time; 
 
                     Fifth, toward the satisfaction  of the Cash Management 
                  Obligations that constitute Secur ed Obligations in the order 
                  agreed to by the Cash Management Providers from time to time; 
                  and 
 
                     Sixth, any surplus to be paid to the Mortgagor, its 
                  successors and assigns, or as a c ourt of competent 
                  jurisdiction may direct. 
 
                3. Mortgagor's obligations evidence d by the Credit Agreement, as 
amended by the Nineteenth Credit Agreement Amendmen t, shall continue to be 
secured by the Mortgage. Except as amended by this Third Amendment, the Mortgage 
shall remain unmodified and in full force and effec t. The parties hereto hereby 
ratify and confirm the Mortgage as amended hereby. 
 
                4. It is the intent of each of the parties hereto that the 
Mortgage, as modified and amended by the First Amen dment, the Second Amendment 
and this Third Amendment, shall have and retain the  priority established at the 
time of its original recordation on February 18, 19 94 (the "ORIGINAL RECORDING 
DATE"). To the extent that any court of law or equi ty determines that the 
priority of this Third Amendment may not relate bac k to the Original Recording 
Date, then (i) this Third Amendment shall be bifurc ated from the Mortgage such 
that the obligations of Mortgagor with respect to t he Cash Management Services, 
secured by this Third Amendment, shall have such pr iority as is established at 



the time of recordation of this Third Amendment in the Official Records of _____ 
County, ___, and (ii) the Mortgage, as unamended by  this Third Amendment, shall 
continue to secure the obligations of Mortgagor und er the Credit Agreement, as 
unamended by the Nineteenth Credit Agreement Amendm ent, and the other Secured 
Obligations set forth in the Mortgage, and shall co ntinue to have the priority 
described in paragraph 2 of the Second Amendment. I n no event shall this Third 
Amendment destroy, impair or otherwise affect the p riority of the Mortgage 
established on the Original Recording Date. 
 
                 5. This Third Amendment shall be g overned by and construed in 
accordance with the laws in the State of ___ withou t giving effect to the 
conflict of law principles of said State. 
 
                 6. This Third Amendment may be exe cuted in counterparts, each 
of which shall be deemed an original, but all of wh ich when taken together shall 
constitute one and the same instrument. The signatu re page of any counterpart 
may be detached therefrom without impairing the leg al effect of the signature(s) 
thereon and attached to any other counterpart ident ical thereto except having 
additional signature pages attached to it. 
 
                 7. In the event of any inconsisten cies between the provisions 
of this Third Amendment and the provisions of the M ortgage, the provisions of 
this Third Amendment shall govern and prevail. 
 
                 8. The relationship of Mortgagor a nd Mortgagee with respect to 
the Loans and the matters set forth herein is that of creditor and debtor 
respectively and by virtue of entering into the Thi rd Credit Agreement Amendment 
and performing their respective obligations thereun der, Mortgagor and Mortgagee 
do not intend to form a partnership or joint ventur e or any other relationship 
other than that of creditor and debtor respectively . 
 
                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the duly autho rized representatives of 
Mortgagor and Mortgagee have executed this Third Am endment as of the date first 
above written. 
 
                                            "MORTGA GOR" 
                                            KAISER ALUMINUM & CHEMICAL 
                                            CORPORA TION, a Delaware corporation 
                                            By: 
                                            Name: D avid A. Cheadle 
                                            Its:  A ssistant Treasurer 
 
 
 
                                            "MORTGA GEE" 
                                            BANK OF  AMERICA, N.A. (successor to BankAmerica 
                                            Busines s Credit, Inc., a Delaware corporation) 
                                            By: 
                                            Name: M ichael J. Jasaitis 
                                            Its:  V ice President 
 
 
 
 
                                ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 
 
STATE OF ___________________                ) 
                                            ) 
COUNTY OF __________________                ) 
 
 
 
                  On December __, 2000, before me, _____________________, a 
Notary Public in and for said State, personally app eared 
______________________________________________, per sonally known to me (or 
proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence)  to be the person(s) whose 



name(s) is/are subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that 
he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their auth orized capacity(ies), and 
that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrumen t the person(s), or the 
entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, ex ecuted the instrument. 
 
                  WITNESS my hand and official seal . 
Signature         ________________________________ (Seal) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
STATE OF ___________________                ) 
                                            ) 
COUNTY OF __________________                ) 
 
 
 
 
                  On December __, 2000, before me, _____________________, a 
Notary Public in and for said State, personally app eared 
______________________________________________, per sonally known to me (or 
proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence)  to be the person(s) whose 
name(s) is/are subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that 
he/she/they executed the same in his/her/their auth orized capacity(ies), and 
that by his/her/their signature(s) on the instrumen t the person(s), or the 
entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, ex ecuted the instrument. 
 
                  WITNESS my hand and official seal . 
Signature         ________________________________ (Seal) 
 
 
                                    EXHIBIT A 
                          LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF PROP ERTY 
 
 
 
                                   EXHIBIT IX 
 
             SECOND AMENDMENT TO INTERCOMPANY NOTE PLEDGE AGREEMENT 
 
 
                  THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO INTERCOM PANY NOTE PLEDGE AGREEMENT 
(this "Amendment"), dated as of December 27, 2000, is by and among Kaiser Export 
Company, a California corporation, and Kaiser Bauxi te Company, a Nevada 
corporation, (collectively, the "Pledgors" and, ind ividually, a "Pledgor"), and 
Bank of America, N.A. (successor to BankAmerica Bus iness Credit, Inc., a 
Delaware corporation), as agent for the Secured Len ders (in such capacity, 
together with its successors and assigns in such ca pacity, the "Agent"). 
Capitalized terms used, but not defined, herein sha ll have the meanings given to 
such terms in the Credit Agreement, as amended by t he Nineteenth Amendment. 
 
                              W I T N E S S E T H: 
 
                  WHEREAS, Kaiser Aluminum & Chemic al Corporation (the 
"Company"), Kaiser Aluminum Corporation, the variou s financial institutions that 
are or may from time to time become parties to the Credit Agreement 
(collectively, the "Lenders" and, individually, a " Lender"), and the Agent are 
parties to the Credit Agreement, dated as of Februa ry 15, 1994, as amended by 
the First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as o f July 21, 1994, the Second 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 10 , 1995, the Third Amendment 
to Credit Agreement and Acknowledgment, dated as of  July 20, 1995, the Fourth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of October 17, 1995, the Fifth Amendment 
to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 11, 1995,  the Sixth Amendment to 
Credit Agreement, dated as of October 1, 1996, the Seventh Amendment to Credit 



Agreement, dated as of December 17, 1996, the Eight h Amendment to Credit 
Agreement, dated as of February 24, 1997, the Ninth  Amendment to Credit 
Agreement and Acknowledgment, dated as of April 21,  1997, the Tenth Amendment to 
Credit Agreement and Assignment, dated as of June 2 5, 1997, the Eleventh 
Amendment to Credit Agreement and Limited Waivers, dated as of October 20, 1997, 
the Twelfth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as  of January 13, 1998, the 
Thirteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of July 20, 1998, the 
Fourteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 11, 1998, the 
Fifteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as o f February 23, 1999, the 
Sixteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as o f March 26, 1999, the 
Seventeenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as  of September 24, 1999, and 
the Eighteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated  as of February 11, 2000 (the 
"Credit Agreement"); and 
 
                  WHEREAS, as of the date hereof th e Company, the Parent 
Guarantor, the Lenders and the Agent are entering i nto a Nineteenth Amendment to 
Credit Agreement and Limited Waiver (the "Nineteent h Amendment"); and 
 
                  WHEREAS, the Pledgors and the Age nt are parties to the 
Intercompany Note Pledge Agreement, dated as of Feb ruary 15, 1994, as amended by 
the First Amendment to Intercompany Note Pledge Agr eement, dated as of July 21, 
1994 (the "Intercompany Note Pledge Agreement"), an d have agreed to amend the 
Intercompany Note Pledge Agreement as herein provid ed; and 
 
                  WHEREAS, the Required Lenders hav e consented to the execution 
and delivery of this Amendment by the Agent; 
 
                  NOW, THEREFORE, the parties heret o agree as follows: 
 
                  Section 1.  Amendment to Intercom pany Note Pledge Agreement. 
 
                  Section 2.3 of the Intercompany N ote Pledge Agreement is 
amended to read in its entirety as follows: 
 
                  "SECTION 2.3. Secured Obligations . This Agreement secures, and 
                  the Collateral is collateral secu rity for, the prompt payment 
                  or performance in full when due, whether at stated maturity, 
                  by required prepayment, declarati on, acceleration, demand, or 
                  otherwise (including the payment of amounts that would become 
                  due but for the operation of the automatic stay under Section 
                  362(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, 11  U.S.C. Section 362(a)) of, all 
                  Obligations of the Parent Guarant or, the Company, and their 
                  respective Subsidiaries, whether now existing or hereafter 
                  arising under or in connection wi th the Credit Agreement or 
                  any other Loan Document, all Obli gations of the Company now 
                  existing or hereafter arising und er or in connection with the 
                  Currency Hedge Agreements, all Ob ligations of the Company now 
                  existing or hereafter arising in connection with the Cash 
                  Management Services, and any and all extensions or renewals, 
                  thereof, whether for principal, i nterest (including interest 
                  that, but for the filing of a pet ition in bankruptcy with 
                  respect to the Parent Guarantor, the Company or any of their 
                  respective Subsidiaries, would ac crue on such Obligations), 
                  reimbursements of amounts drawn u nder Letters of Credit, fees, 
                  expenses, indemnities, or otherwi se, whether voluntary or 
                  involuntary, direct or indirect, absolute or contingent, 
                  liquidated or unliquidated, wheth er or not jointly owed with 
                  others, whether or not from time to time decreased or 
                  extinguished and later increased,  created, or incurred, and 
                  all or any portion of such Obliga tions that are paid, to the 
                  extent all or any part of such pa yment is avoided or recovered 
                  directly or indirectly from the A gent or any Secured Lender as 
                  a preference, fraudulent transfer , or otherwise, and any and 
                  all Obligations of any Pledgor no w or hereafter existing under 
                  this Agreement, whether for advan ces, costs, fees, expenses, 
                  or otherwise (collectively, the ' Secured Obligations')." 



 
                  Section 2. Pledgors' Representati ons and Warranties. 
 
                  In order to induce the Agent to e nter into this Amendment and 
to amend the Intercompany Note Pledge Agreement in the manner provided herein, 
and to induce the Required Lenders to consent to su ch action by the Agent, each 
Pledgor represents and warrants to each Lender and the Agent that, as of the 
Nineteenth Amendment Effective Date (as defined in the Nineteenth Amendment) 
after giving effect to the effectiveness of this Am endment, the following 
statements are true and correct in all material res pects: 
 
                  A.       Authorization of Agreeme nts.  The execution and 
delivery of this Amendment by such Pledgor and the performance of the 
Intercompany Note Pledge Agreement as amended by th is Amendment (the "Amended 
Agreement") by such Pledgor are within such Pledgor 's corporate powers and have 
been duly authorized by all necessary corporate act ion on the part of such Pledgor. 
 
                  B.       No Conflict.  The execut ion and delivery by such 
Pledgor of this Amendment and the performance by su ch Pledgor of the Amended 
Agreement do not: 
 
                           (1)      contravene such  Pledgor's Organic Documents; 
 
                           (2)      contravene the Senior Indenture, the New 
Senior Indenture, the Additional New Senior Indentu res or the Subordinated 
Indenture or contravene any other contractual restr iction where such a 
contravention has a reasonable possibility of havin g a Materially Adverse Effect 
or contravene any law or governmental regulation or  court decree or order 
binding on or affecting such Pledgor or any of its Subsidiaries; or 
 
                           (3)      result in, or r equire the creation or 
imposition of, any Lien on any of such Pledgor's pr operties, other than pursuant 
to the Loan Documents. 
 
                  C. Binding Obligation. This Amend ment has been duly executed 
and delivered by such Pledgor and this Amendment an d the Amended Agreement 
constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations  of such Pledgor, enforceable 
against such Pledgor in accordance with their respe ctive terms, except as may be 
limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws 
relating to or limiting creditors' rights generally  and by general principles of 
equity. 
 
                  D. Governmental Approval, Regulat ion, etc. No authorization or 
approval or other action by, and no notice to or fi ling with, any governmental 
authority or regulatory body or other Person is req uired for the due execution, 
delivery or performance of this Amendment by such P ledgor. 
 
                  Section 3.  Miscellaneous. 
 
                  A. Reference to and Effect on the  Intercompany Note Pledge Agreement and 
the Other Loan Documents. 
 
                           (1) On and after the Nin eteenth Amendment Effective 
Date, each reference in the Intercompany Note Pledg e Agreement to "this 
Agreement", "hereunder", "hereof", "herein" or word s of like import referring to 
the Intercompany Note Pledge Agreement, and each re ference in the other Loan 
Documents to the "Intercompany Note Pledge Agreemen t", "thereunder", "thereof" 
or words of like import referring to the Intercompa ny Note Pledge Agreement 
shall mean and be a reference to the Amended Agreem ent. 
 
                           (2) Except as specifical ly amended by this Amendment, 
the Intercompany Note Pledge Agreement shall remain  in full force and effect and 
is hereby ratified and confirmed. 
 
                           (3) The execution, deliv ery and performance of this 
Amendment shall not, except as expressly provided h erein, constitute a waiver of 



any provision of, or operate as a waiver of any rig ht, power or remedy of the 
Agent or any Lender under, the Intercompany Note Pl edge Agreement. 
 
                  B. Applicable Law. THIS AMENDMENT  SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE A 
CONTRACT MADE UNDER AND GOVERNED BY THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK, 
WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO SUCH LAWS RELATING TO CONFLICTS OF LAWS. 
 
                  C. Headings. The various headings  of this Amendment are 
inserted for convenience only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation 
of this Amendment or any provision hereof. 
 
                  D. Counterparts. This Amendment m ay be executed by the parties 
hereto in several counterparts and by the different  parties on separate 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be a n original and all of which 
shall constitute together but one and the same inst rument; signature pages may 
be detached from multiple separate counterparts and  attached to a single 
counterpart so that all signature pages are physica lly attached to the same 
document. 
 
                  E. Severability. Any provision of  this Amendment which is 
prohibited or unenforceable in any jurisdiction sha ll, as to such provision and 
such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or 
unenforceability without invalidating the remaining  provisions of this Amendment 
or affecting the validity or enforceability of such  provisions in any other 
jurisdiction. 
 
                  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendmen t has been duly executed and 
delivered as of the day and year first above writte n. 
 
 
 
 
KAISER BAUXITE COMPANY                               KAISER EXPORT COMPANY 
 
By:                                                  By: 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (successor to 
BankAmerica Business Credit, Inc.), as Agent 
 
 
By: 
 
Name Printed: 
Its: 
 

                                                     E X E C U T I O N   C O P Y 
 
 
                     TWENTIETH AMENDMENT TO CREDIT AGREEMENT 
 
                  THIS TWENTIETH AMENDMENT TO CREDI T AGREEMENT (this 
"Amendment"), dated as of January 26, 2001 is by an d between KAISER ALUMINUM & 
CHEMICAL CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the " Company"), KAISER ALUMINUM 
CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (the "Parent Gu arantor"), the various 
financial institutions that are or may from time to  time become parties to the 
Credit Agreement referred to below (collectively, t he "Lenders" and, 
individually, a "Lender"), and Bank of America, N.A . (successor to BankAmerica 
Business Credit, Inc., a Delaware corporation), as agent (in such capacity, 
together with its successors and assigns in such ca pacity, the "Agent") for the 
Lenders. Capitalized terms used, but not defined, h erein shall have the meanings 
given to such terms in the Credit Agreement, as ame nded hereby. 
 
                              W I T N E S S E T H: 



 
                  WHEREAS, the Company, the Parent Guarantor, the Lenders and 
the Agent are parties to the Credit Agreement, date d as of February 15, 1994, as 
amended by the First Amendment to Credit Agreement,  dated as of July 21, 1994, 
the Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 10, 1995, the Third 
Amendment to Credit Agreement and Acknowledgement, dated as of July 20, 1995, 
the Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of October 17, 1995, the 
Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of De cember 11, 1995, the Sixth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of October 1, 1996, the Seventh 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of December  17, 1996, the Eighth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February  24, 1997, the Ninth 
Amendment to Credit Agreement and Acknowledgment, d ated as of April 21, 1997, 
the Tenth Amendment to Credit Agreement and Assignm ent, dated as of June 25, 
1997, the Eleventh Amendment to Credit Agreement an d Limited Waivers, dated as 
of October 20, 1997, the Twelfth Amendment to Credi t Agreement, dated as of 
January 13, 1998, the Thirteenth Amendment to Credi t Agreement, dated as of July 
20, 1998, the Fourteenth Amendment to Credit Agreem ent, dated as of December 11, 
1998, the Fifteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February 23, 
1999, the Sixteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 26, 1999, 
the Seventeenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, date d as of September 24, 1999, 
the Eighteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated  as of February 11, 2000, and 
the Nineteenth Amendment to Credit Agreement and Li mited Waiver, dated as of 
December 27, 2000 (the "Credit Agreement"); and 
 
                  WHEREAS, the parties hereto have agreed to amend the Credit 
Agreement as herein provided; 
 
                  NOW, THEREFORE, the parties heret o agree as follows: 
 
Section 1.   Amendments to Credit Agreement. 
 
1.1      Amendments to Article IX: Covenants 
 
                           A. Section 9.2.5 of the Credit Agreement is hereby 
         amended by (i) deleting the word "and" at the end of clause (u) 
         thereof, (ii) deleting the period at the e nd of clause (v) thereof and 
         substituting "; and" therefor, and (iii) a dding the following as new 
         clause (w) thereof: 
 
                  "(w) Investments by a Subsidiary of the Company in the Company 
         as a result of any purchase by such Subsid iary of Senior Notes 
         permitted under Section 9.2.6(b)(iv)." 
 
                           B. Section 9.2.6(b)(iv) of the Credit Agreement is 
         hereby amended to read in its entirety as follows: 
 
                           "(iv) redeem, purchase, or defease any Subordinated 
                  Debt, any New Subordinated Debt, any Senior Debt, any New 
                  Senior Debt, any Additional New S enior Debt, the PIK Note or 
                  any Equity Proceeds Note; provide d, however, that, 
                  notwithstanding the provisions of  Section 9.2.6(b)(ii), the 
                  Company and its Subsidiaries may,  at the Company's discretion, 
                  purchase, redeem or defease Senio r Notes from time to time 
                  during the period from January 26 , 2001 through December 31, 
                  2001; provided that (A) the Compa ny and its Subsidiaries may 
                  not purchase, redeem or defease a ny Senior Note for a price 
                  greater than its principal amount  plus the accrued interest 
                  thereon to the date of purchase, redemption or defeasance; (B) 
                  the aggregate amount paid by the Company and its Subsidiaries 
                  during such period as the price f or all such purchases, 
                  redemptions and defeasances of Se nior Notes may not exceed 
                  $50,000,000 (exclusive of accrued  interest payable on the 
                  aggregate principal amount of any  such Senior Notes purchased, 
                  redeemed or defeased); (C) Senior  Notes that are acquired by 
                  the Company or its Subsidiaries m ay, at the Company's 
                  election, either be retired and c ancelled, or pledged to the 



                  Agent as part of the Collateral; (D) the Company and its 
                  Subsidiaries may not transfer Sen ior Notes purchased, redeemed 
                  or defeased pursuant to this Sect ion 9.2.6(b)(iv), except that 
                  the Company's Subsidiaries may tr ansfer Senior Notes to the 
                  Company, and the Company and its Subsidiaries may pledge 
                  Senior Notes to the Agent as part  of the Collateral; and (E) 
                  within five Business Days after t he end of any month in which 
                  Senior Notes are purchased, redee med or defeased pursuant to 
                  this proviso, the Company shall p ay to the Agent for the pro 
                  rata account of the Lenders a fee  in the amount of 0.50% 
                  multiplied by the aggregate amoun t (exclusive of accrued 
                  interest) paid by the Company and  its Subsidiaries as the 
                  price for the purchase, redemptio n or defeasance of Senior 
                  Notes during such month pursuant to this proviso." 
 
                  C. Section 9.2.13(d) of the Credi t Agreement is hereby amended 
         by adding the following at the end thereof : 
 
                           "other than any such off er made in connection with a 
                  purchase (or proposed purchase), redemption or defeasance of 
                  Senior Notes permitted pursuant t o Section 9.2.6(b)(iv)" 
 
1.2     Amendments to Article X:  Events of Default  
 
                  Section 10.1.11 of the Credit Agr eement is hereby amended by 
adding the following at the end thereof: 
 
                           "other than any such off er, redemption, repurchase or 
                  defeasance made in connection wit h a purchase (or proposed 
                  purchase), redemption or defeasan ce of Senior Notes permitted 
                  pursuant to Section 9.2.6(b)(iv)"  
 
Section 2. Conditions to Effectiveness 
 
                  This Amendment shall become effec tive as of the date hereof 
only when the following conditions shall have been satisfied and notice thereof 
shall have been given by the Agent to the Parent Gu arantor, the Company and each 
Lender (the date of satisfaction of such conditions  and the giving of such 
notice being referred to herein as the "Twentieth A mendment Effective Date"): 
 
         A. The Agent shall have received for each Lender counterparts hereof 
duly executed on behalf of the Parent Guarantor, th e Company, the Agent and the 
Required Lenders (or notice of the approval of this  Amendment by the Required 
Lenders satisfactory to the Agent shall have been r eceived by the Agent). 
 
         B.   The Agent shall have received: 
 
                  (1) Resolutions of the Board of D irectors or of the Executive 
         Committee of the Board of Directors of the  Company and the Parent 
         Guarantor approving and authorizing the ex ecution, delivery and 
         performance of this Amendment, certified b y their respective corporate 
         secretaries or assistant secretaries as be ing in full force and effect 
         without modification or amendment as of th e date of execution hereof by 
         the Company or the Parent Guarantor, as th e case may be; 
 
                  (2) A signature and incumbency ce rtificate of the 
         officers of the Company and the Parent Gua rantor executing this 
         Amendment; 
 
                  (3) For each Lender, an opinion, addressed to the Agent and 
         each Lender, from Kramer Levin Naftalis & Frankel LLP, in form and 
         substance satisfactory to the Agent; and 
 
                  (4) Such other information, appro vals, opinions, documents or 
instruments as the Agent may reasonably request. 
 



Section 3.    Company's Representations and Warrant ies. 
 
                  In order to induce the Lenders an d the Agent to enter into 
this Amendment and to amend the Credit Agreement in  the manner provided herein, 
the Parent Guarantor and the Company represent and warrant to each Lender and 
the Agent that, as of the Twentieth Amendment Effec tive Date, after giving 
effect to the effectiveness of this Amendment, the following statements are true 
and correct in all material respects: 
 
         A. Authorization of Agreements. The execut ion and delivery of this 
Amendment by the Company and the Parent Guarantor a nd the performance of the 
Credit Agreement as amended by this Amendment (the "Amended Agreement") by the 
Company and the Parent Guarantor are within such Ob ligor's corporate powers and 
have been duly authorized by all necessary corporat e action on the part of the 
Company and the Parent Guarantor, as the case may b e. 
 
         B. No Conflict.  The execution and deliver y by the Company and the 
Parent Guarantor of this Amendment and the performa nce by the Company and the 
Parent Guarantor of the Amended Agreement do not: 
 
                  (1) contravene such Obligor's Org anic Documents; 
 
                  (2) contravene the Senior Indentu re, the New Senior Indenture, 
         the Additional New Senior Indenture, or th e Subordinated Indenture or 
         contravene any other contractual restricti on where such a contravention 
         has a reasonable possibility of having a M aterially Adverse Effect or 
         contravene any law or governmental regulat ion or court decree or order 
         binding on or affecting such Obligor or an y of its Subsidiaries; or 
 
                  (3) result in, or require the cre ation or imposition of, any 
         Lien on any of such Obligor's properties o r any of the properties of 
         any Subsidiary of such Obligor, other than  pursuant to the Loan 
         Documents. 
 
         C. Binding Obligation. This Amendment has been duly executed and 
delivered by the Company and the Parent Guarantor a nd this Amendment and the 
Amended Agreement constitute the legal, valid and b inding obligations of the 
Company and the Parent Guarantor, enforceable again st the Company and the Parent 
Guarantor in accordance with their respective terms , except as may be limited by 
bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or similar laws relating to 
or limiting creditors' rights generally and by gene ral principles of equity. 
 
         D. Governmental Approval, Regulation, etc.   No authorization or 
approval or other action by, and no notice to or fi ling with, any governmental 
authority or regulatory body or any other Person is  required for the due 
execution, delivery or performance of this Amendmen t by the Company or the 
Parent Guarantor. 
 
         E.   Incorporation of Representations and Warranties from Credit 
Agreement.  Each of the statements set forth in Sec tion 7.2.1 of the Credit 
Agreement is true and correct. 
 
Section 4.   Acknowledgement and Consent. 
 
                  The Company is a party to the Com pany Collateral Documents, in 
each case as amended through the date hereof, pursu ant to which the Company has 
created Liens in favor of the Agent on certain Coll ateral to secure the 
Obligations. The Parent Guarantor is a party to the  Parent Collateral Documents, 
in each case as amended through the date hereof, pu rsuant to which the Parent 
Guarantor has created Liens in favor of the Agent o n certain Collateral and 
pledged certain Collateral to the Agent to secure t he Obligations of the Parent 
Guarantor. Certain Subsidiaries of the Company are parties to the Subsidiary 
Guaranty and/or one or more of the Subsidiary Colla teral Documents, in each case 
as amended through the date hereof, pursuant to whi ch such Subsidiaries have (i) 
guarantied the Obligations and/or (ii) created Lien s in favor of the Agent on 
certain Collateral. The Company, the Parent Guarant or and such Subsidiaries are 



collectively referred to herein as the "Credit Supp ort Parties", and the 
Company Collateral Documents, the Parent Collateral  Documents, the Subsidiary 
Guaranty and the Subsidiary Collateral Documents ar e collectively 
referred to herein as the "Credit Support Documents ". 
 
                  Each Credit Support Party hereby acknowledges that it has 
reviewed the terms and provisions of the Credit Agr eement as amended by this 
Amendment and consents to the amendment of the Cred it Agreement effected as of 
the date hereof pursuant to this Amendment. 
 
                  Each Credit Support Party acknowl edges and agrees that any of 
the Credit Support Documents to which it is a party  or otherwise bound shall 
continue in full force and effect. Each Credit Supp ort Party hereby confirms 
that each Credit Support Document to which it is a party or otherwise bound and 
all Collateral encumbered thereby will continue to guaranty or secure, as the 
case may be, the payment and performance of all obl igations guaranteed or 
secured thereby, as the case may be. 
 
                  Each Credit Support Party (other than the Company and the 
Parent Guarantor) acknowledges and agrees that (i) notwithstanding the 
conditions to effectiveness set forth in this Amend ment, such Credit Support 
Party is not required by the terms of the Credit Ag reement or any other Loan 
Document to consent to the amendments to the Credit  Agreement effected pursuant 
to this Amendment and (ii) nothing in the Credit Ag reement, this Amendment or 
any other Loan Document shall be deemed to require the consent of such Credit 
Support Party to any future amendments to the Credi t Agreement. 
 
 
Section 5.   Miscellaneous. 
 
         A.   Reference to and Effect on the Credit  Agreement and the Other 
Loan Documents. 
 
                  (1)      On and after the Twentie th Amendment Effective Date, 
         each reference in the Credit Agreement to "this Agreement", 
         "hereunder," "hereof," "herein" or words o f like import referring to 
         the Credit Agreement, and each reference i n the other Loan Documents to 
         the "Credit Agreement," "thereunder," "the reof" or words of like import 
         referring to the Credit Agreement shall me an and be a reference to the 
         Amended Agreement. 
 
                  (2) Except as specifically amende d by this Amendment, the 
         Credit Agreement and the other Loan Docume nts shall remain in full 
         force and effect and are hereby ratified a nd confirmed. 
 
         B.   Applicable Law.  THIS AMENDMENT SHALL  BE DEEMED TO BE A 
CONTRACT MADE UNDER AND GOVERNED BY THE INTERNAL LAWS OF THE 
STATE OF NEW YORK, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO SUCH LA WS RELATING TO 
CONFLICTS OF LAWS. 
 
         C.   Headings.  The various headings of th is Amendment are inserted for 
convenience and shall not affect the meaning or int erpretation of this Amendment 
or any provision hereof. 
 
         D.   Counterparts.  This Amendment may be executed by the parties 
hereto in several counterparts and by the different  parties on separate 
counterparts, each of which shall be deemed to be a n original and all of which 
shall constitute together but one and the same inst rument; signature pages may 
be detached from multiple separate counterparts and  attached to a single 
counterpart so that all signature pages are physica lly attached to the same 
document. 
 
         E.   Severability.  Any provision of this Amendment which is prohibited 
or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to s uch provision and such 
jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such prohibition or 
unenforceability without invalidating the remaining  provisions of this Amendment 



or affecting the validity or enforceability of such  provisions in any other 
jurisdiction. 
 
                  IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Amendmen t has been duly executed and 
delivered as of the day and year first above writte n. 
 
KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION                          KAISER ALUMINUM & CHEMICAL 
                                                     CORPORATION 
By:  /S/ David A. Cheadle                            By:   /S/ David A. Cheadle 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (successor to                  BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. (successor to 
BankAmerica Business Credit, Inc.), as Agent         BankAmerica Business Credit, Inc.) 
 
 
By:  /S/ Michael J. Jasaitis                         By:  /S/ Michael J. Jasaitis 
Name: Michael J. Jasaitis                            Name: Michael J. Jasaitis 
Its: Vice President                                  Its: Vice President 
 
THE CIT GROUP/BUSINESS                               HELLER FINANCIAL, INC. 
CREDIT, INC. 
 
By:  /S/ Grant Weiss                                 By:  /S/ Richard J. Holston 
Name Printed:  Grant Weiss                           Name Printed:  Richard J. Holston 
Its:  AVP                                            Its:  Assistant Vice President 
 
CONGRESS FINANCIAL CORPORATION                       TRANSAMERICA BUSINESS CREDIT 
(WESTERN)                                            CORPORATION 
 
By: /S/ Gary D. Cassianni                            By:  /S/ Ari D. Kaplan 
Name Printed:  Gary D. Cassianni                     Name Printed:  Ari D. Kaplan 
Its:   Vice President                                Its:  Vice President 
 
LA SALLE BANK NATIONAL                               ABN AMRO BANK N.V. 
ASSOCIATION (formerly known as 
La Salle National Bank)                              By:  /S/ Jeffrey Dodd 
                                                     Name Printed:  Jeffrey Dodd 
                                                     Its:  Group Vice President 
By:  /S/ Douglas C. Colletti 
Name Printed:  Douglas C. Colletti                   By:  /S/ L. David Wright 
Its:  1st VP                                         Name Printed: L. David Wright 
                                                     Its:  Group Vice President 
 
ACKNOWLEDGED AND AGREED TO: 
AKRON HOLDING CORPORATION                            KAISER ALUMINUM & CHEMICAL 
                                                     INVESTMENT, INC. 
 
By:  /S/ David A. Cheadle                            By:  /S/ David A. Cheadle 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
KAISER ALUMINUM PROPERTIES,                          KAISER ALUMINUM TECHNICAL 
INC.                                                 SERVICES, INC. 
 
By:  /S/ David A. Cheadle                            By:  /S/ David A. Cheadle 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
OXNARD FORGE DIE COMPANY, INC.                       KAISER ALUMINIUM 
                                                     INTERNATIONAL, INC. 
 
By:  /S/ David A. Cheadle                            By:  /S/ David A. Cheadle 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 



KAISER ALUMINA AUSTRALIA                             KAISER FINANCE CORPORATION 
CORPORATION 
 
By:  /S/ David A. Cheadle                            By:  /S/ David A. Cheadle 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
ALPART JAMAICA INC.                                  KAISER JAMAICA CORPORATION 
 
By:  /S/ David A. Cheadle                            By:  /S/ David A. Cheadle 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
KAISER BAUXITE COMPANY                               KAISER EXPORT COMPANY 
 
By:  /S/ David A. Cheadle                            By:  /S/ David A. Cheadle 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
KAISER MICROMILL HOLDINGS, LLC                       KAISER SIERRA MICROMILLS, LLC 
 
By:  /S/ David A. Cheadle                            By:  /S/ David A. Cheadle 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed: David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its: Assistant Treasurer 
 
KAISER TEXAS SIERRA MICROMILLS,                      KAISER TEXAS MICROMILL 
LLC                                                  HOLDINGS, LLC 
 
By:  /S/ David A. Cheadle                            By:  /S/ David A. Cheadle 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle                      Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer                            Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 
KAISER BELLWOOD CORPORATION 
By:  /S/ David A. Cheadle 
Name Printed:  David A. Cheadle 
Its:  Assistant Treasurer 
 

                  AMENDMENT OF NON-NEGOTIABLE INTER COMPANY NOTE 
 
 
 
         WHEREAS, Kaiser Aluminum Corporation ("KAC "), formerly known as 
KaiserTech Limited, executed a Non-Negotiable Inter company Note, dated December 
21, 1989, payable to the order of Kaiser Aluminum &  Chemical Corporation 
("KACC"); and 
 
         WHEREAS, such Non-Negotiable Intercompany Note has been amended, as 
memorialized by Confirmation of Amendment of Non-Ne gotiable Intercompany Note, 
dated as of October 6, 1993 (the Non-Negotiable Int ercompany Note, as amended 
from time to time, the "KT Note"); and 
 
         WHEREAS, the KT Note has been pledged and delivered to BankAmerica 
Business Credit, Inc., predecessor of Bank of Ameri ca, N.A., as the Agent, under 
and as defined in that certain Company Pledge Agree ment, dated as of February 
15, 1994 (as amended, the "Company Pledge Agreement "), among KACC and 
BankAmerica Business Credit, Inc.; and 
 
         WHEREAS, KAC and KACC have agreed that the  KT Note should be amended, 
effective as of December 11, 2000, as hereinafter d escribed; and 
 
         WHEREAS, the Company Pledge Agreement cont emplates that Pledged Notes 
(as therein defined, including the KT Note) may be amended, modified, or 
supplemented from time to time; and 
 
         WHEREAS, the Credit Agreement, dated as of  February 15, 1994, among 



KACC, KAC, the various financial institutions that are or may from time to time 
become parties thereto (collectively, the "Lenders" ), and Bank of America, N.A. 
(successor to BankAmerica Business Credit, Inc., as  agent for the Lenders (as 
amended, the "Credit Agreement") permits under clau se (k) of the second 
paragraph of Section 9.2.14 thereof any amendment o f the KT Note that extends 
the maturity thereof or reduces the interest rate t hereon; and 
 
         WHEREAS, this Amendment of Non-Negotiable Intercompany Note is made in 
order to memorialize the agreement between KAC and KACC amending the KT Note and 
to evidence the acknowledgment of the Agent of such  amendment of the KT Note; 
 
         NOW, THEREFORE, KAC and KACC hereby amend the KT Note, effective as of 
December 11, 2000, in the following respect only: 
 
         1.       Section 2 of the KT Note is amend ed to read as follows in its 
 entirety: 
 
                  "2. Subject to Section 5 hereof, no payment of principal or 
         interest shall be required to be made on t his Note prior to December 
         21, 2006. Beginning on December 21, 2006, this Note shall be due and 
         payable annually on each anniversary of th e date of this Note as to 
         principal and interest (including interest  accrued hereon from the 
         Issuance Date through December 21, 2005, w hich shall be added to the 
         unpaid principal amount hereof) in level i nstallments which, if timely 
         made, would be sufficient fully to satisfy  the outstanding principal 
         balance hereof (including interest accrued  hereon from the Issuance 
         Date through December 21, 2005) plus inter est hereon over a 15-year 
         term, commencing on December 21, 2006. Eac h such level payment shall be 
         applied first to interest and the balance to principal." 
 
         IN WITNESS WHEREOF, KAC and KACC have exec uted this Amendment of Non- 
Negotiable Intercompany Note as of December 11, 200 0. 
 
 
                                      Kaiser Alumin um Corporation 
 
 
 
                                      By:   /S/ JOH N T. LA DUC 
                                         ---------- ----------------------------- 
                                      Title:  Execu tive Vice President and 
                                               Chie f Financial Officer 
 
 
                                      Kaiser Alumin um & Chemical Corporation 
 
 
 
                                      By:    /S/ DA VID A. CHEADLE 
                                         ---------- ----------------------------- 
                                      Title:  Assis tant Treasurer 
 
 
         Bank of America, N.A., successor to BankAm erica Business Credit, Inc., 
as Agent under the Company Pledge Agreement, hereby  acknowledges that the KT 
Note has been amended as hereinabove described. 
 
 
                                       Bank of Amer ica, N.A. 
 
 
 
                                       By:   /S/ MI CHAEL J. JASAITIS 
                                          --------- ----------------------------- 
                                       Title:   VP 
 



 

                      Amendment of Tax Allocation A greement 
                                     Between 
                                   MAXXAM Inc. 
                                       and 
                     Kaiser Aluminum & Chemical Cor poration 
 
 
 
         WHEREAS, MAXXAM Inc. ("MAXXAM") and Kaiser  Aluminum & Chemical 
Corporation ("KACC") executed a tax allocation agre ement as of December 21, 1989 
covering all taxable years during which KACC and it s U.S. subsidiaries (the 
"KACC Subgroup") were included in MAXXAM's Federal consolidated income tax 
returns (the "Tax Allocation Agreement"); 
 
         WHEREAS, the Tax Allocation Agreement is r elevant for taxable periods 
through June 30, 1993, the date on which the KACC S ubgroup became disaffiliated 
with MAXXAM, and after which the KACC Subgroup was no longer included in 
MAXXAM's Federal consolidated income tax returns; 
 
         WHEREAS, paragraphs 2 and 3 of the Tax All ocation Agreement were 
intended to place the KACC Subgroup in the same U.S . income tax position as if 
it was a separate affiliated group of corporations filing separate consolidated 
tax returns and was never affiliated with MAXXAM; 
 
         WHEREAS, the Tax Allocation Agreement foll ows general U.S. income tax 
laws and principles governed by the Internal Revenu e Code of 1986, as amended, 
and Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder; 
 
         WHEREAS, Kaiser Alumina Australia Corporat ion ("KAAC"), a U.S. 
subsidiary of KACC, is currently undergoing an Aust ralian income tax audit (the 
"Audit"), including years covered by the Tax Alloca tion Agreement; 
 
         WHEREAS, Treasury Regulation Section 301.6 511(d)-3(a) only allows until 
March 15, 2001 to claim foreign tax credits with re spect to 1990, beyond which 
claims for refunds with respect to such foreign tax  credits would be disallowed; 
 
         WHEREAS, the Tax Allocation Agreement simi larly allows KACC only until 
March 15, 2001 to claim additional foreign tax cred its with respect to 1990 if 
KAAC subsequently pays additional Australian income  taxes attributable to 1990; 
 
         WHEREAS, in view of the foregoing and othe r relevant facts, MAXXAM and 
KACC desire to extend the March 15, 2001 deadline f or claiming such foreign tax 
credits under the Tax Allocation Agreement for one year to March 15, 2002; and 
 
         WHEREAS, MAXXAM and KACC wish to reach an agreement regarding the 
consequences resulting under the Tax Allocation Agr eement prior to KAAC agreeing 
to any tax assessment received from the Australian Taxation Office or settlement 
in connection with the Audit, 
 
         NOW, THEREFORE, (a) MAXXAM agrees to exten d to March 15, 2002 the March 
15, 2001 deadline under the Tax Allocation Agreemen t for KACC to claim 
additional foreign tax credits that may be attribut able to 1990; and (b) KACC 
agrees that prior to KAAC agreeing to any tax asses sment received from the 
Australian Taxation Office with respect to 1990 or settlement in connection with 
the Audit, it will reach an agreement with MAXXAM r egarding the consequences 
resulting under the Tax Allocation Agreement. MAXXA M and KACC agree to use their 
respective reasonable best efforts to reach such ag reement. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, MAXXAM and KACC have executed t his Amendment of Tax 
Allocation Agreement by duly authorized officers th ereof as of March 12, 2001. 
 
 
                                         MAXXAM Inc . 
 



 
                                         By:     /S / PAUL N. SCHWARTZ 
                                         Title:  Pr esident and Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
 
                                         Kaiser Alu minum & Chemical Corporation 
 
                                         By:     /S / JOHN T. LA DUC 
                                         Title:  Ex ecutive Vice President and 
                                                    Chief Financial Officer 
 

                                    AGREEMENT 
 
         This Agreement is made by and among George  T. Haymaker, Jr. ("Optionee") 
and Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and Kaiser Aluminum  & Chemical Corporation, both 
Delaware corporations (together, the "Company"). 
 
         WHEREAS, the Company granted to Optionee a  stock option to purchase up 
to 283,000 shares of common stock, $.01 par value p er share, of Kaiser Aluminum 
Corporation, and the terms and conditions of such g rant are set forth in that 
certain Time-Based Stock Option Grant between Optio nee and the Company having an 
effective date of January 1, 1998, as amended by th at certain Director and 
Non-Executive Chairman Agreement between Optionee a nd the Company dated January 
1, 2000 (the Time-Based Stock Option Grant, as so a mended, the "1998 Grant"); 
and 
 
         WHEREAS, Optionee and the Company desire t o amend the 1998 Grant to 
cancel 71,490 of the unvested Option Shares and to specify the vesting 
provisions for the 22,844 unvested Option Shares th ereafter remaining under the 
1998 Grant; and 
 
         WHEREAS, Optionee and the Company desire t o evidence the grant of a new 
stock option to Optionee to purchase up to 71,490 O ption Shares and to specify 
the terms and conditions applicable thereto; 
 
         NOW, THEREFORE, Optionee and the Company h ereby agree as follows: 
 
         1. All capitalized terms used herein shall  have the meanings provided 
in the 1998 Grant unless otherwise specifically pro vided herein. 
 
         2. Effective as of April 14, 2000, the 199 8 Grant is amended to cancel 
71,490 of the unvested Option Shares. Provided Opti onee's Qualified Service 
Period has not previously terminated, and subject t o the terms of the 1998 Grant 
providing for earlier vesting upon the occurrence o f a Company Sale Transaction 
or certain terminations of Optionee's Employment, t he 22,844 unvested Option 
Shares thereafter remaining under the 1998 Grant sh all become Vested Options as 
of 12:01 a.m. Houston time on December 31, 2000. Ex cept as expressly set forth 
herein, the terms and conditions of the 1998 Grant are hereby ratified and 
affirmed. 
 
         3. This Agreement evidences that the Compa ny has granted to Optionee, 
effective as of April 14, 2000, the right, privileg e and option to purchase up 
to 71,490 Option Shares. Provided that Optionee's Q ualified Service Period has 
not previously terminated, and subject to the terms  of such grant providing for 
earlier vesting upon the occurrence of a Company Sa le Transaction or certain 
terminations of Optionee's Employment, such 71,490 Option Shares shall become 
Vested Options as of 12:01 a.m. Houston time on Dec ember 31, 2000. Except as 
expressly set forth herein, such stock option is gr anted on the same terms and 
conditions as are set forth in the 1998 Grant. 
 
         IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Optionee and the Compa ny have executed this 
Agreement effective as of the 14th day of April, 20 00. 
 
                                    "COMPANY" 



 
                                    KAISER ALUMINUM  CORPORATION 
 
 
                                    By:      /S/ RA YMOND J. MILCHOVICH 
                                    Raymond J. Milc hovich 
                                    President and C hief Executive Officer 
 
 
                                    KAISER ALUMINUM  & CHEMICAL CORPORATION 
 
 
                                    By:      /S/ RA YMOND J. MILCHOVICH 
                                    Raymond J. Milc hovich 
                                    President and C hief Executive Officer 
 
 
                                   "OPTIONEE" 
 
 
                                   /S/ GEORGE T. HA YMAKER, JR. 
                                   George T. Haymak er, Jr. 
 
 
 

                                    AGREEMENT 
 
         This Agreement is made by and among George  T. Haymaker, Jr. ("Optionee") 
and Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and Kaiser Aluminum  & Chemical Corporation, both 
Delaware corporations (together, the "Company"). 
 
         WHEREAS, the Company granted to Optionee a  stock option to purchase up 
to 386,000 shares of common stock, $.01 par value p er share, of Kaiser Aluminum 
Corporation, and the terms and conditions of such g rant are set forth in that 
certain Performance-Accelerated Stock Option Grant between Optionee and the 
Company having an effective date of January 1, 1998 , as amended by that certain 
Director and Non-Executive Chairman Agreement betwe en Optionee and the Company 
dated January 1, 2000 (the Performance-Accelerated Stock Option Grant, as so 
amended, the "1998 Grant"); and 
 
         WHEREAS, Optionee and the Company desire ( i) to amend the 1998 Grant to 
cancel 97,510 Option Shares, and (ii) to evidence t he grant of a new stock 
option to Optionee to purchase up to 97,510 Option Shares, on the same terms and 
conditions as were applicable to the canceled porti on of the 1998 Grant; 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, Optionee and the Company hereby agr ee as follows: 
 
         1. All capitalized terms used herein shall  have the meanings provided 
in the 1998 Grant unless otherwise specifically pro vided herein. 
 
         2. Effective as of April 14, 2000, the 199 8 Grant is amended to cancel 
97,510 Option Shares. Except as expressly set forth  herein, the terms and 
conditions of the 1998 Grant are hereby ratified an d affirmed. 
 
         3. This Agreement evidences that the Compa ny has granted to Optionee, 
effective as of April 14, 2000, the right, privileg e and option to purchase up 
to 97,510 Option Shares and that such grant is on t he same terms and conditions 
as are set forth in the 1998 Grant. 
 
         IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Optionee and the Compa ny have executed this 
Agreement effective as of the 14th day of April, 20 00. 
 
                                    "COMPANY" 
 
                                    KAISER ALUMINUM  CORPORATION 



 
 
                                    By:      /S/ RA YMOND J. MILCHOVICH 
                                    Raymond J. Milc hovich 
                                    President and C hief Executive Officer 
 
 
 
                                    KAISER ALUMINUM  & CHEMICAL CORPORATION 
 
 
                                    By:      /S/ RA YMOND J. MILCHOVICH 
                                    Raymond J. Milc hovich 
                                    President and C hief Executive Officer 
 
 
                                    "OPTIONEE" 
 
 
                                    /S/ GEORGE T. H AYMAKER, JR. 
                                    George T. Hayma ker, Jr. 
 

                                    AGREEMENT 
 
         This Agreement is made by and among Raymon d J. Milchovich ("Optionee") 
and Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and Kaiser Aluminum  & Chemical Corporation, both 
Delaware corporations (together, the "Company"). 
 
         WHEREAS, the Company granted to Optionee a  stock option to purchase 
635,000 shares of common stock, $.01 par value per share, of Kaiser Aluminum 
Corporation, and the terms and conditions of such g rant are set forth in that 
certain Time-Based Stock Option Grant between Optio nee and the Company having an 
effective date of July 2, 1998 (the "1998 Grant"); and 
 
         WHEREAS, Optionee and the Company desire t o amend the 1998 Grant to 
cancel 135,000 of the unvested Option Shares and to  specify the vesting 
provisions for the 246,000 unvested Option Shares t hereafter remaining under the 
1998 Grant; and 
 
         WHEREAS, Optionee and the Company desire t o evidence the grant of a new 
stock option to Optionee to purchase up to 135,000 Option Shares and to specify 
the terms and conditions applicable thereto; 
 
         NOW, THEREFORE, Optionee and the Company h ereby agree as follows: 
 
         1. All capitalized terms used herein shall  have the meanings provided 
in the 1998 Grant unless otherwise specifically pro vided herein. 
 
         2. Effective as of April 12, 2000, the 199 8 Grant is amended to cancel 
135,000 of the unvested Option Shares. Provided Opt ionee's Qualified Service 
Period has not previously terminated, and subject t o the terms of the last 
sentence of Paragraph 4 of the 1998 Grant, the 246, 000 unvested Option Shares 
thereafter remaining under the 1998 Grant shall bec ome Vested Options as of 
12:01 a.m. Houston time on the following schedule: 
 
            December 31, 2000                           127,000 Option Shares 
            December 31, 2001                           119,000 Option Shares 
 
Except as expressly set forth herein, the terms and  conditions of the 1998 Grant 
are hereby ratified and affirmed. 
 
         3. This Agreement evidences that the Compa ny has granted to Optionee, 
effective as of April 12, 2000, the right, privileg e and option to purchase up 
to 135,000 Option Shares. Provided Optionee's Quali fied Service Period has not 
previously terminated, and subject to the same term s as are set forth in the 



last sentence of Paragraph 4 of the 1998 Grant, suc h 135,000 Option Shares shall 
become Vested Options as of 12:01 a.m. Houston time  on the following schedule: 
 
            December 31, 2001                             8,000 Option Shares 
            December 31, 2002                           127,000 Option Shares 
 
Except as expressly set forth herein, such stock op tion is granted on the same 
terms and conditions as are set forth in the 1998 G rant. 
 
         IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Optionee and the Compa ny have executed this 
Agreement effective as of the 12th day of April, 20 00. 
 
                                            "COMPAN Y" 
 
                                            KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION 
 
 
                                            By:      /S/ JOHN BARNESON 
                                            John Ba rneson 
                                            Vice Pr esident and Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 
                                            KAISER ALUMINUM & CHEMICAL CORPORATION 
 
 
                                            By:      /S/ JOHN BARNESON 
                                            John Ba rneson 
                                            Vice Pr esident and Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 
                                            "OPTION EE" 
 
 
                                            /S/ RAY MOND J. MILCHOVICH 
                                            Raymond  J. Milchovich 
 
 
 
 
 

                                    AGREEMENT 
 
         This Agreement is made by and among Raymon d J. Milchovich ("Optionee") 
and Kaiser Aluminum Corporation and Kaiser Aluminum  & Chemical Corporation, both 
Delaware corporations (together, the "Company"). 
 
         WHEREAS, the Company granted to Optionee a  stock option to purchase 
750,000 shares of common stock, $.01 par value per share, of Kaiser Aluminum 
Corporation, and the terms and conditions of such g rant are set forth in that 
certain Time-Based Stock Option Grant between Optio nee and the Company having an 
effective date of June 1, 1999 (the "1999 Grant"); and 
 
         WHEREAS, Optionee and the Company desire t o amend the 1999 Grant to 
cancel 250,000 of the Option Shares and to allocate  such canceled Option Shares 
among the Option Price categories and vesting insta llment dates specified in the 
1999 Grant; and 
 
         WHEREAS, Optionee and the Company desire t o evidence the grant of a new 
stock option to Optionee to purchase up to 250,000 Option Shares and to specify 
the terms and conditions applicable thereto; 
 
         NOW, THEREFORE, Optionee and the Company h ereby agree as follows: 
 
         1. All capitalized terms used herein shall  have the meanings provided 
in the 1999 Grant unless otherwise specifically pro vided herein. 



 
         2. Effective as of April 12, 2000, the 199 9 Grant is amended to cancel 
250,000 of the Option Shares comprised as follows: 50,000 Option Shares with a 
Base Exercise Price of $9.50 per Option Share, 100, 000 Option Shares with a Base 
Exercise Price of $12.35 per Option Share, and 100, 000 Option Shares with a Base 
Exercise Price of $14.25 per Option Share. Provided  Optionee's Qualified Service 
Period has not previously terminated, and subject t o the terms of the last 
sentence of Paragraph 4 of the 1999 Grant, the Opti on Shares thereafter 
remaining under the 1999 Grant shall become Vested Options, as allocated by Base 
Exercise Price, as of 12:01 a.m. Houston time on th e following schedule: 
 
 
 
                                                  O ption Shares 
                                                  - ------------ 
                                   $9.50             $12.35           $14.25 
                                   -----             ------           ------ 
 
            January 1, 2001        30,000            60,000           60,000 
            January 1, 2002        30,000            60,000           60,000 
            January 1, 2003        30,000            60,000           60,000 
            January 1, 2004        10,000            20,000           20,000 
 
 
Except as expressly set forth herein, the terms and  conditions of the 1999 Grant 
are hereby ratified and affirmed. 
 
         3. This Agreement evidences that the Compa ny has granted to Optionee, 
effective as of April 12, 2000, the right, privileg e and option to purchase up 
to 250,000 Option Shares comprised as follows: 50,0 00 Option Shares with a Base 
Exercise Price of $9.50 per Option Share, 100,000 O ption Shares with a Base 
Exercise Price of $12.35 per Option Share, and 100, 000 Option Shares with a Base 
Exercise Price of $14.25 per Option Share. Provided  Optionee's Qualified Service 
Period has not previously terminated, and subject t o the same terms as are set 
forth in the last sentence of Paragraph 4 of the 19 99 Grant, such Option Shares 
shall become Vested Options, as allocated by Base E xercise Price, as of 12:01 
a.m. Houston time on the following schedule: 
 
 
 
                                                 Op tion Shares 
                                                 -- ----------- 
                                   $9.50             $12.35           $14.25 
                                   -----             ------           ------ 
 
            January 1, 2004        20,000            40,000           40,000 
            January 1, 2005        30,000            60,000           60,000 
 
 
Except as expressly set forth herein, such stock op tion is granted on the same 
terms and conditions as are set forth in the 1999 G rant. 
 
         IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Optionee and the Compa ny have executed this 
Agreement effective as of the 12th day of April, 20 00. 
 
                                            "COMPAN Y" 
 
                                            KAISER ALUMINUM CORPORATION 
 
 
                                            By:      /S/ JOHN BARNESON 
                                            John Ba rneson 
                                            Vice Pr esident and Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 
                                            KAISER ALUMINUM & CHEMICAL CORPORATION 



 
 
                                            By:      /S/ JOHN BARNESON 
                                            John Ba rneson 
                                            Vice Pr esident and Chief Administrative Officer 
 
 
                                            "OPTION EE" 
 
 
                                            /S/ RAY MOND J. MILCHOVICH 
                                            Raymond  J. Milchovich 
 

                                                                      Exhibit 21 
 
                                  SUBSIDIARIES 
 
Listed below are the principal subsidiaries of Kais er Aluminum Corporation, the 
jurisdiction of their incorporation or organization , and the names under which 
such subsidiaries do business. Certain subsidiaries  are omitted which, 
considered in the aggregate as a single subsidiary,  would not constitute a 
significant subsidiary. 
 
 
                                                                 Place of 
                                                                 Incorporation 
     Name                                                        or Organization 
 
     Alpart Jamaica Inc. .......................... ............. Delaware 
     Alumina Partners of Jamaica (partnership)..... ............. Delaware 
     Anglesey Aluminium Limited.................... ............. United Kingdom 
     Kaiser Alumina Australia Corporation.......... ............. Delaware 
     Kaiser Aluminium International, Inc........... ............. Delaware 
     Kaiser Aluminum & Chemical Corporation........ ......... Delaware 
     Kaiser Aluminum & Chemical of Canada Limited.. ......... Ontario 
     Kaiser Bauxite Company........................ ............. Nevada 
     Kaiser Bellwood Corporation................... ............. Delaware 
     Kaiser Finance Corporation ................... ............. Delaware 
     Kaiser Jamaica Bauxite Company (partnership).. ............. Jamaica 
     Kaiser Jamaica Corporation.................... ............. Delaware 
     Queensland Alumina Limited.................... ............. Queensland 
     Volta Aluminium Company Limited............... ............. Ghana 
 

                                                                    Exhibit 23.1 
 
 
 
                    CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC A CCOUNTANTS 
 
 
         As independent public accountants, we here by consent to the 
incorporation of our reports included and incorpora ted by reference in this Form 
10-K, into the Company's previously filed Registrat ion Statements File No.'s 
333-71, 333-16239, 333-36202 and 33-49889. 
 
 
 
 
ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP 
/S/ Arthur Andersen LLP 
 
 
Houston, Texas 
March 27, 2001 



 
 

                                                                    EXHIBIT 23.2 
 
 
         We hereby consent to (i) any references to  our firm, or (ii) any 
references to advice rendered by our firm contained  in Kaiser Aluminum 
Corporation's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the ye ar ended December 31, 2000, 
which is incorporated into the Company's previously  filed Registration 
Statements on Form S-3 No.'s 333-16239 and 333-71 a nd Registration Statements on 
Form S-8 No.'s 33-49889 and 333-36202. 
 
 
                                            WHARTON   LEVIN  EHRMANTRAUT 
                                                KLE IN & NASH, P.A. 
 
                                                /S/  Robert D. Klein 
 
March 27, 2001 
 

                                                                    EXHIBIT 23.3 
 
 
 
         With respect to the Registration Statement s on Form S-3 No.'s 33-16239 
and 333-71 and Registration Statements on Form S-8 No.'s 33-49889 and 333-36202 
filed by Kaiser Aluminum Corporation, a Delaware co rporation (the "Registration 
Statements"), we hereby consent to the use of our n ame, and to references to 
advice rendered by our firm, incorporated by refere nce into the Registration 
Statements from Kaiser Aluminum Corporation's Annua l Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2000, under the headings (i ) Management's Discussion and 
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Oper ations - Liquidity and 
Capital Resources - Commitments and Contingencies, and (ii) Note 12 of Notes to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements. 
 
 
                                    HELLER EHRMAN W HITE & McAULIFFE 
 
                                /S/ Heller Ehrman W hite & McAuliffe 
 
March 27, 2001 
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